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Dear “&nn-ﬁ
(U} THis letter responds to the Select Subcommittee's requeat,

contained in letters from Chairman Eyde of October 11, 1996, and
Mr., Hamilton of October 15, 1996, that the executive branch

- review for classification the Subcommittes’s majority and
minority reports. The final version of tha majority report was
provided on October 23. The finsl version of the minority report
is datad Getober 25. Supplemental information to these reports
was provided subsequent to both fipal reporis being received. On
November 4, the executive branch also received from Chajirman Hyde
a request to review for classification a 26-page letter to the
Department of Justice algned by the Republican xembers of the
Select Subcommittee. As these letters correctly note the reports
are lengthy {approximately £00 pages) 2nd contain a grsat deal of
classified information.

{U} In response to these raquests NSC staff distributed theses
materials to designated representativas of the Departments of
State, Pefense, including component elements, and the Central
Intelligence Agency. In order to maximize knowledge, save time,
and in the interest of the addressing the majority and minority
reports at the same time, the executive branch treated these
requests as a single request. Classification/Declazsitfication
experts from each of these entities have now cowpleted their
review by portion marking each paragraph and footnote.
Additionally, we have bracketed the specific portions of the text
that are classified within each marked paragraph or footncte.

{U) The executive branch reviewed the document for classified
information cnly. The executive branch review did not address
the substantive content of these documents. HNeither does this
letter. Further. this declassification review does not
constitute concurrence in the public release of any declassified
information enclosed,

Due to tha length of these reports, and
va. NOus of the classified materfal contsined in them,
including sources and methods of Intelligence that diractly

(am

nﬁﬁgﬁmﬂg.ﬁ{@\ﬁuaml;gsisegg
wla.nnmnw.a:ﬁ!. appointed Nou-l.ﬂ.hmﬂo..ﬂuun. .__iﬁ_.ﬂm v Rnunrn.
s iy ) ayers ) to satisfy the Subcommittae’s
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inform and provide for the safety of 0.5, forces in Bosnia, ths

executive branch is not in a position t.
language. _This would upe._»novn._zn:»..nonmmn” aetey o n
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SECTION ONE: BEACKGROUND

CHAPTER 1
ORIGINS AND PURPOSES OF THE SELECT

SUBCOMMITTEE
On April 5, 1996, the Los Angefes Times ran a front-page article by Jai
u:n_uoiozuz_m:;usm:&ia.ﬁa«a 8:2

aa

_u_d anﬂs.o:noﬂcﬁoﬁw 3m38¢5_€=4a

* shipments into Bosnia in 1994 despite a United Nations amms embarge that,
?:Emﬁﬁ!&l&o& uphold and the Administration’s awn policy
of isclating Tehran globafly as a supportar of terrorisrm, according to senior
Administration officials and other sources.!

This articia was the firs! of several extracrdinary articies that spefled out in detail, s with

§§§1§§-§3§25§&§ the "green Rght

Tha artidles authoritatively spellod out the advantages B::&Emvonao.ssm
green ight policy, the confusion R had caused within the Exacutive Branch, and the other
g%ﬁii%i%&v«uﬁﬁ%?%&o

ié%ﬁuﬁiiﬂ&:ﬁ« Membess were shocksd ko
gga‘)&%i&!ﬂa!%.ﬂag unprecedented focthold in an
exiremsly unstable and viinerable part of Europe. it was equally disturbing that for two
years the Administration had purposely hidder: from Congreas, US aliies, and the American
g'i%i&&&?

2 First used in wilting by US Ambassacor to Croatia, Peter Galbrakth on May 12,
1984 in a Memorandum for the File (hereinafier “Galbraith Memorandum™).
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There had been occasional press reports before that might have exposed the policy_
earlier; however, Congress continued o believe the Administration's denials of the Iranian
green light policy. Congress found it unlikely that the Administration would adopt such a
policy that was inconsistent and incompatible with the Administration’s well-known and
vigorously championed policies regarding the former Yugoslavia and Iran, Also, given the
long-settled US policy of isolating Iran both economicatiy and politically, Congress refused
o believe that the Administration could have such bed judgment as to invite fran, the
world's largest exporter of terrorism, into Europe, much less Into an area so ripa for
fundamentalist expioitation as the Bafkans,

The thought was that the Administration would surely inform Congress i it intended
& major policy shift towards Iran and Bosnia. In retrospact, Congress cannot be blamed
for presurning to trust the Administration’s truthfuiness, consistency, and strategic acumen.

in any case, when the story of the green ight policy broke in April 1996, there were
calls from both houses of Congress for an investigation; since then, several committees
have lecked into the issue, emphasizing aspects refevant to their specific areas of
oversight. For example, both intelligence oversight committees - the House Parmanent
Select Committee on Intelligence and the Senate Select Conmittee on inteligence — have
examined the green light policy with an emphasis on its intelligence-related issues. Also,
on May 8, 1996, the House approved Resolution 416, establishing a salect subcommitiee
of the House Intemational Relations Committse and gave it a broad charter to investigate
all aspecis of the policy and implementation. This subcommitiee, the Select Subcommitiee
to Investigate the United States Role in Iranian Arms Transfers to Croatia and Bosnia (also
known as the “iranian Green Light” Subcommitiea) conducted an axtensive investigation
of the green light policy over the ensuing months and pressnis its findings and
recommendations in this report.

The Uncovering of the Iranlan Green Light Policy by the Press

As early as May 1994, alegations began 1o surface that iran, with some sort of US
complicity, was covertly transferring weapons 10 Bosnia, despite & United Nations (UN)
arms ambargo on the former Yugostavia. Each time the Administration issued denials of
S complicity and managed to keap the siofy in the bottle.?

* The Administration’s policy of denial and deception on this issue is outined in
cetall in Chapter 3.

3

i i .up, James Risen and Coyle
rtunately for those seeking to maintain tha cover-up,
!oZ»:.....__“_M_ the ..o_w Angeles Times cﬁﬂﬁ h..ﬁa of ﬁ%ﬁaﬂ. qu_._.a._n Hﬂﬂ”nm:“ﬂ
July 1996, they wrole a t3 reen tigative &
Dﬂ.n”ﬂ..m:gwﬂ._ #ﬁ&c? ie detail to large nurnbers of inm.v—wooa d ‘Admiristration cfficials who
were willing 1o speak to them on a "not for attribution” basis.

i ¢ role in uncovering
the Risen/McManus arlicles played such an impartant 1
the o_.omm:aﬂnc_“nvo_g and its consequences, their findings are summarized below.

Background

i . .gzsﬁugsoaﬁaﬁa&
Clinton White House was not the first Adminis ono
_B:_ma.w__.mu mﬁ..ﬂ:.n.#a into Bosnia through Croatia, but its response was the opposit= of

4 The following is a chronological listing of the Los Angeles Times (herginafter

e ¥ < i LAT, Apr. 5, 1996, at 1.
McManus, LIS Ok'd Iranian Arms for Bosnia, LAT, 3 :
Rioon mJ._n.u:. r Lw._“.__ on Defends lis O¥ of Boenian AfTos LAT, Apr. 6, 1956, at1

Risen, Glogrich Crificizes Clinton Over Bosnia, LAT, . 11, 1996, at 12.
y nus. nvay May have A ..—..)-..”mvw onvoy i BOSNIA ;.—..

ooticy, LAT, Apr. 24, 1996, 8t 17.
jan Armoa S o Toih, LAT, Apr. 26,

Democrats Join Critics of HOANA ANV -L.!TJ.;._- May

Roania Polic 24, 1096, 2t 26.
Cinton Defends A Aoent, o A e = LAT, May 31, 1096,

at1.
July 14, __.oma.n:.
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the M
_Bzﬁ ”monu.zm.ﬂ.ﬁ:ﬂ: 5. In September 1992, the Bush Administration discovered that
i it ter Eo_.m. smuggle arms on board a 747 airplane fo Bosnla through Croatia
mnn_nu:ﬂo.. A ﬁoa:am n.:..cnao and, according to former Secretary of Stata Lawre

. “raised hell." The Administration atied Gecisively and had the 747 and _._ro“

constrai } i :
by nts that ﬁn:ﬂnuu..ﬂ%ﬂuma wﬁam wasa_n_cg on he part of the American public
the spring of 1994, Clinton's frustrations i.:”m m_mb u@uxnﬁo T eauelly spplied to him. By

oppartunity. Though iran had smuggled a sl inss i

8 ifii
Bosnian ﬁﬁi%!?%x&gﬁﬁﬁmﬁaﬁ
5%@0 he Eg_az gﬁéﬂ?wﬁim&»ﬂ@::ﬁ!?

5

respond to new arms shipments from lran. Granic himself was against the idea, a minority
view in the Croatian government, but was following his orders to seek Washinglon's

reaction.

Ambassador Galbraith had been impatient with the Clinton Administration for not
doing more 1o 2id the Bosnian cause, and was strongly In favor of the US allowing the new
arms shipments. Risen noted that Galbraith had eamed his reputation as an activist as a
staff member on the Senate Foreign Relations Comrmittee and had sometimes rankled the
carper officiale within the US govemment in his efforts to expand his role as the first US
Ambassador to Croatia. 1t is clear that Galbraith supporied the pro-wespons pipeline
faction within the Craatian government, the most prominent member being Gojko Susak,
Croatia‘s Defenge Minister and Tudjman’s right-hand man.’

Though the Administration thought the green light decision “obvicus™ and
insignificant at the time, a senlor US diplomat would later acknowledge that the pipsline
probably would not have been established if the United States had opposed Ut forcefutly.*
Peter Galbraith would later testify, * | can say that had we in a very, very forcsful way made
it clear that wa would not tolerate the flow of arms io the Bosnians, they probably would
not have done 1t . . . . When we did not object, they progeeded to go ahead and do it™

Tha Decision

While most diplomatic exchanges require days, i not weeks or months, o
coordinate and ye?, this request Ko7 Instructions reached Presidant Clinton in a matter of
hours. The firet recipient of the cable was Deputy Assistant Secretary of 5tate Alexander
Vershbow, who referred the question to Deputy Secretary of State Strobe Talbott and
National Security Advisor Anthony Lake, who were traveling with Clinton: to Nixon's fuheral
In Yorba Linda, Califomia.

Talbott and Lake agreed on the solution: Do nothing. Gatbraith was to give the
coded response of “no instrucions,” which would tefl the Croatians that the US woukd not
act to stop the shipments. Lake asked for 20 minutes of President Clirdon's time and was
ushened inte Clinton’s office aboard Alr Farce One. James Risan described the meeting

-

T
* LAT. May 21, 1996.
'
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as follows: “Lake ran [the _usm&c:.a through the pros and cons and said, This is our

fecommendation . . . * And he said ‘yes’ a senior official recounted. Thers wag iittle
discussion and no sarious debate. it seemed like ‘an obvious choice,’ the official saki,“"*

No other officlals even at the highest levels of the US govamment were consulted
before the green light was given 10 the Iranian arms transfers. In addition, tha Centiral
Intelfigence Agency, whose

. anuwwsu.&mn:&o.ﬁg&.g. information
on political and military anco_ov_.i:_u. ui.ia:ﬂ!&ﬂnf%&? no__g\.:

The Attematives

For the aa?aim!ﬁ—o__ai:n the breaking of the story, the Administration: spin
was that ém&!«ﬂsg.amgzo the Iranian arms transfers, and that the
5" * Further " .

showed, , that far from being “forced”

1

could be eased i friendly nations would covertly supply the weapons with American
encouragement.

%?cﬁguagéiﬁ
Bucaoﬁsng:g&sﬁ uavoaumrﬂ__.):e.o:x Lake thought the idea was “too risky," and
Secretary of State Warren Christopher was also opposed.™ Indeed, Risen woukd wits
that, "senior -u:%gngonnogn-..o_!ﬂnao.- plan gﬂcﬂsﬁ %M._Muinu
smuggll friendly nations would make it 100 obvious the
?eﬂl«ﬂ%&u::%%%g.é

other altematives to the
“Ina July 1996 article, Risen and McManus would document

e ”, «_ﬂhu.ooﬁhﬁ B moon 1303 s 1655, tacsesie were betn -Ssﬂm.ﬂ
that at lea X Ying
friendly Saudi Arabla, Turkey and Pakistan fo move weapons and
é,ﬂnﬂgnﬂiiﬂiioﬁags?‘giami_
g%&?%%?&i?m?%!ﬁ!ﬁ.

sing intermediaries in late 1993. He
ou_!-..w:a i s -ﬂmﬁw_‘ haw much it would cost 1o begin
auaﬁgz 1o &d the Bosnians, wondering I $250 milion woukd be enough.™ The

Amang negative consequences of the green light policy and how it was
implernented cuﬂﬂ&aon!ﬂg!ﬂ!&m;mﬂﬁo%nﬂs&%ig
US govemmert, the resuitant increase in Irania infiuence in the former Yugoslavia, and
conoams that, beneath the Administration’s obfuscation of the policy, there may have been
an Megal covert action.

‘A Policy Confusion

“yd,
8 LAT, Apr. 26, 1996.
* | AT, July 14, 1996,




8

There was considerable confusion among Administration officials throughout the
whole process. onaon_aoo_i and even less thought look place from the time the
oniginal query was made o Galbraith until Lake met with the President on Ak Force One.
Even after receiving the "'no instructions” instruction, Galbraith himself was stil unclear
what action to take. According to Risen, 9!&5%?:335-&.502&3-_
Security Counci's Qimcggidﬁngffizggiﬁ fo stick

10 “no Instructions,” but she added, “Tony was smiling when he said &t

zﬁgégﬂggifg not consuited,
ware not advised of the decision once it was made. the CIA nor no:ﬁ
were informed of the policy change. Accordingly, the Zagreb

continued to be under the impression that the official of the Unfted Stales was to
support the anms embargo, the sames position which Assistant Secratary of State Talbott
would also lead CIA Director James Woolsey 1o believe was stil valid. The CIA continued

fo collact information on embargo busting a iggggaﬁocm
ooc!:ao:.. Si-.:niﬂs!us intalligence, nSiEt:!!vo!g!_

:o.du.a:on Oooo:_uoq 1094,
B. Increased Iranian influence

Tha most troubling consequence of the green light policy was the resuitant
exponential expangion of lrantan influence in Bosnia. Risen's uocaoa_..luon—.rsg
the following aasesament of iranian influence before and after the green light:

ioﬂ!:%%g%:gn%;
guexillas from Iran, Ssudi Arabia, and other countries in Bosnis as sarly as
1592, officiels said, including several “Afghanis,” velerens of the ClA-Sunded
war against the Sovist occupation of Afghanistan. But these were largely
Bc.uecoﬁsooa with no readity apparent command and control from iran
or anyone sise.”

In 1984, howevet, a different kind of iranisn was showing up in Boenia, officials sald:
...%iiii&iﬁiﬁgssz

" LAT, Apr. 23, 1896,

Tehran government on well-defined missions. Some were i_.sa.qmia
s.:oz.:e ht the Beanians how 10 use the wire-guided antitank missies |
shipping, one source said. Osoq-:o_non!_s_omw:ﬂ R_i__._
!m _x! s factories, according to the Bosnian government. "

Ambassador Galbraith himseif noted that the differance was like night a _...:
.nonw wi_ was being tatked about in April 1994 was gomething very substanti
than what had been shipped by iran previously. Risen would elaborate:

From May 1994 1o January 1996, the lranians shipped more than 5,000 tons
of arms to mogﬁgc.o Croatian pipeiine. ...:o«vqgaoae..n ﬂoa_
portion by far of Bosnia's military hardware - two thirds by official U:
o&_ﬂmac .:.c.ﬂio delivered mostly small ams :.“_3:!.62.

uding rifies, ammunition, and uniforms but also antitank insvo:u_.a
ggiﬁn!%iﬂ?« weapons that could threaten
akkcraft, including US aircraft.

Other countries did supply weapons to Bosnia without US encouragemant

i%gﬂggggiit&ﬁn
Sowu_r!ﬂ!__n!!li!-u a US diplomat, declared the increase in radicel Islamic
support in Bosnia as a major blow 10 the national security of the Unilad States. He refermed
Unldtgo-g We ave inviting Bosnian-Isiamic connections with a terrorist
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state that wishes us as much damage as they {sic] can possibly inflict upon us.'® believed to have camied arms to the Muslim government tfroops. Redman claims to have
. never asked whether arms were being carried, but US officials now acknowledge that

Of even more concern to the United States and tha families of Americart servicemnen questions could be raised whether the Administration had gone beyond passive support-
deployed in Bosnia is the tatrotist threat that materialized in Bosnia under the green light forthe Bosnian cause and taken on a more active rofe.”
policy. Risen gave two examples In his articles of tha increase In the terrorist threat, but
aliuded to having more information then he reported. The second case occurred in September of 1995 when & shipment of lrani u

. missiies bound for Bosnia was detained in Croatia because the Croatian mel 1)

In February 1995, NATO troops raided a “terrorist training school” at which they nervous thal the missiies were tipped with chemical warheads.™ Experts
armested eight Bosnian and three iranian “dipiomats,” who quickly invoked diplomatic the US Army rapidly moved to inspect the missles, determined that they were not
immunity and flew back o lran. ems seized in the raid included bomb devices within chemical or biological warheads, and then permitted them to be delivered into Bosnia.
shampoo bottles and children’'s toys and a training video showing how to ambush a caron Some US officials ed that in this action the US had directly violated the UN
an open highway and to kilt is occupants.” ams o..:vwao.u&o: :

In an even more ominous sign, Americas embassy officials in Zagreb and Croatia The President's Inteligence Oversight Board (IOB} was secretly commissioned on
became aware In 1995 of suspectad Hizballah (Party of God) members stalking embassy Novemnber 29, 1984 to investigate the green light policy and to determine if any covert
personnel and their families._Suspectad Iranian terrorists wers seen with video cameras action laws wers violated, The 10B's classified report sharply criticized the Administration
reconding Amnericans as they came and went. Officials feared that an atiack was imminent for excessive secrecy but determined that notification of Congress was not necessary. The
and one official confirmed “the terrorist threal went right up the scale to levels you would Administration’s actions, according to the 0B, fell within the category of “traditional
see in preparation for an attack.™ diplomatic activity,” exempt from US covert action laws.”

C. Possible legal Covert Action The IOB investigation had the potential to put the matter to rest, but raised

questions of its own. Moreover, the White Housa, even after recelving the report, fafled

“The final consequence of the Administration’s giving the green light 1o the Iranian to advise Congrass of tha green light policy. What made the situation worse in the minds
arms pipeline was the chance that actions taken by US government officials crossed the of many in Congress was tha decision by the Administration in April 1896, afler the story
legal line from what the Administration terms as passive, Le., "no Instructions,” to & was out, o bar [OB Chakman Anthony Harrington from sharing the report with Congress
concrete act which might reasonably be construed by foreign officials as an Invitation to or testifying about i under oath.® Suspicions were heightened.
conduct covert action. Under US law, covert action ig Rlegal unless it has been authorized
by the President and reported to Congrass. The Congressional Responis

Acconding to Risen's sources, there were two instances when Administration offictals
came objactively ciose o the legal Ine. The first cass occurmed in May 1964 when Special LAT, Apr. 17, 1986,

Envoy to the former Yugosiavia Chardes Redman intervened with senior Croatian  m
government officiale 1o expedite the movernent inko Bosnia of a blocked convoy that i LAT, July 14, 1996.
T L AT, May 21, 1996,
2AT, Apr. §, 1996, i
BLAT, Apr. 23, 1996, .

4 AT, May 21, 1996. ’ ® AT, Apr. 17, 1996,
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The congressional response {o the revelations about the green light affair was
strong. Sensior D s joined Republi in dencuncing the Clinton Administration’s
faflure to consult with or notify Congress of the important change in policy towards Iran and
the arms embamo. [t was only this weklispring of bipariisan condemaation that prompted
the Administration to admit that it shoukd have consulted Congress. Undersecretary of
Stale Peter Tamoff acknowledged that he was unaware of any congressional notification,
and an Administration official admitted that "there is a growing understanding in the
Administration that in terms of Congress, this could have been handled betier.™

In the two years between when the green Tight policy went into effect and when it
‘was uncovered, there had been innumerable meetings between Members of Congress and
senior Administration officials discussing policy oplions on liting the arms embarge on
Bosnia. The fafiure of the Administration to mention the green light policy in any of these
digcussions can only be intentional.

A week afier the green ight decision was made, Deputy Secretary of State Talbott
responded to a lengthy list of specific questions on Bosnia that had been submitted by

Republican Senator John Warner. In his letter to Senator Wamer, Talbott wamed that |

lifting the smbargo, as many favored in Congress, could lead to an increased lranian
presence in Bosnia. Tathott did not mention that he had just taken part in a policy decision
that would bring Iranians streaming into the reglon.™

In midsummer 1994, Democratic Senator and Chairman of the Armed Services
Committee, Sam Munn met with Charles Redman, then chief US negotiator in the Balkans,
Yo discuss ways of aiding the Bosnian cause. Redman fafled to mention the fact that the
Administration had already made the gresn light decision. “1 don't ever recall anybody in
the Administration teifing me anything about that,” noted Nunn after the cover-up came to
Rghtin 1996. Senator Nunn fater reflected on the Administration’s keeping Congress in
the dark, "} seems 10 me the question is whether Congress shouid have been informed,
not so much as a matter of law but as a matier of comity.” * |n response, Ambassador

| AT, May 2, 1996,
=
Bl
i,
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Redman could only say, "It never came up."*
Senate Majority Leader Robert Dole, speaking on the fleor of the Senate, observed:

While we read and heard reporte that Iren was smuggling amms to the
Bosnians, we did not know the President and his advisers made a conscious
decision o give a green light for iran to provide ams. Indeed, those of us
who advocated lifting the arms embargo - Republicans ana Democrats —
argued that if America did not provide Bosnia with assistance, Iran would be
Bosnia's only option. ®

Deputy Secretary Strobe Talbott offered another response in defense of the
Administration: Since the press was reporting on lranian arms shipments, Congress was
properly informed. Democratic Senator Robert Kerrey sharply rebuited the argument, *De
you think, Mr. Secretary . . . that Congress getting its information through what really was
half a dozen newspaper accounts in 1994 constitutes knowing more or less what you
knew?™ Senalor Kerrey also obsarved that for Congress to do its job properly, it must be
kapt informed by the Executive Branch, particularly in the area of foreign policy. "Ceriainly,
you don't iﬂ_ao_ca reaching 2 Mﬂ...%:w.o: n<oa_.n_30 we pick up the newspaper or hear a
News accoul something te going on and knee jerk, particularly when its a foreign
policy question.™ fo i o

® .

Doie) * 142 Cong. Rec. § 3445 (No. 49. Apr. 17, 1996) (Statement of Sen. Robert
).

w
wi:

Anng on 1k Acdicns Regantiog Jranlan Ams nipments Inl0 BOSNES HeTors
the Senats Saject Crwnmillen on Intalligence, 104th Cong. (May 28, 1988). Sen.
Kerrey also addressad this issue In the first $SCI Hearing on the lranian Arms
Transfers: °. . . The Washington Times tatks sbout 2 wink, that there wera discussions
in the press, that we're aware as well as the consequences of our having changed the
law to say that we're not going to enforce that embargo, that doesn't mean that we were
informed, that the committes was informed of a change in policy. . . .” Hearing On
Irandan Arms Shipmanis 1o Bosnia Bafors the Senats Select Committes an Inteligance
.25096.?.«3.33.

Conunitias on inifigenca, 104t Cong. (May 26, 19096).
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House mgwrﬂzgm%aggf%&a?géuasong
light has had on trust between the executive and legisiative branches of govemment:

Never did Clinton indicate the Administration had given a green light to
Iranian arms smuggling . . . . ¥ you have been told face to face by the
President of the United States for three years that you can't help the
Bosnians and now you leam after all thesa face-to-face meetings that they
were encouraging the lranians, giving the Iranian amms shipments a wink and
n:&.?ﬂa:oinoxo:issss:gi.aﬂﬁ%éﬁ:mi
being told

Throughout, the congressional reaciions to the uncovering of the green light policy
was outrage g.?uaaiggggaﬂaﬂbswﬁgﬂ%.%
to US interests around the workd, a sanctioned foothold in Ewops from which it could
launch temorist campaigns against US personne! across Europe. Congressmen Henry
Hyde, for example, wamed that the policy had to be examined and could not remain
"buried behind classified documents.* He was of the view thet the intreduction of the most
radical nation in the world . . . Into the Balkans in forca with weapons to give them a
foothold in that most volatile part of the workd is incredible folly.” He wondered, as many
guwﬁ?é?)ﬁ%ﬁiﬂgg%!&ggg&
means of assisting the Bosnians, means that would not endanger the safely of the
American people. J#oii!ougsg%..{aoxﬂ_h.g.goﬂi
reasonably be asked 1o provide weapons for the Bosnians — not iran,

>§=ﬁ§50§6§8§lﬂ§5§4§3§:§!ﬂ&
violate its own declared policy of containing Iran in favor of iInviting the radical terroriat
regime into the Balkans, Congressman Christopher Cox would spesk for many when he
denounced the Administration’s decision fo give the gresn light. “This policy was
absolutely insane.” he noted. gg-%%mﬁﬁ..:i-iﬁuﬁ
poficy is about ™" In particuler, a grest many Members of Congress would express their
concerm over the Increased temorist throat fo US and NATO troops resulting from the

AT, Apr. 11, 1996, o1 12.
# Heaaring on Policy In BOSNA Hepons 1 »
Commitiaa, 104th Cong. {Apr- 23, 1996).

* Risen, House Ok's Panel o Probe Anma to Soanta, Los Angeles Times, May 8,
1996, at 5.
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expanded iranian influence in Bosnia, a threat the Administration chose to overlook.

Yet, not all Members of Congress, particularly in the House, were upset by the
revelation of the green light policy. Congressman Alcee Hastings spoke for many of them
when he publicly thanked Ambassadors Galbraith and Redman for their efforts in putting
togather the green light policy:

A central criticlem of the "no instructions” policy that you two gentterhen have
testified here about allows that, according to some, it permited the
dangerous military and intefigence penetration of Bosnia by Iran.

Yet we know just from using open, public sources, the United States
decisions in April of 1994 did not give Iran a beachhead In Bosnia; Iran and
other Muslim countries were already there. And | might add for historians
and the buffs of history, islam has been involved in the Balkans since fights
with the Ottoman empire, if we just want to go backinto it . . . . And any
Congressperson that dd not know all of that, that serves on the Committee
on intemational Relations, was not doing his or her job.™?

The Genesis and Chartar of the Select Subcommittee

The controversy over the secret green light policy cuiminated in calls for legislative
Investigations. The House of Rapresentatives’ Committees on International Relations,
National Security. Inlefigence, and Judiciary began investigations probing the
Administration’s green light policy in Aprit and May of 1998. At the urging of his Senate
colleagues, Senate Majority Leader Dole cafied upon the Chairmen of the Senate Foreign
Relations, Inteligence, Armed Services, and Judiciary Commitiees for parallel
investigations.

During inftial hearings held by the House Intemational Relations Committee, many
questions were raised that demanded further examination:

Was the US govemment dicectly or indinectly involved in the execution of the
transfer of iranian arms, and did any of the Administration’s aclions violate
US law? .

o3

Committes, 104th Cong. (Apr. 23, 1996),




16

. Any implications from the lanian arms transiers for the safety of United
. Where did the idea of an Iranian pipeline originate and with whom? States armed forces daployed in or around Bosnis, for relations between the

US and its alies and for United States efforts to isolate Iran;
. Whywere Congress, the CIA and other government agencies, US allies, and
the American public not notified of this decision when it was made or in the . And all defiberations and communications between the United States

nearly two years until the poiicy was exposed by the press? E&mﬂnﬂs:%i%!%?ﬂggaeizxsragas
] And, why did the President aliow the worlds most dangerous terrorist atate,
Iran, to provide arms and establish a foothold in Europe when other fiendly The Subcommitiew’s charter ends on November 8, 1996, by which time i is 1o have
nations were wiling to help? . transmitted its report 10 the House Intemational Relations Committes. Given its short life-
span :n?&on_.o.o:ao- the Subcommittes has s attempted to address as many of the
In an effort to consolidate the investigations of the four House commitiees and to key questions as possble. What follows are the results of the Subcommittee's
further examina these questions, the House leadership and the International Relations investigations.

Committee Chainman Benjemin Gilman announced a proposal 1o establish a Select
Subcommitiee to investigate the United States’ role in the transfer of arms from Jran o
Bosnia and Croatia during the period when the intermnational amms embargo was in effect.
On May 8, 1996, the House approved Resolution 416 which crealed the Select
Subcomnitiee within the International Refations Commitles. The Subcommittee is
composed of five Republican Members and three Democrat Members, and is chaired by
Henry J. Hyde of Hinois, with Lee H. Hamilton as the Ranking Minority Member.

imagmgégggE%?gwgn

. The policy of the United Stales Government with respect to the transfer of
arms and other assistance from ran or any other country 1o countries or
entilies within the territory of the former Federsl Republic of Yugostavia
during any pericd that an intemational ams embargo was in effect;

. The nature and extent of the transfer of anns or other assistance from Iran
or any other countty 1o countries or enlities within the territory of the former
Federal Republic of Yugosiavia during the period that an intemational ams
embargo of the former Yugosiavia was in effect;

. Any actions taken by the Unltad States Govemment 1o faciitate or & impade
such transfers;

. Any communication or represeniations made to the Congress of the United
States or the American people with respect 10 the international arme .
embargo or with efforts to modify orierminate United States participation in
that embargo; .
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CHAPTER 2

THE DISSOLUTION OF YUGOSLAVIA
AND THE EARLY YEARS OF THE BALKANS WAR

The events discussed In this report mainly occummed during and after Aprit 1984, To
understand these events, however, i is necessary to have a basic familiarity with the
%_§§s§§<§r§35&§

The autocratic nde of Yugosiav dictator To after World War [§ suppressed but did
not eliminate the strongly divergent and divisive sthnic and religious tensions that have
axisted for hundreds of years between the various peoples living within the borders of what
was Yugoslavia. These fivalries reemerged after Tilo's death in 1580, and the centrifugal
pull of ethnic identitles led to increasingly bitter arguments over the scope and powers o;
the central govemment. Unable to convince Serbia and Montenegro that a loosa
confaderafion was a viable alternative 10 the existing Serb-dominated govemment,
Slovenla and Croatia procisimed their independence on June 25, 1991. Further
complicating the situation, several Serb-dominated regions of Crostia declared
independence from the new republic.

The central Yugoslavian govemment based in Belgrade, Serbla prompily declared
the Slovenia and Croatia secessions “llegal and Qlegitimate™ and sent the Yugoslav
Peoples’ Army (YPA) to restore control over the breakaway regions. Hostilties broke ot
when the Croatian and Siovenian forces refused to lay down their arms. The fighting
continued untl the Brioni agreement was finafized in sarly Juty 1891,

The Brioni agreement called for the immediate cessation of hostitities in exchange
for a three-month suspension of the declarations of independence by Croatia and Slovenia.
The YPA soldiers bagan immediately to withdraw from Slovenia, where the Siovenian
imegulars had been able 1o hoid their own. Desplie the agreement, however, the fighling
continued within Croatia between the newly independent republic end the Krajina Serbs
backed by the YPA forces.

In September 1991, the UN Security Council, thvough Resolution 713, enacted a

general and complete anns embargo over the former Yugoslavia {0 try to temper ths
confict. In October 1991, tha thres-month moraiorium on sacession elapsed, and the

mﬁgg_—_aﬁnug!-!._ﬂi_sn

E)

As Slovenia and Croatia were leaving the former Yugoslavia, a more bitter and
profracted conflict was developing in Bosnia-Harzegovina. On Qctober 14, 1891, the
National Assembly of Bosnia-Herzegovina passed, by majority vole, 8 memorandum on
sovereignty and Independence which stopped just short of declaring ocutright
independence. The following December 21st, the Bosnian Serbs held an uncfficial
referandum declaring their opposition to withdrawing from the withering Sacialist Federal
Mﬂm..c_u_.n of Yugosiavia (SFRY), and local Serbian leaders proclaimed their independence

Bosnia.

. Following the lead of Slovenia and Croatia, Bosnia's Muslim and Croat citizens -

voted for independence in a March 1992 referendumn. The Serbs boycotted. On April 6, the
EC recognized the independence of Bosnia-Herzegovina. The following day, the US
recognized the nations of Slovenia, Croatia and Bosnia-tHerzegovina, and Iifted the
economic sanctions against the three republics.

The Bosnian Serb minority vigorously opposed the withdrawal of Bosnia-
Herzegovina from the namp SFRY that was rapidly becoming a de facto Serbian state. The
Baosnian Serbs withdrew from Bosnia-Herzegovina into their self-prociaimed “Serbian
Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina.”

Fighting between the Serbs and the Muslim-dominated Bosnian government
ensued, The Bosnian Serbs soon seized more than two-thirds of the Bosnian republic’s
territory and began the siege of Sargjevo. The Serbs managed their successes despite
the fact that, according 10 a8 1991 census, they comprised only 31 percent of the
poputation, with the Musiims and Croatians having 44 and 17 percent, respectively.' Two
key reasons the Bosnian Serbs gained such an advantage over the Bosnian Muslims zo0
quickly were that the withdrawing YPA reflinquished Rs largs arsenal of weapons 10 the
Bosnian Serb forces as it withdrew and that the YPA soldiers with a Bosnian Serb
background stayed behind o bacome a formidable part of the new Bosnian Serb officer
corps.

While the Bosnian Serbs and Muslims wers fighting, the Bosnlan Croatians were

* According to the Congressional Research Sarvice, the eight percent of the
population unaccounted for in these percentages comprises various other ethnic
groups, none of which number more than 1 percent of the total populstion. Additionally,
the 1991 census akowed a "Yugosiavian® response for individuals of mixed parentage
ﬁh#-!&ﬂ.gi&g!ggﬂ%ﬂéﬂli
group.
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working to consolidate their positions in western Bosnia in their desired mini-state, Herceg-
Bosnia, which they would proclaiemn in July 1992. The Bosnian Croatians, much like Croatia,
s_o:_a change sides in the Bosnian confiict as_mg:!m:oouu:mﬁ&sg intarests,

supporting the Muslim government at this time, then later moving towards the Bosnlan
Serbs, unt shifling again towards the Muslim govermnment when the 1994 Wa: a__..fo.o._
Accords established the Bosnian Federation.

On May 30, 1892, the UN Security Council pasted Resolution 757. The resolution
condemned the SFRY's defiance of UN demands that k cease ks interference in the affairs
of Bosnia-Herzegovina, end placed an economic embargo on the Federal Republic of
Yugostavia until it fulfiled is obligations under Resolution 762, Resolution 762, which was
passad two weeks earlier on May 15, called for an end to the fighting In Bosnla, elimination
of influence and forces from both the YPA and Croatia, & aauon:o..ﬁoaqso;_
integrity of Bosnia-Herzegovina.

Notwithstanding the UN's afforts, the war continued into the summer. In August
1892, representatives from over 30 countries and nongovemmental organizations met in
London at the intemational Conference on the Former Yugosiavia 1o bring about a
negotiated end to the fighting. The London Conf e, co-sponsored by the EG and the
UN, named Lord David Owen and Cyrus Vance co-chairmen of the EC-UN steering
committee, The Conferance affirmed the principla that intemational boarders should be
changed only by mutual consent, and called for a ceass fire, access to detention camps
{by intemational organizations :o..waczz_nsngnian.o:o:%ol_ﬁm!
oama and the protection of human and minority rights. Unfortunately, the London

, ke the fution before R, had litde effect on the violence on the ground.
_..5 aly, o:):e:o.wg Cyrus Vance announced that all parties had already violated the
terms of the Conference, including the cease-fire, which they had approved just days
darlier.

The Gensva Peace Conference was held the following month, _oq_—.ovc_._uoaao_

problems, g&:ﬂ and varous other legal issues.

= o

Croats, who shut it down. The Yranians forced to retumn 1o their small-scale arms
smuggling and training efforts. -@&aﬁ'

‘In Qetober 1992, negotiators Cyrus Vance and Lord Owen advanced their plan {the
“Vance-Owen" plan} to settie the conflict. Their plan was 1o establish a decentralized stato
with seven to ten autonomous provinces defined by economic and geographic, rather than
ethnic, criteria, The Bosnian Serb leadership prompty rejected the plan the following day.

In response to the Bosnian Serbs, Vance and Owen reworked their pian several
times, and in January 1893 the Bosnian Croats approved the measure. The Bosnian
Mu _:._ _o._oion a_ _sma.. On May 2, Bosnian Serb President Radovan Karadzic
signed the plan under i pn e by Serbian President Slobodan Milcsevic. Two

nmﬁ_m»o r, the Bosnian Serb Pa ___na_m_éoosa._.. @ plan, and the Vance-Owen procass
was finished,

There was no hiding the viciousness of the fighting. Genocide was frequently
u_au& by the combatants and, as the word discovered more and more about the
alrocities being inflictad by all sides, the Security Council passed Resolution 808 in
February 1993, e Ezwz-ﬁssil.osoui!_:m_ In support of the Resolution, the EC,
the UN staff and the US State Department submitted reports documenting the crimes of
systematic rape, murder, mutiation, deportation, illegal imprisonment, and “sthnic
cleansing” by all parties.

All three sides corwnitted 2 great many atrocities during this conflict upon
innocents, but it appears the Bosnian Serbs were the most egregious in thelr violations of
human rights. it was the Bosnian Serb leadership that set the war aim of creating an
sthnically “pure” and geographically contiguous greater Serbia 3?33_35__3.%
necessary. caqegsisgeeazwgno;oiegﬁsai a more
complete ac g of the g which

in May 1993, Bosnian President Alija Lrethegovic wamed of a “new aggression” by
Bosnlan Croatians, and relations between the Bosnlan Musiims and Croetlans steadily
worsened. As the fighting intensMed around the city of Mostar and throughout central
g&%&ﬁisiﬂi “ethnic cleansing” to solidify gains mada on

Also that May, the United Nations Security Council passed Resolution 824, which
declared that Sarajevo, Bihac, Srebrenica, Tuzla, Gorazde, and Zepa should be treated
88 "safa areas” and that oll Bosnian Serb military units should withdraw from those areas
&t once. The Sacurity Councl followed up this declaration on June 4, 1993 with Resolution
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836 extending the mandate of UN Protection Forcas and authorized measures, inciuding
use of force, o protect these “safe areas.” By Febwuary of 1994, the situation on the ground
had become infolerable for the NATO leadership es the Bosnian Serbs overran Srebrenica
and Zepa and besieged and shelled the others, creating appaking humanitarian conditions,
Serbian actions had made a mockery of the term "safe area.”

The catalyst for increased intemational action came when a mortar shell landed in

a crowded Sarajevo market on Fetwuary 5, 1994, kiling 68 and wounding over 200

clviltans. The following day, UN Secretary General Boutros Boutrcs-Ghali lifted his
opposition to air strikes and asked NATO Secretary General Man! :aasaoans eek
permission from the North Atiantic Council to a heavy weapons € zZone
around Sarzjevo. President Clinton supported the Secretary General's call for alr strikes

shoukl more violence against civilians occur. On April 10, the NATO Alliance, in its first
offensive action since its founding, launched air strikes against Serb positions which had
been shelling Gorazde relentiessly. A second strike the following day helped bring the
Bosnian Serb advance to & halt, although the Serbs maintained control gver a large
percentage of the temitory acquired in their advance.

The Seibs had also been put on léss advantageous terms by the Washington
Accords reached the month before, in March, betwean the Bosnlan Muslims and the
Croats. The Accords set up a Federation which, in addition %o refieving miltary pressure
on the hard-pressed Musiims, put the Serbs in a difficult strategic situation. The Croats
were now freed up to begin preparations for a major offensive to retake the Krafina, and
the Muslims were oble to shore up their defenses and keep other Bosnian Sett units
engaged elsewhere in Bosnia.

This was, in brief, the situation in the region in Aprk 1984, when lran again sought
1o intefject iself into the war on a large scale.

3

CHAPTER 3

THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE CLINTON ADMINISTRATION
ON THE BOSNIAN ARMS EMBARGO -- DENIAL AND DECEPTION

This chapler wilf examine the Cfinfon Administration’s pubfic policy on the UN arms
embargo on Bosnia. Starting with the formulation of the Wranian green light policy in Agpril
1994, the actual policy became very different from what the Administration representad it
to be in its statements to Congress, the press, and the American people. As is discussed
in Section [t of this report, where the developrnent and implementation of the tranian green
fight policy are discussed at lngth, the Adminisiraion went o extraordinary lengths fo
keep s diplomatic duplicity under wraps. Senlor Administration officials wefe intent that
there shoulkd be no US “fingerprints.” In the public realm, this went beyond the usual
practice of offering ‘no comment” on allegations of US covert activity; instead,
Administration officials from the Pregident on down lied.

Some have criticized the Clinton Administration for a lack of consistency in foreign
policy. 5??9&9&!33&&%33&2?9?835 # would
largely be unfair in describing the Administration’s public record on the Bosnian atms
embargo.

Regarding the embargo, the Adminisiration consistantly expressed its opposition to
the embargo whils also consistantly stating s unwillingness 1o take unilateral action to litt
it. The concept of uniateral action by the US was fundamentally inconsistent with the
“assertive mutifateraksm” that bacame the centerpiece of the Administration's foreign
policy, Assertive multitateralism rests on 2 high regard for the UN 25 an instrument of
foreign policy, a profession of the moral obligation to follow the spirit and letter of
intemnationsal 1aw, and the imperative of multilateral coopevation. In its public statemants
about the arms embargo, the Adminisiration never deviated from the positions necessitated
by these principles, despite the fact that the Administration leamed within days of taking
office that assertive mullisieralism effectively tied ity hands in working fo ift the embargo
R befieved fo be against US interests. It was this quandary that would, in Aprll 1964, lead
uﬂggoo 8%?%%«5%5#&3&3 specifically
iran and tia,

4..0)9:_ istration’s Sea Legs: The ideaiism of “Assertive Multiisteratism™
Although foreign policy was not a centerplece of Bl Clinton's presidential campaign,

Bosnla was an exceplion. Candidate Clinion condemned ihe Bush Administration’s policy
of nonintesvention, “The conlinuing bloodshed in Bosnla and the former Yugosiavia
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aqugﬁﬁan‘musamcuaag.rounaa;
. . ave urged in response io Serbian
mnn_dawﬁ.mm.mmonan He provided some specificity in the first presidential debate in

I agree that we cannot commit ground forces o
quagmire of Bosnia or in the tribal wars of mo._.m_twhcmﬂ _ﬁc_:o.."xmaSH.n ﬂ..”
__wq._._.uonwae recognize that there are things that can be done short of that,
m_._._c“_isﬁ_w_._om:mﬁ an interest thera . . . _ I think we should stiffen the
rge on Belgrade govemment, and | think we have to consider
Egmsm.. o not we should it the arms embargo now on the Bosnians, since
ey ara in no way in a fair fight with 2 heavily armed opponent bent on

.wn_.__._.o o i
v :mnwm..”..m__._n. We can't get involved in the quagmire, but we must do

And, a3 Govemor Clinton would repeatedly stress, “what
h ty s X we can do” meant what we can
do in fandem with sthers, that is 1o 53y, within the framework of assertive multiiateralism.

The fancy word s ‘multilateral,’ but the ordin word is | .
Delieve Ris my job at the LN. and the job of o of ze withsr ﬁas.aua..._;o_i_ oy
ugsgnau&o&i;?gtg.gig. leading,

! Clinton Campaign Statement on Crisis n Bosnla, US Newswire, July 27, 1692,

uoﬁoaa.mn
13, 1892}, Ciinton, Addreas st the Los Angeles World Afisirs Councl {Aug.

* Governor 8 Clinton, Address in the Presidental Debaie (Oct 11, 1992)

b

the problems that we have to deal with.*

Basnia, for the Clinten Administration, s exaclly such a problam; one of those many
occasions when, in the words of George Stephanopoulos, “we need 1o bring pressure to
bear on the belligerents of the post-Cold Wer period and use out inflyence to prevent
ethnic and other regional conflicts from erupting. But usually we will not want to act alone
— our stake will be limited and direct U.S. intervention urwisa.™

The weeks leading up to the inauguration in January 1993 saw the start of new UN-
sponsored diplomatic talks on Bognia In New York. These talks fed the hopes of the new
Clinton foreign policy team, anxious o axercise its policy of multlateralism, as well as the
hope of an American populace sickened by the viciousness of the fighting.

The heady days of trensition brought forth within the new Adminisiration
declarations of major reviews of Bosnian policy altematives and the strong desire for
"improved” opfions. MNonetheless, in the case of the former Yugosfavia, these
deliberations inavitably led back to Clinton's policy as declared in the elaction campaign.
Secretary of State Warren Christopher, speaking in Januaty 1993 said, " would stress, as
President Clinton hat, startng last August, that i [Bosnia] does seem to be a place where
the United States needs to be activist and internationalist in our outiook™

Internationat Political Reality: The Europsans Say “No”
Yet, once i offics, President Clinton found the Bosnian problem much more

complex and intractable than he anticipated as a candidate, Despite the rhetorical
flourishes and talk of change, praclical changes in the policy from that of the Bush

* Hearing on LIS Participation in United Nations Peacekesping Activities Befo
the House Conwniltes on Foreign Affairs, 103d Cong. (June 24,1993). .
* Thomas W, Lippman, Aftican Crises Tesd : .

. Suias IoF More Direct American e
Post, June 13, 1993, at A33.

* Carol Giacomo, Clinton 1o Review Brsnia Palicy
Ban, The Reuter Library Report, Jan. 22, 1883,

? Alan Elsner, US Looking at Option of
Reuter Library Reporl, Jan. 27, 1983,
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Administration were difficult to discern, L i
f . Leaving the new Administration’s first Basni policy
Ni:”r%%.mﬂﬂ& Christopher counseled the press to Tower expectations,” vwaﬁ._w_mm% "in
ing.™ Where candidate Clinton had besn calling for "urgent” international
action, President Clinton was now urging caution: .

;os._mzn_sgagcoo:!agsnow_o_ [ L

h mmediately take action, the end

Mﬂgaﬂ_o__ | coudd not sse. _s.w_._;ago..i:ﬁm._ﬁ_._imz:aao. | want to do

. Euqa.qu wholgheartedly, | want it to have g reasonable prospect of
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0 do. Some criticized the Clinton Administration for lacking the politicat will to

In the first few moeths of the Administrat the UN.in c
by thor-forun fo & fresh approach. In addiion to the UN Securty Councl baie the,
ncamionanis o embargo in place, the new Clinton Administration found Hsef & the
nonaSREEi!:nGu:g?—«sggcz&uo:wﬂ!

* Carot Gizcomo, Naw ecretary Fxnar
Reuter Library Report, Jan, 26, 1803,

* President Bk Clinton, Question and Answe
gggzgﬂﬂam?g. 1, ugw. qmwmwg—\&sstmg

Bawm .
Y Oo:u_aoo.-tmannzo. 93. June 29, 1993) aﬁs.:o:_.quo? Frank

27

Yanca-Owen plan it felt would have effectively partiticned Bosnia. For an administration
that placed heavy emphasis on the UN and multiiateralism in foreign policy, this was not
a comfortable situation. Secrelary Christopher tried 1o step around the problem during a
trip to the UN in February 1993, saying that the US supported the “process” without
necessarily supporting the results.” Two days later, using focution that would later
become the hallmark of the Iran green light policy, White House spokesman George
Stephanopoulos said President Clinton *does not have any specific support or rejection”
of the UN plan.”?

Some commentators have strongly attacked- the tenets of the Clinton
Administration’s policy of assertive multilateralism. Steven Eranger, in the New York
Times, called it “a formula for action that seemed to make the UN the only source of
legitimacy for the use of force to keep the world secure,” and Peter W. Rodman of the
Nixon Canter for Peace and Freedom, declared that for muitilateralists “American
unilateralism was the principal sin to be avoided, as if to atone for a shameful past.™ It
was former Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, however, who most astutely identified the
inherent weakness of assertive multBateralism, The policy, he said, resigns the US to a
belief that “the national inferest is on the whole defined by the affainable giobal
consensus.”* This turned cut to be the reef on which the Bosnia policy foundered.
Although the Administration wanted to Tilt the ams embargo as it applied to the Bosnian
Muslims, R was unable to lead Rs global "p " into a to do so - and 1o ect
unilaterally would require the Adminigtration to viclate the philosophical comerstone of its

foreign policy.
The Administration quickly ieamed that the Eurppeans, in particular, were unwilling

to yield on the fundamental question of lifting the arms embargo. Fighting in eastem
Bosnia intensifisd, and In April 1993, the Serbs, in a much-reporied offensive, moved io

Biogest Headache ix in mps, The Associated

._Ugoﬁz.xaaﬁaﬁg_..
Press, Feb, 3, 1993. )

“id.

' Stephen Erlanger, Tha LIS and the
New York Times. July 7, 1996.

par 2000 and Beyond Fiefom the Sanala Commitia
Congress {July 13,1985) (amphasis added}. '
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capture the town of Srebrenica Pregident Clinton s, i
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Secretary Chrisopher would admit that the effart had been & mistake. *The way that !
made the trip 1o Europe in May 1993 was not consigtent with giobal leadership.”™ After
that, the Administration more openly acknowledged fts political impotence. Presidant
Clinton explained:

Let me tell you scmething about Bosnia. On Bosnia, | made a decision. The
United Nations controls what happens in Bosnia. | cannot unilaterally &ft the
anms embargo. | gidn't change my mind. Qur alfies decided that they weren'
prepared to go that far at this time. They ashed me 10 wait, and they said
they would not support i,  didn't change my mind.*

It was also at about this time that Undersecretary of State Peter Tamoll indicated
the US had 1o rethink its intemational role and realistically reappraise the degree to which
It could hope to act and infivence international events unilaterally. This doctrine, the so-
called “Tamoflf Dochrine,” was eventually disavowed by President Clinlon. A Congressional
Research Service report noted, howevet, “US policy on Bosnia appeared 1o confiem Mr.
Tamoff s views rather than coniradict them. Lifting the arms embarge, while in principle
favored Sﬁobnnﬁ..gumg.imm not viewed as a viable cption witheut the participation
of other aliies.

On June 30, the Administration suffered yet another defeat in changing US policy.

it was the only other Security Councll member fo back a resolution put forth by five nor-

aligned member countries 1o 1t the embargo. Even though Prasident Clinton had
previously assasted that the US should take the lead in formulating intemmational policy
towards Bosnia, the US “did not push strongly for its adoption,™ and Russia, France, and
Britain Joined other Councll members In handily defeating the measure. The resull was
that a policy change the Administration deemed to be in the natianal interast was

** Elaing Sciolino, The Clinton Recopd: Foreign Policy: Bosania Po
LLS. Military. Role, The New York Times, July 28, 1996, at A15.

# President B Clinton, Press Confererics {(June 15, 1963).

# Jufie Kim and Otanne E. Rennack, Bosnia-Harces

congreas: Pollcy Dehains and mary of Malor | eqgislatio
Service (CRS), Report for Congress 94-1008 F, at 7.

"2 g1even Woehrel, Bosnia-tstcagavina: Summary of the Dehates On
Lifting of the Amme Embargo, CRS, Report for Congress 85477 F, at 5.
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squelched yet again by the UN,

In July, the President was again put on the defensive in a press conference when
& questioner referred to the Administration as being “Indecisive” in formulating a Bosmia
policy. He replied,

Let me, first of afl, point out what the United States has done just since I've
been President. We spent a great deal of money on humanitarian aid; we
have pushed hard for strengthening the embargo against Serbia; we have

pushed for a number of other things to try fo help resolve the situation that
we have all agreed on.

| did not back away from my position, sir. Britain and France and
Russia said they would not support that position within the United Nations.
The United States cannot act alone under intemationat law in this instance.”

In July, as Serb forces stepped up their assault on Samjevo and threatened to
overrun the Bosnian capital, the Administration finally was moved to act. It announced
that, while it hoped to work with the allied states, it was prepared to act unilaterally with
air strikes to break the siege of Sarajevo. [t is hard to know how serous the Administration
was in making this statement. No military action was ever taken, although the threat did
solivate NATO to meet in August to consider joint action. Even then, NATO ceded its
authority to the UN Secretary-General io determine if military action was warranted and to
call for air strkes.

The President's subsequent statements squarely contradicted his' professed
willingness to take unilateral action and seaffimed his commitment to multilateralism, no
matter what the consequences for US national interests. Seven months later, on February
8, 1994, the day after a rocket altack on a crowded market in Sarajevo killed 68 pecpls,
President Clinton made his most categorical statement yet on his interpratation of the Bimits
on US sovereignty in using its miitary, “The United States, | will say again, under
international law, in the absance of an attack on our people, doas not have the authorlty
fo unilateralty undertake air sirikes."*

® President Bill Clinfon, Press Interview {(July 2, 1853).

* The Lats Editionr: US Responds to Attack in Sarajavo, CNN Television
Broadcast (Feb. 6, 1994) (amphasis added).
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aplions to remove the embargo. This eventualty led to Section 1404 of the fiscal year 1995
Nationiat Defense Authorization Act ™ According to that lagislation, if the Bosnian Serbs
did not accept the Contact Group peace plan by Oclober 15, the President was 1o
introducs a resolution at the Securily Council to lift the arms embango muttiaterafly no later
than December 1. Morecover, should such a resolution fall to pass, no US funds were o
be expended after Novernber 15 10 enforce the continued embargo. This provision is
commonly referrad to as "Nunn-Mitcheld,” after its Senate sponsors. Since it was clear the
Security Councll would dafeat a resolution to lift the embargo, the Administration halted the
use of US funds eflective November 12, 1954. 1t also ended the deployment of American
ships in the Adalic Sea for embargo enforcement and ended the sharing of intelligence
on embargo violations with other countries.

In all other respects, the Administration's policy remained unchanged, particularly
its opposition o uniaterally #fting the embargo. Although the Administration consulted with
Congress on possibie plans 1o aid the Bosnians unilaterally {as was afso required in the
legisiation), the Asministration mada it clear it would not accept any form of unilateral
action by the US. Indeed, on January B, 1995, Vice President Al Gore wamed that the
President would veto any bl requiring a unilateral Ufting.® This actually came to pass on
August 11, 1995, when the President vetoed $.21, a bill caliing for the unflateral fifting of
the embargo afer the withdrawal of UN peacekeepers from Bosnia or 12 waeks after the
govemment of Bosnia-Herzegovina requested that UN peacekeepers leave, whichever
came first.

Ancther concem axpressed repaatediy by the Administration during its debates with
Congress in 1095 about the unllateral lifiing of the embargo was that it could lead to one
of two possible situations, both of which were worse than the status quo. The first was the
“Armericanization” of the war. The second (and this is brazen in light of the Administration's
ongoing secret Iranian green light policy) was the introduction of iranians into the war.

The logic behind the fear of “Americanization™ was that the nation that iifts the

Secretary Mike McCurry expiained that the Administration “strenuously” opposed a
unilateral fifting of the embargo becauss it would “give the US unilateral responsibiity for

* US Public Law 103-337.

* Ron Fournier, Gaom: 1JS Sill Backs
The Associated Press, Jan. 8, 1965.
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the devastating consequences.™ Consequently, if the Bosnian military wera to begin to
falter after the lift, the US would have 1o step in to train, arm, and possibly defend its new
dependents. American intervention, the argument went, became alt the mare likely
because a unilatersl lifing by the US would likely have led UN peacekeepers to withdraw
from the region.Thus, not onfy would US intervention be required to prop up Bosnian
forces, it would atso be required o aid the withdrawal of UN forces.”

The most disingenuous of the Administration’s arguments was that lifting the arms
embargo coutd aflow the Iranians a foothold in Eurcpe. The argument was that if the us
were 1o Hiit the embango, without ltself anming the Muslims, iran would fill the vacuum and
thereby "establish a presence” in Bosnia and the Balkans.® (As shown in Section [} of this
report, the Administration had already ty acquiesced in iran's filling the exisling
vacuum.) It was against such an argument that Senator Dole spoke on June 5, 1905,

[Wihen these of us who advocate [fting the amms embargo . . . point out that
other countries would also participate in aming the Bosnians, we are told
that this would allow ran to arm the Bosnians. The fact is the amns embarge
has guaranteed that lran Is a key supplier of anms to Bosnla and
administration officials have actually used that fact to argue that there Is no
need to lift the arms embargo . . . . From statements made by State
Department officials to the press, one gets the impression that iran is the
Clinton Administration’s preferred provider of weapons to the Bosnlans. If
the Administration has a problem with Iran arming Bosnia, it should be
prepared to do something about it

* Mike McCumy, White House Press Briefing (July 18, 1885).

" *There Ia no question that unitaterally jitting the anms embargo, f the United
States took that action, would lead U.N. troop-cortributing nations to quickly withdraw
thei troops. That would then trigger, ss you all know, a commitment we have fo our
affies to help extract them. So & is almost a dead-certain bat that ifting the ams
!:v!aoio:_nnlﬂ_c.m.naeigiﬂtiﬁsggna!mog_mg
shortly.”: Mike McCuiry, White House Press Briefing (July 12, 1995).

2 pike McCurry, White House Press Briefing (June 9, 1995).

* 141 Cong. Rec. STBE0 {No. 92. June 5, 1995) (Statsment of Sen, Robert
Dole) (emphasis added).
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Senator Dole had no idea at the time how true his words i
A le ha t were about Iran being the
b..wﬁ::__.%z.meg._ s “preferred provider” of weapons, His mistake, like that of his oo__.ﬁ-w_._oo
m.._oo_..n_‘mmu was in believing the Administration's denials of complicity and thinking no
Iministration would be so foolish zs fo permit Iran — the workd's leading sponsor of state-
sanctioned terrorism ~ fo establish a foothold in Europs,

it would seem that the Administration would not want to revisit this
; ; rticular
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reglon concerned whether the US was involved in either setting up or sanctioning the
operation,

On May 13, 1994, two weeks after the Administration gave the green light, State
Department spokesman David Johnson commented on reports of lranian shipments
through Zagreb, *1t is the policy of the United States to respect the UN arms embargo on
the nations that formetly comprised Yugosiavia." He quickly added that the US bilieves
“It's important that UN Security Council resofutions be fully observed,” a broader statement
that suggested that the US expected other nations to respect the embargo as well.®

On June 3, the Brifish newspaper, The Independent, reported that lranian sources
“close to the govemment and opposition in Tehran, claim that elements in President Bif
Clinton's administration have made it clear that America would not interfere with Iran’s
atternpts to circumvent the infernational arms embargo on Bosnia.™ The same article
contained official US denials. Nonetheless, the issue would not die, and the press
continued to pursue the story.

Later in June, the Administration once again was faced with a press story that
threatened to uncover the green light policy. An aricle by Bl Gertz of the Washington
Times ted with the sentence, “Croatia has become a major transit point for covert lranian
arms shipments to Bosnia wih the tacit approval of the Clinlon administration, which
publicly remains opposed o a unilateral fting of the international arms embargo agalhst
the fractured Batkan states.” But in the same article a "senior U.S. official” said that the US
government opposed the iranian arms shiprenis because they undercut UN sanctions.
“Thera Is na U.S, support for what Iran is doing,’ the official said.™® That same day press
guidanca issued by the State Department explicily denied active complicity and any sort
of acquiescence, M is the poficy of the United States to respect the UN amms embargo on
the nations that formerty comprised Yugoslavia. We strongly believe that UN Security

Independent, June 3, 1954,

* 15 Mum on Repart of Iran Arms 10 Bosnila, Reutes World Service, May 13,

¥ Robert Block, EEE%E:EE Independent,
June 3, 1994, at 14,

* Bl Gertz, lranian Weapons Sent Via Croatia, Washington Times, Juna 24,
1994, et A1,
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Councl resolutions must be fully respactad.™ This guidance would be sent out repeatedly
in the following months.*

Subsequent press guidances and public statements from the State Depariment,
National Security Council and the White House consistently denied any US role in the
franian arms pipefine. At the State Department’s daily press briefing on November 7, for
example, spokesman Christine Shelley was asked directly if the US was contributing to,
or tuming a blind eye to, the violations of the arms embarge. The response was clear and
categorical, “We're certainly not contributing to #t, and we certainly are not tuming a blind
gys. We have been a major participant, as you know, in the enforcement of all the different
UN Security Council resolutions which have been passed in the past.™'

Congress took the Administration at its word, yet the press and intefligence reporting
Indicated the Iranian arms kep: flowing and, in the wake of such reports, the growth of
Iranian influence in the region became increasingly a matter of concem. While the
Adminfstration still denies the linkage, at least for Congress it was obvious from the
beginning that there was a direct connection between the provision of lranian weapons and
assistance and the growth of Iranian influence, Senator Dole in January 1895 argued that
8.21, his legislation lifting the embargo, "would reduce the potential influence and role of
radical exiremist stalas Hke Iran” in the Balkans,” The Administration nevertheless vetosd
the legistation. As on many other occasions, it chose not to advise Congress that the
actual Administration policy was that “at the highest level we do not wish 1o interpose
ourselves” between the lranians and the Balkans — that is, 1o pemmit Iran to use ams
transfers to solidify its influence in the region.”

In Apsil 1895, a year after the green light policy went inlo effect, a Washington Post
story reopened the question of the US's tact approval of Iranian arms transfers.
Department of State press guidance on Apri 14 posed the foliowing hypothetical question
and guidance on its answer:

* Depariment of State, Dally Press Guklance, June 24, 1994,

= E.g., Department of State, Daly Press Guidance, June 27 and Aug. 3, 1984,
“ DOS cable, State 300842, Nov. 7, 1994 (emphasis added).

* 141 Cong. Rec. S211 (No.1. Jan. 4, 1995) (Statement of Sen. Robert Dole).
“ Peter Galbraith, Memorandum for the File, May 6, 1994,
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story, this one alleging US involvernent with a Saudi program to arm the Bosnians. Again, The Clinton Administration's consistant assertion of the need for assertive
the guidance is given in hypotheticat questions and answers. They are quoted at length _ multiateralism was matched in effort and praciice only by its consistence in falsely denying
below. This is necessary to document the degree to which the Clinton Administration was its "Iranian green fight" policy. The truth finally came to light with the publication of the
willing to misrapresent the truth in order to cover up their policy to aiow Iran to develop a series of highly detafied and wel-informed Los Angeles Times articles starting on Apri 6,
foothold in Europe through Bosnia. 1896.°° It was only then that the Administration ceased is denlals and deceptions and
admitted what its true policy was — to aiow Iran o purchase influenca in the Balkans by
[Q] Response to allegations in the Washington Post that the United States supplying anns.
cooperatad with Saudi Arabia in a program to amm the Bosnians over the

past three years.

[A] We categorically deny the allegations in the Post story that the US was
in any way involved with the purported Saudi program to amm the Bosnian
Gavemment, in violation of the UN arms embargo. While this Administration
consistently argued that the arms embargo unfaiy punished the victim of
aggression during the Bosnian conflict, it was always our policy to abide by
the terms of the ams embargo. We oppossd & unfateral lifting of the
embargc because it would undenmine respect for other binding UNSC
resclutions, including economic sanctions against Serbla, Iraq and Libya.
The US did not cooperate, coordinate or consult with any other government
regarding the provision of arms fo the Bosnians.

[Q:) But weren't you aware of covert arms assistance o the Bosnians by the
Saudis and other countries, such as lran?

(A No such shipments were taken i consuNation or coordination with the
US government.

[Q:] i you were aware of these shipments, why didn't you stop them?

[A:] We have always made clear that we zua-u&udw«?nguoa&mau
and that we expected other countries io do 5o as well.

“ The articles have been discussed at length in Chapler One.

-..d National Security Councll, Daily Guidance Update, Feb, 2, 1996 (emphasis
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CHAPTER 4
THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE CLINTON ADMINISTRATION ON IRAN

{nexplicable reversal of lng-standing US polk
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personne! abroad continue to be at risk.™ Two years earlier, the annual report reached
much the same conclusion;

Iran again was the most active state sponsor of terrorism and was
implicated In terrorist attacks in ftaly, Turkey and Pakistan. Its intefligence
safvices support terrorist acts — either directly or through extremists groups
. ... lran stil survays US missions and personnel. Tehran's policymakers
view terrorism as a valid tool to accomplish thekr political objectives, and acls
of terrofism are approved at the highest levels of the Iranian government *

In this document, which, ironically, was published the very month of the Administration’s
green light decision, the Administration provided information that woutd lead one to believe
the Administration would be making sfforts to crack down on Iran’s invotvement in Bosnia
and Croatia rather than "wink and nod” at it

Bosnian Vice President Ejup Ganic wamed in June {1993] that Bosnians
Iiving in Europe were likely to resort 1o terrorism if the Wast did not come to
Bosnia's aid, and outside terrorist groups are reported providing support to
the Bosnian Muslims. In August, Croatian authorities confiscated weapons,

explosives and false d nts from a 4 ist" network that had been
aiding Bosnla, Hizballah and Iran have provided tralning to the Bosnian
Muslim army.*

Section |l of this report further documents the extensive infonmation available to the
Administration on iran and its surrogates’ aclivities in the former Yugoslavia prior to the
green light as well as after.

The Policy Response to the Iranlan Threat

Not only has the Clinton Administration besn clear in acknowledging Iran’s threat
to US national interests and workl stability, the Administration has aiso been consistent
{other than in the former Yugosiavia } in articuiating and adhering to a policy that was
meant 1o Isolate iran politically, economically, and milarlly. Such isolation, i was hoped,

21d. st 25.
2 Department of State, Pattems of Global Termardsmr 1993, Apr. 19984, at 22,
‘Id. at 11,
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woukl fead to the regime's moderation.*

Secrelary Christopher encapsulated the fran policy and its rationale In May 1994 in

a speech befors the American Jewish Committes Confarence:

Well, Iran is an outlaw country in my judgment and deserves to be
treated with containment and isolation. It is not only their weapons of mass
destruction program that concems us, but their resort 1o terrorism around the
world. Their ugly hand can be seen not only in the Middle East but in Africa
and some places in Europe. Their determined opposition to the peace
process in the Middie East is only one of the reasons why | think that they do
not deserve the approbation of the intemational community.

We cannot expect 10 end afl trade with them, but | think what we can
urge our allies is to not give them concessions and not welcome them into
the family of nations and accord the advantages of that kind of status. The
United States will be working hard in this vein, fsefing it's necessary to ry to
ggﬁssgigcagﬂu%aosgwg
fowand thelr neighbors and toward the rest of the world.

++. . lran is a country thet | think deserves our very close walching,
and until they make a major change in their poficy, | think the Uniled States’
present policy of isolation and containment is the correct one.*

* The Clinton Administration has attempted to Bk its Iran policy with its policy
vis-a-vis Iraq In a regional strategic policy R has termed “dusf containment” This policy
was outiined by Martin lndyk, Special Assistant 1o the Presiderit for Near East and
South Asian Affalrs at the National Security Council (NSC), in May 1993, and makes up

ggg%?ﬂé?%
{Vol. 73, No. 2, MariApr. 1994, at 45-55). The dual

purposes 1l is not necessary ko review the iranpolicy In this larger regional stratagic
context. It is sufficient 1o note that thers is a clear and unamblgucus policy of isolating
and containing iran so as lo moderate s policies.

* Sacretary of State Wamen Christopher, Remarks at the American Jewish
Commities Conference (May 5, 1994).

m

More than just keeping up the rhetorical drum-beat of calls 1o isolate Iran, the
President has also taken action to further that objective and increase the pressure on its
leadership 1o moderate iis many objectionable policies. In May 1995 tha President signad
an executive order banning, in effect, all US trade and investment in lran.’ In August
1998, the President signed the Iran and Litya Sanctions Act," a bill that had passed the
House without a single digsenting vole, imposing sanctions on foreign companies exporting
petroleum-related technology 1o Iren. In regard to this bill, the President said, “You cannot
do business with countries that practice commerce with you by day white funding or
protecting the terrorists who kilt you and your innocent civillans by night. That is wrong,
1 hope and expect that before long, our alias will come around to accepting this
fundamental truth.” As National Security Advisor Anthony Lake has noted, those countries
that believe positive inducements wi! work with Iran are wrong and improvement in
relations must come about only as a reward for lran’s moderating its objectionable
behavior, “The most effective message is a congistent one: no normal relations untl these
[objectionabie] actions end.™®

The Administration fumed its back on this established principle of American foreign
policy In making the green Bght decislon. Instsad of “isolating® and "containing® Iran, as
Secretary Christopher had promised, tha Administration’s poficy in the Balkans was "at the
highest level we do not wish to interpose ourseives betwesn the Iranlans and the
Croatians.™ In allowing Iranian arms transfers fo Bosnia, the Administration essentially
forced the Bosnians into a position of dependence on, and subservience to, iran. This
would soon come back to hurt the Administration.

T Executive Order No. 12859, 80 Fed. Reg. 24,757 (1995).
" Public Law 104-172,

auou._van&oawl giiﬂ?ﬁ%cgg. 5,

* Anthony Laks, Confronfing Backiash Statas, gupra at 5.
" Ambassador Peter Galbraith quoting Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of .

State Alexander Vershbow in & May 5, 1684 telephone conversation. Recounted ina
Memorandum for the File by Galbraith, dated May 6, 1994.
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SECTION TWO: )
._.Im_z<mm._._m>.-._oz>zu_._.m_u_z_u_zmm

CHAPTER 5
CONDUCT OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE INVESTIGATION
Testimony

The Select Subcommitiee sought to take depositions from all significant participanis
in the events under investigation. In some instances, Interviews, rather than depositions,
iaoﬂacgﬁg%e&m%i:usﬂnnga @ joint resource lo the
Subcommittee staff.! Both the majority _E:!o&«us____ioaauaa nted at overy
deposition and interview. The deposition testimony was transcribed by a certified court
reporter s_sa!qiagsooasaoaﬁm%o:ﬁaooa% of the House of
Representatives. Depositions were conducted under oath in a question and ~ uin
format. Interviews were conducted by the Select Subcommittee staff a 33;.3 special
investigalors. Interview witnesses were not put under oath,

The Selact Subcommittee took the depositions of 27 wil and interviewad
approximately 55 otheors,

The following individuals (listed in alphabetical order) appeared for depositions:
Janet S. Andres - former Exacutive Assistant to Director of Central intelligence; Reginald
Barthotomew - former Special Envoy to the former Yugoslavia; General Wesley Clark -
former Director of Strategic Plans & Policy (J-5) on the Joint Staff; Thomas Donflon -
Assigtant Secretary of State for Public Affairs and Chief of Staff 1o the Secretary of State;

Ambassador Peter W. Galbraith - Ambassador to Croatia; Colonel Richard €. Herrick - -

Defense & Amy Attache, Embassy Zagreb; Ambassador Richard Holbrooke - former
Assistant Secretary of State for European and Canadian Affairs; Richard A. Holtzapple -
E:ivﬁann_oao!_.moooimondsq Embassy Zagreb; Susan C, Hovanec - former
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Intelligence Chief for Basnia/Herzegovina Command, UNPROFOR; Charlotta Stottman -
former secretary o Ambassador Galbraith; Strobe Talbott « Secretary of State;
Peter Tamoff - Undersecretary of State for Poiitical Affairs,

[Alexandar R. Vershbow - former Deputy Assistant Secretary
State for European a ian Affairs; James Woolsey - former Director of the CIA;
Kathryn Zabetakis - former Secretary to Deputy Chief of Mission Ne

The Selact Subcommitte staff, including stafl investigators, also conducted
interviews. not taken under oath, of the following individuals: Mark E. Anderson; Terri Lee
Baker, Richard C. Barklay; Fredsrick Baron; Maria Barton; Samuel *Sandy” Berger; Robert

m _.x: rt; Ambassador Lawrence Butler (telepho _...nmgzouo:nuca_c. _usmqog._qo:.
Davis; former Senator Dennis DeConcinl; Dushka Djuric; Robert P. Finn; former
er of the House Thomas S. Foley; Philip 5. Goldberg; Jane Green; Anthomy 3

; Christopher R. Hill; Christopher J, Hoh: Swanee Hunl _w..mu:m IEB_u
_mwgggggr.sgxw:a_smzra of the House of
resentatives Robert Michel; John Monjo; Imam Sevko Omerbasic; Ronna vmnu_.m_
¢ Pitzer; Susan Ray: John Rizzo; Wiliam G. Root; James W. mi_co_.-.z_mnon
oww.axmaaoq.mmnﬁ<oa_..vos_v ul Vogel; Ambassador Jenonne Walker;
Thomas G. Weston; Philip C. Wilcox, Jr.; and John 5. Wolf,

—o re
i
gn"":‘
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Under advisement of their agency of for other reasons, saveral of the above
individuals declined to testify under cath. The Nafional Security Councl (NSC) declinad
to have its employees tesiify under oath, including National Security Advisor, Arthony Lake
and his deputy Samuel “Sandy” Berger. Chainman of the President's Inteligence
Oversight Board, Anthony Harrington, at the instruction of the White House Counsel, also
declined 1o testify under oath. Secrstary of Stale Wamen Christopher, Secretary of
Defento Wiliam Perry, and Leon Feurth, Assistant to the Vice President for National
Security Affalrs, ail declined to sit for a staff deposition.

In addition, the Sefect Subcommitiee acquired copies of relevant testimony given
by several individuals in closed hearings conducted by the House Permanent Sefect
Committes on intefigence (HPSCI). HPSCI was most genemous In sharing these and other
resources for review by the Select Subcommitise, The Senate Select Committes on
Intelligence (SSCI) also provided the Select Subcommiitee access to transcripts of its
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relevant closed hearings. In addition, SSCI offered the services of their special
investigators who shared their research and Information they obtained during their
investigation of this issue.

Acquisition of Classified and Nen-Classifled Federal Government Documents

Throughout the Subcommittee’s investigation, documents were obtained from
several Federal agencies. Documents were processed, each identified with a bate stamp
number and stored in a Sensitive Comparimented Information Facility (SCIF).

The Selec! Subcommiltee sought relevant documents from numerous federal
agencies. These agencies included the Central Inteligence Agency (CIA), the Depariment
of Defense (DOD), the National Security Agency (NSA), the National Security Council
{NSC),the Department of Justice (DOJ), the Inteliigence Oversight Board (IOB), the US
Information Agency (USIA), and the Department of State (DOS). The Select
Subcommitiee inRially submitted written requests to Federal agencies based on information
available in the public record. The agendles identified responsive documents and, with
some exceplions, made them available for review, Security arrangements ware made for
the review of dassified documents, 0 accordance with proper security procedures. The
Conference Room, within the Select Subcomimittee offices, was examined for surveilance
devices whenever deposition testimony was given or classified documents reviewed.

Some agencies permitted the Selact Subcommitiee to retain coples of pertinent
documents, and others provided documents which were o be returned following this
investigation. Review of highly classified documents was conducted in a secure facilty at
the various agencies, and only notes were permitted o be removed by the staff,

Central Intelligence Agency {CIA)

Two staff members from both the Majority and Minordty staff were given unrestricted
access at CIA headquarters, to a wide variety of requested materials, Including over a
1,000 documents and cables related 1o our inquiry. The Select Subcomenities, siso
receitved over 1,000 pages of CIA finished inteligence products for review at the
Subcommitiee.

Department of Defanss (DOD)
Both the National Sscurity Agency (MSA) and the Defense Inleligence Agency (DIA)

offered ther cooperation in providing the Select Subcomimittee with documents relating o
the Balkans crisis. Several hundred NSA documents were reviewed by staff at NSA
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headquarters, and approximately 150 pages of materials were made available for review
at the Select Subcommitiee offices. DIA also compiled several hundred documents for

review at DIA headquarters and provided approximately 250 for use at the Select
Subcommittee. g o g e

Natlonal Securlty Counci] (NSC)

The Nationat Security Councl (NSC) provided fewer than 30 documerts for use at
the Select Subcommities. The staff was briefed on an additional 52 documents at the
NSC. In addition, the Subcommitiee was provided with a Bosnian Document List,
however, no aciual documents were attached.

White House - Intelligence Oversight Board (IOR)

The _u_.mmEm_.___Hm Intelligence Oversight Boand (IOB) provided the Select
Subcommitiee with a list of individuals it reviewed in the course of its own investigation.?

United States Information Agency (USIA)

The United States Information Agency (US!A) provided the Select Subcommittee
with copies of officlal calendars kept by Susan Hovanec, the Public Affairs Officer at the
US Embassy in Zagreb, for 1994 and 1995. These talendars documented dates of
imp Mmeetings  beb Hovanec and officials in the region, relevant to our
investigation,




48

CHAPTER &

ADMINISTRATION RECORD OF COOPERATION
WITH THE SELECT SUBCOMMITTEE

During the first days of it's existence and throughout the investigation, the Select
Subcommittee continuously sought the cooperation of various federal government
agencies, In an effort to oblaln all classified and unclassified information related to the
United States role in Iranian arms transfers to Croatia and Bosnia, the Subcommitiee
requested the assistance of tha White House, National Security Council, Intelligence
Oversight Board, Central Infelligenca Agency, Department of State, Department of
Defense, Department of Justice, and Federal Bureau of Investigation. The rate and scope
of administration cooparation, however, varied from ful compliance from some agencies
to almost complete non-compliance from others,

In Agpril 1996, bafore the esiablishment of the Select Subcommittee, document

requests relating to the Iranian “green light’ poicy had slready been submitted 1o the .

Administration. GChairman Arlen Specter and Vice Chairman Robert Kerrey of the Senate
Select Committee on inteligence contacted the Presidsnt's Intefigence Oversight Board,
the National Security Councll, and the Department of State requesting “any unpublished
material bearing on this subject, such as cables, electronic correspondence, intemal
memoranda, minutes of meetings, letters, and memoranda to cther agencies or talking
points for briefings.” Addiionally, Jesse Hedms, Chatrman of the Senate Foreign Relations
Committee requested tha President tum over =, , . alf documents related to the role that
your Administration may have pleyed in proposing, organizing, assisting, consutting,
aranging, or agraeing to the transfer of arms by any government or private organization
into the former Yugos'avia during the period in which the United Nations arms embargo
was in effecL.™ Chairman Banjamin Giiman of the House International Relations

! Latter from Aslen Specter, Chairman, and Robert Kemey, Vice Chairman,
Senate Select Commitiee on Intefligence, 1o Waren Clwistopher (hereinafler
"Christopher”), Secretary of State (Apr. 9, 1996). Sea Appendix B.

| efter from Jease Helms (hereinafter “Heims") Chairman, Senate Foreign
Wﬁ:- Qqnéao.sgﬁg?%gq?ﬂ. 18, 10086).

Committes, and Chaiman Floyd Spence of the House Committee on National Security
also submitied requests at this time, for similar information.”

President Clinton on May 15, 1986, insisted that the Administration would cooperate
with Congress:

1 have asked the relevant agencies . . . to work with you 1o ensure thal the
Committee obtains the information it needs on this matter. ’

| welcome this opportunity to present the palicy my Administration has
pursued !o help bring peace to Bosnia, Let me assure you that my
Administration wilt cooperate fully with the Committee and with other
Congressional bodies in their axamination of this matter.*

Becausa Congressional requests were made, and because the President directed
his agencies o meat these requests, # is presumed that the Administration wotild have
compiled alf information relevant to the Iranian arms issue. When the Select
Subcommitiee later requested this information, howevaer, the Administration neaded untll
the end of September, five months afler the original Congressional request, to gather ail
related materials. The Subcommittee notes, in particular, that the materials made available
on September 27 by the Departmeant of State were important documents, critical to the
Investigation of the US role in iranian arms transfers. The Department was aware that it
was providing access 10 documents only a week before the Subcommittee planned to
finalize #ts report.

Agency Compliance
Cantral Intelligence Agency

The Central Intelligence Agency (CtA) was the mast cooperative and willing of the
Administration agencies in their eforts to provide the Select Subcommiltes with requested

* { etter from Benjamin Giman (hersinafter "Giiman"), Chairman, House
International Relations Committee, to Christopher (May 2, 1996); Giiman to Anthony
Lake (hareinafier “Lake"), National Security Advisor, (May 21, 1996); Floyd Spence,
Chalrman, Nationa! Security Committes, to Wiliam Perry, Secretary of Defense, (Apr.
15, 1966). Sae Appendix B,

# Letter from Clinion 10 Helms (Mey 15, 1996). Ssa Appendix B.
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documents and other related material. Within days of the Subcommiltee’s inception,
thousands of pages of cable traffic were made available at the CIA headquarters for review
by a limited number of Select Subcommittee staff. The CIA also accommodated the
Subcommittee in making their staff, including former Director of Cendral Intefligence James
Woolsey, available for depositions and interviews, as requested.

In addition, the Agency also played a pivotal role in expediting the security clearance
process for Select Subcommittee staff, which enablad the Subcommitise to complete its
investigation during its six-month charter.

Department of Defense

The Depariment of Defense (DOD) was generally helpful in the production of
requested documents. it was consistently effective in making Defense personnel available
for depositions, as requesied. The only exception to this remains an outstanding request
for Secretary Wiiam Perry’s appearance to provide information to the Select
Subcommittee. .

. Inaddition, the Defense Department’s Investigative Service and Security Directorate
understood the Suybcommittes’s critical and immediats need to cbiain security clearances,
and were instrumental in expediling the processing of background investigations of the
Subcommittes siaff,

Faderal Bureau of Investigation
On May 13, 1996, Chalrman Hyde requested special agenis be detalled from the

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) to the Select Subcommities to assist with s
investigation of the US role in Iranian arms transfers.® The "October Surprise Task Force",

l&go—ig:ﬂ?n&igi_%

# Letter from Henry J. Hyde (herainafier "Hyde), Chairman, Select

. Subcommitiss to Investigate the United States Role in Iranian Arms Trensfers o ’

giigggsgmgg
Federal Bureau of Investigetion (May 13, 1096). Sea Appendix B. .
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Tha Subcommiltee worked jointly with the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the FBI
to make the appropriate arrangements to secure their assistance.” Soth agencies were
reluctant at first to provide Investigators to the Sub commitles. Part of the FBI's hesitancy
could rightfufly be attributed 1o the political fervor, at the time of the Subcommittee’s
raquest, surrounding the White House/FBI “Filegale® affair.” Nconetheless, on July 23,
1996, the Deputy Attorney General, Jamie Gorelick, approved the detailing of three FBI
agents 1o work as shared resources beb
Subcommittee,

1 the Majority and Miniority staffs of the Select

In an effort to ensure that the inquiry would be conducted in a bipartisan manner,
Chief Counsel and Chief Minority Counsel agreed to a memorandum of understanding with
respect to the utilization of the agents detailed 1o the Select Subcommittee.! The
memorandum provided that the investigalors assigned would be a joint resource between
the Majority and the Minority staffs. it was aiso agreed that, upon conducting an interview,
the investigators would provide an interview repert to both the Majority and Minority staffs,

Department of Justice

In addition to the Department of Justice's assistance in obtaining FBI agents for the
Select Subcommittee, DOJ personnel were also helphul in securing space for depositions.
The Office of Legislative Affairs, in particular, Alan Hoffman, was able to arrange secured
areas to conduct depositions of Ambassadors Charles Redman and Richard Holbrooke in
Chicago and New York, respectively. Likewise, the US Aftomey's office was most
accommodating in these requests.”

* Memorandum of Understanding from Richard J, Pocker (hereinafier “Pocker™),
Chief Counsel, Select Subcommittes and Richard Meltzer (hereinafter “Meltzer”),
Minority Chief Counsel, Select Subcommiitee, to Howard Shagpiro, General Counsel,
Federal Bureau of Investigation (Aug. 9, 1996). Sea Appendix B.

7 it wan disciosad that the FBI was inappropriately uonw«vﬂ_ann_oooﬂa‘oa!
the White House. Over 700 fies -- including background investigation materials ~ were
§§8§R§§3§§

dum of Und ding from Pocker to Meltzer (July 24, 1996). Ses

%Ea_w B.

* Deputy Chief of Chicago's Criminal Division, Sergio E. Acosta, and Chief of the
Civil Division in New York, Jane Booth, were very cooperative and willing fo assist the
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Department of State

The Department of State (DOS) was generally siow to respond to the Select
Subcommitiee’s document requests and reluctant to facilitate requesied dapositions and
interviews. At the outset of the Subcommittee's investigation, the Department stated that
it “remains committed to cooperating fully with the Select Subcommittee, with a view
toward concluding this inquiry promplly.™ The State Department's actua! performance fell
welt short of its assurances, Only days prior to the Subcommitiee’s drafting deadiine and
after the Subcommittee had met with all witr did the Depart t of State provide

important documents which were requested within the first month of the Subcommitiee's
existence.

The Select Subcommities, on July 26, 1996, made an initial request to the
Department of State for Ambassador Galbraith’s compilation of memos which he
maintained in his office in Zagreb as his “record” of the issues and evenis that he
encouniered as US Ambassador 1o Croatia. Also requested were the Ambassador's
calendars, phone records, and travel vouchers. The Department at first characterized the
record as being Ambassador Galbraith's parsonal document despite it having been typed
by a govemment secretary, on a govemment computer, on govemment time."

On August 22, 1996, the Siate Department made available only selsclad (by State
Department officials) portions of the record. Even then, the Subcommittee was not given
coples of these materials, as requested, but rather was only allowed to review selected
portions at the State Department, where no pholocopying or verbatim note taking was
permitted.'” Not until September 18, 1996, were Chairman Hyde and Mr. Hamittion advised
that Ambassador Galbraith's “record” would be made avallable, in its entirety, at the State
Department. It was made avallable for review, however, solely to the chief counsels who
couid not remave any notes from the Department, nor discuss the contents of the over 150

Select Subcommittee staff,

' § etter from Barbara Larkin (hereinafter “Larkin®), Assistant Secretary,
Legislative Affairs, Department of State, to Hyd® (Juty 30, 1006). Sed Appendix B.

" Letter from Hyde and Les Hamilton (hersinafter Hamitton™), Ranking Minority
Member, Select m:wooiuco..uo:i.ov:nls»? 1996). Saa Appendix B.

'* Latter from Larkin to Hyde (Aug. 22, 1996). Sea Appendix B,
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page document with anyone other than Chairman Hyde and Mr. Hamilton."

received by various witnesses, the Select Subcommittee, on
Eucam._na.w_,w%m_._. Mﬂcg access 1o M&.ao:m_ documents during staff travel to Embassy
Zagreb, The requested documents included the chronological cable file of all .nuc_om sant
to the mﬁ.m Department by Embassy Zagreb, as well as notes taken by Political 94._8“
Richard Hoitzapple during Galbraith’s meetings. To alleviate costs and the burdens o
praduction upon the State Department, Select Subcommitiee stafl offered to review the
praviously requested phone records and travel voucher _1_0_.:.5_5: while 2.mawum,“w
Zagreb, and to simply make coples of only those portions the m:uooazﬁ.mﬂ 8 '
determined to be selevant to their inquiry. This offer would have saved the Depa .__so_..
from making photocoples of the entire set of documents, and shipping those same items
io the Select Subcomnmittee offices.™ Upen arrival in Zagreb, however, the Subcommitiee
staff was not permitted to view any documents and were lold that it would be provided
access 1o them only in Washington. Some of the documents were finally provided on

September 18, 1996."

Despite a renewed est.”? the State Department has never shared a copy of 8
nio.ﬂnh.. note or qz.ﬂn..: Departmental comespondsnce showing Department efforts to
amange the requested meetings with foreign officials.

1 { etter from Larkin 1o Hyde (Sept. 17, 1996). Saa Appendix B.

# Letter from Hyde and Hamiiton & Cheistopher (Aug. 14, 1996). Sea Appendix
B.

1_-23«;_&&:5130?:.387 Sea Appendix B.

" from 1o Christopher (Aug. 12, 1996); letier from Hyde and
griﬂoﬂ. 5, 1966), See Appendix B.

" @ Letter from Hyde and Hamilion to Christopher (September 5, 1996). Sea
Appendtx B.
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=F§§I}8§§.4~. 1996). See Appendix B. .

.. .
B, roﬁiggﬁlgao:ﬁagoag. 1, 1896). Sea Appendix

* Letter from Hyde to Chrisiopher (Aug. 26, 1996):
{hereinafer Murray), Deputy Chief oeh,ua mn&o%:u% nn,ﬂ_w.ﬁ_.zcﬂe
seon, Deputy Assistant Secretary, Lagislaiive Affairs, US Departmen of Sizte (Aug.
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The State Department's refusal of the Select Subcommities’s request to have
Talbott and Tamoff sit for the requested depositions could not be based upon any legal
principle. House Resolution 416 uhambiguously authorized such depositions and
authorized the Chairman fo issue a subpoena compelling the appearance of any individual
for such depositions. In the interest of time, the Subcommittes agreed to the State
Department’s August 28 proposal that Talbott and Tamoff meet with Chairman Hyde, Mr,
Hamiiton, and Select Subcommitiee staff for a one hour infarmal unsworm interview.® At
the interview both Talbott and Tarnoff agreed to provide their festimony under oath and did
80.

Additionally, the State Department did not honor the Subcommittse’s request™ to
meel with Secretary Christopher. On September 26, the Department informed the Select
Subcommittee that the Secretary’s schedule did not permit him to accommodate the

request.?
The White House - Nationa! Security Councll

The National Security Council {NSC) made only 22 documents avallable to the ‘

Select Subcommittea atalf out of approximately 63,000 pages of documents that tumed
up in response to its initial search request and review. Many of these documents are
classified as “Top Secret.” There were ancther 75 documents that the NSC agresed to brief
only Members, with staff present. Those documents could neither ba copied, nor read by
Subcommitiee staff.

The Select Subcommitive also requested the NSC make avallable its personne! for
depositions. National Security Advisor Anthony Lake and US Ambassador to the Czech
Republic Jenonne Walker (whe had been on the NSC during the green light decision),
wera asked 1o testify due to their direct role in providing instructions to US Ambassador to
Croatia Peter Galiraith reganding the US response o Croatian President Franjo Tudjman's
request for & US position on Ianian arme transfers, Deputy National Security Advisor

6, 1996). Ses AppendixB.
™ Letter from Larkn to Hyde (Aug. 29, 1996). Sas Appendix B,

8 Z Lelter from Hyda and Hamilton %o Christopher (Sept. 24, 1996). Sea Appenix

B Letter from Larkin o Hyde (Sept. 26, 1096). San Appendit B.
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Samuel Berger's deposition was requested because stateme
of nts atiributed to hi
Alexander Mﬁi&oi. former Deputy Assistani Secretary for European Affalrs, ﬂw:«

“ﬁﬂw@iﬂﬂﬁ%mﬁoggiﬂssgﬂ of the infelligance on this matter

ooy in| a«ﬂ“ in making eﬁaﬂﬁ_%nu._u let Iran send weapons into Croatia and
. These s were particula it to ascertaln, due to the *

process” veil of executive privilege the Administration Cast over this 53::»%:«?2&5

On August 14, 1996, the Counsel 1o the Prasidant, Ji
L 14, 1996, . Jack Quinn, responded to th
w”_hm. hvoo._.ﬁzsonu raquest 1o iake the depositions of Lake, Berger, Walker u_..u
. gf?wwu&icﬁ%iam&igasﬁg.ﬁn

) g§g§8§§3a§.§=8538§55§0:§5o

President's "deliberative process,

* Letter from .
(Nl 31, 1996). mnnziage i oPher Aug. 15, 1996): leftas from Pocker to Laks

* Lettar from - i .
Hyde (Aug. 14, _§§,§Sﬁ§? Siaor "Quine). Counsel in the Prasident, 1o

b7

appropriatety.®

Due 16 the NSC's lack of cooperation, the Select Subcommities began preparation
of subpoenas 1o compel the production of swom depositions of Lake, Berger, and
Vershbow. To avoid issuance of the subpoenas, the White House Counsel met with
Chairman Hyde and Subcommitiee staff on September 17, 1986, The Counsel explained
that “executive privilege is as much a process as it is a priviege.” Thus, there was no
difficulty for the NSC and the White House 1o produce these senior government officials
for an interview to discuss their role in the execution of the iranlan arms pipeline policy
decislon so long as it was merely an “interview” format. The Gounsel argued that, in the
view of the White House, an oath and a transcript altar the nature of a meeting, because
those items are “Indicia of a hearing.” He admitted, however, that there is a weli-
recognized exceplion o executive privilege whenever there are “credible allegations of
triminal wrongdoing.” Additionzlly, the White House required the presence of a Member
of Congress during the Intarviews with "principals™ Lake and Barger.”

The White House continued o refuse, however, to permit Leon Fuerth, Assistant o |
the Vice President for National Security Affairs, to appear for a deposition, as requested
by the Selest Subcommittea™. Rather, Fuerth was made available 1 brief only Chalrman
Hyde and Mr. Hamilton on issues not touching upon the deliberative process.™

To resolve the impasse, and to facititate the fact-gathering process within tha Select
Subconunittee’s very fimited time frame, Chaimman Hyde accommodated the White
House's prerogative on this issue and agreed 1o non-sworm imlarviews. For the record, it
was made clear that If the Sefect Subcommities was dissatisfied with the condeict of these
interviews, it had not waived its prerogstive to issue and serve subpoenas compelling the
public servants’ appearance for swomn depositions.

The Subcommitize is adamant, however, that thare is no basis in faw for staft of the

NSC to refuse io appear before authorized Congressional subcommitiees and give sworn
ggnéiguggnggsésggﬁogqﬁ

* pMurray notes from NSC meeting (July 23,1886).

¥ Muray noles from Hyde-Quinet mesting (Sept. 17, 1996).

2 | etter from Pocker and Meltzer to Quion (Aug. 2, 1896). Sae Appendix B,
B | otter from Quinn ko Hyde (Aug. 14, 1696). Saa Appendix 8.
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Congress “is entitled 1o have™ a witness under subpcena give nonprivileged “testimony
pertinent {o the inquiry. . . before the [authorized] committes.”™ The interest of the
Executive Branch in preserving the confidentiality of privileged material is fully protected
by appearing in response to the subpoena but asserting privilege In the event the witnass
is asked questions which call for privileged material.” To the extent NSC staff believe that
questions or document requesis propounded by the Subcommitiee through s staff call for
privileged material, tha NSC may invoke such privileges through the proper procedural
mechanism. Short of making a specific ¢laim of privilege, however, NSC staff cannot lay
cfaim to any fmmunity from the obligation to give sworn testimony in response %o a vafid
subpoena for pertinent information. Such refusal to appear and be placed under oath in
response 1o such a subpoena woukd be grounds for a citation for contempt of Congrese.®

The NSC staff cannot clalm or be granted immunity from answering subpoenas.
* Fiest, the White House's assertion that this policy of not appearing for depositions has been

a long-standing tradition of the NBC is incorrect. Former NSC aide Oliver North
Siczﬁaw..nmnn@n befare Congress,” NSC aide David Wigg tastified bafare 5 federal
grand jury,™ Nationalt Secutity Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski and two former NSC staff
members were calied as witnesses befors a Senate investigative subcommities ™ and the
House Ethics Comsnittee subpoenaed Lawrence Eagleburger, Brent Scowcroft and Robert
Hyland, a) of whom were NSC stalf,*

® yieGirain v. Daugharty, 273 LS. 135, 186 {1827) (hereinafier “MoGin™).

¥ 2 Opinion of tne Office of Legal Counsel 197 (Sept. 6, 1978), 1978 OLC Lexis
50, at 205.

. McGrain at 180.

# nitex States v. North, 901 F.2d a.au. 851 (D.C. Cir.) (per curiam), on
Enhun-.ﬂ. 920 F.2d 940 (D.C. Cir. 1980} (per cwriam), cert. deniad, 500 U.S. 541
ﬁ_ch )

* G. Lardner, Wallach Scought $1 Miflion:; Meeae Ally Asked Cliant t
Nashirigion Pressnce’ on Pipeline, Washingion Post, Mar. 6, 1988,

* @G, Lardner, Billy Probar to Question A Carter Aide. Washington Post
16, 1960, at A12. Sept.

* €. Babcock & S. Armstrong, Ethice
Bl 4 in S, Kotean Proba; Suhpoensd

5

i in that they
inistration's gﬁ.ggoémangwgg
_aﬁze.mjsﬂumﬁ_mw_o:n s_waqﬁ_u:a_._m of federal criminal 'aws whereas the ma.ﬂ“
Subcormmitiee’s investigation is essentially a :.mso_..o__ oversight, is spurious. |

igati the Supreme
co 1o investigating crimes. To .3 contrary, 3
ﬁ.oﬂﬂ!:ﬂuﬁiﬁuwugagnggg si@ﬂﬁmﬁ nooin_.n pou m:oo.._._o_. ﬂﬂuf“ﬂm&.ﬂﬂﬂﬁ
the administration of existing laws a5 posed
nﬁE»@.“_...,m. uan_,&n_._._ to "probes Into departments of ths Federal Government to expose

comuption, inefficency of waste,"”

i of govemnment ~ not even ihé
Second, no official within the Executive Branch of g ; A
P e eromt 1ok b immunity o e et o S0 e oows
ident lacks blan \
u:wonﬁn.mu?“ﬁuwﬂamnm lack such immunity.® “There is an obiigation 1o testify in
”vu.cu:w_n instances that applies equally to all federal officials and that derives specifically

uo:..ooaa_m_uau&:22@:%§q5§q§m§wi§u.§§mgﬂcﬁ=s<wa
%5%33%&8‘&2?_q§§oo~ng.

Moreover, acconding o the Supreme Court
A legisiative body cannot legisiate wisely of effectively in the absence of

f oif possess the
rmation . . . and where the legislative gaoomun:s
ﬁh:r?!ﬁ%:%iigcgugtggg:a

Washinglon Post, June 9, 1977, atAl.
= Yygtidna v, Linked Staies, 354 U.S. 176, 187 {1957}

» Cf. Moo v. Fizgerals, 457 U.S. 731, 750 (1962) (The President’s unique
uEEﬁE._Daw::o onsaga distinguishes him from other execubve officials. u

| gt 638 (citing Linitad States v. Nixan, 418 U.S. 683 (1974). ‘
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fa others who do possess it Experie;
Y ] : rice has taught th:
“Mor information which is volunteered is not m_imgum mon”.azﬁﬂawo%”w_ﬂﬂq
some means of compulsion are essential to obtain what is _..nmqoau._ '

In short, the Supreme Court, has ruled
0 snforce o s P ne Court, ruled that Yijhe _Es.ﬂ.g. En..__e — with process
nhemoroa it~ pbin “_ o ar wiﬂwuagmﬁa auxiliaty to the legislative function,™* and “js

The President's Intelligence Oversight Board

! McGiain at 175.
“1d. at 174.

a3 -
. Eastland v, United States Sendcemen's Fund, 421 U, 491, 504 (1975),
_.sza-_,o.:_._ﬁoﬁ_):z_o:«m Ha .
Chairman, Intelligence Oversigl - Harington (hersinafler *Hanington®),
Hydo and Hamion to Lake (1o wm»_aukw_..‘mnh Ao fu9. 13, 196};ltier from

u_.ouﬂaoa:wi.nsas:iog.m.aug. Ses Appendix B.
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“damage” than sharing the Iranian green light findings with Congress behind clozed doors.
The 108 did argue that the public release of the Guatemala findings was necessary due
1o the confused state of the recond on the matter.* That may very well have been the
case, but the Subcommittee notes that the same confusion reigns in the Iranian green tight
issue,

After much negotiation the White House did eventually relant to providing the
Subcommittes with a written list of the individuals the |0B interviswed in the preparation
of its Iranian green Tight report.”

On the issue of tastifying before the Subcommittee under oath and on the recond,
Harrington, similar to the NSC stafl, also refused, on advisement from the White House.
The information he provided to the Subcommittee was through an unswomn interview,
without & court reporter present to make a verbatim transcript,

The Sutcommittee strongly beligves that, in this case, the Administration’s refusal
to give Congress access to the 10B report has actually dons real damage to the integrity
of the 10B's investigatory process. Basad upon the information the White House has
provided from the report, the Subcommittee concludes that at least two individuals
interviewed by the 10B withhek! relevant documentary information and some may have
provided contradiclory statements i the I0B and Congress. These individuals are,
however, now safa in the knowledge that i is knpossible to document these actions
because of the I0B's ctaim of “privilege.* ’

Finally, the Select Subcornmittee is concemed that the Administration has publicly
cited this 108 report to exonerate the Administration of wrong doing in the Iranlan green
light policy, but refuses to allow Congress to examine the report of to allow its author to
testify under oath about i 30 as to alow the Subcommitiee 10 verify s accuracy or
authority, Democratic Senator Robert Kerrey has expressed similar concemns:

1 think this entlty . . . is very badly named as an ovensight board, and cannot,

~ under any circumstances, vindicate the President. If there i a claim of oversight -

" Hthere Is a clalm of Executive Privilege and a claim of vindication simuitanecusly,
one of those two has io fall, ’

* Select Subcommitien interview with Anthony Harrington (hereinafter
*Harrington Int."), July 25,1006, st 7.

araﬁaﬂ::-iasaszﬁaaoﬁno.imv Saa Appendix B,
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Let me isolate two mistakes. One is ib Implying because it has a
name - Qversight Board - that it is an oversight board. it's not.

[Tihere'’s been some references that the President was vindicated by
an oversight board, and that leaves an impression with the citizen that this
is differant than what | think this organization is.

The second mistake was sending Mr. Harrington to the Hill at gli. |
mean, [ reafly think he shoukd not have besn sent up to Capitol Ht to sit
before this Committee with a report that he would read but not be able 1o
leave with the Committea.®

Subpoena

Unlike some of the other Congressional examinations of the Iranian green light, the
Select Subcommitiee enjoys a broad mandate as charted out i House Resolution 416. In
order to conduct an authentic oversight investigation, H.Res. 416 bestowed upon the
Chairman of the Sslect Subcommittee, "upon consultation with the rarking minority party
member of the Select Subcommittee,” the autharity to take “affidavits and depositions
pursuant o notice or subpoena.” Authorized subpoenas may be signed by the Chaimman
of the Select Subcommitiee. Furthermore, the resolution provided that such depositions

and affidavits could be conducted by staff as “designated by the chairman of the Select
Subcommittee.™ ’

Tha Subcommitiee considered the issuance of subpoenas on several occasions,
sometimes 1o the extent of having them prepared for servics: once to get the White Housa
- o comply with requests for NSC documents and depositions; twice o get the White House

o produce IOB materials; and twice o compel the Secretary of State to produce requested

" * House Resolution 416, 104th Cong. (1995). 8aa Appendix B.

ilable for it to do its work, the Sub itte has preferred to compromise in order to
Honu complete a job as possible rather than join in divisive and counterproductive public

Classtification

beommittee on July 26, 1996, asked the State Department to
aaaoﬂ.nﬂo?mhﬁ.ﬂwﬂon_!uz_.-fca_wﬁgﬂiﬁ {Zagreb 1683 and Zagreb 1721),
nuann)t_.__nqmauc..8&.35—8.3:&33:38?33%.%523
8, 1694.% Thesa documents are absolutely key to any coherent discussion of the genesis
and impiementation of the green light policy. They were prapared conlemporaneously with
key developments and can be used in verifying the accuracy of testimony. The matters

n, a

T with noticeable elisions of inconvenient facts and with a "spin” not substantiated
!o?:ﬁ:ﬁzﬂisﬁra.%goiginmg and several missed
deadfines, the Department of State finalty decided :23301»8553;250:;3
cables and only declassified approximately one-half of the memerandum to the fle.

demonstrating the Administration’s efforts to hide s actions behind the
i@?t?gggﬂiggggg
?%Eggg.gi&.sﬂtggg
to the Administration if they were known. For example, characterizations by a senior
Department of State official of Washington's inept and confused handiing of the initial
g:&??ﬂﬁﬁ:u?.ﬁ:%ﬁag.

g:ﬁ?:ﬂé%g.ga:ﬁoigug

~ ® Lgiter from Hyde, Hamilton and Gilman 1o Chistopher (July 26, 1996): See
Appendix B.

# These are some of the documents that the Stats Department refused to allow
the Subcommitiee 1o have in s possession. Accondingly, they are currently avaiable
g!??%i%i%!?i-% :

l)gﬁggg—ug!gww.
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Information Security Oversight Office and the interagency . ssificatiol
Security Clagsi Appeais
o e e e e
. ] , in are lakd out the
“ouh-&ﬂ_nnm_ﬂuomag. Specifically, the Department appears 1o be in viclation of the oao_..u_.
oamsw”mo: ¢ nuaaona..o.: of information to “prevent embarmassment to a person,
b i , Of Bgency. Q..n::ﬁ::ionai?o:ocgo__zum&g!n:oom
ot Eiﬁz_o on September 26, 1696.® The Subcommittee heard tetephonically from the
n Security Oversight on Ociober 2, that an investigation is underway *

aco_u-ﬁ!%.d 38::% ﬁ Depariment of State refused the Subcommitiee’s request that &
Alexander Vershbow. The Subcommittes Sao_Mn. ._W_. those ww_hoo%mi rance
Baanm:e,u_ discussions with foraign heads of state are _on_saoih.“.wuu% ftis
235225« e, unconsconable o iﬁu.hn the Adirisation hes. o deciassiy tose portions
of what Is now a publicly revealed pelicy. s onthe

'  Letter from Hyde to Steven Gardinkel (hereinafler

*Garfinkel™), Director,
_gwﬁézs%?ﬁ?dgxgﬂg:ﬁs
Department of Justice (Sept. 26, 1906). Saa Appendix B. v

. ™ Exscutive Order 12958, Section 1.8 (2).

* 142 Cong. Record H31360 (No. 135 Sept. 26, 1996) (Statements of Hyde).
* Letter from Garfinkel %o Hyde (Oct. 1, 1896). San Appendix 8.
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CHAPTERT
INVESTIGATION BY THE INTELLIGENCE OVERSIGHT BOARD (I0B)
Origins of the 10B Investigation

As Woolsey examined the Information that had been compiled for him,* he realized
tha situation under review was related to a matter he had first become aware of in early
May 1594. In the cument case, as before, there were strong indications that something
was askew in the implementation of the US policy enforcing the Bosnian arms embargo
as interpreted in the US Embassy in 2agreb, Croatia. Woolsey quickly decided to seek
guidance and advice from National Security Advisor Anthony Lake. That meeting
occumred an Octobar 5, 1984.°

Bosnia by way of Croatia.* Asa resuit of that mesting, on October 14, National Security
Councll (NSC) officials, including Senior Director of Inteligencs Programs George Tenet

! gﬂm:&ﬂ:ﬁ&oocoe%o_._uiioow&.wol.__m. 1996, at 20.
Q!dg.ioo[nwﬂo?-v

.osﬁgﬁ.ga Points for the DCl's Weekly
Meetings* (SepL. 30, 1684),

3 NSC document, 30, Nov. 18, 325;:553531
“Talking for the DCI's Moetings™ 30, 1954); CIA Memorandum for
the Record, Oct. 14, 1994 ‘

.nsﬁﬁ?glos:; 4), Woolsey

Dep. at 53-54,
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and Deputy Legal Advisor James Baker,® met with offici
| D a I Adh A officials &
prefiminary investigation and to obtain capies of a_m<m=._ _..._Mo___a..”_nmﬂ..oi @ ndertake o

Gn November 1, 1994, NSG Legal Advisor Alan K i i
» 1994, re
%M:mﬂm_mqﬁ >%_”M_. Rﬁ“ to discuss the issues raised at the Eﬁuﬂrﬂ%mﬁaﬁo@mzﬁ Hﬂﬁwca%.._m"
e fime; ikva met with Lake and White House Chief of Staff Leon Fanetta for the

On November 29, Mikva met with Anthony Harrington
) , , Chalil L %
Intelligence Oversight Board.® The two men discussed the n:eh«o_uwﬁo__cwdowz_ﬂﬁ“

m )
Nat to be confused with former Secrelary of Stata James A. Baker, ).
* Handwritten list of attendees at October 14, 1994, meeting with Geoge Tenet

at CiA headquartars, CIA document label 84-338, Oct. 14, 1994: CIA Memorandum by
Tenetr tia o m assage of Operational File to NSC
_ Wﬂ X 15, 1894; CIA Memorandum EF

slaphone Calf to Gearde Tenet” {Oct. 17, 1984); CIA Memorandum for the

Record "Meeting with George Tenet from NSC re Croatian Issues” {Oct 14, .Em;““x

" NSC document, 29, Nov. 16, 1994, '

[ ]
?mﬂw.mﬂ:ﬂ«g m_..,_uogﬂo% Interview of Anthony S. Harrington, July 25, 1996, at 4

* NSC document, 34, Nov. 16, 1954,
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- the iranian circumvention of the UN arms embargo. During this meeting, the 10B was

assigned the task of investigating the arms embargo viclations issues presented by the US
actions in the Balkans.

The 108's investigative mandate was framed very namowly by White House Counsel
Mikva. The 1OB's directive was narmower in scope than the Select Subcommittee's charter,
&s found in H.Res. 416. The issuas balore the 108 were:

1. Whaether Ambassador Gabraith or Ambassador Redman was directly
involved in assisting an arms shipment pass through Croatia to
Bosnia in May 1894, in violation of the UN Arms Embargo;

2. Whather the "no Instructions” massags to Croatian Preskdent Franjo
Tudjman by Ambassadors Galbraith and Redman constifuted fllegal

cover! aclivity; and

3. Whaether Ambassador Galbraith and Assistant Secrelary of Slate for
European and Canadian Affairs, Richard Holbrooke, made any offers
. to provide anns or funds to the Bosnian or Croatian Govemments?'!

Conduct of the IOB (nvestigation

The 10B conducted its investigation by reviewing the intelligence and operational
information underlying the initial concems of the DC1. The 10B siso reviewed additional
intefigence that was made avafiable from other non-ClA sources. Several current and
former US government officials wers interviewed by the 10B. Captain David Wesley
{USAF} af the 10B staff was assigned to work with the 108 members in the investigation

and the preparation of the repart.

. Anthony S. Hamington fs the current Chairrman of the 108. He fs a sonior pariner
at the Washington, D.C. law firm of Hogan and Hartson. Prior 10 his servics with the
OB, Mr. Hanington served as General Counsel to the Clinton-Gore 1992 presidential
Mr. Harrington's feliow Board members included former Deputy Director of the
National Security Agency Ann Caracristi and Philadelphia businessman Harold W.
Pote.

" Harrington Int. at 1-3.
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The individuals interviewed by the 108 were;

Department of Stats
Warren Christapher, Secretary
M_ﬂ.n_. .Mu_“__ﬂ“. Under Sacretary/Policy
ard Holbrooke, Assistant Secrat for Ey
e e
raith, or biic af
Ronald Neitzke, Deputy Chief of :mmu_oa.ou:N.mmwmaoaﬁw% ma
Jenonne Watker, Ambassador to the Czsch o (s
for European Affairs at the NSC)

National Security Councit
Anthony Lake, Nationat Security Advisor

Alexander Vershbow, iar D f
Principal Umu:%o:.aw Sivector or European Aflirs (former

Republic (former Senior Director

Assistant :
Canadian Afiairsy Secretary of State for European and

Department of Defensa
Walter Slocombe, Undersecretary for Policy

General Wesley Clark, Commander in Chief, Command (former
. US Southern

Director of the Office for Strategic Palicy and Planning &im

Major General £d Hanion, US Marine Corps 11Q ' et

Lieutenant Colonel Richand Herrick_ former
Calonel John Sadter gﬂa Defense Attache, Zagreb, Croatia

Colonel Clifton Sehroeder, US
LNO, Sarajevo, Booy B@Im%ﬁ oa_._xw Reserve, European Command

Colonel David Hunt, US Army, Ssrajevo, mogwimﬂaug:u
Central Intefigence Agency
R. James Woolsey, 5293193!_?

wiam . former Deputy Diector of Ce,
£ﬂﬂ5§:ﬁ§i§ﬁ,§
ug.ggcg?_iﬁgs
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Hasmington stated that the interview process was very informal. The I0B interviews
were not conducted under oath. None of the individuals interviewed were informed of the
applicability of Title 18, United Statas Code, § 1001, which makes it a crime o provide a
matarial false staternent during the course of an investigation conducted by an agency of

exist. The only memorialization of the interviews would be the notes faken by the

"interviewer.®

The 108 concluded His investigation by mid-May 1985. White House Counsel Mikva,
presantad the 10B's report to the President on May 17, 1995

Findings of the I0B Investigation
The 10R reached the following factual conclusions, which are addressed, sedatim.

The 1OB review found that Ambassader Galbraith clid nof take any action o facilitate
or direct the release of a Bosnia-bound convoy that had been stopped In Croatia In early
May 1894, The IOB did find, hawaver, that it had been provided conflicting information
regarding the role of Ambassador Redman with respect o this particutar convoy. CIA
officials stated that the Bosntans asked Redman to help obtain the releass of the convoy
during negotiations in Vienna on the future of the Bosnian Federation, The 108, however,
deemed Ambassador Redman’s conduct as “diplomatic discussions,” insofar as he simply

removed an o negofiations that had ansen due to the stoppage of the
convay.™ working with Ambassador Redman in Vienna stated that Redman
had been of the problam by the Bosnians and may have laken steps to get it

released because the issue was not raised again In the negotiations, Ambassatior
Redman stated, however, that he had taken no action obtaining the release of this
particulat convoy. The 10B hather found that even if Redman had taken action, the 10B

2 List of 10B Interviewess, Select Subcommittee Dac. DO0003, Sept. 20, 1996.
* Harrington int. at 6.

¥ NSC document, 39, July 28, 1955.

3 Hamringlon InL st 2,
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did not believe he was aware that the convoy contained iomuosa.a&\

For this izssue, based on the factual conclusions made by the 10B, White House

Oo_._amo_nmoﬁoa._ﬁp .
fall Within the defintion of car s &seom_ﬁ.zs s and Ambassador Redman's actions did not

. is
instructions property and had not engaged Mm.u-m::w“.ﬂ: .x..on_Su__ were following their

With res,

pect to the third issue, the 108 was
e e, unable fo reach a concl
gégggsgoug?niiiunﬂ:oﬂwﬂ

a ti
an of Laoo..a r.:.o .muw Wwas unable to disprove
covert action proposals with n 2 ﬂ_..mineo_. Eurvﬂnau_rvofc“n_ these

(N

hypothetical discussions or flems under consideration among the parties to the
negofiations. Because nothing concrete was promised, White House Counsel found that
no covert action occusred 2s a result of thesa discussions.

Umitations of the I0B Report

Despite the generally favorable findings set forth above, the White House, as
discussed in Chapiler 6, refused %0 make the OB report available 1o the Subcommitiee for
s review. The White House insisted that & only provide an oral briefing on the report
without a verbatim transcript.  The White House glso refused the Subcommillee’s request
10 review the documaentation compied in the preparation of the 10B report, such as the
notes of interviews. Accordingly, the Subcommittee can judge the IOB report based only
on the information It has been provided,

That said, it is evident that the |08 investigation cannot ba looked to for authoritative
answers to many of the questions relating 1o the imnian green light policy that have been
put before the Subcormmittes. in addition to the IOB's scope of inquity being extremely
nammow, the report was prepared without benefit of interviews of key participants in the
events In question. Similarly, some of the individuals interviewed did not provide the [IOB
with access to relevard materials and, R appears, some of those interviewed did not
respond truthksily or completely. The ICB investigation appears to have been less than
thorough and insufficient to support the tonclusions reached,

First, the Subcommittes notes that the IOB never intarviewed Deputy Secretary of
State Strobe Talbott nor Deputy National Securlly Advisor Sanuel ("Sandy”) Bergar™ about
their pariicipation in the implementation of the President's Iranian green light decision.

In Chapter 8, we explain how these two individuals were in key positions during the
period in question. It Is sufficient hers fo note that Takbott, the second highest State
Department official in the Administration, and the hiphest ranking State Department official
in the Unitad Stales at the time the decision was made,* was traveling with the President

B.
d

B Sea |0B List of Witnesses, supm note 12. Cf. Select Subcommities List of
Depositions and Interviews, Sas Chapler 5.

* Sslect Subcommittes Deposition of Thomas Donllon, Sept. 12, 1998, at 8-15.
Secretary Christopher was traveling in Egypt.
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when the green light issue was forwarded to the President®
’ ssue | I lent® Meanwhile, Berger had been
in charge of the NSC; National Security Advisor Lake was traveling with _:qm President,

Second, the Select Subcommittee questions the d i

egree to which individuals

ﬂﬁg by the 108 were honest and forthcoming. Although the Whita House refuses
Eo_ao_omoOwowEw_ESns:s:a&So 108 witnesses to the Select Subcommittes for review,
8%&&8::»::5-8.3__!50 IOB found no reason to meke any criminal referrsis
e et Uoo@n:ﬁ....g upon probable false statements made during the course
g_glmg. d_i_oR-SQM:ugiauoE!:innEm.zﬁi_EnwuauB
o ﬂm.uﬁmao: gave statements, which contradict their testimony before the Select
w mmittes, or m_..n 10B is somehow unaware of significant factual inconsistencles in
rious witnesses' siatements that have emerged in the Select Subcommittee's

= Seledt Subcommittea Deposition of Strobe Takott, :
Sept. 5, 1996, at 30; Select
Subcommittee Interview of Samual Berger, Sepl. 26, 1996, 1. %

 Hamioglon Int. at 1 (scops of 108 inquiry narower than Select
m:g%.ar»ﬂ:.a&_cwgs-}égiﬁg
?u&ﬂt;cméiggs&! definttion of ‘covert )
%.J.aﬁ...a.o_gnocui!%gb.uﬁ “

umi?g_gigggs 1996, at 2.
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Finally, it has emerged that some of the individuals whom the tOB interviewed, did
not pravide the OB with highly relevant and contemporaneous recards of events under
investigation which they had in ther possession. Specifically, Ambassador Galbraith and
former Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of State Alaxander ("Sandy”) Vershbow both
made contemporanecus records of events invoived in the 10B's inquiry. Thatthey did not
share these documents with the 108, despite the I0B's request for such materials, is
disturbing. R

In the case of Ambassador Galbraith, he kept a daily "Record” of his activities — as
Ambassador {o Croatia ~ in which he documented several highly relevant meetings that
are key to understanding whether or not he had acled consistently with the instructions
provided him by the Department of State. The head of the 10B, Hamington, only learned
of the "Record” in the course of his interview with the Select Subcommittes. The
Subcommittes, itself, leamed of the "Recond’s” existence from Galbraith's former secretery,
Charlotie Stottman, to whom the “Record” was diclated,®

Sirnllarty, it also appears the IOB was never tokd that Vershbow,” who participated
in many of the telegraphic and telephonic communications between the embassy in Croatia
and the State Department, kept contemporaneous handwritten notes of those
communications.® The Subcomimittee has found those documents invaluable to its efforts
1o reconstruct the events, especially since the Administration saw to It that the events being
scrutinized by the Subcommitiee are largely otherwise undocumented. The descriptions

= See Select Subcommittee Deposition of Charlotte Stottman, Aug. 10, 1996, at
15-20. (“Q: Can you a8 us what the Record is? A: Wall, the Record started in ~ the
Record ended in November of 1995. It started — | think K started and lasted for about
10-days in 1993 and then it picked back up — It picked back up, 1 think, late ‘93. The
first one picked up and ended in about 10 days around September, | think of, 1993, and
then in November of 1693 he siartad a second one, and it went untl | went on home
feave on February 1st, and then he didn't dictate it while } was gone. He picked & back
up when | returned to post in May, Oz When you came back May 1, 1894, you had
heen gons a good two-and-a-half, thres monihs? A: Three months. Q: At that time did
Ambassador Galbraith need 10 catch up on the Racord? A: He did some catching up.”)

* Mr. Vershbow curmently serves as the Senior Deputy in the Directorats for
European Affairs at the NSC.

* Notes of Alexander Vershbow, former Principal Deputy Assistant Secretaty of
State; Select Subcommittee Deposition of Alexander Vershbow, Aug. 8, 1996, at 5-12.
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of events found in Vershbow's notes, tend to be at odds with the public gloss the Clinton -

Administration has put on the Iranian green kight. His notes display the lack of serious
discussion Jeading up to the President’s decision, which jed ultimately to the Iranians
establishing their strategic beachhead in the heart of Europe. Had the 108 been awars of
the notes, it might not have played such a prominent role in the application of that gioas.
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CHAPTER 8

THE EVOLUTION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF
THE IRANIAN GREEN LIGHT POLICY

The decision by the Clinton Administration to give the iranians and Croatians a
"green fight" 1o throw the door open to lranian weaponry. personnel and influence in the
Balkans was reached and implemented hast#y in an uninformed haze of confusion. In
exploring the origins of the decision, which reflecied a major depariure from this country’s
prior policy toward both iran and the UN amms embargo, the Select Subcommittee
encountered starkly conflicting testimony from individuals involved in the process, as well
as significant di pancies beb cont veous documentation and the
Administration's after-the-fact rationalizations of its conduct. Those incongistencies and
discrepancles represented a sigrificant chaflenge to our ability to set forth with certair.ly
the factual record necessary to explain the origin of the decision 10 acquiesce in the
establishment of the Iranian arme pipeline. Nevertheless, this chapter will review the
ralevant facts and contentions as revaalad in the course of the investigation with a view
toward answering as best we can how such a decision came 1o be made and implemented.

This chapter is, for purposes of organizational clarity, divided into three sections,
In the first section, wa have set forth the demonsirated US policy and reaction to Iranian
oflorts to establish an arms pipelina through Croatia from August 1982, through the
summer of 1983. This section provides the background essential for understanding the
radical departure reflacted by the April 1994 franlan green light decision.

The second section describes the relevant events between Ambassador Peter
Galbraith’s July 1993 arrival at his post in Crostia and Apré 1994, with & view toward
describing how Galbraith, Croatian Defense Minister Gojko Susak, US Special Envoy
Charles Redman, various ranian surrogates and others orchestrated a situation In which
a radical departure from estabilshed US policy toward fran was not only contemplated tat
approved ai the highes! levels of the US govemment. ’

The third section provides a detailed exposition of what the Select Subcommittee
has been able to determine regarding the operational detais attendant 1o the new policy’s
genesis, iImplementation and immeadiate sftermath in 1984, R is, of necessity, intensely
detaled and inherently complicated, but has been presentad in this fulsome manner o
sliow the reader to reach his own judgment about the Clinton Adminletration's conduct and
s consequences. '
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Ne Question — “We Have A Policy”

In order io minimize the gravity of s decision not to inform Congress of the tranian
green iight decision, the Administration has attempted 1o argue Eacﬁggmlon
Subcommittee's investigation that the decision did not constitute a change In 3:2
Although some of the witnesses from the Department of Stats have testified thal, in thei

opinion, US policy toward the arms embarpo did not change in 1904, 39..0_._332 Despite this “worry,” the Croatian Govemment tested the US with the lranian ams
been so disingen :Sumu_oucncoagaﬂoaoau_oztu-ooﬁ? t with the US policy shipmient in September of 1992 and provided the senlor official with a chance to convey
of isolating iran diplomaticalty, economically end poltiically. Moreover, NUMerous witnesses . the US objections strongly. On Labor Day weekend 1992, he was sent to Croatia to
5«%&5&.83:&%?5358&-&5» UN arms embargo in the spring ! engage his Croatian contacts on the issue of the impounded Iranian arms shipment. Im
of 1994 was as Amb dor Galbraith describ ai.!a)u&o:wwa the US : met with Zuzul and advised him, in no uncertain terms, to send the arms back to Ira
Buumnﬁsomnaogmsnnxuanno?u_. ations to do so, as wek.? : Coupled with a United States demarche, a demand by the United States that the m::m
: delivery be reportsd to the UN and a request by Charge Ronald Neitzke of US Embassy
The significant departure from prior policy represented by the Clinton : Zagreb 1o UNPROFOR 1o selze the amms, the CIA officlal’'s message as 1o the United
Administration's lrantan green Right decision can only be appreciated when contrasted with ’ States’ view on Iranian arms could not have been clearer.®

the respense of the Bush Administration 1o the efferis of the Iranians and Croatians to
transship anms through Croatia to Bosnia in Septomber 1992.° By swilly and conclusively lﬂi Central Intelligence Agency has been able to
Informing the Croatian govemnment that ther United States did not approve of the Iranians . dete , the attempted Iranian arms pipeline was shut down in September 1992 and
viglating the UN arms embargo, bringing weapons and soldiers 1o Croatia, and using : unti the Clinton Administration’s Iranian Green Light decision in the sprng
Croatia as a transshipment point for arming Bosnian Mustims, the Bush Administration left
no doubt in the minds of the Croatians or the Iranians about American opposition to Iranlan
involvement in the Balkan crisis. Although the Bush Administration knew that some
_nw_.mno on 3« ams oawnaos.nuoan__:ﬂn it would not countenanca an lranian arms
d, through a demarche, that the Croatians shut it down.

._.sow:ggi:_ueﬂ:o:!_-!

" On January 20, ._wwwm.sﬂ...;osimu:ﬁa:ﬂanninﬁg_. As noted eartier in this

Deposition of EMIESNMIN .. 15, 1996, a1 &
:335»__2 ¢®I
Fer~
: -gm %E%ggzoso _)._._n 7, 1996, at 13-23
Fﬁgggggsi Sept. 20, 1806, st | (herveinafier “Neitzke Dep.”).

B B
qgiwgﬂgr

8, 11-14, 41-42 (hereinafter "Hunter Dep."); Select Subcommiltes Deposition of General ! \
Wesley Clark, SepL 4, 1996, at 7-13 (hereinafier “Clark Dep.”). W 7 Dep. at 8-11.
* Saa Chepler 13, -.:-.a.h&\
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report, the Clinton Administration expressed is intention to honor the UN arms embargo
as long as # was in effect® The Clinton Administration also expressed strongly its policy
of isolating iran diplomatically, econcmically and militarily.' There was certainly nothing
in its public discussion of arms embargo policy or the policy toward Iran that would lead
forelgn governments in the spring of 1993 to conclude that the United States would react
differently to the establishment of an Iranian ams pipeline through Croatia than it had In
Seplember of 1892. The US had made a dear decision that UN Security Council
Resckution 713 applied 1o afl of the former Yugosiavia and that "all arms embargo violaticns
should be investigated and whefe appropriate prosecuted.™"

Events confirm that the Iranians a Croatians understocd the US no-nonsense
policy on lranian arms transshipments,

In February of 1993, the Turks and Iranians separately approa the Croatian
Govemment about the transshipment of ames fo the Boanian Muslims.

* Sen Chapter 3.
* Se6 Chapter 4.

" Department of State Cable, 82560, Mar. 22, 1993.
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The Croatian Govermment was clearly not willing to risk the Ire of the Unfted mﬁ.%\.@

In April 1693, Susak asked the US Special Envoy for the Former Yugoslavia,
Reginald Bartholomew, for the US view on Croatia’s facliitation of Iranian arms shipments
to Bosnia. Bartholomew urged Susak to be carefid in dealing with fran."® Bartholomew told
him that the United States could not be placed in the position of supporting Croatia in

transshipping lranian arms and that R was Croatia’s decision to make. Bartholomew went
on to say that the US could not be put iIn the position of advising the Govemnment of Croatia
to supply Iranian arms 1o the Bosnian Govemment® Ron Neftzke, gerving as the
American Charge in Croatia in these pre-ambassadorial times, was Informed by
Bartholomew of the Susak question and his response.? Subsequent events in the next
few months revealed that Susak did not perceive Bartholomew’s response as American
approval for such transshipments.

Around May 7, 1983, President Tudjman discussed with Charge Neitzke the

» Depariment of State Cable, Zagreb AA,..G. Apr, 27, 1993.

® Although deposition testimony was oftalned from Mr. BarthSlomew, his fallure
to remember the words he spoke or the detalls of the conversation, plus his strained
efforts to ft his recollections into the cumment State Department “theory” makes the
testimony of Ron Neltzke a better soitrce of svidence conceming this exchange.

1 Neitzke Dep. at 23-30.
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estabiishing an arms pipeline from Iran, or to tel them that we would not object if such a
thing were to happen” Galbraith replied that he was not involved in any such conduct, and

increasing pressuite the Croatian Gavernment was recsiving from Iran on the arms pipeline 10 the best of his knowledge’ he did ot “inspire” this su -
ggestion.” In response 1o
issue. Tudjman chatacterized Iran as knocking at the door, and asked Neitzke what the Congressman Gilman's question about whether Gelbraith was ever asked by anyone to

United States wanted Croatia to do. Neitzke, y Sasna.u_oa:oa s.n._._sm_o__sa

heip implement the lranian amms pipeline or help facilitate any dealing of lranian ams to
Croatia or Bosnia, Gafbraith answered "no."™® The facts and testimony elicited during the
course of the ‘nvestigation calt the tnuthfulness of these responses into question.

Tudjman that the Un _Sqmgoanuso_inangus a relationship with lran.=
The Croaians foliowed Neitzke's advice a few days latetgmuiui RN

- An understanding of the background, activities and motivations of the principal
. participants in the Croatian events leading to the opening of the Iranian amms pipeline is
assential o demonstrating Gatbraith’s knowledge and involvement.

Although the Croatians would continue to firt with greater ties 1o Iran in 1983, they G
2w 10 need 0 3k tho Unlied States sbou s e oward the Iranlan arms pipsine. stting Acquainted
rge Neitzke, and other US officials had mads & sbundantly ciear; Peter W. Galbraith assumed his duties as the United States Ambassader to Groatia
Iranian arms in the iﬂuﬂ::—.ﬁﬂm&‘h&- B.GD_._. As Ambassador Galbraith noted in July of 1893. Upon Galbraith's anival, ggz&rbg;??ggi
, in Aprl 1994, “We do have a 3‘% embargo and expedt other countries o of Mission. A man with a penchant for action, Ambassador Galbraith brought to his new
obey Security Council resciutions position his lengthy experience as a member of tho Senate Foraign Relations Committee
Staffl. As the President’s emissary 1o a nation in what was perhaps one of the most volatile
The Question Is Orchestrated parts of the world, he faced a myriad of challenges and opportunities. Without delay, he
immersed himsalf In jtics and issues of the Balkan with a self-confid
The evidence that Peter Gafbraith was involved in the planning of the Iranian arms Aty cieriaysd throomeas his pumic flocs | e Dalkan region wih 8 self-confidence
Eu_w_!w oqﬂns._og_omﬂin knowledgeable of the details of its origin and operation
veelt befors the last week in April 1994, Is subsiantial. In his public testimony before the Early in his tenure Galbraith made it clear that he was sympathetic to the plight of
House Intemational Relations Comeilies in May of 1998, Galbraith assured Congressman the Bosnian Muslims, as they batled Serbs and Bosnian Croats in the complicated and
Henry Hyde that the idea of estatishing an iranian srms pipeline to Bosnia originated with seemingly intractable conflict in Bosnia, Within two months of his arrival in Zagreb,
the Croatians, and not within the US govemment.® Moreover, Congressman Ballenger Galbraith met with Imam Sevko Omerbasic, a prominest Mushm spiritual sader in Crostia
questioned Gaibwaith regarding whether Galbraith or “anyone slse in our govemment ever and a key contact of anyone hoping to follow the Bosnian Mustim issue from Croatia. He
wenl to the Croatians, the Bosnlans of the lranians o s canisn.gsam. was aiso a finch-pin figune In the establishment and operation of the Iranian arms pipeline.
In the fate surnmer of 1993, Omerbasic was a sufficiently prominent leader in the Croatian
* Neltzke Dep. at 32-34 :

I@\ . “ i, ot 8496,
Am ! . \@-\ ; 1. at 149,

* Department of State Cable, Zagreb 1721, Apr. 29, 1954, * Sen Peter W. gé%agﬂfzg

» w Republic, Apr. 28, 1991; Peter W. Galbralth, Diplomacy Halps Contain the Boanian
) ngggaﬂi

00 LN I FSOW in [N ST ﬂgsg 238 ﬂg -
Qgiggugg HIRC testimony’).
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Muslim community to marit a vislt from the United States Ambassador. m

The meeting octurred in Omerbasic’s office, Gulbraith was accompanied by the j

Galbraith to the meeting, as wel™ The m was 8 courtesy ¢all which evolved kil an ,ﬁ
E‘ggﬂiél&?l

for the Bosnian Musime and informed Omerbesic that the US did not fear lstam or bl
énig?ge_g;g;u Although
Omerbasic ciaims hever i have had any further meetings with Galbralth, the cradile ;
%Enlugﬂg%iigio%. i

met & number of tines between August 1983 and Apdl 20, 1904

%Rn’il&%gg!&%
?ﬁ?iggﬂf F«glnginl_it:

= Sefect Subcommities Deposiion of Susan Hovanec, Aug. 14, 1896, st 3133
{hereinafier Hovanec Dep.”. |

"y at31.32, 76-78. : . N
"R 178 ) ) o
sgggﬂgo:ignr.ssﬂ

™ Select Subcornmitios of Charictie Stottman, Aug. 10, 1996, at'38
%gﬂgﬂggﬂisgas

a,-___.onll._!.!og
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By the end of 1983, Peter Galbraith was firmly convinced that the Bosnian Muslims -

were desperately in need of weaponiry or they would not survive.” He had mobilized his
staff to study n,__a afleviate the Muslim refugee situstion in Croatia. maw-u&. personne!

Iranian
terrorism by proclaiming that it was notin ran’s interest to attack the US.*' With his mind
open with respect to lranlan intentions and set upon finding a solution for arming the
Bosnian Muslims, Galbraith was poised to act at the beginning of 1994 and receptive to
idea

Shortly after his amival in Groatia, Ambassador Galbraith developed anather
imporiant relationship for purposes of this investiy

¥ Galbraith HIRC testimony at 21-22.

* Selact Subcommittee Deposition of Peter W, Galbrsith, Aug. 19, 1996, at 77-
85 (hercinafier "Gaibralth Dep.”): Neltzke Dep. at 41-42; Select Subcormnmittes
Deposition of Tom Mitinachi, Aug. 14, 1998, af 14-15, 44-52, 69-72; Select
Subcormmities Deposition of Richand Holtzapple, Aug. 20, 1906, 8-12.

* Neitzke dep. at 53-59.

“id_ at 158-158.

“ K. at 113-115.

" = Galbraith Dep. al 147-46, $58-9.
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bore, as part of its fruit, tha Iranian green light decision. Gojko Susak, although a Croat
by birth, spent much of his adult life in Canada, amassing a fortune through his pizza
business. Bom in 2 small fown In Bosnia in the hills between Mostar and Spiit, after his
retum to the Balkens as Croatian Daefense Minisier he became intensely focused on
regaining the region of his birth, known as the Krajina.® As Defense Minister, Susak set
about buliding a mililary capable of retaking jhe United Nations protectad areas in the
Krajlna, Sectors North, South, East and West.

Susak ran the Croatian milltary with a hands-cn approach, functianing more like a
commanding general than an American Secrelary of Defense,” As his primary focus was
Croatian nationalism, he was hostie toward the knerests of the Bosnian Muslims and, even
when playing a critical role in the Iranian anms pipeiine, he was not eager to see the
Bosnian Muslims anned with artlery or missiles.® Susak was a powerful man in Croatia,
fluent in English from his Canadian years and a man of action for whom Galbraith
developed a strong affinity,

In the fall of 1993, the UN arms embargo posed an obstacle 1o Susak’s efforts o
augment his army. Embroiled in fighting with Bosnian Musiims and Serbs, Susak

:morngﬁaisgamnsa:%ao_s.«ﬂn.ﬂ 1996, at 25-
31 (hereinafter “Holbrooke Dep.”). :

nyy
“y

“y . .
 Neitzka Dep. at 45-52.

declined to make hi available for an interview with the Sefect m:us,a_.anom. itis
impossible fo conciude with certainty whether or not parts of an Iranian-Croatian arms deal
were already well along as earty as Novermber 1993, -

Besides the arms shopping trip to Iran, Susak attempted to curry favor with US
officials and leam what he could of US attitudes and policy toward the Balkans. In a
November 1993 meeting with Undersecretary of State Peter Tamoff and US Speclal Envoy
Charles Redman, he leamed that it was very important io these US officials that Croatia
cooperate in the process of getting humanitarian aid to the mom_.__mzm.w Al that time and
on throughout 1884, the humanttarian aid flow to Bosnia consisted u.,._a.m_.___. of CONVOYS,
organized by Musiim humanitarian organizations that later played a significant role in the
{rantan arms pipeline to Bosnia,

Susak had not been

>_._.§ Galbraith was initated by the fact that his fj

viewed as important fo warrant a meeting with Woolsey,

s - R

~g
® CIA Cable, State 343310, Nov. 11, 1963,




1n tate 1993 or the sardy months of 1994 Ambassador Jackovich received a request
that was different from the generaitzad importuning mentioned earier. Bosnlan Prime
Minister Slajdzic approached Jackovich and fold him that Bosnian Vice President Eup

Ganic, during a bip 0 Musim countriee, was informed by the Libyan Foreign Minister thet

" % Nehzka Dop. st 50-52.
® San pagas 75-80.

* Selegt Subcommitise Depostion of Vicior Sackovich, Aug. 20, 1996, st 6-12,
48-53 {hersinsfier *Jackavich Dep.").
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Libya would be willing to send arms to Bosnia if the US was agreeable. Jackovic made no
comment on the propesal, but agreed 1o pass it on 1o Washington. Jackovich reported by
cable to the Eurcpean Sureau of the Department of State, He never received a response

Thus, it was no surprise that after Jackovich failed to respond favorably to the
Libyan arms deal, the Iranian arms pipaline proposal was never suggasted or broached
with him.* In fact, although he knew that ihe Iranian and Bosnlan government were having
continuous contact throughout March and Aprl of 1894, Jackovich was not surprised that
the Bosnians did not discuss these contacts with him, in light of the US altitude toward
Iran.™ Clearly, although sympathetic to the Bosnian Muslim concerns, the US Ambassador
to Bosnia was not a good prospect for assisting the Iranians in securing their arms dealing
franchise in the Balkans. The prospects were betlar in Zagreb.

Without Our Fingerprints
On the eve of the Clinton Administration’s Iranian green light decision in late April

1904, Amb dor Galbraith d the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for
Euvropean and Canadian Affairs Sandy Vershbow that he could handle giving the US

" guidance to the Croatians on the Iranian amms Issue “without our fingerprints.™ Although

this rerark is discussed in detail later in this report in the context of explaining the manner
in which the US conveyed the Iranian green light, it was a telling remark regarding
Galbraith's state of mind in the Spring of 1934 and the extent to which he was famiiar with
the planned lranian amms pipeline. .

“Try &s he might, as the lranian arms pipeline was established in the spring of 1994,
Ambassador Galbraith was unable to keep his own proverbial fingerprint from appearing
oh the evidence. A mere comparison of how the lranian pipeline was operated with

. " st54-57.
" id at 20-36.
“\ at1620.
* Salact Subcomemitiee Deposition of Alexander Vershbow, Aug. 8, 1096, at 48-

56 ?o..-l:n:!. “Vershhow Dep."); Notes of Alexander Vershbow (hereinafter "Vershbow
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Ambassador Galbraith's words and deeds in the winte: gveal
his kntods oy e in rand spring of 1894 r Is starkly

In late F o hw.a or early March o__ 1994, Ambassador Galbraith approa
L cUuss was exploring 10 arm the Bosnian Muslims.
Galbraith requested that in a covert action propesal. The uB_uown_ l,

as described by Galbraith, would involve the US communicat o the Croatians that it
would look the other way if the Croatiang would allow arms aﬂo the Bosnian Muslims to
transit Croatian terriiory on whatever terms could be worked out between the Croatians
ard the other parties. Galbraith further suggested that the Iranians could be the supplier
of the arms. He further proposed that the Turks be used as "cut-outs” in the plan. The

_ uﬁi&?ﬁ%.ﬁﬁ!gglmzﬁuiuuoamonwu:iga
give lran a firmer foothold in the Batkans, would violate US law under the UN arms
embargo regime, cac_a.co unsustainable in an operational sense (UNPROFOR or NATO
ia:ﬁ:q:omQ?m_EzﬁauinEa_emxx:oi&aa of its existence) and it would result in
the Serbs viewing the US as a co-beffigerent in the war 2

As additional downsides to Galbaith's plan, the SRS dentied the risk
of encouraging Croatian miitary aspirations, the lack of deniabdity given the need 3_._.2
u:ﬁmﬂggrgnanﬁncggs_éi. itios™ such
an _Efogﬁqii!!gn&%mm:g.

Galbraith thought differendly. He was no stranger 1o creative thinking about actions
o amm the Bosnian Musiims., in November of 1692, while still a Senate Foreign Relations .

. N7,
S

2z
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Committee staffer, he accompanied Senator Danie! Moynihan to Bosnia. In a meeting with
the UN Commander, General Marilion, he asked the Generat what he thought about the
US arming the Bosnian Muskms. Moriion replied, "Just give me five days to get tha heil

out of here gnd you can do what you want™®, In December 1993, r

Ibvaith had approached ashked him
whethe conducting a covert action to arm the Bosnian ms. He openly
a * such an action would be a good thing, but cautionaed that a friendly Muslim
country such as Asmabia should be the r of the ns 0 alleviatg 'the

political blowback. with
leamed that no such plan was in effect, and there was no Presidential finding authorzi
such a program.®™ Galbratth expressed further interest in proposing such a gm.ﬁ@‘

As noted, by the spring of 1994, the Iranians figured prominently In hx new
proposal. This was no accident. Galbraith's proposal was a virtual blueprint for the Iranian
ams pipeline that was put into effect by Susak, Omerbasic and Hasan Gengic in May
1964. This tefitale simiarity between the Galbraith plan and the Iranian pipeline is not the
only evidenca that he had advance knowledge of the Iranlan-Croatian plan. In ancother of
his frequent telephone conversations with Alexander Vershbow during the last week of
Aprit 1994, Galbraith toki Vershbow detals about the Iranian arms fights, such as the fact
that they would amive in unmarked 747 aircraft and the 1act that the Croatians and the
Muslims would split the arms, Rfty-fifly, which he could not have known had he not had
knowledge of the ptan before President Tudiman's question.™

‘Whether Galbraith authored the arms pipeline plan and brought the Croatians and
ranians to agreement. or whether the plan was designed by the Croatians and Iramians,
who then told Galbraith of the detals and secured his help, no one may ever be able 1o
determine. Susak refused to make himseX available for an interview with the Select
Subcommittes staff during its investigative visil 1o Zagreb. And although Omerbasic
consented 10 a brief meeting during that Zagreb trip, his answers to the staff's questions

-gg.agwg.ﬁmaﬂ%gﬂ
Capiiot Hill, Washington Post, May 21, 1696 st A12. .

By —
#l

* Vershbow Dep. at 11-17; Vershbow Notes,
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were demonstrably false on most of the issues critical to the investigation, and thus of little
help, Nevertheless, Galbralth's own words reveal his central importance to the evolution

. Galbraith ide mn?ao__maq.eaﬁm_vaaanci in the

a
as M e with Galbraith in few
jon regarding tbasic's activities.”

him a visit si )
consclousness on Galbraith’s part that being linked to Omerbasic, in light of the other

evidence of his advsice knowledge of or possible participation in the planning of the
yS——
i&ﬁgoﬁﬁ&ﬁ&
n jon oA, 9, 1006, 2t 23-24
(rorcnano Do

2 Select Subcommittes Interview of Patrick Finn, August 18, 1996;
Memorandum of Finn Inferview by Jufia Gaines and Janine Doherty.
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of tha LIS, the Croatians
assuring that the US would nat object™

. ranians, Croatians
The key ko getting the favorable US response nacessary for the |
igﬂﬁxgsn’lﬁd;% amangemertwas Ambassador

* Select Subcommitsee Doc:, Bate Stamp #000001 {Aug. 21, 1996).
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Galbraith, In ight of his sympathy for the Boanian Musiims, his open-minded view lowards
Iran, Zu?riu:igmnouoto&iagoa__aism sak, his desire to make the'
Federation work and his is natural tendency toward action, Galbraith was wiling to
orchestrats a uﬂtﬂﬁgsggxiﬁoi&ual; Confident
Eggsiggagggiisisgg
Croatian asked the right question, and recsived the answer it needed.™

it was on April 28 that Peter recitod the words which gave
iranians‘and Croations the green ight. .

The Question is Posed

By mid-April 1954, Croatian Defense Minister Susak, had apparently prevailed upon
President Tudjman to accept weapons from iran and allow the iranian amms pipefine to
Bosnia 10 pass hrough Crostia. in Sght of what he knew of the mutual antipathy between
iran and the US, aa well aa past reactions by the US fo armms embargo violations, Tudjman
pracaeded cautiously 1o seek tha US posiion with regard 1o such s move. Whether Susak
discussed with Tudjman the sfforts and wilingness of Ambessador Gaibraith 1o amange
for a positive US response on the Irznian amms pipeline is a matter of mere spaculation,
given the refusal of President Tudjman and Susak fo maks themseives avalable to the
Selact Subcommittes for iInterviews. Nevactheless, desplie a division within his own

govemment ragarding the wisdom of working with Iran, President Tudiman decidediopase

the question. How thet question was ssked, how the US developed 3 response, and how
Ambassador Galbraith conveyed thet response, as well as the consequences and the
confusion that fiowed from the decision are discussad in the pages that folliow.

The Croatians Test the Waters

1 mid-Aprl of 1954, the Croatisn officials began agsin 10 axpiore whethar or not the
US Govermment wouk! tolersts or spprove the shipment of lranian arms to Croatia and

18, 1 a meetng with Special Envoy Charles Redman,
Redman that the had come to the
Govemnment aaifier that day, asking for weapons. that Croatia

™ Sea Peges 92-111
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remained “oriented toward peace,” igﬁgﬁgoﬁﬁcmgﬁo for that position.
Tothe US of Mission (DCM) Ronald Neitzke, who was in attendance at the
meeting, a_.saﬁ%moismsooass !:.a appetite for

© reestablis e for anms to Bosnia. He also formed the impression that the

1994, Neitzke teported on this tion to the Department of State by cable.

On April 20, 1994, gﬁssws eadquarters that, in
the wake of Redman's Aprll 18, 1004 visit, the of Croatian circumvention of the

arms embargo had resufaced. He recounted Ambassador Galbraith's conversations with
him in March 1994 about devsloping & covert action 1o let the Croats know the US would
look the other way if arms were 10 transit their territory, stressing that, although he befleved

nawem_ﬁqsn;ooa:uow more speciiic gukiance from the US on this issue. O:@

Galbraith's plan had “disd a deserved death,” thal belief was apparently premature. He .

reported that he had been informsd by Neitzke thal Ambassadors Redman and Gafbraith
were among those discussing “doing an Afghanistan” | ia to a[m the Muslims.
Although uncertain about the seriousriess of such talk, th it out
of an abundance of caution to keep headquarters informed. .

> ._.ia__%_m“ Aprd 21, 1094, ?1 approached by a
was asked what the US position was with respect fo the amms

embargo and the franshipment of arms through oanzm ._.vongg exprossed his

opinich that alowing such transehipments woukd be a bad idea, possibl _onn__:aE

renewed fighting between Bosnian Zcu_.__...u o Croats. ,w._
0 help intgrdict such arms shipments i ¢ e
them.

with Radman on April 18. :oaﬂ!& perhaps
100 gubtie in Fils approach with Redman, and may have wanted 10 agk the US more
formally o stand with Croatia n rejecting the Bosnian approaches. The Croatians, in his

* Depariment of State Cable, Zagrsb 1567, Apr, 10, 1694,

-/ttt >~
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view, clearly intended to sionewall the Bosnians untl they received »
formal clarificatior
United States support for their inclination o refuse, <._.=m cable also informed ﬂ_..on_“

Department of State that Iran 18 loomed ety

Neltzke sought guidance on the u«ﬁ&ﬁ 1 e the fhety source of ame.®
Croatian govemment officials continued to fest the waters on the Iranian ]

tasue. On April 22, 1994, Lieutenant Colonet Richand Herrick, the Defense iﬂﬁ

us mggg.iéggzggignago«

mifitary issues. The meeting was one in a serles of mestings :
discuss matters of mytual mil interest. 4 < et

* Depariment of State Cable, Zagreb 1697, Apr. 21, 1904

9o

* Onhis retum to the Embassy, Hemick reporied this conversation 1o Neitzke. Neltzke
toid him to report the discussion back to Washington, which Hemick promptly did by cable
onMonday, Aprll 25, 1994.% Hacrick showed the cable to Ambassador Galbraith upon the
latter's retum to Zagreb on April 25 or 26.

Shorty thereafter, Galbraith, Netzks, Harrick and 1o discuss
the various Croatian approaches. Galbraith questioned Hemick as to he responded
to Susak as he had, Hermick replied that his response was the US officialy stated policy.
The Ambassador asked Herrick to set up a mesting between the Ambassador and Susak
at which time the same question could be posed. words, he told Hemick 1o get
Susak to ask him the question. exprassed his opinion during the
meeting that anything having to do with Iran wag Traught with danger and id be
avokled, :a:&&?éaagiszﬁaﬁoanﬁsﬁuan&l

On April 27, 1994, Neitzke, Special Envoy Regman and Croatian Foreign Minister
Granic: met in Zagrab 1o discuss the W, s and Federation issues. When
the discussion on these subjecis ended appealed to Neitzke for help in
withstanding Iranian pressure to abow the fransshipment of Iranfan arms {o the Bosnian
Mushims. Neitzke was also informed that Croatian President Franjo Tudjman would ask
Galbraith about the LIS position on this issue st a mesting the following morm
1964, Neitzke remembers Redman being present during this conversation
belleves that he should have heard what was sald.” Nonetheless, Redman has stated in
swom testimony that he was unaware of the Croatian request regarding the tansshipment
of Iranian arms unti} his retum o Zagreb on April 28, 1894.™ On to the Embassy,
Neltzke informed Ambassador Gatbraith of his conversation Galbralth seemed

= .
" #Department of Defonss Catée SR Avr. 25, 52.-@‘
* Herrick Dep. at ﬁ.ﬁI.ﬁ. 28, ﬁﬂ@’
¥ Neitzke Dep. at 60-66.

® Setect Subcommitiee Deposition of Charles Redman, August 27, 1996, at 26-
37 (hereinafter Redman Dep.”).
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unaware that the question was tc be posed to him the next moming, and he acted quickly
to contact Washington for instuctions. Although G il wanted a “nonobjection”
instruction, Neitzke made it clear that he did not agree,

At the close of business on Aprit 27, 1994, Ambassador Gatbralth asked :_ﬁ
o meet with him in the conference room. During that meeting, Galbraith
descritiéd a recent mosting with Susak, In which Susak had made thc case in favor of the

U States' Iranian arms through Croatia. Galbraith told
th that Id raise the arms transshipment issue
again, the US poaition on the arms embargo Jis not fi.” Since that statement was not
consistent with publicly stated US poicy, EIW;& Galbralth if he had
received instructions 1o that effect. The Ambassador responded that the matter was under

review and that "Washington doesn't know what poficy nts a " Without some
sort of confirmation of a reconsideration, eclined, so the
Ambassador told him to gel ask the question of the Ambassador instead.™

The Home Office Fails to Distingulsh itself

As this preliminary sounding out of the US policy was underway in Croatia,
Ambassador.Galbraith was acively lcbbying the Department of State for a response that
would signal to the Croatians that the United States had no objecticn to the proposed
Iranian arms pipefine. Acconding to contemporaneous notes taken by Alexander “Sandy”

Vershbow, then sarving as the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for European .

and Canadian Affairs, Ambassador Galbrafth spoke with him by telephone at the
Department of State on either April 25 or April 26 1o argue his position. Galbraith told
Vershbow that President Tudjman of Croatia would be requesting the UnRed States view
on such shipments at an upcoming meeting, that it was an important matier and he
needed instructions from senior levels in Washington. Galbraith explained that
amagaoggsﬁaag. officials that US policy was to
u UN Security Council resolutions and %o oppose their violation. Ambassador
Galbraith stated that he nseded dear guidance on the President’s policy and warnted
instructions vetted at a high level, such as by the Acting Secretary of State g National
Security Advisor Anthony Lake. He wanted thosa instructions by cable 2k

* Neitzke Dep. at 60-66.

s[aﬁ. 2, 52\@\

" Vershbow Dep. at 11-17; Vershbow Notes.
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and the
unmarked 747 airplanes, the Croatians would take :m:o__ the arms for themselves )

other half would go on to the ma..m_._wmum.
s a "wink and K ]
Wm«“haaoaszm_muahmmﬁuﬂa 10 his scheduled meeting with President Tudjman on the

moming of April 28. . .. .
Vershbow, accepting this deadline, began to regard the issue as urgen!

Accord mmedi A bro=ht the
i this conversafion with Gafbratth, Vershbow brot'C
issue .H.mhwu rm&ﬁﬂi:gﬁnﬂqo:ﬁ.ﬁn Seventh Floo® of the Department, In particular

2¢5§Q#§a§m§.§§§5§=«61§ Secretary Chistopher in the

" \iidle East  On the evening of President Richard Nowon's funardl, Apri 27, 1994, Mr.

lephcne
is Hote! in Cako, Egypt. :o:mamm._ai._.m

Do.._ogco_.wmeo..ﬁmo.._ ton ﬂn_ss_..mgﬁﬁ»:ﬂmg serving as Secretary Q.:.!ou:ana ._ﬁr ssnzos..m
State Depariment. Zgrggag%agﬁoﬁc nny business

l?w!igagnu%oiﬁo%_sngzu.%:gf
twmed out to be about one-third.

» yershbow Dep. at 11-17; Vershbow Notes.
% yershbow Dep. &t 19.
* yarshbow Dep. at 26-30: Vershbow Notas.
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remark, he does not question the accuracy of Vershbow's notes indicating that he made
it™ Tamoff advised Donilon that the issue raised by Ambassador Galbraith was under
consideration, and that there were differing opinions in Washington as to what the
response should be. Tamoff also indicated that he was in contact with Talbott, who was
with the President on Air Force One. Donilon informed Secretary Christopher that the
issue was being discussed back in the United States, and Secretary Christopher exhibited
no memorable response beyond acknowledgment of the information.” -

Later in the day on April 27, as the discussions continued in Washington, Galbraith
called Vershbow, informing him that the meeting with President Tudiman the next morning
would begin at 11:30 a.m. Galbraith said something about having or having had funch with
Defense Minister Susak, and Vershbow surmised that Galbraith may have leamed of
President Tudjman’s planned question during such & lunch. Galbraith also reported in the
conversation that he had haard from the ians that Croatian Prire Minister Valentic
was scheduled %o depart for Iran on April 29

He expressed
concem to Vershbow that using the “no instructions™ policy may not tha right effect,
and that the Croatians might back off from the arms pipeline idea.

Basides speaking with Vershbow, Gatbraith made other efiorls to advocate his
position. He placed a telephons call directly io Undersecretary Tamoff, which was not

retumed.” He also composed and transmitied a cable to the attention of Secretary
Christopher on April 27."

In this Apri 27 cable, Ambassador Galbraith recommended that President Tudjman
be given a "non-responsive” answer that Indirectly signaled that the United States wouldn't
object to the anms shipments. While acknowledging that the major supplier of anms would
be Iran, he argued that a non-response would be better than "no instructions.” He argued

* Select Subcommittes Deposition of Thomas Donilon, Sep. 12, 1996, at 12-16,

I at12-14,
* Vershbow Dep. at 30-33; Vershbow Notes.

* Select Subcommities Deposition of Peler Tamoff, Sep. 13, 1996, at 26
({hareinafter “Tamoff Dep.").

* Department of State Cable, 2agreb 1683, Apr, 27, 1994
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ig' i, it Is better to signal that
“i to Croatia's role a5 a conduit, it
F-Smc_..._v. on Hﬂm "_._W _“,M":Mw_-ﬂm_&a the Valenic visit 1o Iran EEE uawmﬂﬂmnahm _”m__-._”
P waozﬂowa the only thing the lranians wished o discuss i..msn Jalontle wel a5
uom:u...ooan:__% ﬂu for the transhipments of amms. Ironically, he En_moﬂ._z.. het e
caufion” the Croatians on devaloping too close of a relationship 3

in this cable his understanding of Croatian

govem! views i that Croatia wanted to aat with
i the Iranian amms lssue. He judged et

us :M,__._.“_ and www_ooiw:»mnsgncaisncmic:ﬁ :Qwﬂsﬂ.wﬂw wnmu =

oa“wm_:_.“_ioaoox the role of amms uit. He acknowled: rence!

opinion within the Croatian ment,

Ambassador Gatbraith also discussed

n September
Bosnians and Croats that fall- .-
moml dor Gal on
i 26, 1894, Vershbow called Ambassa 00 an
iy :o:.mﬁ_m_w“%%“*o:m line 1o el him 1o convey | to vaa.am_”_ h.w_m_ﬂan_.“ar ol
ope et he (Galbraith) “realty had no instruckons. Galralt wss I it e
caﬂﬁw%zsmgoimouﬁvowﬁ% and that a

i hbow, again advocating a
made. He continued to press his argumenis with <.ma o o

L thoge in

Galbraith ventured a poitical argument for his %Srmn%mﬂi!%oe&

sE.OEa_B_.. whe favored fiting the arms embargo would be u_o, o W e Fect et

Banq action, since it woukd help the Bosnians. Vershbow’ m_oow _.M__ pAba

e o Galbraith said such members of Congress would 'be less hcl 00 "0 S L

ﬁnﬂciﬁ this telephone conversa gﬂ%%ﬂg oapans.

ﬁi.sﬁgm.imig%nﬂoﬂ-uhaﬁi sponee.
Susak's roatial cooperate

giib%g%%ggi%;ng%.iigﬁ
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1 yershbow Dep. at 3336.

04 Vrshbow Dep. at 41-47; Vershbow Notes.
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that cutting off arms flows in 1993 had led 1o war,'®

President Tudjman advised that he US guid
g g because th
govemnment wanted o act in accordance with US poticy, g&maﬂmﬂ __m_,_wﬁmﬁ”
's atti n,

§E§§3§§5§§<§. Tamoft

"™ Vershbow Dep, st 4147,
"% Vershbow Dep. ot 48-56; Vershbow Notes.
wr
Department of State Cable, Zagreb 1721, Apr. 20, 1994,
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and other officials in Washington had not yet reached a decision. Vershbow testified that
he and Tamoff considered only two oplions available for Galbraith’s response: 1) aclear -
statement that the United States abides by the amms embargo and expects others 1o ¢o 8o,
or 2) an indication that the US neither endorses nor approves by continuing to say “no
instructions.™ Althaugh they were concemed that lran would be the principal arms supplier,
they fet ihat having a "neutral stance” was justified in that it opened the arms flow."?
There was no consideration of an option that might have closed the door on Iranlap anms,
but left it open reganding more palatable and less dangerous sources,

. During these discussions, Vershbow did not shara with Tamctt ail of the information
he leamed from Galbraith. He neglscted to -mention that Galbraith had edvance
knowledge of the lranlan intent 10 ship the arms in unmarked 747 aircraft. He also did not
convey that the Croatians would be keeping half of the weapons for themselves.'™

In the midst of this process, Special Envoy Charles Redman telephoned Vershbow
from Bosnia. Vershbow’s contemporaneous notes Indicate that Regman told him that he
(Redman), at the request of Presidant Tudjman, was on his way to Croatia to discuss ams,
fran and other subjects. Redman added that, if he had instructions, he would use them."™
In closed and public testimony, Redman denied that he knew anything about the Tudjman
question regarding the Iranian arms issue prioe o his aimival in Zagreb on Apri 29, 1884.'9
Vershbow's conlemporaneous noles cast doubt on the truthfulness of those
Vershbow was also tokl i that April 28 telephone conversation with Redman
lated that pending contracts with (ran were being up by
." Vershbow recalled no greater detall about that portion of the

The Washingion Decislon

As Redman traveled 1o Zagreb, o¥icials in Washington and en route from the Nixon
funeral apparently amived at a decision on how to respond to the Tudiman question,

¥ Vershbow Dep. at 35-40,

" Tamoft Dep. at 39.

2 Vershbow Dep. 8t 70-72; Vershbow Notes.
2 Radman Dep. at 30-42.

14 Vershbow Dep. at 70-72; Vershbow Noles.
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virtues. To the extent facts and ci nceming th ganes
besn made avatiable, they can be E:za.nwn_.ﬂ:wum mmo@gg the decisor's ' have

As the Acting Sacretary of State
.. ry 3, Peter Tamoff made efforts 1o
I8 o_om_m: Ooaw_w._n__: Sacretary O::a.nﬂ.mwu party in the Middle m”omwu.__n_q“c%..honwh
talking to Donilen, 50 had m.._una ong discussion with Secretary Christopher himself

Berger lold Tamoff that the Pres
ident had mad sgad
mﬁ_”ﬂww: Was to have no instructions.™ Tamoff called ﬁoﬂauﬂﬂ-mwmwsﬁsga! frnerd
frosider w% oﬂoMM.%: and Donilan, in tum, informed Secretary 9§:§ “h
4] ?»gmﬁwagiﬂﬂsoﬁoﬂgswﬁ ._,u:.o&muui_iam
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us Sel oct M:_us B .
(hereinater Taibo; cnv:ssz..v ee Depasition of Strobe Talbot, September 5, 1896, at 45
m .

Betorthe Setala el Cor = oteligencs, 104t Cong, 4 (May 23, 1908)
'Y Temoff Dep. at 8.
" Tamoff Dep. at 8-10.
'™ Tamoff Dep. at 5,

® Tamof Dep. at B-9.
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recollection af teling Vershbow of the President's decision.”” Moreover, Tamoff does not
recall how the “no instructions” guidance was conveyed to Galbralth.'? Vershbow recalls,
however, that between April 28 and Aprit 30 he gave Galbraith the “no instructions® position
three times, and believes that Tamolf probably directed him to make these calls,™

The decision was purportedly taken to President Clinton whils he was aboard Air
Force One retuming from the Nixon funeral in Califomnis. Deputy Secratary Talbott and
National Security Advisor Lake, who were accompanying the President, first discussed the
options privaiely, Talbott also recalls being in touch with Tamoff by telephone from the
plane, It is his recollection that he and Lake concluded that the “no instructions” response
was the best option and shauld be the recommendation to the President. Talbott did not
speak with the President about this malter. Lake then went lo the President's
compartment {o discuss the matler. He retumed shorlly and advised Talbott that the
Prasident approved the "no instructions” option. "™

President Clinton has not publicly acknowledged or claimed that he personally made
the decision to issue the “no lnstructions” guidance to Ambassador Galbraith, In a fetter
datad May 15, 1996 to Senator Jesse Helms of North Carclina, the President characterized
the decision by seying “we chose not to take a position with respect to Croatia’s permitting
arms shipments to Bosnia across its lerrifory. | befieve that my Admin/stration made the
cotrect decision at the time . . . The Select Subcommittee's abdity 1o determine
precisely what was presented 1o the President during his discussion with Lake (and his
responses to such information) has been hindened by the refusal of the White House
Counsef to permil Lake to réspond 10 questions regarding his conversations with the
President, as well as, the refusal of White House counsel 1o permitt Lake's testimony to ba
taken under oath,

The evidence available with respect to the decision making process revaals that the
Preskilent was almost certainly not provided with relevant, highly sensifive, and

™ Tamoff Dep. at 5.

2 Tamof! Dep. ot 32.

3 Vershbow Dep. at 26-30,
™ Talbott Dep. at 31.

%4 etter from President Clinton to Senator Jesse Helms (May 15, 1996)

(emphasis added).
r




discussions Galbraith had prior o April 1994 .

regarding his proposad
quhuw_m“_ﬁw szﬁ:& States would look the o.:n_.w._.mqw if it acted n-_".h__-..s.“nu ooty
bl iy suggested that the Ianians might be used

.u._.n_conco?n:“._.n:_oacov at 22; Select Subcommittes Interview
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I Tamoff Dep. at 1.

'* Sea Chapters 12, 13 and 14.

" "™ Vershbow Dep. at 48-56.

" Lake it at 1; Berger int. at 2.
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arms from entering the Bosnian theatre.’ There is no avidence thal this aspect of the
decision was discussed with or between higher level officials,

Undersecretary Tamofl's recollection indicates that, during the decision-making
process, there was no discussion by officials of the impact of the "ne instructions” solution
upon the United States policy toward Iran,' and there was no consideration that the "no
Instructions” cuidance could send Iran the wrong message about US gttitudes or policy,'®
Vershbow was aware at the time he participated in the discussions that the iranian agenda
was to gain greater influence, promote Islamic fundamentalism and support anti-Westem
aims. The US policy widely understood in the Administration at that time, was to isolate
Iran, economically, miitarily, and politically,"™

Exactly Where We Want to Be

On Apeil 29, 1894, Special Envoy Charles Redman arrived in Zagreb, Croatia to find
Ambassador Galbraith still mpatiently awaiting a response from the Department of State
which he would fesi comfortable conveying to President Tudjman. Redman has testified
that he traveled to Zagreb on that date 1o brief President Tudjman on Contact Group
issues, and had been advised by Galbraith by telephone that he (Redman) needed to be
briefed on sometiving prior to the meeting with President Tudjman. Ambassador Galbraith
provided no details as to the subject matter, out of concem that the telephone call may
have been monfiored by the Croatians.'®

Redman and Galbraith mst at the Ambassador's residence. Redman recalls being
brisfed on the Tudjman question and has testified that he could not see how the
appropriate answer could be anything other than "nc instructions.” It was clear 10 him,
however, that Ambassador Galbraith wanted further instructions from Washington, '™
Ambassador Galbraith asked Defense Attache Richard Herrick, who was present at the

' Vershbow Dep. at 48-56.
12 Tamoft Dep. at 43,

bt "}

4 Vershbow Dep. st 123-131; Tamoff Dep. at 41; Talbott Dep. 27-26.
** Redman Dep. &t 37-46.
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Ambassador's residence that evening, to place a telephone calt to Jenonne Walker of the
National Security Council (NSC) ostensibly to discuss the Council's assistance in getting
a demciition team to Croatia to assist with an ordinance issue. Afler placing the call,
Herrick tumed the telephone over to Ambassador Galbraith, Herrick's recollection of the
remainder of the telephone call is that Ambassador Galbraith spoke with Jenonrie Walker
regarding the miitary demolition team issue and the Iranlan arms question. Hemick recalls
that Redman then spoke with Walker, althcugh he did not overhear that conversation.™

Redman, in his deposition testimony befora the Select Subcommitiee stated that
Galbraith spoke with Walker during that telephone conversation regarcing the Tudjman
question and received the "no instructions” instruction. Redman acknowledges that he
then got on the fine to speak with Walker, but onty about Contact Group lssues.'™

Al the time of the above referenced telephone discussion, Jenonne Walker served
on tha staff of the National Security Councl as the Senior Director for Europe. In the
Spring of 1894, the countries which had constituted the former Yugoslavia (inciuding
Croatia and Besnia) were the responsibiity of the European Directorate.™ In that
capacily, her dufies included a coondinating role, such as chairing interagency committeas,
as well as the preparation of papers on various subjects for the President, reflecting the
positions of the involved agencies.’® Prior to her service in that position, Walker had
served as a CiA analyst, an assistant to ClA Director Wiliam Colby, an assistant o
Secretary of State Henry Kissinges, a member of the Policy Planning Staff during the
Carter Administration and as Director of the Office of UN and European Ams Control
during the second term of the Reagan Administration.’' She left the NSC at the beginning
of July, 1994, to prepara for her current position gs US Ambassador to the Czech Republic.

Galbraith, Redman and Walker have given conflicting statements or tesfimony a8
1o the content of the Aprik 29, 1994 telephone conversation. As noted earfler, Redman has
testified he did not diecuss the Tudiman question with Walker. When Galbraith was talking

*" Herrick Dep. at 24-31.
® Redman Dep. at 3748,

1% gelect Subcommittes Interview of Jenonne Walker, Aug. 21, 1996, 814
(hereinafter “Walker Int.").
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to Walker, Redman could not hear Walker's side of the telephone discussion. Galbralih a_a
Redman, aftes the cails completion, that Walker said that Anthony Lake had given the "no
instructions” Instruction with a smie and raised eyebrows.'”

Galbraith, in describing the content of the telephone conversation, has also stated
that Walker advised him that Lake’s instructions to him were {0 say Em.na_.a had no
Instructions, but that Lake had said this “with raised eyebrows and a smile.

W, s recollection of the telephone conversation with Galbraith and Woaa.m: w
that it ooh.ﬁﬂ after she became aware that Galbraith had received the "no instructions
guidance, and after President Tudjman had first posed the question. She also recalls her
discussion of the Tudjman question to be an *add-on” to a conversation mzo had in @
regular series of conversations with Redman regarding Bosnian issues. Typically in .rn.u...
cails, Redman would discuss his thoughts and observations regarding the Bosnian o_<__
War negotiations and check the "mood music” in Washington, that is, what the policy
makers in Washington were thinking."**

Walker recoflects that Redman informed her during the call from Zagreb that
Galbraith had received instructions from the Department of State which both "surprised and
troubled” Redman and Galbralth. Redman then put Gatbraith on the telephone. Galbraith
told her that State had instructed him to respond to President Tudjman's question m,x.xn
?cw%gggaﬁaa_gﬂsna,om%%?g: Croatia by saying
that the US was going to comply with the arms embargo on Bosnia and that the United
State assumed Croatia would also comply. Galbraith expressed his befief that such &
%iﬁ&%wnﬁﬁaacwuﬂﬁ.nigsﬁg&%ﬂﬁo
vaﬂoauiaﬁﬁsagndmﬁnm&oamg.i

Walker told Galbraith that it was her understanding at the time that Galbraith was
Bauvoznsgdiﬁﬁsn:%s%wéESocmiEEs:ﬁzi?si

2 pedman Dep. at 46-50.

143 pemorandum to the File, rom Ambassador Peter Galbraith, May 6, 1834
{hereinafter “Galbralth Memorandum”).

¥ Walker Int. at 1.
wid
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embargo, but that Galbraith had no instructions as to Croatia.* Given the discrepancy,
she took up the matier with Anthony Lake. Lake told Walker to tell Ambassador Galbraeith
that he woukl be receiving the "no instructions” instruction. Although she has no specific
recollection of passing this information on to Galbraith, Walker doubts that she said that
Lake had smiled and raised his eyebrows when convaying the “no instructions“message
1o her, as that Is not something Lake would do o somathing thet she would say. She also
believes she did not indicate in that conversation that the no instructions matter had been
decided in a meeting with the President, as she was never a party 10 any presidential
discussions on the issue.”” She also does not recall discussing ondinance desmolition
issues with either Redman or Galbeaith.

Following the telephone conversation with Walker, Galbraitn's mood and approach
changed as he and Redman prepared for the dinner meeting scheduled for that evening
with President Tudjman. Ambassador Galbraith rehearsed a number of embellishments
of the simple “no instructions,” and he decided that he would iry to axplain the response
to Tudjman by saying, “Pay sttention to what | don't say as well as what | do say. §am not
saying yes or no.” Redman and Galbraith believed that they could not say “no” because
that response would hurt the Federation, and thet they could not say "yes” because of the
embargo. Galbralth was satisfied with his guidance from Walker and his planned
embellishment as the two of them departed for the Tudjman dinner.*

The dinner mesting on the evening of April 20, 1894 was held at the Presidential
‘Palace in Zagreb. As expected, President Tudjman asked the US pos on the
wanshipment of Iranian and other arms to Sosnia. According to Galbraith,

g

3§345§=.¢§§§.3§§:¢§§?5
before stil stood, Galbraith sakd he had o instructions from Washington on the issue, and
urged gqﬁgsgiggiﬁiig.gggiii

.
“7T Walker Int. at 2.
“* Radman Dep. at 46-50.
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President Tudjman was epparently still, confused. He pulled Redman aside and
asked again. Redman responded by 8=__._m President Tudjman, "It's your decision. We
don't want to be in a position of saying no.""* Folowing this exchange, Presidert Tudjman
seemed satisfied with the answer and as laler events confirm, the Croatian Governmant
concluded that the United States had given its approval to the Iranian arms conduit.
Redman fully expected that, after 725:% what he and Galbraith had said, the Croatians
would go ahead with the arms pipefine.™

] After the meeting and dinner at the Presidential Palace, Galbraith and Redman
discussed whether to report on the conversation by cable. Redman suggested that,
because he was traveling back %o Washington the foflowing day, he could convey the
events orally, in person, ¥ National Security Advisor Lake." One of Redman's objectives
in _m.vo_.:_..n back to the Nationat Security Councll on the events was to make sure that
officials back in Washington understood that the ams pipefine would most probably open.

On his arrival in Washington, Redman met with Lake and brought him up to date on
the Contact Group and the April 29 Tudjman meeting. According to testimony provided to
the Select Subcommiliee by Redman, Lake was not surprised about the meeting and
indicated that he understood the resutts of the exchange. He expressed no reservations
about what had been said, and posed no questions to Redman about it. Lake made it
snasm&iagsﬂgsaggﬂ!gnsﬁguiE&:Eﬁm:
personally decided on the response to Tudiman. Lake also informed Redman that there
was no need ‘o report in writing on the April 28 conversation with Tudjman.'™ Anthany
rn_su when Interviewed by the Sefect Subcommittee, stated that he vaguely recollected
meeting with Redman on this matter. Although Redman has testified that Lake showed
no surprise when toid what Galbraith and Redman said to Tudjman, Lake opined that te
has a memory of vigorously stating to all within earshot within a week of the Nixon funeral
that “no instructions means no instructions.” He offered during his interview that the

* Gaibraith Memorandum.

% Redman Dep. ot 50-56. -
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response may have been made aker Redman toki him about the comments to Tudjman. '™
On or about May 2, 1994, Redman told Ambassador Galbraith by telephene of Lake's”
direction not to report In writing on the issue.'"®

On April 30, 1994, tha day after the dinner meeting with President Tudjman, press
reports indicated that Croatian Prime Minister Valentic and the ian Def Prime
Minister Bukvic had artived in Iren separately on April 29, 1994,

concerned the US did not clearly get its “non-cbjection” al to the Croatians
regarding the iranian arms pipetine, the trip could be canceled.”
e ——— ]

=

On May 1, the Secretary’s Moming Summary mentioned the press reports of more
economic cooperation between Croatia, iran and Bosnia, commenting that this cooperation

would &_.o_..ﬂ&a:ﬁ.o Federation, but also give Iran a greater foothold In the former
Yugoalavia.®

By this time, it was becoming obvious that the response to the Tudjman question
had avoided Galbraith's fears of deraling the Croatia-Iran arms pipeline and the economic

" lakeintat2.

% Galbrsith Memorandum.

™ Vershbow Dep. at 30-33; Vershbow Notes.

' Department of State "Morming Summary,” Apr. 30, 1964,
" Department of State "Moming Summary,” May 1, 1994.
™ Department of State "Moming Summary,” May 2, 1994,

m

deat between those countries. The pipeline was open. In the words of Alexander
Vershbow to Ambassador Galbraith on May 5, 1994, "You and Chuck have taken it exactly
where we want to be.”""'

Mine Shaft Canary

A period of confusion, second thoughts and miscommunication regarding the
wisdom and execution of the “no instructions” instructions began on Monday, May 2, 1994,
As noted earlier, it was on May 2 that Redman informed Ambassador Galbraith that he had
spoken with National Security Advisor Lake and that Lake had said that there was no need
to report in writing on the April 29 meeting with President Tudjman. Both Redman and
Galbraith have stated they believe that Lake was satisfied with the manner in which the “no
instructions” message was conveyed. Ambassador Galbraith expressed through his
actions and words in tha next few days no reluctance to assure that the Iranian arms
pipeline would become eperational.

Also on May 2, or Gajbraith met with the his SEENIWER) 2rd

instructed him to use hi advise the Croatians that it was US policy to
ve no position as to enforcemanT of the UN arms embargo. He explained to the
he and Redman had slready conveyed the "no ctions” ge

to Presidenf Tudjman on instuctions from Washington. The aghed
Ambassador Galbraith if the response given wouki not send the message to the ns
that they could go forward with bringing Yranian weaponuy into the area. Galbraith said that

,iu%snssﬁanzuas.swma.__u:z__an_o%n__smzssnﬁ.o_a?oamﬁ:
know that the United States would look the other way, without actually saying S.ﬁmqu

Disturbed by this unusual and potentially dangerous shift in policy, 50‘

wmgllasked 1o ses the Ambassador's instructions, When Ambassador sekd
instructions came telephonically from the National Security Council,
that he need guidance from his headquarters befoce he coukd use

to convey such a message io the Croatians, since such

a covert action. Gafbral al and “ordered”
to convey the message. Again, to act as direcled,

- -

™ Galbraith Memorandum.

—
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stressing the nead for guidance given the legal and oversight _mm.._au“@nl‘

( jock
. ﬁ ed m..__ ht sul:& tob

th Mﬂﬂnﬁuﬁmmm —— a«-ﬁvﬁ&& thet he was attempting ”...
zoaoﬂo_uo_g gg.gsnﬁasﬁsgazﬁos_auﬁﬂaigﬁﬁs

or o Wt consultis headquarters fist. Gafbraith confinued s argy -
iaﬁn:ﬂg.@ig " had wanted why e

replied with a
1o enforce the UN arms embargo. e

”W.B_nw@ﬂ Mqu_wu“.__..mn_.ﬁ. among them the fact that President _=3nﬂ ”mnoﬂE
in a statement on Aprit 20, 1994. maﬁuﬁmm-ﬁ_&Es ng |

mind, Galbraith ended the conversatior,
i8S informed th
this discussion, Daputy Chisf of Mission Nelizke i
e L e e
Ibraith not to push the “policy line.” Nei
_.._..maumwamaaq -Oumc@s..c in & “Capitel HIl mode,” making policy, cutting deals n:.n H.nﬂ_v%_
oMn_m:n out ahead of Washington on this policy Wu:o..hl., omw.uca_nucmo:_ nﬁuw.nmh”-_ A
eitzke revesl Bsiieuuo_:mx , 1984, mbas

w_mow?oa any 0s.u.__.._..m_.. guldance on ‘ranian amms sue,  Neitzke also n.ﬁaama_. Mn_mo:__,“

understanding that the failure jesue written nstructions had been deliberate for ré:

of establishing denia

Ambassador. With the memcd) cw._..o_azboaﬁcouann%#m«
as a "mine shaft canary,”
30:&645%5223!583&&%2%558%»3.2

i):&n«awao«ﬂw&i!.r&%fg;uoﬂnogsi staff of the
Senate Foreign Relations Commitiee.

continue to refrain from using his influence Croatian poficy towards
embargo busting unless he was specifically cted otherwise. He was further
commended with a “well " and advised that perhaps a telephone call from Woalsey
to Lake was in order. %

On that same date, May 5, 1094,

ised with Ambassador
Galbeaith, ssue of his request 1o u

and invited him 10 send a
ssador indicated that the

him o send a message on the matter to

also met with Neitzke on that
day, and Meitzke fled hism in on his understanding of the events of Aprit 20 at the
Presidential Palace. He related that Galbraith had been told o tell Tudjman that he had
no instructions regarding the en it of Croatian compliance with the arms embargo
and to “smile when he said iL™"** Neitzke added that after tha Ambassador conveyed this
remark, President Tudjman stit missed the point and went for a waik with Redman,
Radman then told Tudiman that the Untied States did rot want to be put in the position of
having to say *“No" on the issue. According to Neitzke's version, all concemed understood

that the arms shipments were 1o come from Middle Eastern countries, principalfy __.E

During that same discussion, Neitzke informed the/RSNESMIR ot & was his
further understanding that Galbraith had been told by the National Security Counci that
reports of the Tudjman discussion were not to be put on paper and that the Ambassador’s
job would be imperilled of forfait if it was., Sensing the imegularity of the sifuation, Neitzke
bad urged the Ambassador 10 write 8 memorandum on the incident for the Ambassador's

asked Neitzke why, # the policy was defensible as a means of helping
Musbms, #t should not be put in writing. Neltzke's understanding, based on

S ————
~——— -
S EEE————
fal-ad— |

. To N 's knowledge, the Ambassador had not yet done so asofMay 5. -
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his conversations with the Ambassador, was thal elther those invoived in the decision had
failed to fully coordinate with their superiors or did rot wish for the incident to be the subject

of coordination with the Department of Defense or CIA. Throughout this May 5 discussion,
Neitzke was very concerned and andous that if any of this information ggtoutto the
nat security community, the "Whits House™ would “have their heads.”

spoke with Jenonne Walker at the NSC. Herrick overheard him asking whether his
response 1o Tudjman was proper policy. He mentioned the rebuke he received from
Vershbow and commented that, as an Ambassador, he worked for the President, not the
Department of State, Galbraith repeated that he had given the Croatlans a wink and a nod
£ ? at the direction of the NSC and that Redman had done a good deal more than that. He

. zﬂﬁ_nmum ﬂ%& for Neitzke's plan to push Galbraith 1o write a memorandum. v asked whether the US was ready to back him and ﬁ onthis issue. Herick also heard

about shal these evenis and concems with other

Galbraith state during the call that the and Herick had reported on the
government Sm:nsﬂi on his May 5 discussions with , and the oc%
Galbraith and Neitzke 1o issue, a re was no guarantes that it would nolg

i ng been advised of the previous manth's unusual events in Zagreb, officials]
mbassador Galbralth began to share the concems of Neitzke m...nT Lﬂsoa not at all certain that Ambassador Galbraith's activities had been prope

He spoke by telephone with Sandy Vershbow at least once, mayba tice on May coordinated of taiking the United $tates amywhere near it wantgd or ought o be. On

5, 1994. Although Vershhow and Galbraith denied during the course of the Select May 5, 1994 eadquarters adyised thefl o continye o resist

Subcommittee’s investigation that Vershbow rebuked, reprimanded or criticized Galbraith Galbraith's request to the use thd L ) arranged

for his nﬂﬁwﬂ In _zm.gu:ﬁ&o:. oﬁ»ﬁ&n. g m»“ﬁ%.u Bﬁa_ﬂﬁq to have R. James Woolsey, Director of Central ifEYigence, raise the in Zagreb with

reaction ISGUESIONS 'ershbow and other als ishes was Secrelary of State Wi Christopher at eti May 5, 199
rbaty chastised for his conduct ™ As late as July of 1994, Galbraith was silll angry aver i ammen Christopheor at a meeting on May

having had his "knuckles rapped” by State and having been called on the carpet for his The conversation at the May 5 meeting has been the subject of slightly conflicting

conduct in giving the "no instructions™ message.™ Galbraith claims that on May 5, he | testimony, &8s have been the recollections of the participants as to the reasons for the

Informed Vershbow of the content of his and Redman's statements 1o Tudjman, and that meating, and the impressions it left. It is undisputed, however, that Woolsey and Deputy

Vershbaw told him that "you and Chuck have taken it exactly where we want to be,” adding Director for Intelligence Doug MacEachin wera present at the meeting for the CIA, and that

ihat "at the highast level we do nol wish to interpose ourselves between the lranians and Secretary Christopher, Deputy Secretary Sirobe Talbolt and Ambassador Phil Wilcox of

the Croatians. Galbraith's later actions that the conversation with Vershbow was the Uﬂﬁﬂ-ﬂ.—-ﬂ:— of State also attended. The recollection of the C1A Uﬂ_.:n.ﬂm_._—h. assisted

not as reassuring a& he now portrays i© by a memorandum for the record the CIA notetaker prapared immediataly ﬂm the

, " , . " is thal Woolsey raised the lssue by describing the re m
Later that evening on May 5, 1994, after a meeting at his with D e e e o oy & urging im0
- Attache Herrick, Neitzke and General George Joulwan ﬁo.::..m:ao?__._.ﬂ:_n_ of the US the Croatian govemment that the US would look the
Mﬂﬁw”umq: %ﬁwﬁuﬁ M.“.wﬂﬁ. asked ﬂ”ﬂﬁx Q_M_S_S _.__nao._usox lo Sh other way from Croatian transshipments of arms from Iran to Bosnia. Woolsey informed
> ghone call. Galbraith gol through the attendaes that he had also given this information to 1 ity Adviscr Lal

Washingion shorlly after midnight, Zagreb Sme. The avalable evidence suggests that he he had siza ghven National Security Adviser §

Secretary Christopher said nothing in response. Talbott replied that he had been

cafled by Deputy National Security Advisor Samuef Berger after Woolsey’s call to Lake.

ag He then informed Woolsey of the stuation in Zagreb from the parspactive of the

Isu1 "7 Herrick Dep. un.%"Iz. ay 9, 1994, @1
%l _ ~ s 5. 1954

" Galbraith Memorandum. 77 CIA Document, Memo for the Record by Douglas MacEachin, May 5, 1984,
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Department of State. Talbott said that Galbraith had beer: told twice (once before his
meeting with Tudjman and cnce after) that he had “no instrections” as to Tudjman’s
question, After his first mesting with Tudjman, Galbraith contacted the Depariment of State
and requested more in the way of instructions, seeking something on the order of an
“amber light.” Talbott indicated fo the attendaes that Gatbraith had been told "rather tartly”
that he should slick to his "no instructions” statement with nothing more. Ha had been toid
that he was not to hint at having any "wiggle room.” Talbo# further commented that
Galbraith was apparentty not absorbing the meseage and would be informed again so he
could not misundersiand. Woolsey was not informed of any change in United States poficy
acanm__.ma 5.@3 meeting, and left with the impression that no such policy change had
occurred.

Talbott recalls the conversation essentially as does Woolsey, and has testified
publicly that, in s view, the “no instructions™ message to Ambassador Galbraith had not
been a "change in policy,” hence there was no discussion of such a change at the awmﬁ_m.
He did not at the time appreciate the “disconnsct” In his communications with Woolsey.'

Doug MacEachin, who served as the CIA notetaker at the meeting described the
discussion in these ferms:

[Olur Ambassador is asking oslu take an active step to
permit an arms shipment that we — that | goto meetings on, that we are
supposed to be against. What's going on here? . . . and that's the way |

heard Woolsey present it, saying you know, is your ambasaador being too
ambitious, or has there been a change? And Tatbott said . . . I've checked
everything that ha has been told and t's unambiguous. He has been told 'no -
instructions,” he is not to indicate any wiggle room . . . . He apparently hasn't
gotten the message and we ars going to give him the message Bw&

Hajone tha Senaie Seuct L omm _:v.n‘ Lin 1 g
1096} (Testimony of Strobe Tabot).
" Select Subcormmitiea Daposition of Douglas MacEachin, Sept. 6, 1996, at 66.

The events at the May 5, 1984 Woolsey-Talbolt meeting were conveyed to the
l 8, 1904. He_was further adviseg that thera had
" been no change in IJS policy, and th would advise th
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When leaving the meeting, Ambassador Wilcox stated that Ambassador Galbraith was {or
was going to be) in trouble with his ‘boss. ™'

also commended I
and for having kept headquanters well-advised of events. 03

In Zagreb, the Woolsey-Talbott meeting had an unsetffing impact on Ambassador
Galbraith and Deputy Chief of Mission Neitzke. On May 8, 1994, Deputy Secretary Talbott
spoke with Galbraith by telephone. Three versions of this telephone conversation have
been given during the course of this investigation. Gafbraith set forth one version of the
conversation i an almost contemporaneous written memorandum he prepared on May 6,
15984 Talbolt testified regarding the conversation, both publicly and in closed session.
Moreover, contemporaneous notes taken by Sandy Vershbow of a conversation between
Talboit and Vershbaw contain anothes version of the Talbott-Galbraith discussion."™ From
the aforementioned sources, it appears that the substance of the conversation between
Talbott and Galbraith was as folows.

Mr. Talbott, after his meeting with Woolsey, had a concem that "something more
than and other than no instructions was being transmitted.”'* As a result of the uncertainty
over the policy, he had & concem that the right gignal had not been sent to the Croatians.
E%gggzgmssﬁw&ggg. During the
discussion, Gatbraith informed Talbolt of the instructions he had received from Jenonne
Walker, and the remark about Tory Lake smiling and raising his eyebrow. Talbott informed
him that his Instructions on the Tudjman question had been “no instructions® and that the

. W id at19.

w Dep. 41 Lu\&
" Galbraith Memorandumm.

w5 \ershbow Dep. at 73-81; Vershbow Notes.
" Tathott Dep. at 14.
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Administration did not want word 1 get out that the US had given "a green or amber fight"
1o the Croatians. Gaibraith recounted exactly what he and Redman had said to President
Tudjman on the issue, and explained that anything short of a statement that the Croatians
shoukd not faciftate the Iranian arms flow would be undarstood as a “green light™ from the
United States.™ He informed Talbolt that the Croatians, if comered, would put out the
vrard that we had given a green light, especially since the arms traffic would be picked up
by NATO and UNPROFOR. Galbraith also noted that the Croatians would view this new
statemant of position in the context of the interception of the 1992 Iran Air shipment and
the seizure of a Croatian vesse! smuggling arms just 2 few weeks earlier.™

Ambassador Galbraith recafts Talbott stating in the telephone conversation that the
United States wanied to do nothing that would undermine the “fragile” Muslim-Croat
Federatlon, but it also did not want to be seen as urdermining the ams embargo. Talbott
told Galbraith that he was doing an sxceflent job, and that he had carried the messages
on the issue with great skill given the confusion in Washington. Talbott opined that the
*home office had not distinguished itself.” Talbolt was also curious as to whether the
United States could "waik this situation back." By this staternent, Talbott now claims that
he meant “walking it back would mean make sure that the Croatians aren't raading more
into this than we are saying.™* Galbraith replied that to do so would be aimost impossible
unless the US wanted to cut off the flow of arms. When Galbraith said that he had bean
totd not to report on the Tudjman exchange and asked if Talbott wanted a written report,
Talbott said, “Yes,” but he shoukd not send one unless contacted by Vershbow or Assistant
Secretary Oxman,'™

Ambas Galbraith, troul by his telephone Tal
approached that same date. He asked
what “ he had shared wil the kanlan arms
replied that he had reported Galbraith’s request that he use

. T The notes and testimony of Sandy Vershbow indicate that when Mr. Talbott
recounted his conversation with Galbraith to Mr. Vershbow, he described Galbraith's
remark to President Tudjman 2s “no instructions, yst we don't want to interpose
ourselves, o call attention to what | didnt say.” Vershbow Dep. at 73-81.

1" Galbraith Memorandum.
1% Taibott Dep. at 25-30; Galbwaith Memorandum.
™ Galbraith Memorandum.
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to convey the "no instructions” message. Ambassador Galbraith was very curious abo
3 ut
the _m_..oﬂmnh cumm. m_:n_ any knowledge that the had mw.oﬁ the May 5
mesting between Ta bott and Woolsey. ‘Gaibraith stated that Talbott had ggntacled him °
to tefl him g Eoo_mm< stated that he thought, based on _._._._
the “high sign” for the Iranian arms pipeline was given by Galbraith and Redman. The
o w._u_‘.an Euh._...m_ told his headquarters about the "no instructions” message

, in'combination with intelligence available, it amounted to a "go-ahead.” Galbrai
acknowledged the truth of this statement. 5, go-ahes albrakh

The, reminded Ambassador Galbraith that this confusion was part
ms the dangey shing an uncoordinated policy fine and the consequence of not
informing they what was going on. He brought {o the attention of the Ambassador
a _doma tasking request from the Department of Defense on May 5 seeking information
on Iranian arms shipments into Bosnia and what could be done 1o stop them.™ The

readily agreed, noting that the Defense

as to this lssue.

The two discussed the fact that foreign allied intelligence sources were taki
an m_.:a..omn in the Iranian-Croat deal, and the) predicted that any anow__._.m
foreign intefligence sarvice would be able to “walk this issie back,” given the unreliability
of the players. Ambassador Galbraith venturgg his opini this issue was not as

serious a ratter politically as lran-Contra. red that, if this were
8o, why _.En.:o i_.Em: instructions been He rurged Galbraith to
a menmx of his sations about his instructions, for his own protection )

Ambassador Galbraith took to heart the advice of Neitzke and
On May 6, 1994 he created a written memorandum for record, setting is version
the discussions with President Tudjman, NSC officials, Staté Department officials and
Redman. His secretary, Charlotte Stottman, typed the memorandum, and it was signed

“l .
aﬂ.@l

e ,
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and daled by Galbraith, and by Neilzke, as a witness.'® After the document was signed
in front of Stottman, she sealed it in an envelope and locked | in the Ambassador's safe,
The Ambassador told Stottman that the memorandum was for his own protection because
of events which had taken place whare he had received instructions over the telephone
from Washington. The memorandum would serve as his proof of the events which
occurred, The memorandum remained in the safe untit Ceptain David Wasley, working for
the President's Injglligence Oversight Board, asked {0 have ft read to him In the winter of
1994-1995, "%,

“Hunker Down"”

May 6, 1994 was also a day of worry and second thoughts about the Iranian green
light in Washington, D.C. Deputy Secretary Talbott and Vershbow discussed Talbotl's
conversation with Ambassador Galbraith. Talbott recounted his directive to Galbratth to
“walk it back " if he could to "no instructions™ only. He pointed out that Galbraith had
raceived mixed sig hearing both that Washington had not made a decision and that
he had no instructions. Talbott worried that the US needed to “get the right signal on the

recond,” but that it might be too difficult to do so, In evaluating the available courses of  *

action, Talbott stated that perhaps they would have to "hunker down”™ and let things stay
as they were, Talbott lold Vershbow that he had decided that, if anything were put in
writing, there should be only one copy. Talbott feared that pubtic disclosure of what had
happened would create serious difficulty with the United States' allies.'’

On May 6 or May 7, Talbott and Vershbow discussed the rapidly growing concerns
at the National Security Councll about the “no instructions™ events. Talbott reported that
he had met with Deputy National Security Advisor Berger, Berger, on the subject of the
“no instructions” events, staled that he Eocmz_ it would be "dynamite to do a record,”
meaning that there shoukd be no paper trail.'™ In his remarks to Vershbow, Talbott also

* Galbraith Memcrandum.

™ Stottman Dep. at 26.

7 Vershibow Dep. a1 73-81; Vershbow Notes.

1 \arshbow Dep. a1 92-94; Varshbow Notes. When interviewed by the Select
Subcommittee Staff, Mr. Berger did not specifically recall making this remark, but

speculated that if he gaid it,  may have been in reference to potentia! damage to
relations with our alles, Berger Int. at 2.
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made reference to Jenonne Walker's being disciplined.'™ Although Walker, when
Interviewed by the Select Subcommities Staff, denjed having been disciplined or criticized
by any of her superiors at the NSC, she did reveal that when she approached Berger with
8 request from Ambassador Galbralth that he receive his Instructions in writing, Berger
replied with words to the effect of "Dammit, Jencnne! Shut up! He is not going to get his
instruction in writing, he has his instructions.”™ Conlrary to later public and private
contentions that the, Iranfan green fight poficy was a sound and well executed, the doubts
and near panic regarding #s wisdom and impact were very much in evidence in May 1584.

- The was also growing in Zagreb. On May 6 or May 7, Neitzk with
bout his concems over recent events, Nefzke told
that Galbraith talked {o Talbolt on May § and that the Washinglon o s wore

denying that they ever intended 1o indicate acquiescence to the lrantan-Croatian de=lings.
They also reportedly could not befieve that the Croatians so indiscreetly allowed 36 many
Iranian deliveries so quickly. Neitzke felt thal the Ambassador was worried about being
tmade a scapegoat for the green fight decision. Gaibral nt a good portion of May 6
on the secure phone with Redman and Washington

the next weel ay 12, 1694, Ambassador Galbralth sought sm\r

view on the understanding of the US on lranian_ams
transhipfnents. He was Interested in anything that .
know about the discussions between Woolsey and Lake on the issue.

advised Galbraith thet he had heard nothing new. Galbraith also stated that he had
received a phone call from a reporter regarding Jranian arms cn May 11,
responded with a “no comment."®™® On that same day, Neitzke told
fhat Galbraith had recelved an apology from the NSC for being left out on a limb, and
policy was, indeed, the wink and nod approach.™ Defense Attache Herrick siso advised

that he had

™™ Vershbow Dep. st 52-84; Vershbow Notes. In his depesition testimony,
Vershbow indicatad that pethaps Jenonne Walker had been discipiined for conveying
the position to Galbralth and har remarks about the smie and raised eyebrows. - Walker

DY wam .o
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91& he was receiving numerous calls from the Department of Defensa
on franlan arfis issue, and that the Department of Defense was in the dark, wondering
what was going on.® From the vantage point of Zagreb, there appeared to be confusion

mao:n._._oamuwaamsﬁmzimmzaa”o:o_._nzmmzniuo_ms..man_m ?mlzso
Embassy that Washington might disavow the Ambassador's ma_.ie&

The Iranians and Croatians had wasted little time in tuming on the arms pipeline.
As the Embassy Zagreb Public Affairs officer would later

presenca of lranian amms flights was Quite “provocative, ™™

Western joumnalists noted the sudden appearance of Iranian aircraft in Croatia. "
On May 25, afier seeing one newspaper story in the Washington Post concerning Iranian
arms shipment to Croatia, Fred Baron, a US Representative to the UN Security Coundil
Committes Established Pursuant to Resolution 724 (1981) Conceming Yugoslavia,
suggested at a meeting of the Committee that the Committee should look into the alleged

o>

“ Hovanec Dep. at 22.

=

estify, the sudden and open

123

violations of the arms embargo by Iran.?? Clearly the US representatives serving on
varioug UN bodies concemned with arms embargo issues were not advised of the iranian
green light policy. Fortunately in light of the potential for embamrassment, Secretary Ngobi
of the Committee adviged that he had already sent letters to the Governments of Croatia
and Bosnia asking them to investigate the story, as well as a letler ..nn:am.__.m a response
from Iran. The US was spared the ordeal of being exposed as a hypocrite.”

A UN Sanctions Commitiee team traveled to Zagreb in May 1994 10 investigats the
delivery of Iranian anns through Croatia. The British had expressed concern about these
anms rgo violations. In late May of 1994, Ambassador Galbraith informed

ﬁ:ﬁ the investigation had been inconclusive.™ #t is readily appargpt that
Galbedith had not gone out of his way 1o agsist the visiting UN investigators

In addition to the CIA and the United Nations, the Depanment of Defense, then
involved in the interdiction of arms embargo violators, was not informed of the US tolerance
or complicity in the Iranian arms pipsline, let alone the iranian green kght policy decision.
As of May 5, 1994, tha Secrelary of Defense had requested thal the CIA provide
information relative 10 the clandestine arms shipments to the Bosnian Muslims.™* As noted
earfier, as of May 12, 1994, Defense Altache Hemrick was also receiving inquiries from the
Department of Defense Iranian arms shipments.™

Department of Defense interest in the issue reached a do on approximately
_smxau.._mmx.Oszsgoonm.va:nvwrzmmann.n.q_zimaz:upo?nﬁ_u&m:nm

(1891), at 11-12.

7 A meeting of cabinet level naticnal security officials, usually consisting of at
least the Secretaries of State and Defense, the National Security Advisor and,
frequently, the DCI.
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Aftache’s Office in Zagreb was contacted with frantic calls from the Pentagon seeking
infermation on the iranian ams fiow foruse in briefing Secretary William Perry. As Herrick

was al from the Embassy at the time, his a nt sought advice on how to respond
from the Th X
Ambassador Galbraith asked th

commenied that the Depatment of Defense shouid get "on board,” and ad
covered on the issue, as he was foliowing instructions from the White House, ™" Neitzke,
upon feaming of the Pentagon inquiries, expressed his desire to talk to Herrick before he
communicated anything back to the Pentagon.”™ Evidence further suggests that upon
Herrick's retum to the Embassy, Galbraith told him not to respond to Inquiries from

Emm_....S_S:o:s._m__m m.:.ﬁﬁu:mumﬁ_..nimazomm_ouaamo_.iw__ﬁm:nm-muoam
already available, )

The suspicions of the Ambassador, EcImR_ Neitzke that the
Department of Defense had not been advised of ___5 Iranian green light policy, provoked
anxious discussion on July 21, 1994 regal linent visit to Croatia by Secretary
Perry. Ambassador Galbraith asked th er or not Croatian Prime
Minister Valentic (a significant figure i relationship) should be invited fo

have lunch with Secretary Perry. entured his opinion that to do so
could create an awkward stuation I, , Secretary Pemy had not been
informed of the Iranlar: green lightno instructions decision. The Amb dor wanted to

discuss the matter further in the Secure Conference room at the Embassy. in that
discussion, Galbraith stated that he was tired of the CIA and Depariment of Defense

funning a separate foreign policy from that of the Depa of State, SC and
“probably” that of the President on the lranian amms issue. iwsz
with Galbraith and pointed out that the Director of Central Intelligence had been

toid by the Department of State that the "wink and nod” was not US policy,®]

Gatbraith asked thel SRS whethe he thought Secretary Pemy migh raise
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the lranian arms lssua. The said that he could not speak for the Secretary
of Defense and opined that raith was probably better placed to guess what might have
been happening back in Washiegton, Galbraith responded that he thought he knew what
went on, and that he, in any event, had acted on instructions. The discussion then tumed
to the subject of the ‘Ambassador's concern that Croatlan Defense Minister Susak might
raise the issue with Secrelary Perry, and how Sysak might rgact if the Secretary told him

’ Iﬁ:ox:mnzsaaw_iﬂaosﬁow.&m when asked if there was “angst” at the Departrment

of Dafense over the issue and whether Galbraith should raise it with Secretary Pemry.
Herrick replied that the Javel of concem at the Depariment varied. Herrick also advised

mumm...mnmm_?uwsiEm_uacasz_._mmn-mg_uas..smsmamsw;aﬁ!ouo::v
*Pandora's mox§ )

Unbeknownst to the participants in this meeting, Secretary Perry had already fiipped
open the proverbial lid on Pandora's Box, only to have it slammed shut by Anthony Lake.
In June of 1994, Secretary Perry met with Lake, asking for clarification regarding why the
US had not taken action to biock the Iranian arms shipments to Croatia. According to 2
Department of Defense official, |.ake repfied that he was tired of hearing about the issue
and that the shipments would be penmitied to continue. Secretary Perry was upset about
the situation and Lake's respcnse. ™

Others in high positions at the Depariment of Defense were aiso in the dark about
the green light. From April 1994 to June 1696, General Wesley Clark served as the J-5,
that is, as Director of Strategic Plans and Poficy on the Joint Stalf at the Penfagon. As the
&5, General Clark was the staff officer who advised the Chairman of the Joint Chiefg of
Staff on US mifltary policies worldwide. In April and May of 1994, General Clark was
neither consulted nor informed of the Iranian green light decision. Although aware in May
of 1994 that thera was an inftux of arms into Bosnia, he did not know the reason for it or
that the US was invoived with & His understanding was that US poficy was 1o enforce the
czaq_.a!&n_ﬁ and he regularty saw teporis indicating that the embargo was, In fact,
being enforced.

=5l L™ -
R e——— T

 Select Subcommittee Deposition of General Wesley Clark, Sept. 4, 1696, at
38 ’
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Ag the summer of 1994 on, it more and more apparent to Ambassador
Galbraith, Mr. Neitzke and the list of those unaware of the lranian
green light was lengthy and troubling. Through all of Galbraith's display of bravado, he and
Neitzke became increasingly dismayed at the prospect of being hung out to dry if and
when the misguided decision was exposed. Throughqut the summer, Galbraith probed
visitors and officials for information on the f»c@

nt meeting with th

Galbralth , without success, to get an acknowledgment of CLA knwvolvement in the
Iranian arms situation. On that same date, Neitzke spoke with bout
his perception that Galbraith was sitting on “the homns of a dilemma.” Naitzke was
concerned that, because Galbraith was without written instructions, Washington would
hang him out to dry. He speculated that Cha edman and ne Walker would be
in the same unpleasant predicament.™ ﬂ::m[%ﬁo&.mﬁn it appeared
possible that the instructions had been an NSC directive without the tate’s
knowledge and that no one at State was willing to stand up for Gaibraith

Ambgssador Galbraith's search for clues about the Washington scens continued on
1 Galbrath questioned a visiing team of intelligence analysts from the Balkan
‘ask Force regarding their knowledge of the franian arms issue. He specifically asked if
thay had seen anything to indicate that there was a US govemment connection to the

_aaﬂ:maﬁ ...:un:m.«.a.m_.@%oaon_:m_sﬁw:mn_:Quooamzwc..,:nuaa_._zzoo:
a US role.”®

Later in July of 1984, Deputy Chief of Mission Neitzke vi
return to Zagreb, he met with Ambassador Galbraith and the
purpose of receiving an inteligence report on the latest lranian ams deliveries
Neitzke shared his observations on what various Washington officials knew about the
dacision 10 look the other way with regard to the Iranian ams shipments, Nefizke
expressed his clear impression that the Department of Dafense and the ClA had no

= I ————

12T

knowledge of the policy on the Iranian arms. He was even doubtful whether the State
Department was on board, declaring, "You could not find two pecple at State who have the
same idea as o our policy in the region much less on lranian arms.™

Neltzke continued in this vein, siating that it was his understanding that the issue
of whether Iranian weapons deliveries to Croatia should be tacitly allowed had been raised
by Secretary Christopher with Anthony Lake. Neltzke had heard that Christopher was
equivocal on the issue and fold Lake that he might go along #f nothing was put in writing.
Upon hearing this, Galbralth remarkex! that the scenario didn't explain why he had his
“knuckies rapped” by the State Department on this issue. Neltzke responded that there
was inconsistent knowledge of the poficy at the Stale Department and that Deputy
Secretary Talbott is clearly not completely “in the loop.” Galbraith continued to obsess
about the reprimand he received in May. He maintained that despite Neitzke's analysis he
couldn’t understand being called on the carpet. Neitzke agreed that the reprimand was
difficult to explain since Jenonne Walker had told Galbralth and Neitzke that Lake __n.n
cleared the policy with the President. Neltzke further commented that Charles Redman's
“key” role in the lranian arms issue was not widely recognized in Washington.™

By August 2, 1894, Neitzke's thinking on the Iranian Green Light events ai (-]
implications therecf had evolved o & sense of dread. He sought information from

gﬂa?sﬁisaﬂsga%aoamnsszg the
disiflusion with the fiightaning growth of iranian presence in Croatia and the

strange lack of appreciation for the consequences of the decision in Washington led him
to serlously consider sending a “dissent cable™ on the issue.™ He was, in many respects,
a wormied man. As events woukd he was not alone. He socon had plenty of

company In Washington and n!gﬁ‘ ,

“Walk it Back”

There is substantial evidence indicating that beginning within weeks, if not days, of
Galbraith's response o President Tudjman US govemment officials began to have second
thoughts about tha decision to signal a green light to the Iranian arms shipments. Other
officials, unaware of Galbralth's meponse or that the US had been consulted on the issue,




128

noticed the flow of Iranian amns and personnel, and were ready to shut it down. Between
early May 1994 and the effective date of the Nunn-Mitchel! legisiation in November 1994,
the Administration had severai opportunities to halt or mitigate the Iranian arms flow and .
failed to take advantage of them. By September 1984, some leaders of the Bosnlan
Muslims, the very people that the Clinton Administration hoped to assist through the Iranian
arms pipeline, asked US officials to find a way to arm them that did not invoive the lranians.
The Administration did nothing. though, to staunch the growth of Iranian infiuence.

Information regarding the Iranian arms shipments and the consequences of these
shipments was frequently included in the Secretary’s Moming Summary prepared by the
Bureau of Intelligence and Analysis (INR) at the Depariment of State. When the pipeline
opened, the Moming Summary for May 14, 1994 commented that, "Though there seems
iittle doubst that reguiar arms-supply flights to Croatia are under way, itis not clear how long
they can be kept from i blic knowledge or prompting reaction from the
international community.™™

On the eve of an imj nt Prircipals Mesting on May
20, the Secretary's Moming Summary repartad that;

The Croatians are serving as hustiing middlemen in a long-term arms-supply
operation that gives Croatia a stake in the ongoing Bosnian conflict,
encourages closer Croatian-iranian ties, and provides an incentive %o sneer
at sanctiong.™

Against this backdrop, a Principals’ Meeting was conducted on or about May 20,

22 Secretary’s Momning Summary, May 14, 1994.
# Secretary's Moming Summary, May 10, 1984,
3 Secretary’s Morning Summary, May 20, 1994.
i,
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1994, A “pre-briel* meeting was held beforehand, attended by Secretary Christopher,
Charles Redman, and Tom Denllon. Christopher expressed concern about the “winking
and nodding” that had gone on (or was geing on) regarding the flow of arms from Iran to
Bosnia, and the participants discussed the pros and cons of the matter.”™ The issue of the
Iranian arms shipments to Croatia and Bosnia did come up at the Principals’ Meeting.
Some participants argued that the US should go 1o the Croatian government and tell tham
to stop the Iranian shipmenis.® To the recollection of Anthony Lake, present at the
meeting, no one discussed the "no instructions” decision. ™ The contemporaneous notes
of Jenonne Walker reflect that someone {the NSC has refused to disciose to the
Subcommittee the person’s identity) said that the President knew that the arms flow was
happening and that the US was not taking any position with respect to t.** Lake recalls
informing the other participants that 1o take action on the Iranian arms shipments would
require taking the issue to the President. No one suggested that the mattar be - iewed
with President Clinton.2®

As of May 24, 1994, the interest of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in shuiling down the
Iranian arms flights was strong. Colonel Donald K. Herrick, assigned to the NSC, reported
to Jenonne Walker on that date that during a “Bosnia teleconference” the Joint Staff
suggested that something be done aboul the iranian amns fiights taking place. He
informed Walker that he fold the Joint Chiefs that the US would probably not push the
issue at the time. ™'

% Notes of Pre-Brief Session for the Secretary of State Regarding the May 20,
1884 PC Meeting on Bosnia, prepared by John Hannah and maintained by the NSC.
The NSC refuses to permit the Select Subcommittee staff 1o view the aforementioned
documant and others cited in this paragraph, and this cursory information was oblained
from an oral “briefing” by a fow level NSC staffer to Chairman Hyde and Congressman
Hastings.

= Notes of Nancy Soderberg, May 20, 1994, maintained by NSC.
) ake Int at 4.

X Notes of Jenonne Walker, May 20, 1984, maintained at NSC (hereinafier
Walker Notes).

04 ake int. at 4; Walker Notes.
1 Memo for Jenonne Walker from Don Kerrick, May 24, 1094,
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Great Britain was alarmed about the Iranian arms shipments in May 1994 and was
willing to join the US in taking action to intercept or halt such shipments. The British
concem with the Iranian arms deliveries was entirely reasonable, given the significant
number of British soldiers on the ground in war-torn Bosnia as part of UNPROFOR.?? The
British wera very inferested in keeping even small arms from reaching the warring factions
in Bosnia, as those weapons were the source of numerous British and French casualties **
An American soldier serving with UNPROFOR, Lisutenant Colone! John Sray, shared the
British alarm. As the S-2 (Intefligence) officer assigned to UNPROFOR Commander
General Michael Rose's slaff, Colone! Sray was well placed to observe the effects of the
franian arms pipeline in increasing the fighting. 2

Christopher, care of the Evacutive Assistant to the Secretary of State. In that tettag#

recounted the fact that before the Croatians agreed to allow the iranian shipment several

" 2 Select Subcommitiee Deposition of LTC. John Sray, August 29, 1996, at 7.
fad " %
*d at4-5.

!rc.ﬁ_.ag_—.ow:mw:ma&g.ﬁea mx&o:aﬁ%ﬂﬁeﬁ Secretary of
State, May 27, 1004, .

!.:—ui&mo:!o:ﬁaa:a.aﬂ:_zz._.og._.omg..omcﬂasqs.n:u_..
Christopher, May 31, 1894, .

Cn May 27, 1994 the British embassy in Washington sent a letier to Secretggy .
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of their officlals asked for the US reaction to the proposal, and observed that “the Croats
surely now think we approved of the arms deal as long as it remained plausibly
no:_nzo.éﬁ&!

On June 3, 1894, James Bevan, the First Secretary &l the British Embassy in
Washington, also informed Colonel Kerrick of the NSC of Forsign Minister Hurd's intention
o ralse the Issue of the Iranian arms shipments to Bosnia with Secretary Christopher,
Bevan expressed concem because tha British did not want to see Iran gain the irfluance
and access in Bosnia which would create a hostile Muslim nation, and because the lranian
armms placed Briiish soldiers in danger, Moreover, the British worried that the West and the
US would lose credibility as far as enforcement of UN Security Counch resolutions was
concermned if the arms were allowed to flow. He alerted Kerrick to the fact that the British
intended to ask the US to join with them in pressing Croatia to stop the shipments,
Significantly, Bevan indicated that the British were willing to consider the lifling of the arms
embargo (a litting which the British has previously opposed) if the peace process was
unsuccessful * Ganeral Kerrick's memorandum reflects that & was intended to be passed
on to Anthony Lake and Sandy Berger.™®

The Select Subcommitiee has been provided with no information regarding whether
or not Secretary Christopher discussed ffie Jranian amms fiow with Foreign Secretary Hurd.
1t can be inferred from subsequent events that the Clinton Administration was not candid
with the British on this issue, a8 the Brilish continued to press the United States to take
action regarding the iranian arms pipefine. In eardy July of 1984, Kermick received a cable
which emphasized the Briish “fear” of “creeping fundamentalism™ n Bosnla stemming from
the Iranian influence. Kemick passed this cable on to Vershbow, who had left the
Department of State at the end of June 1934 and assumed Jenonne Walker's position at
the NSC. Vershbow recalls taking no action as to the British concems and doesn't beligve
the m_.mw__ﬂao:imm_._& at a high enough level for the US lo consider reacting to their
CONCems.

>

% pMemorandum from Don Kerrick regarding "British to raise Iranian ams
shipments to Bosnia,” June 3, 1984,

2 Memorandum from Colonel Don Kerrick to Alexander Vershbow, July 6, 1094
regarding "Iran’s amms in Bosnia™; Select Subcommittee Interview of Alexander
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unaware of the lranian Green Light, and was under the impression throughout 1994 that
the US policy was to respect the UN arms embargo and expect other countries to do so
as well.™ Given the potential for Serb retaliztion against American interests or personnel
if the Serbs regarded the US as co-beligerents with the Croatians or Bosnians, this
secraty, bom of fear of embarrassment or detection was reckless.

Opportunities to “walk it back,” that is, to dilute or eliminate iranian influence
continued to present thamselves to US officials. The Croatians and the Bosnilans both
expressed concems and about tha dominant role played by the Iranians as
the main supplier gf weaponry.

in August of 1994, General Wesley Clark visited Bosnia on behalf of the US Joint
Chiefs of Staff to dotermine Bosnian military needs if the UN arms embargo were lifted.
During the course of a seres of discussions with Bosnian officials, General Clark met with

In addition 1o the risks to intefligence activity, the Clinton Administration’s efforts to Bosnian Prasident Izetbegovic and Bosnian Prime Minister Slajdzic. Izetbegovic asked
keep the green iight policy secret resulted in US government officials in the region, who Clark whether the US would "covertly assist” the Bosnians by authorizing Slovenia to
had and overriding “need to know,” being keptignorant. The LS Ambassador to Serbia ralease two thousand tons of weaporky the Slovenians were detaining. General Clark
was not informed of the decision, nor was the US Ambassador to Bosnia, the very country stated that he would pass on the Bosnian request to his superiors. He did so, informing
to which the arms were being funneled. ™ Morsover, the US Ambassador 1o NATO was General Shallkashvilll. Shalikashwvillli dicected General Clark 1o take the matter to Deputy

National Security Advisor Berger at the White House, General Clark met with Bemger

. personally and put nothing in writing about the request. Although Genera! Clark was never

Vershbow, September 24, 1996. specifically advised of the US response, he later saw a lefter from Sven Alkalsi, the
- mw Bosnian Ambassador to the United States which led him to belleve that the US had denied

4a

8 Hunter Dep. at 5-8.
ai.@l
% Select Subcommities Uoro!eo:. ion of Rudolf V. Perina, . s -
i Dop. ot " Aug. 26, 1996 n—w.. II ® Y‘

~ ———
e
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the Bosnian request™ Berger, when questioned by the Select Subcommittee staff

regarding the Bosnian request for Sloveni
ulimate disposition,™ nian arms, had no recollection of the request or its

Bosnian and Croatian interest in obtaining weapons from sources oth,

and stememing tha growth of Iranian influence in the au_u%n: continued into the N._soaw__,m_ﬁ
Mooo_.n__:a to Ambassador Galbraith, Defense Minister Susak informed him at lunch on

eptember 5, 1994 that he prefemed a covert program for providing arms to Croatia and
Bosnla to & Kfting of the UN arms embargo. Moreover, Susak contended that he knew of
other countries that were willing to help if the US would provide "a signal.” Galbraith dlaims
ta have pointed out that the US could nelther violate the anms embargo nor actively
cooperate in is violation, At the same time he believed Susak undersiood the US would
not actively stop others from violating #.®'

Richard Holtwooke became the Assistant Secretary of State for Eu

Seplember of 1994. A finn believer in taking action, he Lwanon w;oﬁ__.m :“W“s nﬂ:mmm__._”m_”
politics with a vengeance. During an early fact-finding _wﬁ.s Croatia, he leamed of the
Iranian green light incident from Ambassador Gaiwaith, Holbrooke, In his previous
position ._..m.w. Eq&u.mmnno_. to o”a.._._._mau.. had been aware that Iranian and other arms were
“M.M_eﬂu: omaﬁﬁ and Bosnia, 50 he asked Galbraith what the US knew and was doing
rine - € Ibraith told Holbrooke that in April of 1994 that either Tudjman or Susak

brooke's present memory is uncertain) called him in and told him Iran wanted fo ship
arms through Croatia 1o the Bosnlans and asked what US policy was on this issue.
Galbrafth wuj he had calied the White House (Holbrooke understood him to say that he
had talked with Tony Laka), and was told to say he had no instructions, no position.

Galbraith said he did that and ) It
by normal chan iyhﬁ& that someone at the NSCtold him not fo report back

After hearing Galbraith's account, Holorooke was hightly concemed about the rote

# Clark Dep. at 28-34, -
* Berger Int. at 3.

“Se .
" Galbraith Memcon for Segtember 5, 1994, from the "Hecord" maintainedby -

Peter Galbraith,
*2 Holbrooke Dep. at 6-13.
™,

" them, had changed his tune by the fall of 1984, According to Holbrooke, Sliajdzic made
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of Iran in Bosnia and the Balkans. This remained the case through the time of negotiating
the Dayton Accords when he was adamant in seeking assurances that the Iranians would
be required to leave Bosnia.™

To Holbrooks's credit, he began working on ideas to eliminate of dilute the Iranian
dominance of the arms fiow 0 Bosnia in September 1994. Bosnian Prime Minister
Silajdzic, for all his sarier wilingness to accept amms from any country that would provide

a point of telling American policy-makers at every opportunity that the Iranian arms pipefine
was a "very risky thing because it would increasa Iranian influsnce.™® In September of

olbrooke liked the idea and supported i, in no small

0e e Bosnians dependancy on iran. Holbrooke discussed it

s&_mooa_mio. nsaﬁgaowwc&mﬁo.ngnﬁu:!owﬁsamrnm_ev_.:_o:
u_..gmuavomm_.!

A few days following the meeting in New York, Silajdzic met in Washington with
Holbrooke, and Lake, Holbrooke believes that Lake heard part, but not afl, of Silajdzic's
proposal before Lake was called out 1o 8 meeting with President Clinton. The proposal
went nowhere in Washington and despite Holbrooke's advocacy, it was rejectad for policy
rather than legal reasons.™

The Bosnians remained interested in altematives to the ranian arms pipefine even
after November 1994 and the Nunn-Mitchel Amendment. Ambassador Galbraith's
assistance was sought on November 23, 1894 in yet another efiort to gacure the release
of Bosnian-bound weapons that had been seized by the Slovenes. Although asked o

. at 50.

5 id. at 51. -
M id. 4145, .

*Tid.

Ciad " B
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intervene with the Slovenes, Galbraith said nothing to the Bosnians, noting in ._.r memoirs
that “"any comment would be seen as us working to underming the embargo™ and could
jeopardize the way in which the Bosnians received “real quantilies™ of weaponry,
presumably from the lranians,™

As 1994 was coming to a close, the iranian sq:.«.u_vm_.-..o continued to flow, and
Iranian influence continued to . A disilugioned Prime Minister Sllaldzic dined with
Galbraith on December 16, 1994,

'As Holbrooke never told Silajdzic that his proposat for reducing lranian influence
had been rejected by the Administration, Siajdzic was unaware that his lunch partner on
that Decermber day.was truly far more to blame for Iran's sunning amok in Bosnia than was
Euéﬁ.uFQW'

= Memcon of Peter Galbraith, November 23, 1984, from the "Record”
maintained by Peter Gatbraith,

1 Memcon of Peter Gaibraith, December 16, 1994, from the “Record”
maintained by Peter Gatbraith.

T* Holbrooke Dep. at 44.
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CHAPTER B

ALLEGATIONS OF US OFFICIALS FACILITATING
IRANIAN ARMS SHIPMENTS

Assistance to Arms Convoy

Among the issires which the Select Subcommitiee examined in the course of its
investigation was the quastion of whether or not US officlals knowingly assisted the
passage of convoys containing weapons from Croatia to Bosnia In viofation of the UN anms
embargo. Press reporis had identified one specific allegation of such assistance,
Purportedly involving intervention by US Special Envoy Charles Redman to secure the
release of a convoy containing Iranian weapons detained by the Croatians on or about May
13, 1994.' Information developed in several depositions, the intandew of Anthony
Harrington of the Presidant's Intelligence Oversight Board, and from relavant written
records, alkowed the Subcommittee to determine the facts as follows.

US officials at the embassy in Zagreb were actively invoived in efforis to expedite
and facilitate the passage of humaniarian aid to the Bosnian Musfims from Croatia
throughout 1993 and 1994.2 In 1994, although many of the convoys traveding from Croatia
o Bosnia legitimately camied nothing but humanitarian aid

" Risen and McManus, LIS Envoy May Hawe Alded Arma Convoy tn Bosnia, Los
Angeles Times, Apr. 17, 1906, at A1.

* Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Ron Zog.b.cn. 7, 1986, ot 126-128 -

(heveinafter "Neltzke Dep.”): Selact Subcommitias Deposition of Peter Gafbralth, Aug.
19, 1998, at 69-70, 74-78 (hareinafier "Gaibraith Dep.”). :

e
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convoy he had no lection of assisting in securing Hs release.'? Acconding i
traveling with Redman at the time, the detained convoy was a
sticking point in tha negotiations between the :E the Croatians. Redman acted

as if he wera interested in resolving as no firsthand knowledge that
Radman acted to free the convoy.” r, had no knowledge apons
ware in the convoy, nor any indication t man had such knowledgé;
‘Ambassador 0 Bosnla, Victor J L=
m__..cﬂwﬁ altempted to uﬂnﬁﬁg doclined the invitation, detarmining that it was 2 _8_8_.:.@ Turkovic comvoy vas refeased by the Croatians and &m.ﬂsaahuam_. but
¥. ide his jurisdiction a8 Ambassados. conclusion release result of intercession man.* Althougl
odd request and also a matier occuring outside his Eggni;_ﬁ suspicions that a robatly
: ’ in the Turkovic convoy, thers is no evidence to suggest that Redman such
sp| s. In fact, while the convoy was detained, o not contact
aced a telephone call to Ambassador Galbralth, inform her of the convoy's suspicious content. The'S mmittee also
ummzamo_n_wynwﬂ_uﬁr“u mw_a ._.__.__. qroh” M_Bnmmsm o awmmum the convoy.” Galbraith gave her ntered no proof that Galbraith Redman of his knowledge or suspicion *hat
& noncommittal response because he believed that the convoy 8...553 wezaponry and arms were contained in the convoy|
he did not wanl 1o be involved in facilitating its passage.” Gaibraith's befief that the Rod ) - ] o e UN
contained amms was based either upon conversations he had with news reporters Apparently, man unknowingly intervened in a transaction which violated the L
conmvoy Inteligence i fon.™ arms embargo. His intervention was not alypical, however, because Clinion Administration
or upon Intelligenca information. . officials regulary intervened to facilitate the passage of convoys to Bosnia which they
ith's assistanca, Turkovic called Special Envoy believed contained humanitarian eid without consistently making efforts to ascertain
gaﬂﬁﬂﬁ_ ﬁaoﬂ“:ﬁnﬁmmﬁ Bﬂmis negotiating with Bosnian and Croatian whether those convoys also contained weaponry. Hence, after May 1, 1994, US officials
Is regarding fious iasues. Redman afien intervened in order o help refief convoys may have routinely (albelt unwittingly} facilitated the Iranian aims flow to Bosnia,"
i i igati arding the Turkavic
cross the border, but when questioned during the investigation regarding = T Episade S,

. During the course of the investigation of the evolution and Implementation of the
Clinton Administration’s lranian green light poficy, the Select Subcommitiee examined in
detaR a troubling E.nﬁoa in 1995 which casts doubt on the Administration's contentions

[ ]
iw . " Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Charles E. Redman, Aug. 27, 1896, at 64-
7 Select Subcommittee Deposition of Vactor Jackovich, Aug. 20, 1996, at wq..m._. : 70 (hereinafter "Redman Dep.*).
. s RI’E.P 1806, at 85-68 _umig_:gaIEn. 21, 1996, at __%’
955% . * The same conclusion was reached by the 10, Sas Chapter 7. .
1 005 w607,

* Galbraith Dep. ot 69-72. * Neitzke Dep. at 126-128; Redman Dep. at 84-70; Sslect Subcommilios
14, 817478 . Deposition of Tom Mittnacht, Aug. 14, 1996, et 8-11, 42-44, 55-80.
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: _— } | biect to
*no instructions” Instruction involved nothing more than a failure to o
wz.u..wﬁwﬁ of the UN arms embargo. The incident suggests that In this instance, and
perhaps in others as well, Ambassadar Galbraith may have gone beyond standing B:ﬂa
in the face of embargo viotations, and may have actually secretly played a direct role in
violating the embargo.

In Seplember 1695, Croatan offcies nercepsd six crtes of/fERpmisstes bom
Iran that, after being dropped off by an unmarked airplane thet iuwowa to onnnw. _o_.a
humanitarian aid, were en route to Bosnia across Croatian temitory,” The land- n_.a
miselles carmied one warhead each {but not, it was later _om:_en“ .o:ma_oo_ iwmuoam_w. ms
were designed to be fired from a stand-alone missile launcher, The weaponry, g._ﬂ 5%
gircraft that defiversd it, did not bear any markings that io:ﬁma&_ thelr source,
type of missile Is known lo be of franian manufacture.

the suspicious missiles’ capture and

officiats of
Croatian officials informed US ticular, the Groalians were conce med

idance from the United States.™ In pa

chemical weapons. US officials inspected the ams, which

were being detained at Pula MNEAIEEEENUNTEE  GESS et

" Dep. at 100-1 2.:@’

1 gelect Subcommittee Deposition of Lt. Colonel John Rebert Sadisr, August
21, 1996, at 15 {hereinafter “Sadier Dap.").

*igoe. = 3».)@’

® Sadler Oop. st 26-27.

u Dep. at 102, 108, Q.T
urm%l
———
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This muchis certain. What is less clear is, among other things, why the Croatians,
knowing that the United States did not “want fo be in a pasition of saying nc" as to arms
shipments to the Bosnian Muslims from other nations, sought US guidance in the first
ptace, and why the Croatian government ultimately decided to release the shipment of

missiles. On these important matters, the testimeny of the US officials involved is in
conflict,

According to General Wesley Clark, who was serving with the Joint Chiefs of Staff
as Director of Strategic Plans and Policy, the interception of the missiles was brought to
the attention of the US ina ing in Zagreb bet 1 Croatian President Tudjman and
Special Envoy Holbrooke.™ At that meeting, Fereign Minister Susak informed Holbrooke
that the Iranian weapons had been captured and were being detained by the Croatian
govemment. Susak asked Holbrooke to send a team of US experts toinspect the missiles.
Holbrocke tasked Clark, who was in attendance at the meeting, with handling the matter.
Clark, in tumn, asked Lieulenant Colonel John Sadler, the Defense Attache for the US
Embassy in Zagreb, to examine the missiles, at which point Clark's involvement ended.
Clark stated that the only purpose for the Croatian request was 1o determine whether or
not the missiles were canying chemical weapons, and specifically denied that Susak was
wmrmam. the United States whether or not the government should allow the missiles to
pass.

Clark's testimony as to the purpose of the Croatian request was contrad
Sadler. Sadler indicated that Susak contacted Ambassador Galbraith about
issiles and asked Galbraith to have the missiies investigated.” Galbraith told Sadler fo
sxamine the missies. Sadler complied and reported his findings to the Department of

Defense for analysis.® the & were unable to identify the missiles based on
Sadler's description, sked Sadler to make a second trip to Pula, this

# Goalbraith Dep. at 39 {attributing this to Special Envoy Charles
Redman).

* Select Subcommittee Deposition of Genersl Wesley Clark, Sept. 4, 1896,
at 50-51.

*Id. at 53.

7 Sadler Dep. at 26-27.
™ |d, at 12-186.
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time with a s expert. Galbraith approved the second inspection, and it wes
conducted gﬂqsﬁw&!sﬂniﬂg The results of the 9 exarnination
were forwarded to the Depariment of Defense a couple of days later.

Later in the month of September, during & meeting with Sadler, Susak asked

bout the missile shipment that suggests that the Croatians were hoiding the
uﬁﬁgiggggﬁssisno;g Sadler testified that
@nnrsa.ajéuﬁﬁgagggsﬁgiﬂ-ﬂg?
couniry, into Bosnia. Susak then pointedly asked, "What should 1 d&?"  Sadier
responded that ha could not comment on that issue,

Ambassador Galbraith gave a simBar account. He stated that although Susak was
concemed that the missiles might contain chemical weapons, he was asking more of the
United States than simply 1o determine the nature of the missles. Galbralth understood
Emcﬂxiﬂé:ﬂcmaﬁcanaafﬂa:fgsﬁ?%&%
proceed Into Bosnia.® Consistent with the gresn Aght policy he had champloned to his
Egé.mg%g?a%ﬁf-gig
operation” and “wasn't one for us to monitor or control, )

2|4 01723,

® Sadler Dep. at 27.
ny o

BGalbraith Dep, at 76.
Bid, 8t 76.

‘ ..&5.5:%%
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These facls, taken as a whole, suggest that Ambassador Galbraith wasg doing more
than simply saying he had *no instructions” conceming lranian arms shipments through
Croatia In violation of the Bosnian arms embargo. The picture that emerges, instead, is
that Galbraith may have played an active role in managing and controfling the
transshipment of arms. The Croatian govemment was formally instructed two years earfier,
in April 1994, that the US did not *want to be in a posttion of saying no" to such arms
shipments.”” During the two years that had since elapsed, iranian anms had steadily
poured across Croatia and inte Bosnia, without any protest by the Administration.

In light of these facts, R is somewhat surprising that Croatian officials asked the US
government in the faR of 1995 whether they should penmit the missiles to continue into
Bosnia. If Galbraith i to be befieved, they should have known that the answer they would
:wﬁaﬁuaio&gamm:._gng!me‘:&%m.umwwsﬂagei:a_.szsmmi.
~ that w.w.isnmam:on..lmaEonamﬁ_._msocaumsz_o%&ﬂoqsm el
what to do. Of caurss, af agree that the Croatians were concemned that
missiles might camy chemicat weapons and that they wanted US weapons experts {0 ses
whether they had chemical capabilities. Even so, the ciear preponderance of the evidence,
Wicluding testimony from Galbraith himsel, shows that the Croatians wanted more than
simple advice on whether the misslles carried chemical weapons. What they ultimately
wanted _h , 88 Susak asked Sadler, was what they should do with the 'ranian
missiles,

_Iﬁgiﬁnaﬂvﬁﬂ%&wmﬁmggé.

..Emv.. o

¥ Galbraith Dep. st 39 {attributing this statement 1o Specist Envoy Charles
Redman).

*d
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after two years of the green fight, the Croatians would ask the question: They were locking
for US permissian to turn back the missiles. Even though the Croatians were recelving a
share of the amms transferred to Bosnia, it clearly was not in their self-interest to allow
Bosnia to develop military capabiities that rivaled Croatia's. The Federation might not tast
forever, and the Croatians had good reason to think that they might someday te at war
with Bosnia. The Croatians thus were reluctant to aliow the sophisticated lranian missiles
10 pass Into Bosnian ._They ultimately did so, however, because "Galbraith 10ld us
1o release” them.

Tudjman’s statement that Galbraith had directed the release of the missilos was
confirmed by a staternent of Susak from the previous year, which was memoriafized in a

]I.Iilllll' .
n.mm~ mcoomw_.o_._ immz.ﬁcw!c:,oo:map& o__ :.E_.m ::.m_dummmzo
acquiescence in the release of th issiles into Bosnia®

There is additional evidence supporting the inference that Galbraith did mora than
simply manage the flow of arms through the Iranian-Bosnia pipeline; appear that
ha ook affirmative steps to ensure that the pipeline remained open.

Galbraith's response was not that it was for Croatia to decide for itself whether
o accept further transshipments of lranian arms. To the contrary, his response was that
1o which the Administration had given the green

£ Croatians, Galbraith explained, “are
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g that they are committed to act as a condult for iranian arms

o:qu.ooanF.

‘These facts, taken as a whole, suggest that, on these occasions, Galbraith may well
have overstepped the bounds of the no instructions policy. Instead of remaining neutral
in thind-party violations of the anms embargo, atbeit with the expectation that Croatia woukd
transship arms, Galbraith apparently exerted pressure on Croatian officlals to viclate the

" embargo. To be sure, it is perhaps possible fo reach a different factual conclusion, and

thera may be facts that are presently unknown which might support a conclusion other than
the one the Sub nittee has hed. Nevertheless, based on the facts known to it, it
Is the conclusion of this Subcommittee that the totality of the suggests that
| may have played an active role in the release of Ewﬁéﬁ_ﬁu. The
rissite episode also provides at least some reason to bel that, on other
occasions as well, Galbraith may have more or less actively managed the flow of lranian
ams and quashed any possibility that Croatia would shut down the | rms pipeline
before Bosnia became totally co-opted — and cormupted — by i '

Tuzla Mystery Flights

The Select Subcommittee encountered in the course of its investigation, allegations
in press accounts that United States military parsonnel and equipment participated in the
delivery of weapons and supplies 1o Bosnian Muslim forces in the vicinity of Tuzia, Bosnia
during Febnuary of 1995. According to newspaper stories, UN observers daimed to have
observed C-130 miltary transport aircraft operating what they believed o be low-level
parachute drops in the Tuzia area on February 10, 12, 17, and 23 of 1995. News reports
atso indicated Danish and Norweglan froops serving with UNPROFOR in the ared claimed
%0 have “heard” C-130 aircrat, seen American milltary weaponry and packaging, and been
fired upon when they attempied to investigate the mysterious fights. In fight of NATO
denials that any such US or NATO Sights were occurring, tensions developed between the

F@l
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UN obsarvers and NATO commanders on the issue.*

The Select Subcommittee has attempled to determine the accuracy of these stories’

¢ is no refiable

based the information macde avaliable, has concluded that there
woe.aw_.___ _.xwu Sﬁﬂosuoo:.nﬁ contention that the US miitary and US intefiigence woo:o.ou.i._m:_.”
involved in what have become cofloquially known as the Tuzla Mystery m__u:.__u. he

“ Eagan . The Observer, Nov. 5,
Washington Post, July 28, 1995; Dawden,
The independent, Feb. 27, 1995; Wovidstream,
Drop in Basnis, Associaied Press, Oct. 30, 1885,

. at 54-60; Jackovich Dep. at 67-70; Dep. at 64-89; Select
Su Deposition of Richard Herrick, Auguet 20, , at 64-66.
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CHAPTER 10
THE SRANIAN GREEN LIGHT AND COVERT ACTION
Introduction

Any discussion of the legal constraints on the President’s use of covert action must
start with the realization that covert action is a legitimate instrument of foreign policy.
Covert action, wisely conceived and judiciously executed, can ald the United States in the
achievement of its legiimate foreign policy goals and objectives. It is occasionally an
indispensable fool, the use of which can effectively advance US interests. Thus, we should
not, and do not, start with the proposition that covert action is to be avoided at all costs or
should be restricted in ways that make its empleyment impossible.

At the um_:o time, covert activities, by their very nature, must not be publicly
disclosed, at least for some period of time. The planning and execution of these activities
are not open for the public o see, to debate, 1o criticize, or 1o protest, as are most other

govemmental activities In this free society. For these and other reasens, the political s

processes that normally consirain and control exercises of governmental authority do not
easily or effectively operate in this sphers. This lack of traditional political and legal
oversight is compounded by the wide discretion the Executive Branch enjoys under US
law in the foreign poficy arena. This decision, coupled with diminished political
accountability, leaves an overzeslous administration with the ability to pursue policies that
are unwise of outright illegal.

Against this backdrop, it is the purpose of this section to address one principal
question: Did US officials formulating or executing the green light decision violate any of
the laws or circumvent anyof the procedures estabiished by Congress and the Executive
Branch? In the event US laws were violated, the next question is what action, if any, cught
1o be taken. If there ware no violations of law, we must stifl consider whether, in light of the
facts as they have been uncovered through this investigation, cument laws 2nd procedures
are adequate to provide sufficient oversight and control of covert activities. - .

Overview of the Legal Regime Governing Covert Action

A detaied Eﬂgggigo&sgﬁgng
is not essential to the purpose of this repoit and, in any event, is readily available
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elsewhere.! At the same time, to determine whether the various actors in the graen fight
effair have complied with both the letter and spirit of applicable laws, it s important to
highlight the Congressional concerns that have generated the various legal and procedural
restrictions over the years. -

A review of the legistative activities in this area reveals that Congress has been
most concemed about three particuiar aspects of covert action. First,.Congress has
sought to ensure that covert action is not carried out by subordinate officials within the
Executive Branch oparating without adequate coardination among relevant agencies and
officials and withou! supervision by the President and his most senior foreign policy and
national security advisers. To eliminate such possibly renegade and generally highly -
concaived operations, Congress, in cooperation with the Executive Branch, has taken
steps to ensure that any possible covert action will be carefulty considered at the highest
levels of the Executive Branch. Congress has worked closely with the Executive Branvh
to rationalize the functions and responshiilites of the different intelligence apencies, again
for the purpose of ensuring a process of high-level review, analysis and advice to the
President regarding any proposed covent aclivity, and to guaraniee advance Presidential
approval of any such activities.

Second, Congress has bean concemed about the appropriate bounds of such
activities. In that regard, it has successiully solicited representations from successive
Presidents that certain types of covert activities will not be undertaken as a general rule.
The Execulive Order generally restricting attempts to assassinate foreign leaders Is an
exampile of this kind of undertaking. Congress has also occasionally expressed iis
concems in this regard more formally through the legisiative process, as, for exarnple,
when it prohibited the Executive Branch from using any federal monies to supply arms to
the Contras. :

Third, Congress has also frequently wondered about the wisdom of proposed covert

activities, espedially how such aciivities relate to other stated foreign policy goals and
objectives and how such activities advance the national interests of the Unlted States.

' San, 8.g., Raport of the Congressional Comemitiees investigating the lran-
Contra Affair, H. Rept. 100-433; §. Rept. No. 100-216, Nov. 13, 1987, at 457479,
Appendix A (Minority Report, Chapters 2-4); Treverion, Cantrofling Covert Action, in

Controfling Intelligenca, at 113-133 (Hastedt, ed., 1891); Koh, Tha National Sequrity
Constihition: Sharing Power After the Iran-Contra Affaie, at 57-64 (1990); Relsman &

Baker, Regulafing Covert Action- Peadlices, Contsxis, and Policke
Abroad in Intemational and American Law, at 116-138 (1892).
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. i tu t
)OB_Q_:Q_K Cor gress has Provided by sta te thal E?D President shall ensure that ar v
fir ﬁ_-_—n approved pursuant to m.—.:m §§ -&:B.a_.gaﬂ_._ Act, Fiscal Year 199 : shafl be

2
gﬁgﬁﬂrsz
. Ry ear 1981, § 503(c)1), Public Law 102-
88, Aug 28 aammp!.twaoons&-ﬁgc.m.o.mﬁus {emphasis added).

s0us.cg 413b{cX3) (emphasis added). ..
‘sous.c. § 413b{c)1)
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Security Council may from time to time direct.” The National Security Council directive
issued in relation to the 1947 Act does refer 10 covert action in the course of assigning
respansibility for coordinating and executing such activity, but provides no clear definition
of the phrase.* :

Definiions did gradually begin io creep Into official documents, however, For
example, by 1976, Executive Order 11905 contained the following definition of "special
activities,” a then-convenient euphemism for covert action:

Specisi activities in support of national foreign policy objectives means activities,
other than the collecion and production of intelligence and related support
functions, designed 10 further official United States programs and policies abroad
which are planned and executed so that the role of the United States Government
is not apparent or publicly acknowledged.”

Executive Order 12333, issued five years |ater by President Ronald Reagan, embelfishes
that definition by enumerating activities that are not to be considered special activities or
covert action. These include “diplomatic activities,” as weli as the “collection and production
of intelligence or related support functions ™

The exclusion for traditional diplomatic activities is particularly relevant here because
some of the participants in the green bght affair claim to have done nothing more than
engage In the routine conduct of forelgn diplomacy. Routine dipiomatic activities often
oocur under some cloak of confidentiality, if not secrecy. Indeed, one of the bedrocks of
foreign diplomacy is the belief, often vindicated in practice, that foreign govemment officials
ara often more candid than they might ctherwise be when they can expect that their
conversations with US government officiais will be held in confidence.

It was on predisely this point that in 1990 President Bush pocket vetoed the
proposed Intelfigence Authorization Act, Fiscal Year 1991 (S. 2834). In Section 602 of that
proposed act, Congress atiempted Bs first legisiative definition of covert action.

¥ National Security Act of 1947, as amended, 50 U.S.G. § 403 {1962).
* National Security Council Direclive 10/2, June 18, 1948,

7 Executive Order 11905, § 2(c), Feb.18, 1676

* Executive Order 12333, § 3.4(h), Dec. 4, 1981.
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) Covent action was defined under the bilt 1o include, among other thi
an.“,mm,. uw.. the US that a foreign government or a private citizen _mmm mﬂmoasz_aﬂu.ﬂoﬂﬁ
mﬂ._m itute covert action a._uoaoqamn by the United States.® The Joint Explanatory
m_d_mz_ which accompanied 5. 2834 explained that the provision was designed, "to
_w_.m,.m: the conduct .o— a covert action at the specific request of the United States that
ypasses Sw. requirement for Administration review, Presidertial approval, and
consultation with the intelfigence commitiees ™ _

In his Memorandum of Disapy i L
dnh isapproval, the President indicated His belief that the
Mﬂos@..o: purports o fegulate diplomacy by the President and other members of the
.mﬂgﬁ 2 Branch by a&E&:u.a-o expression of certain views to foreign govemments and
u=<m_ Eo_mﬁozm absent compliance with specified procedures.™ He opined that this
provision ooc_n.an:mmm. In most instances, prior reporting to the Congress of the intent o
express thase views.” This was unaccaptable, in his view, because;

- - . the vagueness of this provision could seriously im air i
sonduct of our Nation's foreign relations, It is c:ﬂﬂmﬂ mxwosw.ﬁﬂmmnﬁ%
n_mccwuj:wi_& foreign govemments would constitute a reporiable “request”
»::n_o_. this provision, and the very possibility of a broad construction of this
m-ﬂ. could have a chilling effect on the ability of our diplomats to conduct
highly sensitive discussions conceming projects that are vital 1o our national
%:Q. Furthermore, the mere existence of this provision could deter

_ Gséggggiﬂ_sm United States at
all. m:gmmasiooc&aaczrgcﬁ.m:a divisive disputes on
iﬂnagwgﬂggmagqign:mﬁssm
execuiive branch have compfied with a statutory requirement.'®

" R

£

*' Memorandum of Disapproval for the Inteigence Authorization Act, Fiscal
1891, Nov, 30, 1850, Public Papers of the Presidents of s e Year
Book Il — July 1 o Dec. 31, 1390, at 172, the US: George Bush 1980,

1. at 1729-30.
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As the President made clear in that sarme Memorandum, howaver, his disagreement
with Congress was largely over the vagueness of the definition, not the substance of the
provision. He went on to note:

. .. [Olbjections to this provision should not be misinterpreted to mean that
executive branch officials can somehow conduct activities otherwise
prohibited by law or Executive order.  Quite the contrary. # remains
Administration policy that cur intelligence services will not ask third parties
to carry out activities that they are themselves forbidden to undertake under
Executive Order No. 12333 on U.S. intelligence activities.”

To allay Congressional concerns, morecver, he explicitly indicated that he hed "directed
that the notice to the Congress of covert actions indicate whether a foreign government wilt
participate significantly.”

That the President and Congress wera in basic agreement regarding prior policy
and practice was also made clear by a letter io the Prasident from the chairmen of both the
Senate and the House intelligence committees, dated November 29, 1890. In the letter,
they explained to the Preskient thet the provision was not intended as a departure from
prior practice, but rather as an attempt to codify what they believed was a pre-existing
mutual understanding reganding the requiraments that might entall use of foreign
governments and non-govermental entities 1o take covert action on behalf of the US In
that letter, the chairmen stated:

Findings have never been required fo authorize contacts made by the
Govemment to determine the feasibility of, and to plan for, a covert aclion
prior t seeking the approval of the President. Indeed, i is not the intent of
this provision 1o precluda the informal contacts and consultations which
would be required prior 1o the Unlted States officially requesting a third
country o private citizen to undertake such aclivites on its behalf. Only
once k had been determined that such assistance was feasible and is made
the subject of an official request by the Unlled States Govemment would the
raquirernant for & finding and reporting to the inteiligence commitiees come
gu@it%%ésﬁéggg
existed betwoen the Administration snd two commitiees.

"id at 1730,
* Sen Cong. Rec., HB161, July 34, 1991,
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Thus, both chairmen confirmed the inlent of Congress merely to codify existing practice,
not to create new standards or obligations.

Subsequent negotiations did not bring the two sides any closer o agreement on
appropriate language. As the House Report on the subsequent version of the Inteligence
Authorization Act, Fiscal Year 1991, noted: "Efforts to resolve the President’s concerm with
the definition of covert action in $.2834, and related issues conceming the notification to
Congress of covert actions, in a manner satisfactory to the Committee, were
unsuccessful.™ Accordingly, that part of the definition of covert action was dropped from
the next version of the bill,

Congress' expectation that it would continue to receive timely notification of any
covert activity that the US govemment requested a third party to execule was in no way
diminished by fadure to include expiictly this requirernent in the definition of covert action.
ARer a¥l, Congress had the President's explicit assurance in this regard.” Congress was
not content ro rely entirely on the good will of the President, however. Congress included
in the new law a requirement that any ma the US uses a third party to 12ke covert action,
the President must make a specific finding to that effect. The law also makes clear that
no finding of the President could “authorize any action that would viclate the Constitution
or any statute of the United States.™

Under pre-existing understandings and clear Presidentiat rep tatione made
during the course of the legislative process, i is clear that some requests to foreign
governments o third parties 10 undertake certain actions fall within the purview of the
regulations on covert actions, while other discussions with foreign govemments
presumably do nol. The trick, of course, is 1o decide which is which. At the extremes, i
is easy to draw the line between traditional diplomalic activities and covert action. IfUS
govemnment officials are simply 1old that some government intends 1o take a certain action
and the US has played, or plays in the kture, absolutely no further role in the matier, it has
not engaged in covert action. I, on the other hand, US government officials instigate,
facilitate and ctherwise play a significant executory role in the action, even though it is
camied out by entities other than the US government, thei conduct approaches. i not
crosses, the line into covert action.

-

# H.Rept. 102-37, 102d Cong., 1st Sess., Apr. 22, 1991, at 2-3,
* Cong. Rec., H 6161, July 31, 1881,
¥ 50 L1.S.C. § 413b{a)5).
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Application of the Covert Action Law

m‘.._oommmE delineation of this dividing kne is no abstract matter in the case at hand
because it is precisely the role of US Govemment officials in their discussions with foreign
govamments that is at issue. This is made all the more difficult because, on some cruclal
issues, the evidence in this case conflicts. Depending on the inferences one draws from
MH. ._ﬂuo:nm_ the rote of US Govemment officials may draw closer to, o farther away from,

Some of the conduct in the Iranian green light matter cleary does

covert aclion. Although Ambassador ommcas.. mnmm properly uM. n::ﬂn:mﬂ o%“_ m%ﬁﬁm
somewhat overzealous in his advocacy of the green light palicy, and afthough he may be
criticized for pushing the foreign policymaking apparatus 1o an unduly hurried and -
st_nm_.mm conclusion, the fommulation of the policy does not constitute covert action.
Amb: ors are not expecled 1o be mere passive conduits for flows of communications
and information between foreign governments and domestic. policymakers. It is porfectly
_mmsmw_.ﬁu“ﬂm for, m__.“N part of Eow traditional functions of, a diplomat to make recommendations

mative courses of action. His zeal in advocating giving Iran the n fight does
not detract from the legitimacy of his championing a umaﬂz_“w_mwcwa S_Sn_“.mm.mawgﬂoﬂ
Mm nn“_m_._ Executive Branch, Such conduct simply does not fall within the definition of covert

Simitarly, diplomatic efforts to implement tha green light policy do not constitute
covert action. Again, the traditional function of & diplomat Wam::suf. Diplomats
gguzfﬁggfgiagv&ag&iggs
reprasentatives of foreign nations, either on their own Inltiative or upon request from a
foreign rapresentative. Even though the policy in this case was, as Ambassador Galbraith
nmmﬂg.w.ﬁ.azw.niswmznmsa.e_gsnaaﬁzaﬂuigigcz%
embargo, eﬁ?nﬂm.ngaﬁao:oq%ﬁgovvoa&s»goasogm&oa
3625.3&&823%8?&:8&&38503:&-233398:2
subject the diplomat's activity 1o scrutiny under US covert action laws. Consequently,
»os.amnan@!.oanwwgcmoaoﬁwsagngaa!gggs
object to Iranian anms shipments to the Bosnian Muslims does not constitute covert action,

The Subcomenities’s investigation did, however, inckude allegations that US officials
had taken action in suppart of the Iranian ams pipeline that, In theory at feast, could
constituta covert action, The allegation is that in May 1954 Special Envoy Redman, at the

** Select Subcommittes Deposition of Pater Galbralth, Aug. 19, 1996, at 13,
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request of the Bosnian Ambassador to Croatia, pressurad the Croatians into releasing a
convoy that purportedly carried only humanitarian supplies but that, in actuality, camied
some amounts of arms,™ We find that this aclivity could constitute covert action if Redman
knew that the convoy contained arms, but we find no basis for believing that he had such
knowledge. The second aflegation of polential covert action was that US officials hed air-
lited weapons and supplies to Bosnian Musiim forces in Tuzls, Bosnia in Febraary 1885.°
Like the Denartment of Defense and the Central Intelligence Agency, the Subcommittee
found no evidence that US officials had any involvement in the so-called "Tuzla Mystery
Flights." On each of these allegations, we find no grounds for concluding that US officials
engaged in any coven action.

Unfortunately, we are constrained to reach a different conclusion on certain ofher
allegations periaining to Ambassador Gatbraith, based on evidence revealed during this
investigation. These allegations relate 1o the Nazeat missile shipment captured by
Croatian officials in Seplember 1985."" At the request of Croatian officials, US weapons
experts analyzed the lranian missies to determine whether they carried chemical weapons.
Those missiles were released by Croatia, and the Subcommittee’s inquiry on this issue
focused primarily on who authorized the misskes to ba released. The totafity of the
available evidence suggests that it may have been Galbraith who instructed the Croatians
to release the missiles.

™ San Chapter 9.
»d
g,

Rl RS A v 19
(hereinafter,
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Galbraith argued that Susak and the rest of the
Croatians were "on the hook” and, therefore, simply could not discontinue serving as a
conduit for armg shipments from Iran to Bosnia.* in Galbraith's view SRR

it fwas] the intent of [UIS] policy to facilitate the delivery of [Iranian arms
to Bosnila).

Taken as a whale, these facts provide reason fo believe that Galbraith may have
engaged in an unauthorized covert action with respect to this shipment of missiles. To the
extent he affirmatively and knowingly intervened in the shipment of arms to Bosnia,
Galbraith may well have crossed the line from marely carmying out the no instructions policy
and taken active part in a clear viclation of the UN anns embargo, This conduct —
managing the flow of arms — appears to exceed the bounds of traditional diplomatic
activity, a phrase that, as & matter of plain meaning, does not exempt any apd all conduct
undertaken by a diglomat, I, as it seems, Galbraith funneled the issiles into
Bosnla, his conduct would appear-to fulfill the definiion of covert action, That is 50
because the shipment was done secretly, in 2 manner that saved the US role from being
~apparent" or “publicly acknowledged,” and was intended to prop up the Basnlan
government and military {thereby influencing “political. economic or mifitary conditions
abroad”).® Such conduct would be lawful only upon 2 prior presidential finding and prompt
notification of Congress, neither of which occumed here, 2.,

In light of these conclusions, the Subcommittee is compeiled 10 recommend to the
House Intemational Relations Committee (HIRC) that this Report and the evidentiary
materials amassed in the coursa of this investigations ba referred to the House Famanent
Select Committee on Intefigence for further investigation and action within that
Committes's jurisdiction,

Additional Concemns
An Invitation to Mors Restrictions?

RS
| -~y

® 50 1.5.C. § 413b{e).
7 50 U.S.C.§413b.
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Even if they were lawful under covert action laws, the Administration’s actions in the
green light affair are inconsistent with the spirit of cooperation ir: the formation and
execution of US policy that should exist, and has previously existed, between the Congress
and the Executive Branch. Before the Administration gave Iran the green light, Congress
had expressed strong concerns both about the plight of the Bosnian Muslims and about
the need to contain franian influence around the world. In taking staps that directly
exacerbated both these legisiative concemns, it is inexcusable that the Administration not
onty failad to consult with Congress about s major shift in US policy, but affirmatively
concealed its misguided green light policy through outright deception of the American
peopte and their representatives in Congress. This was a matter that, either as a matter
of law or as a matter of comity, clearly should have been promptly broughi to the attention
of Congress.

it also appears that the green light policy occurred as a result of a complete

"breakdown of normal Executive Branch deliberative processes. The policy wes hastly

adopted without adequrate consideration of aitematives due o undocumented, behind-the-
scenes machinations of senior diplomstic personnel, activities that circumvented the
normal foreign policy decision making process. [t, therefore, is open to serious question
whaether the President enjoyed the bensfit of adequate refiection and consideration of this
policy and its potential consequences by his senior foreign policy and national security
personnel. Ris precisely to avold these kinds of problems In areas such as this, with such
potentially explosive consequences, that wefl-defined processes and procedures have
been worked out. Whether or not a legal fine was crossed in the haphazard, if not
reckless, manner in which the policy was implemented, the American people, {0 say the
teast, were not well served in this instance of gross foreign policy mismanagement.

Finally, the wisdom of the Administrations procedures and processes is open to
serious question. Whie & Is clear that many in the Congress wanted more amms to flow to
the Bosnian Muslims, the Administration repeatedly toid Congress and the American public
that the Administration could not uniaterally arm the Musfirs in the face of the UN Security

. Council arms embargo and opposition from US alies. To play at least some role in

encouraging and facilitating, however cbliquely, violations of precisely the standards of
international law that the Administration deciared ftself bound to cbey Is an exercise in
duplicity that, to say the least, cannot be expected to inspire confidence that the
Administration is complying with the legal strictures that supposedty govem Administration
behavior.

Even more problematically in this case, the supplying country was known to be lran.
US policy to deny Iran the cpportunily to expand its economic, military, and poiitical
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influence in any way could not have been clearer. To find that the Administration was not

only tolerating such expansions of Iran's pemicious influence, but, at a minfmum, "winking®

and "nodding” assent, if not doing more, certainly must give Congress second thoughts

Mcocn ﬂﬁ extent to which the representations of this Administration can be relied upon by
wmakers.

In addition to being ill-advised as a policy matter, the sum of the Administration’s
actions in this matter geam certain fo invite Congrese to consider whether more formal
restrictions and procedures on the scope of Presidential discretion are warmanted. History
is a good guide In this respect. When Presidents, in the development and axecution for
policy, even policy related fo America’s foreign interests, treat Congress as the adversary,
the usual result is ever-increasing restrictions on the procedures and processes by which
that policy is formed and executed. An Administration thal deals with congressional
concams in such a cavalier and dismissive way leaves Congress little cholce but to
congider enacting further Bmitations and restrictions on the discretion of the Executive
Branch. Such limitations can be avoided only if Presidents effectively monitor their
advisers and themseives engage congressional leadership in an open and frank dialogue
on issues that implicate our fundamantal national security concems, such as the US policy
to isolate Iran.

Noncooperation In Congressionat Investigative Functions

1 is worth noting thet the problems mentioned above have been exacerbated by the
manner in which the Administcation has obstructed congressional investigations of its
green light policy. We have highlighted at various points in this repost actions by the
Administration that ssem designed not to protect the integrity of the decision-making
process or prolect confidential communications between US and foreign government
officials. but rather mersly to discourage the revelation of embarrassing delafls about a

Congress’ attempt to fulfill s constiulionafly mandated oversight and investigating
responsibiities. Neadless to say, such obstructionist tactics by the Administration cannot
be condoned. :

3

CHAPTER 11
CONFLICTING TESTIMONY AND QUESTIONS TO BE RESOLVED

In the course of its investigation, the Select Subcommittee cblained tastimony and
_ao:qimo_._ from numerous individusls regarding the matters under investigation. While
recognizing that the recollections of witnesses to the sams incidents or events may vary
on occasion as a result of failure of memory, or differing perceptions, the Select
o o Q S«E_..oomna R_sn“_ w&ohﬂﬂu?ooo
of witnesses was directly contradictory on important ma under inve .
contradictions, In some instances, ralse the possibiity that perjured testimony was provided
by witnesses.

The integrity of Congressional investigative authority is nn._<o30_< affacted by
perjury, and Congress wil encounter iremendous difficulty in carrying oul its I_Em._ﬂ
gamsﬂ?g%ﬁwﬁﬁiaz!ouﬂiﬁnsgsoﬁﬁi.?mg 5
gm&@%%gg?%giﬂaﬂégi#&
chapter, with a view toward idendifying with specificty, matters which require investigation
by the United States Department of Justice or Independent Counsel.

Conflicting Testimony as to the Content
of the _swwco._m__._- Given to Ambassador Galbraith

As %aglg&gggwim:%_aﬁgwg
g&zﬂ%ﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬁé%sgg_g
for.use in his diplomatic response 1o President Tudjman’s question regarding the

ﬂigaﬁuﬁﬁwﬁBn%:ﬁaR::&qSéﬁ:;ﬂrioﬁ&u
3%55!3?3&5&?2&02%6%%:%3&.‘
q:o%iﬁ&woaguv!o!gw&gsaaau_sso:moﬁi
Justice for further investigation. ’ ]
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Conflicting Testimony and Evidence as to Whather Congress
was Informed of the Administration’s lranian Green Light Declsion - SECTION THREE: POLICY RAMIFICATIONS
Inthe course of its investigation the Select Subcommities interviewed chairmen and
ranking members of various congressional committess with an interest in the subject CHAPTER 12

matter of the lranian green light Gecislon to determine whether such members were
advised by the Administretion of Ambassador Galbraith's exchange with President
._._.a_am: and the Administration's decision to give the green light to Iranian amms
Go ts. With the ption of former Senator Dennis DeConcinl, al Members of
?:MN«% ﬁp&wﬂﬁ&gﬁﬁ&ggnho o_ﬂ mhﬂa wgga Q:ﬂ&gmm_!”ﬁ an.o:ucnn:nummaM« The decision "at the highest levels” of the Glinton Z__.:_ Istration in April 1984 not
Richard Holbrooke testified under oath that the Administration made a conscious decision 1o interpose ourselves between the Iranians snd Croatians™ removed the only effective
nof to inform Congress of thesa matters, and, hence, did not do 0. As Senator external ._._..no%am:__s_nn:m hopes to intarject itself into the Besnian conflict and gain _ﬁ

tong-sought foothold in Europe. Before then, tran had achieved limited success i
DeConcinl's statement io the Select Subcornmittee staff are in conflict with both swom ingratisting #ssif with ._.5 Bosnian govemnment and almost no success in Croatiz, With ___m

US giving tha green light, however, Iran has had an unprecedented opportunity to

THE GREEN LIGHT AND THE IRANIAN FOOTHOLD IN EUROPE
PART!-CROATIA

testimony and the vast majority of information avallable to the Select Subcommittee, further
investigation by the Department of Justice of the 3»325:088025....3@:&:0 if any

been violated. sdvance its influence in the region and develop a European-based infrastructure — overt

taws have and covert — 10 spread further its radica! political and religious messags. Asbad asthe .
strategic implications are of nefarious and hostile Iranian activities in Europe, Iran's

Con =N=§wm”hﬁt§ﬁﬂon“ﬁﬂih&.ﬂﬁh“ﬂ" bility success ol co-opting the Bosnian political leadership and developing agents and
mechanisms of political influence has alsc been a disaster for Bosnia itseif. “S:MM
Ambassa, beommities, review, corupted the Bosnlan Musfim body politic o a degree thal, as yet. is not well unde

gga%%%%gﬁﬁ_ﬂﬂﬂwﬂﬁiggﬁﬁg in the West. Moreover, it has immensely complicated, if not doomed, the process that was

of hs ambassadorial our. Charotte Stotiman. his former secretary (v typed the rocord to have led 1o the development of a multiethnic, secular Bosnis.

from his dictation), and Ronald Neitzke, his former Deputy Chief of Mission (who frequently .

saw him dictating the record), have informed the Subcomknittes stafl that Galbraith began The public statements of Administration officials paint exactly the opposite picture,

creating the record in 1993, shortly after his arvival in Croatia. Galbraith has testified that however.

.._._..mn.n_".o;on_:_ﬁrmoﬂsm record until November 1584. This conflict must be resolved or Galbraith the interna | Relations

rough an Investigation, so as 1o assure that the Select Subcommittea has been provided b Ambassad testified before the House tiona
with access 1o all of the documnent maintained by Galbralth. The withholding of portions OO%OEEO:HED?ES!OB&?%}E:;S&%E

“slightly, but not significantly.” In the same session, he stated that the
Cilinton Administration’s green uﬂ:&ﬁdo::g.asguoo and 1o the
very significant reduction of the Iranian influence."

could constitute offenses against both the Congress and the Department of State,

[ : T National Security Advisor Anthony Lake advised the Subcommiliee that the

1 Memorandum 1o the File from Peter Galbralth, May 6, 1994 (hereinafier
*Galbraith Memorandum”).

use Commitien o
! i at 145.
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Iranian u_._as.i the Balkans preceded the green light. "W have no evidence
wnma.__.x.w no instructions” decision that there was a further significant build up
of ran in the area.™

Undersecretary of State Peter Tamoff characterized the April 1994 decision
as one that would allow the possibility that Iranian influence or Iranian
personnel might marginally increase.™

Deputy Secratary of State Strobe Taibott assured the Senate Selact
Committee on Inielligence that the issue in April 1994 was not "o open a
door that had been closed to the Iranians. That door was alrsady open,™

Volumes of raw and finished intelligence product, reams of dip!
and Department of State documentation show Ewao statements to w% Nﬁﬂw.wﬂw_ﬂc—_ﬁﬁ.
At worst, they are disingenuous. Moreaver, with the passage of each day, the :osa_umumw
carry moré and more information making it appear that the Administration's expectations
for the success of the Daylon Peace Process were unrealistic and that the peace process
is :amw<m_=”.u. As the peace process falters, the threat of resurgent lranian influence in
Bosnia - direct and through ideclogical summogales — grows.

The Bush Administration’s Refusal
1o Open the Door to the Iranlans

What the iranians accomplished on the watch of the Clintun State Department
been tried before, but was rebuffed by the US in 1992 b had

* Sefect Subcommittee Interview of Anthony Lake, Sept. 26, 1
{hereinafter “Lake int."), yLeke, Sept. 26, 19%6. atd

® Hearing on Policy on Bosnia Refore the Hotse Comemittee on intema DA
Belations, 104th Cong. 24 (1996) (Testimony of Peter Tamoff), Select Subcommittes
Deposition of Peter Tamofl, Sept. 13, 1996, at 21 (hereinafter “Tamoff Dap.”). Inhis
deposition ao—maeﬁmngo. Tamoff expanded on this judgment, stating that
giagﬁgg?ngrgiga%gﬁof:r::&g
or the tranian forces' prasence had, as a result of that decision, increased significantly.”

anate Select Commitise on |nieligance, 104th Cong. 57 (1996) (Testimony of Strobe

L4

In September 1892, almost two years before the Clinton Administration signaled
its green light, the lranians tried for the first time to set themselves up as the Bosnians'
most important ally, using Croatia as the middleman. The UN-imposed arms embargo
{UN Security Council Resolution 713), which passed in September 1984, had achieved the
uninmended effect of giving the Bosnian Serbs a military advartage over the Muslims and
Croatians. Despite a signfficant numetical advantage, the Muslim forces were left without
a significant source of weaponry and supplies, wh the Bosnian Serbs were able to
geat supplies from the neighboring Serb-dominated Yugoslav Anmy. The Iranians saw this
as their opportunity. They could exploit the desperation of the Bosnian Muslims so as o
become their main benefactor and buy influence and a friendly beachhead in Eurcpe. The
plan would, however, require the cooperation of the Croafian government because Croatia
controfled the only safe land routes into Bosaia.

The Bush Administration became aware of the Iranlan scheme in August 1992 and
put the Croatian govemment on notice that the US would find such an arangement highly
objectionable. Thus, in September when an Iranian 747 amived at Zagreb airport, Joaded
with military equipment and mufahedin from iraet and other Musiim countries, the Croatian
government natified the US and worked closely and cooperatively to bring the UN in, seize
the weapons, and send the plane and its passengers back to Iran. This decisive action —
this clear “red light™ policy — styrmied Iranian plans until the Clinton Administration flashed
the green fight in April 1994. In the time, the Iranians put their designs for a
beachhead back on the shelf and contented themselves with small-scate arms smuggling
and the incremental expansion of its presence and influence in the region.

Interestingly, Ambassadoer Galbraith has argued that the Bush Administration's
demarche to the Croatian govemment to stop the establishment of the anms pipeline was
a principal cause of the outbreak of the Croat-Muslim war in early 1993.” Based on that
interpretation, he argued that the Clinton Administration did not want in Apri 1994 {o repeat
this emor of v past. The premise of the argument - that the seizure led to Croat-Musiim
fighting — Is highly questionable. Ronald Nettzke, Ambassador Galbraith's deputy in 1994
and the US Charge to Zagreb in 1992, when the first incident took place, disagrees with
Galbraith's analysis and did 80 even when Galbraith was clting Rt in 1094 in an effort to

convince Washington of the wisdom of giving the green Bight ® is aiso no
linking the demarche and the outbreak of hostiities In 1963, head

7 Sge, n.g., Galbrakth in Department of State Cable, Zagreb 1683, Apr. 27, 1994,

! Select Subcommiitee Deposition of Ronald Neitzke, Aug. 7, 1996, at 36
(hereinafier “Neltzke Dep.").
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of the Interagency Batkans Task Ferce and the US Inteligence Community’s senior
analyst of the former Yugoslavia, forcefully dissents from Ambassador Galbraith's view,
“I have not seen anything that would support that as a rationala for the start of that s@&

The Iranian Green Lfght and the Growth of Iranian Influence
and the Terrorist Threat in Croatia

President Clinton's green light decision threw open the door of Croatia to the
franians. After the Bush Administration's demarche of September 1992 and into early
1994 the Iranian presence in Croatia was fimited and its infiuence insignificant, 1t had a
“modest™" embassy and maintained a small but active intelligence presence. Relations
with the Croatians were proper but by no means warm. The Croatians were suspicious of
Iran’s objectives in the region and were troubled by its efforts to radicalize the local Muslim
poputation and the Bosnian Muslims with whom, for most of this period, the Croatia:s were
fighting. ,

The green light decision changed the situation in late April 1984 when the US
authorized iran to use Croatia as s forward staging area and depot in the arms supply
line into Bosnia.

Within days of the green light, Croatian Prime Minister Nikica Valentic made a
highly publicized and friendty visit to Tehran. The US had known of this irip in advance,
and it was ciled as the basis for the urgency of Ambassador, Galbrath's cables to
Washington seeking issuance of a green light instruction. in his ge to Secretary
Christopher on April 27, 1994, Ambassador Galbraith expressed concem that " ws frown
on their {the Croatians] role in supplying the Muslims, this trip may be canceled.™* The
green light was given despite the US's often-stated and steadfastly defended policy of
isolating Iran diplomatically, sconomically, and politically.™ As a result, Vatentic traveled
to Tehran where the press reported his joint pronouncements of cocperation with lranian
President Rafsanjani and the successful negotiation of several wide-ranging batorat

* Seisct Subcommittee Intarview of CIA anslysts, Aug. 21, 1996, at § (hereinafler
*CIA analysts Int.").

1 Neitzke Dep. at 57
*! Department of State Cable, Zagreb 1683, Apr. 27, 1894,
25ae o:»v_o_. 4,

Additionally, the two countrieg set up an
agenda for concluding thres-way agreements including mﬂ§

B Apparently, the green

ht from the US was all they were waiting for. A few days later; Iranian Foreign Minister
M Akbar Velayati reciprocated Valentic's visit by going 1o Zagreb. There, they wnaaan 1o
expand araas of coaperaton and, as reported in t ulted on establishing
tripartite cooperation arrangements with Bosnia?

In subsequent years, the trade between Croatia and Iran would significantly
antage, parbcula because of its hard currency problems.

The significance of the Zagreb-Tehran on.ﬁ!..!_.-.! opening up the Balkans to
Iran !uo:hﬁ:iuq%ma%%i?sﬁﬁo@vmg&m&ﬁ.
u.-..ngﬂ&mg.uwgﬂ_%ageza.gs<r4§.i
chgw?q?i!&mnaoaauig.asﬁ;tuﬁsgaﬁfl%

-
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Irant a grealer foothold in the former Yugoslavia™’ Thirty days later, another State
Depariment analysis concluded, “Iran sees this as an opportunity 1o win converts for
|slamic fundamentalism and establish 2 foothold for a base of operations in Europe.”™ And
Just two months after the green light decision, the Secretary of State's “Moming Summary”
incfuded the assessment that Croatian and Iranian bitateral relations had "rebounded” and
noted, as an aside, that the Croatian foreign ministry believed the US “tacitly approves”
of Croatia's role as a centerpiece of the Iranian pipeline. The Summary concluded that
under the circumstances the “ure of closa relations with Iran will be hard fo resist.”™ On
the ground in Croatia, the effect was alse clear. US Deputy Chief of Mission Neitzke noted:

In the summer of 1983 , . . . the Iranian prasence in Zagreb had been
extremely limited . . . . It grew rather dynamically in the aflermath of Croatia's
agreeing to transship lots of arms to Bosnia in April [1994] such that by the .
late fall of ‘04 relations v-ere clearly booming between Croatia and Iran. We
had to drive by their Embassy all the time. We could see the antennas

i M des plates, and from “inte!” sources we were aware

Ll g. more
that ﬁw—.iﬂu a great deal more active. They had more diplomats around
town.

Consideting the influx of IRGC into the Balkans, it is important fo remember that the

¥ Department of State, Inleligence Research Bureau (INR), Sacretary’s Moming
Summary, May 1, 1994.

" Information Igagqiﬂ.oﬁ.ggggag.a
Wamren Christopher, Secretary of State, May 31, 1994 .

™ INR, Saceetary's Moming Supynary, June 22, 1984, .
* Neitzke Dep. at 104.

- [——————

o traveted Snaoﬁo«namdﬁnugiﬁaso&f

1

RGC s much more than simply an elite fighting force. It is also Iran's "primary Instrument
__: exporting its Islamic Revolution,” with contingents in Lebanon and m_.ﬁnsw :x-_u:u
supports radical Istamic forces in Afghanistan, Aygeria, Egypt, and in the West Ban _m
the Gaza Strip. !ogﬁ.ziugﬁaisggﬂungwﬂgzwua
nii%?g.sgn%g%s!?um&*mgd. Simiarty.
_...oaoanz.a_xmoégas%g%._:-&aossganiagn
military nature.

i %%ﬂgn_sgog? In 1994, the Iranians
began ﬁﬂuﬁﬁ__a an 585?:8:%?5&:8:8»::& Croatia. In 1995, the _aa_wﬁ
bullt on this success and began developing another independent network of agents a
contacts. .

_:soaas!zﬁalﬂ;ﬁu%?aas&;grg.&s

Kenneth Katzman, Boanla-Hercagovina: Foreign
i e A ._.u._.a.._ﬂuaa.uouuaari Research Service Reporl, Jan. 25,
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exiremely fragmentary intelligence information about a terrorist thre,

US concems over fety of its cilizens. At the time the [ranian presence in Croatia
was extremely limited, and the Croatians showed no concemn about possibly harming
bilateral refations with Iran by acting vigorously against the tercorists.

A mere two years and & green light later, in the summer of 1995, the situation was
very different. By that time, supporting the massive military assistance program that had
been given the green light and enjoying the resultant privileged relationship it had with
Croatia, the tranian embassy in Zagreb had become is largest in Europe. For months
(starting in the fall of 1994), the US had been gathering evidence of Iranian terrorist
pla: :__.ﬁ against US cofficials presence in Zagreb. The indications were many and
una S,

threat was 50 serious that the US ambassy insti more
SBSN.& individuals who were believed to be most at risk. 2

At the strong urging of his Deputy Chief of Mission Ronald Neitzke, Ambassador
Galbraith approved using the ma_ummu_..w 535 Sa_unu within the Croatian government
to urge that they act sgainst the t These diplomatic efforts were fuitiess,
however, Eﬁswgzqgoo:s::&,oaogs The Iranian temorist activities
So:mSm_oB_onEEmvaizﬁ.So US embassy was certain a tefrorist act was
imminent. Accordingly. In Apri, while the Ambassador was traveling outside Croatia,
Neitzke drafted a strongly worded message to Washington. In i he stated that the time of
gentle pressure had passed, and he asked that Washington approve a demarche o the
Croatian government to take immediale and decisive action to neutralize the terrorist
threat,

In his message, Neitzke linked the threat of Iranian tamorism to the President's

# The 1995 terrorist threat is documented in a large number of C1A and
Department of State cables and reporis made avallable to the Select Subcommitiee.
Sea also, Neitzke Dep. #t 104-115. The most comprehensive public account can be
found in James Risen and Doyle McManus, Termrixt Risk to Amaricana in Crafia &
Linked to Iran, Los Angeles Times, May 21, 1996.

1.

green light palicy and pointed aut the diplomatic corner the US had painted itself into by
giving the Croatians an "af clear” signal to cozy up to the Iranians. The message warrants
quoting at length:

Wn
e e ————
e ———————— e

Neitzke concluded his message by stating that the only cther oplion avallable was to -
authorize an evacuation of American officials and their familles.

The message had its infended effect: the Department of State approved the first
of a series of strong demarches 1o the Croatians. Even then, the Croatians refused to
expel the Iranians involved in the tamorist planning. Nonessential US officials and their

- families were svacuated from Zagrab in eary May due o Serbian missie altacks on the

City. This resufted in the terrorisis having a lass arget rich® environment and may have
foillad thelr plans for attack, particularly against the famiiies of US officisls. But even so,
hostile Iranian activities - including surveillance of Americans — continued at an alarming

* Department of State Cable, Zagreb 001608, Apr. 19, 1995 (emphasis added).
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pace into August when the US again issued a demarche. The Croatians responded that
they wera “not infavor” of the ranians’ activilies but were "afraid that taking action would
invotve (ranian refribution against Croatia ™™  As this was happening, the Croatians
continued to profit economically and miitarity from their fiowering relationship with lran.
The iranians plotting the tervorist actions were never asked to jeave Croatia and hostie
activities continued. Fostunately, these actions have nol culminated in a temorist attack, but
that option remains available to iran when and i it belleves the time is right to strike.

" Interastingly, the difference in the Croatian attitude between 1993 and 1995 was
mirrored somewhat in tha leadarship of the US mission in Zagreb. In 1983, the US
Embassy's action was unhesilating. 1n 1995, however, thera was a difference of opinion
within the US Embassy leadership conceming the wil of the lranlans 1o engage in temorist
acis in Zagreb. Aithough he does not question Ambassador Galbraith's resolve to counter
legitimate terorist threats, Deputy Chief of Mission Neitzke has indicated that he and
Galbraith had a recurring difference of opinion about the Iranian threat. Galbraith was of
the befief “that it was not in iran’s strateglc interest to sanction an attack against tha United
States.™ Neltzke says he Tound the logic of that impeccable; with one exception:
temorists don't think like that; and terrorists haich subplots or there are revenge kifings ot
peopie are executed to embarass somebody etse, or Zagreb is a sideshow in the overall
Iranian-L1.S, tamorist relationship for amy number of reasons.” Neitzke particularty did not
find the local strategic argument compeling when Iranlans were “argeting specific vehicles
and apparently specific people.” Neitzke afso was unconvinced by the Ambassadors
argument that the US dare not “tweak” the Iranians by asking the Croatians to move
against their terrorisis. In Neltzke's words, "What had we degenerated 1o if that was our
point?” Simardy, Neltzke took phicn 1o the reluct he sensed in Washingion to the
taking of action that might save American lives out of fear that i could also “lead to the
Interruption of the arms pipeline.”

In retrospect, it is hard 1o hold the Croatian govemnment solely responsible for its
i.nﬂaosauvgqsﬁsss&u:wcmﬁ%gsagq '0 be sure, Croatia’s

 Department of State Cable, Zagreb 3247, Aug. 25, 1995,
® Neizke Dep. at 112. {This and the following quotes in this paragraph.)

17,

interpose ourselves between the Iranians and the Croatians.” The Select Subcommittee
finds it even more amazing that, even as the terrorist danger was making itself known on
& daily basis in credible reports from Embassy employees, some Administration officials
were inclined to question the threat or, worse, ignore ft in crder to keep the Iranian arms

pipeline

open.

-
¥ Galbraith Memorandum.
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CHAPTER 13

THE GREEN LIGHT AND THE IRANIAN FOOTHOLD IN EUROPE
PART i - BOSNIA

Even more than in Croatia, the US green light to the [ranian arms pipeline aliowed
Iran to fulfll its most ambitious designs in Bosnia ~ for Bosnia, not Croatia, was and
remaing the Eurcpean centerpiece of tranian hopes and plans for the future. The green
light amd other Clinton Administration decisions that denied or rejecied the posesibility of
allowing other more moderate countries a role in aiding the Bosnian Musiims, n effect,
pave the Iranians what amounted 1o an exclusive license lo assist the Bosnian Muslims.
Through that assistancs, the lranians successfully ingratiated and insinuated themselves
with the pofitical and military leadecship of Bosnia (o a degree that the US has bean
extremely hard pressed in its efforts to extricate them. The entrenched Iranian influence
within Bosnia, particufarly fis clandestine infiuence, is a serious challenge o US interests
in the region and to the hopes of the Bosnian pecple for a peacefut, democratic, and
Westem-oriented future.

gravity of the situation was captured well i a Select Subcommiltee deposiilon

There is no question that the policy of getting arms info Bosnia was of great
assislance in allowing the lranians 1o dig in and create good relations with
the Bosnian Governmert. And & is a thing we will live to regret, because
when they blow up some Americans, as they no doubt will before this
goddamn thing is over, it will be in part becauss the Iranians were able 1o
have the time and the contacts to establish themselves well in Bosnia.'

Bafore the Green Light

iran was qguick to mecognize that the ethnic sfrife in the forrmer Yugosiavia — in
particular, the tribulations of a beleaguered Muslim community — coud give &t an
opportunity 1o eritrench itself in a European nation.  fran was among the first nations to
recognize Busnia after & declared itself independent in March 1882, For a few months in
the later half of 1882, Iran, along with severat other Muslim states, was able o smuggle
smal amounts of weaporwy o the Bosnian Muslims, sometimes by ad hoc arangements

o son of RN A5, 15, 1996, 129
cﬁ%
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with Croat officlals who would siiow the weapons to o tarri
pass through their territory for a ten
“b.%@o_..? five percent payment in kind. However, the Croatlans closed aoi%.. this small
operation u.< February 1993 due to deteriorating Croat-Mustir relations and, once
again, c..wz wow:M:._uwmﬁoﬁ for the most part feft to their own devices.? The State
n . .
onemm :maaoszn w_d_ ; " _ﬂ_.wm__.w_.mqﬁna the Iranian contribution 1o the Bosnian war-effon

in August 1992, AyatoBah Ahmad Jannati, head of the radical isla Propag)
. > 0 mic fiol
Organization and newly named direclor of the Iranian “Bosnia-Herzegovina mcwuou

Headqu o i
He x%m_.”mnw_. Bosnia as & personal representative of the Iranian supreme leader

By April 1893 there were estimates Dha! thei
numbers had reached up to 150 soldiers.® On the intemnational front, in addifion z"
numerous public statements of support o the Bosnian Muslims, Jran was instrumentat in

Umow_.:u!;wwnm:.ﬁo M
purritafite __a_..unwwﬂ..ﬂ oawaunaos o.q.._s. c.c _a—u._.:.c erence lo pass a resolution

~Iran's support, even if more chetorical and moral than substanth i
unapgoreciated _#. the Bosnian Muslim government, which was in noa_..—“owima:ﬁ uow
assistance. Neither were the Iranians hesitant Iy try to capitaiize on this apprediation.
.“._,_uss»o already hard at work irying 1o insinuate itgolf into evary element of Bognian life

rough propaganda, the setting up and exploitation of clandestine telligence
mechanisms, and cultural and political overtures. In comparison with the heyday that
g&?ngig._g.ngﬁéggsﬁlﬁ, Iran did
:orqc;xnz.it.nﬁaggwgi Bosnia. It was only after the US gave the

—

- ¥ Memorandum
Ape. 5, Toms adi)aggs_uoﬁe moﬂ!!zim:!_.o:g:o...

S ...
FWicox Memorandum,
* Kenneth Katzman, Jufie Kim and Richard Best, Bosnia and lranisn Ams

ﬁ«,a.wux. 8 I8 )bnu...,_onw!.,» nd kvelusment oeaﬁﬂﬁangm%
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without Iran and its aid."™®

Also within ten days of the green fight, Iran appointed its first ambassador to Bosnia,
Mohammed Taherian. Yaherian's main responsibiity was to manage the irantan program
of aid to cultivate, wield and influence on behall of Tehran. Taherian was eminently
qualified for the task by his experiences as Iran's ambassador to Afghanistan in the 1880s,
where he proved himself adept at funneling ald to the Afghan Shiite mujahedin® The

— w2fAlso, as in Croatia, the IRGC confinued to carry out

R " Iranian embassy quickly becama the largest in Sarajevo. For instance, the street on which
its "other duties trying to the revolution and support terrorist their diplomats lived was blocked off by the Bosnian police, and even UNPROFOR forces,
organizations, including Hizbaltah.? who wera supposed to be able to travel freely on their peace-keeping au.._uamo_._. were not
' aliowed to get close encugh to observe the Jranians’ comings and goings.® The emba!
Iranian intetigence activities also increased exponentially. The Ministry gﬂ eaa_._n.&cummaaz. aclivities to Eu"nnﬁ a.ws_ _azﬁ__mu%._ﬁ_ and Shia aamﬂ
Intelligence and Security (MOIS} expanded its assistance, training, and gvﬁ.ﬁnﬂmﬂ thought, This public diplomacy complemented Iran's inauguration on May 10 of pro-
the Bosnian intelligence service, and — more oa__.“@..___.z ~ it uBo_oq.u_aﬂ s i wll Iranian, anti-Westemn propaganda radio broadcasts in the region in Serbo-Croatian.
Known to the Bosnians. Specifically, Iran moved quickly recru :
efforts HM—SS of 5&%“?3 and setting up secret networks throughout Bosnia. The JM_W With the backing of Iran and the green light from the Clinton Administration, the
mn.m_ wooon,__s the IRGC, worked-closely with :ﬂch_ﬁﬂ.iwxmjh”ﬁwﬁoﬁ _.ﬂn_m_%m.nwi mo____nno__u woa_.__.._mau eo<m_._..3m_..-_. ﬁwam»_:,a_x became more amnn__..ﬂ;m_ﬁ in its orientation. L.___o_m
' ni ° occurred aven A ment i
e e e e e v S e o o, T
ultimi -

loudspeakers on street comers 1o broadcast the call to prayer in the mosques. Foreign

individual Bosnians to act as #s future terrorists. ™ mujahedin and Bosnian fundamentalists coerced Bosnian Muslims o be more strict in

observing “proper” Islamic customs. That summer, for example, Bosnian women wearing

Qiiiuaagﬁgﬂa.ﬂpﬁﬂ_ﬁq%ﬂ_ﬁﬁgénﬁ bathing suits were beaten and some were evan shot for their percelved immodesty. =
the following the green atthough they ertise activities

w Ez?s:ﬁﬁa?j!ﬁ!ggamoaazﬂsﬁsgkié%iaxo By the end of the year, ———
o Wiahly publiczed vish 0 Sarajevo where he presenad Bosnian President tzethegovic :

“Basnian
cultivating Sarajeva’s relationship ‘shran a top priority.”,

2 John Pomfret, lan Shy Washington Post,

zu,.a;uﬁ.a..?ﬁm“-?mg;ﬁn&?..f!ﬁmh,xﬁzﬁ:ss&s?
original article.) _

T | i

nut.-:m.m_ﬂv«. F.—-O. Selfling tha Bosnian Myth tn America: Biys
- ————— Uil Saioe Army Fregn Mikary S Ofc, Oct. 1996, 8.

u.gg.;gﬂagg?wﬁ%&gﬁg ™ Sray Dep. st 48.

inafter “Prados et
{atamic. Fighecs (Mijahidasn’), CRS Report, Jon. 29, 1996, at 3 (hersi
lian QI%
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In 1995 the tranians would consolidate and expand their influence and activities
throughout Bosnia and Bosnian society. The IRGC presenca remained in the range of
400 personnel in country. The mufahedin presence was, by the end of the year, 1000 or
more. A UN scurce estimated 1,000 in October; various press accounts in December
placed the number between 2,000 and 4,000; and the Washington Post on December §
reported UN figures of 1,500 forelgn mufahedin and 1,500 Bosnian recrults.” Zs.o:n._s_o
muyahedin are not necessarily under the direct control of Iran, they share Iran’s fanatical
mﬁﬁgiig!ﬁ% appear o act as tactical alies on the ground In

Iranian intefiigence and terrorist related activities were particularly noteworthy in
1985. The MOIS developed an extraordinarily ciose working relationship with the Bosnian
intelligen 882?59.:»3&55 In addition to training, :siauieaia
operational direction a Pa

w«ﬂ ag.ggiﬁggﬁgi&!ﬁﬁ
Bosnlan officials a
_uansa.ruiu.srﬂuu o

- scaleon e

- ,
gawg%m&gg NR kan/Bosnia:
EE.EB;Su (R,

gggpx&uﬂ g?o—_z?!g
moﬂgrawo‘uuu )

sel Bosnlan government officials, such as

Sigea iuﬂunoﬂ::a_ﬂaﬁ-ﬁ_mnwwmﬁ&!_ﬂa w.._awo:__..u
5?8:8...6!!3!6%:— 1 the Iranians had demonstrated themselves to
be the Bosnia's only “true friends.

. i:-osogglrnuﬂ_az pervasive influence throughout Bosnia will not
manifest themselves for some time, the Iranian presence clearly does not bode weli for the
US. Based on past experience, iran can be expected to continue to tanget US citizens and
instaltations for temorist atiacks. Iran's continued efforts to radicalize the government and
paopie of Bosnia and 1o turn them against the US and the West will drive a wedge between
the free world and Bosnia. As for tran itself, the new economic ties with Bosnia will bring
Tehran much-needed foreign capital, undermining the effectiveness of US and UN
economic sanctions against lran. The ovemiding goal for which the Administration accepted
these ominous aucua.maﬁ_sawﬁs US interests — achievement of peace in the
former Yugoslavia — is now jeopardized by the lranian influence. As the next section
demonstrates, lran’s Influence has already presented the Clinton Administration with a
substantial — auu_.:mua;wns!u problem impiementing the Dayton Peace Accords.

The Green Light and the Dayton bnnoa_u
An Expedient mono:_l n impadimen

As this report is being written, ¥he Dayton Accords are coming unraveled and are,
on a day-hy-day basis, being amended and modified in perhaps the vain hope of keeping
them alive. If we assume that the accords were not flawed in their inception and thus could
have led fo peacs, then the sffects of the green light are even more tragic. President
Clinton and others in the administration argued that the green light decision made the
Dayton accords possible.™ In reaiity, the policy expedient of the green light - letting

< —— 5
e

* Galbratih's "Record,” May 26, _Sm.gg%ga_saa
Hatis Silajdzic, Bosnian Prime Minister).

* E.g., President Clinion at the Presidential News Conference with German
Chancelior Helmut Kohi (May 23, 1996). :
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malevolent Iran become the unchallenged benefactor of Bosnia — has undemmined the
Dayton peace Accords. -

The facts show that the residual effects of the green light — the wel-entrenched
Iranian presence and s pervasive and pemicious influence In Bosnia in effect delayed key
elements of the plan for gver six manthe. It also critically hampered efforts to bulld a multi-
sthnic, militarily defensible, and economically viable Bosnia dusing the scheduled one-year
IFOR plan. If IFOR is unable to complete fts work within the one year period and the US
extends the deployment of its forces in Bosnia (as appears almost certain), the green light
policy will have been a major if not principal cause.

According to Artice Il of Annex 1A of the Dayton Accords, all foreign forces,
including freedom fighters, trainers, volunteers, and advisors were to have been expelled
from Bosnia and Herzegovina no later than January 13, 1096, that is, thitty days after the
agreement went info effect. Certification of the withdrawal would allow the US to go ahead
with some of its more significant eflons to rebuild Bosnia economically and military so as
10 give the national entilies recognized by Dayton a reasonable chance of surviving past
the one year IFOR-supervised implementation plan. Armong these US initiatives is the
release of $100 million of surplus US military equipment and $70 mifion in economic
reconstruction assistance. :

Unfortunately, the Clinlon Administration, either oblivious o or dismissive of
inteliigence reporting on the subject, seriously underastimated the degree o which the
Iranians had managed to ingratiate themsetves with the Bosnian Musiim govemment and
infiltrate the Bosnian military, inteligence apparatus, and other govemment and public
organizations. In the months after the Accords were signed, the Administration repeatediy
found itself stymied in its efforts to convinca the Bosnian Muslims that Iran, who became
their most rellable ally under the green Tight policy. now had to be unceremoniously
removed. © -

This defiance of the Dayton Accords and the US became a
front-page story
February 15, 1896 when NATO forces saidad the joint Iranian-Bosnian ﬁ:am.a __.m,_.__n:m

Ayatoliah Khomein| wera prominently displayed on the walls eives
: ) n , and the bock-t
contained Iranian and other radical Muslim iterature. Admiral Leighton W, mwsoo_s.h the

. American commander of NATO forces in mogsom&.._aonu:.:mxawnosrasac:ag

what we found here is an abomination. No one can esca

) . pe the obvioug, that

“:u:ﬂﬁ_pgn&iﬂaoﬂm._aa.nz_ﬁg&_sn msnssmua.uanuumonuno:i_s_w”“”

_as.o—wamatsugiﬁsr A US intelligence official on the scene noted that “what
bothersome is the presence of Iranians on the ground . . . . There is no complaint that

!_:E_Esﬂaéaz.ggoagixxivin%g&

violate intemational accords are our great concems: ppea; tudents were
Bosnians and the instructors were Jrziag ~¢ + And X sppears the s

O:B_nﬁggsavrvau&oagouocﬁ.iuucamuo.ou ic, “Wi
E?EEFHERHFEESEEiQ%::ﬂ;%Eﬂ

.._X_:ﬂ.._ao!‘. NATO Links Rosnian Govemma
Tegorists, New York Times, Feb. 17, 1996, at 1.




Having had so Witle success in its direct dealings with the Bosnlan Mushim
government, the Clinion Administration in late February approached over fifty foreign
governments, principaly in Europe and the Middle East, asking them to lobby the Bosnians
to cut their ties with Iran. The talking points provided to the ambassadors, taken from
much more specific and damning inteffigence reports, nﬂ:m&unwn:conﬁaaiu:_n*?o
US's impatience in Bosniz in the wake of the green light.

- Iran has developed a security relationship with Bosnia as part of its long-
- term effort 1o promote mifitant Isiam and establish a strategic presence in the
Balkans. To achieve these goals, Tehran has followed a multi-pronged
program which includes providing arms, dispatching intelligence personnel
and military ramers and conducling high profite diplomatic efforts attached
o limited economic assistance. Irarn's long tem goals could undermine
Bosnia's future.
— Over the year, several hundred Iranian islamic Revotutionary Guerds
Corps (IRGC) troops have worked closely with the Bosnlan ammy. IRGC
perscnnel 2is0 are attempting 1o indoctrinate susceplible Bosnian military
persannel with the long-tesm aim of creating a refigiously motivated Bosnian
military sympathetic to Tehran's interest,

- The igence center near Fojnica, which IFOR raided on

> Christine Spolar, EEEEEEEE%
Post, Feb. 17, 19965, at AJ1.
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February 15, shows dramatically the dangers of the Iranian inteligence
presence.
-- We are concemed, however, that Bosnian government officials do not
seem {0 view the lranians as a threat to IFOR, US officials had cited the
Fojnica training area to Mr. wiww_nx during 3.m visit to Washington in early
December 1995 as one &l t of our ur tanding of the Iranian’s
presence.

- Iran continues to have the largest diplomatic mission is wua_m<o including
a large number of _35__52.8 officars.
= Given Iranian experience in providing intelligence training to countries as
well as radical |slamic groups, we ara concemed that Iranian intelligence
personnel will try to establish an inteligence training mission with the
Bosnian government circumventing the Dayton requirement that they be
withdrawn.

oS — especially Iran — have supplied more the [sic] 10,000
S:m oqinqawﬁ.ﬁs Bosnia, since mid-1894. Heavy franeport aircraft have
delivered arms and other military supplies to Pula airfield in Croatia where

onwagﬁnsmom:_mg_mao;qn_n unu:m&osons_a
countries.as conduits for ts arms shipments., @

The talking points went on to note that several Islamic termorist organizations, including
Hamas, Hizballah, and the Egyptian AFGama'at AMslamiyyah ~ which claimed
responsibiity for the October car bombing in Rjeka, Croatia — and extramists from Algeria
and Sudan established a presencs in Bosnia earty in the war.®

Desgpite this giobal diplomatic effort, the Bosaians did kittie to comply with the Dayton
Accords. In late March, three months after the accords were signed, Bosnia stil had not
expelled the lranians. This, acconding to several Depariment of Defense analyses,

revealed that the Bosnian govemment was umwilling to turn ks back on lran, the country

expelied, the Iranians offared 1o train and arm the Bosnians unilaterally. Moreover, the

“ Department of State Cable, State 038237, Feb. 27, 1996.
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LiS's “strong-arm” tactics, combined with the lack of enthusiasm of the Europeans to re-
arm Bosnia, had “convinced most of the Muslim leadership that future support from the
West may be ephemeral.” The report concludes that these tactors pius the fragile nature
of the Muyslim-Croatian federation means the Bosnian Muglims are Even more likely to
maintain ties with Iran and the Organization of the Istamic Conference.”” This assessment
mirrors_a Defense Intefligence Agency judgment “The Muslims appreciate Iran's
assistance during the conflict . . . . [They] are uniikely 1o cut their ties to Iran even f a
Western equipment and training program were in place.™ Similarly, a Department of
Defense report franidy corcluded that "because Iran has steadfastly helped Bosnla through
times of grave crisis, Bosnia considers 1t necessary to maintain ties 1o iran as a future
source of assistance after IFOR's withdrawal.™® The Defense Intelligence Agency wamed
that strenuous US efforts to force the Iranians out could result in Irantan terrorist reprisals.®

In the period from March through June 1986, the US continued regulary to
demarche the Bosnian government, which appears o be slowly bringing it closer to
compliance. In May, a State Depariment spokesman admitted that there were still "a lot™
of Iranians in Bosnia in a "big embassy” and that they make up a targe percentage of the
foreign mufahedin who remain.*' Finally, on June 26, 1996 — over five months behind
schedule — President Clinton cerlified to Congress that the Bosnian government had
fulfilled its obligation to reduce its relations with Iran, The careful wording of the press
statement and its admission of the sccpe and sericusness of the lranfan problem make it
worth quoting at length:

m!omsuu.u:_.a&? Dayton Ac:conds, the Bosnian govemment has
made major progress in meeting our demands on foreign forces and in
ending its military and intefigence relationship with Iran. Although some
individuals have assimilated into Bosnian society and assumed civitisn roles,

T US Army Special Operations Command, Intelligence Surmmary (10-06), Mar.
25, 1996.

* Nicholas Bums, Department of State Spokesman, Press Briefing (May 24,
1996).
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there is no evidence of any remaining organized Mujahedin units.

With respect to the iranians, the Bosnian govemment has assured
that all IRGC personnel we identified to them have left Bosnia. We have no
evidence that those IRGC remain . . ..

Although we have never demanded that all Iranian nationals depart

Bosnia or that Bosnia terminate diplomatic or economic relations with

Tehran, we have insisted that the Bosnlan govemment end bilateral

intelfigence cooperation in such operational areas as training and

investigaticns, and end af miitary tes. The Bosnian govemment has moved

- 1o end the operational military and inteligence relationship with lran. It has

removed from positions of authority key officials that were heavily engaged

n intelligence cooperation with tran, including the former head of the Bosnian
intelligence agency.

Congress conditioned appropriation of the final $70 miflion for
economic reconstruction assistance in FY 1656 on the President certifying
Bosnian compliance with these requirements. With this certification, these
funds will now be available to meet the needs of the Bosnian people and to
begin the long process of rebuilding the war-shattered Bosnian economy.
The President’s certification also removes a major stumbling biock o
ecommencing the US-ed program to train and equip Bosnian Federation
armed forces and to strengthening Bosnia's self-defense capability. We are
eager 10 move ahead with this program and will do so as scon as final
defense amangements between Bosnians and Croatians have been
completed, 2 .

Missing from this statement is an admission that this foraign policy problem was largely,
¥ not sntiraly, self-infiicied. Moreover, the certification is kself highly questionable. indeed,
intelligence information and a great number of press reports that appeared afler the
%sﬁa:ﬁé!:ﬁii&%g?%g
termed anything but an outright falsehood.

Within two weeks of the certification, US Ambessador 1o Basria John Menzies and
g%%?ﬂ!gg%gs;%

® Mike McCurry, isao:eﬁvaawonag EE
Secrudary, June 28, 1996.
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over the continued presence in Bosnia of lranians and other foreign Islamic militants.*
According to press reporting the State Depariment estimated their number “as less than
100."* However, NATO reports from the period estimated that as many as a hundred

Iranian fighters remained and as many as “several hundred” foreign Islamic militants
temained of all nationalities.™

The Boston Globa noted that the Prasident’s certification was wrong — Instead of
leaving Bosnia, “several hundred of the |slamic militants simply moved over to the Bosnian
pofice, with the encouragement of Bosnian President Alfa Izetbegovic's Pary of
Democratic Action.” The Globe went on o discuss the forced mamiage of Bosnian gids
to foreigners in order to make the forsigners eligible for citizenship and zetbegovic's use
of the mujahedin to harass and infimidate political opponents. The newspaper's editors
called upon the Administration to "make every effort to force [zetbegovic and his henchmen
1o disgorge foreign fighters who threaten peace and democracy in Bosnia,™

Al about the same fime, in early July, the Washinglon Post printed a lengthy pisce
on the open presence of amed, officialty-sanclioned, and frequently Iranian mujahedin in
Bosnia. According to the Post, despite the Clinton Administration's public assurances o
the contrary, "Bosnian officials said they think I hundred Istamic fighters are stil
here, and U.S. officials still think they pose a threat to U.S. forces.” The article also
referred to the movement of lange numbers of mufahedin out of the military and inta the
police. The article went on to say that the rematning foreign fighters, who “are establishing
themsetves in a broad swatch of central Bosnia.” are principally iranian and that they are
supported by President Alija Izetbegovic's Party of Democratic Action. The party uses
them as a “kind of paramilitary guard” to “temorize potential political opponents.” In Zenica,
the mujahadin are anmed and are free to do as they please. They are supported by the

= Barry Schweid, CIA Director, LLS ssador Quiary Lzethegovis about
lranian Fighters, Assoclated Press Wire Servics, July 8, 1096 (hereinaer “Schweid
articte™). Sea alsa, ClA Uirector Deutch Visits Bosnia, Assoclated Press Wire Service,
July 8, 1996. : . :

5 Schweild article.

75 Kurt Schork, Prassurs Grows, o Karadzic, [stamic Wariors, Reaters, July 8,
1996; Sae also Refet Kaplan, Bosnia Pasess Te ivey Mitllons from
LS, Washington Times, June 27, 1996, at A13.

* Editorial, Bosnia's Enemjes Within, Boston Globe, July 10, 1996, at 18.

&, 15 0 1 N0 I0 KecH

12"

who are loyal to
slarmic ica, which is controlled E.weaaus officials
nuoﬁooaqﬁ‘no_suﬂ__..%qogﬁgq seeks 1o establish an lslamic stale and, throughout the Eu_ﬂ_m ﬁm
helped fund the Iranian trained Seventh Musiim Brigade. The Center protecis Islareic
militants “because the men could play an _amonu:_ role in any Muslim state that mig
emerge should the Dayton accond collapse.™

i *acling in threatening ways,” Bosnians and NATO
is| %ﬁﬁonﬁﬂuw One Zm.oao»: officer recounted, “They [the foreign aam”_ww_
“nw.:cﬂqo:.& :ui%:ﬁwuﬁgousﬁom__. !1_ ﬁﬂﬂ.ﬂw.ﬂuﬂ»ﬁg o “_iw
saying, ‘1% kil <ac.w=! the elections, you Jewish pig. Z.._u__aainas =.o=3vo=__.5§u o

nections. s maet with
jons.” * i-uw_uoavo&&wagaou%.a‘w_oas
w.._%:ﬁ:a officials in as_._oaes_ siamic govemment of Sudan.®

Administration’ policy has effectively given the
nﬁ-_wo&. W“»m__:.:ﬂws_oﬁ they uoov“-nn_..nm: h..w_”_.ﬁn in Europe. That, in tum, has
ﬁﬁuﬂoﬁmﬂa%.:%sdﬂnﬁﬂog The US is now virtually impotent

ggma&- Bosnla Tarrorzed by Foreign Solglers fho A
Washington Tines, Aug. B, 1096, atA13. - .

'.—O—.SE.—.——-.OP nan Policeman )8
Washington Post, Aug. 18, 1996, at A29.

*id.
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CHAPTER 14

THE LEGACY OF THE GREEN LIGHT IN BOSNIA,
TODAY AND TOMORROW

Diminishing Hopes

As this report is being written — at the beginning of October 1996 - fewer and fewer
abservers of the political situation in Bosnia expect the Daylon peace process wiii lead to
its objective: a mutti-ethnic, democratic Bosnia. It is aiready certain that the process, as
originally defined by the Administration, witl fall in that quest. We are in the last few months
of what the Clinton Administration pledged was to have been a one-year commitment of
. US troops. The process is hopelessly bahind schedule, in large part, as we have shown,
due to the lingering Iranian presence in Bosnia. Recently, the Administration has begun
10 tatk of the “follow-tn™ commitment of US troops as part of an indeterminant, long-term
multinational forca. Virtually all agree that without such a multinational force, the factions
will resume fighting, and, rested and resuppfied, the human camage and destruction will
be greatar than ever,

Of course, the hope now is that a muilti-national force will remain and supervise
elections that will populate the democratic political structure envisioned by the Dayton
Accords. The elections, however, ace in serious trouble. They were to have taken place
on September 14, but campaign intimidation, voter fraud, and rampant disregard of the
Dayton Accord rules and procedures led the Organization for Security and Cooperation in
Europe (OSCE) on August 27 to postpone the municipal elections. OSCE's American
director in Bosnia, former US diplomat Robert Frowick, cited “across the board” and
“pervasive” imegularities and stated, “We're trying to do too much in too short a time.”
Although the same problems applied to the presidential and parliamentary elections, the
US succeeded in pressuring the QSCE to proceed with them, Bﬁa:oawo:.ong__ﬁ_
any backiracking in Bosnia could affect Clinton's re-election campaign.

caﬂogﬁgggsézw%s%ﬁg
towands the kleal of a democratic, multi-ethnic state. Although the Bosnian population ls

‘Qﬁw—-—aﬂa- Municipal Flections in Bosnia Postpol
Troop Pullout, New York Times, Aug. 28, 1996, at 6.

* John Pomfret, 1S Diplomat Dalays [ ocal Voting in Bos nia Washington Post
Aug. 28, 1698, at 1.

anxious to find a political solution that will allow all Bosnians to live in peace, the
September 14 elgctions shawed that the political leadership of the three communities --
Serb, Croat, and Muslim — succeeded in stacking the decks o make sure their supporiers,
that is the most revanchist and nationalistic elements, will dominate within their zones of
influence. In this way, elections are simply providing window-dressing for the athnic
partition of Bosnia, hardening the fines of division rather than dismantling them. As the UN
High Commissioner for Refugees in Bosnia had predicted, elections in Bosnia “will produce
hard-line winners and xenophobic nationatists committed to the maintenance of hostile,
homogeneous statelets.”

The behavior of the Serb and Croat poditical factions in this deteriorating process
has been prediclable. From the beginning they have sought separation from what they
b:lieve could be a Muslim-dominated, united Bosnia. Indeed, despite a superficlal
commitment in Daylon to a unified Bosnia, most Bosnfan Serb and Croat political and
military leaders have as their ill-disguised true objective an alliance with, it not outright
integration, into Serbia and Croatia, respactively. True to form, the Serbs have been the
most visible in their flaunting of the OSCE rules. The Croatians, too, as has been shown
in their brinkmanship with the OSCE over the govenance of Mostar, are reluctant
participants in the building of secular political institutions, The only remaining hope for the
Dayton Acconds, therefore, Is that they will provide a framework in which the three factions
will be able to move peacefully towards some form of political partition; the prospect of a
unified Bosnia is all but hopeless.

zetbegovic and the Radicalization the Muslim Political Leadership

1t is the abandonment of secular and democratic principles by the Bosnian Muslim
political leadership, particulary by President |zethegovic and his Party of Democratic
Action {SDA), that s the most surprising and disappointing fallure of the Bosnian political
elite to rise tothe challenge of the electoral process mandsted by the Dayton Accords.
Under the leadership of President lzetbegovic, the Mustins have, in the years since the
dissolution of Yugosiavia, frequently tried to calm the fears and suspicions of the Serb and
Crosat minorities by emphasizing a commitment to secufarism and the protection of minority
demacratic rights. Increasingly, though, the radicalized SDA has taken refuge In
nationafism and & divisive emphasis on the Islamic identity of Bosnia, The SDA now,
controking a pluraiity of the Bosnian poputation (some forty percent ans Muslirn), appears
single-inindedly intent that only Bosnia be unified under its domination.

i
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SDA, and allied partles may very well be authoritarian, (slamic, and a refuge for .n__._.
Westem, anti-American radicals.

Wheo exactly is Izethegovic snd what role will he piay in shaping the future of
Bosnia? A senior Western diplomat with fong experience in the region has been quoted
as saying, “If you read President Izetbegovic's wriings, as | have, there is no doubt that
he is an Jsiamic fundamentalist . . .. Ha is a very nice fundamentalist, but he |s stil a
fundamentalist. This has not changed. His geal is to establish a Muslim state in Bosnia,
and the Serbs and the Crostians understand this betler than the rest of us,”

Izethegovic was Irained as an Istamic scholar and a fawyer, and i his writings he
mrozamnomuic&cgégimio pofitical and religious thought, but alse of the
development of Westem political phitosophy. Nonetheless, over the decades he has been
a constant and strong Islamic political activist and was twice arrested during the Tito era
for his cails for Istamization” of the Yugostavian Musfims.

Two of Izetbegovic's books are available in the West, fsfam between East and Wast
and The Isiamic Declaration. fslam Batween East and West i a scholarly work treating
a variety of theclogical and philosaphical lssues. The Islamic Daciaration, is more
revealing of Izetbegovic's practical palitical beliefs since it was wiitlen to be, as it is
subtitied, "a programme of the Islamization of Maslems and Mosiem peoples.® I was
written in 1870 and fegally copled and circulated .

.ogmxo%a. Basnian Leader Hails slam st Election Rafias, NY Times, Sept.
2,1998,at 7. ‘

* Alija Izetheguvic, The islamic Daciarating, {1970} (hersinafter “Tha Islamic
Deciaration’).

1

: . tto
's first page the goal “Islamization of Moslems” and the mo!
.wa_rhshiuﬂoh:u... '3 ﬂm Suﬁaao the East and West "for Injecting their ideas w:h
capital, and by this new fomm of Influence . . .Eonw:aguﬁmwagui gi!o&uunuon
natians spitituatly weak and materially and politically dependent.” |zetbegovic p "
ggtm%éﬁ_«ﬂanﬁﬂﬂ_ﬂiw«wgn ._.wu-ﬂnua
xistence between the ‘Islamic ' ‘non-lslamic’ social
poal it o n..oa:u o ros nd ..___33._3.. sources Sunmﬂ_soss_._su
must control natural resources al .
H.H«H%‘Ms_.nﬁu wpbringing of the people, in uﬂwﬁaﬁ .....u&?w auum_ﬁnﬂu.an_ﬂ_mc:dn press,
radic, tefavig nd film ~ shoukd be controfled by peop o moral
__sonmnﬂiu_o:hﬁ&x.é igggaggn.zﬁﬁigaﬁﬁ
o suﬁiiaaswwmmo:ﬁﬂﬁs and nﬁa_.oﬂs%ﬂ,._”ﬂaa.m&a.
right moment is always a § ques i O e
R Is & jeneral rule: 1slamic order should and can app
zgoggoszo.ﬁqu _“.._._Manm uoa.ﬂ as it is morally and :...___s.._nu__x.ued:u o:o.._u_. not o__,&_ 1]
overthrow the non-lstamic rule but develop new Islamic rule.™ Izetbegovic also bel Sﬁas
that eventually grssgg%nﬂug.gaqﬁ _o_!.:"oann»ou.x_
i nationa — economic, cu and political ~ for coordinated

gﬁ?é ___..nan.oﬂ_..nﬂoco_reﬂ Muslims must *strugge to create a large Islamic
federation streiching from Monocco to Indonesta, and from tropical Africa to Cendral Asia.

Tid a1,
"\ at2a.
i, at28,
® 4, at 38,
"4 atds.
"4 at4e.
nyg
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Since the political process in Bosnia has been open, even if it has not been fair, the
intemational press has been free 1o document the radicalization of the Muslim political elite
up o and in the aflermath of, the September 14 elections.™ During the campaigning,
NATQ officials and intenational monitors in Bosnia described an officlally sanctioned
campaign to terrorize the political opposhion - Muskm and non-Muslim — of President
Izetbegovic. The campaign, orchestrated by the intefligence service, (BAID), ragularly
used hundreds of mn_.am:_ agents, police officers, and thugs 1o disrupt the political raliies
of the opposition.* These thugs illegally detained and interrogated the opposition, even
resorting to physical abuse and violence. Political parties that were not as stridently
nationalistic and Islamic as the SDA were particularly targeted for attack.' )

This campalgn of intimidation was particularly fierce in its harassment of President
Izetbegovic's most prominent Muslim opponent, former Bosnian Prime Minister Maris
Silajdzic. Silajdzic established a Feputation during the war as being more secular in his
orientation than Izetbegovic and concemed about Iranian influence and the radicalization
of Bosnla. Accordingly, he campaigned against the increasing stridency of the Iglamic and
exclusivist message of President Izethegoavic and the SDA. Silajdzic rejected Izetbegovic's
belief that in order %o unify Bosnia, the Muslims must build & strongly nationalist Islamic
party to counter the Croat and Serb nationalists who want o pariition the country.'

—

'* There is also a great deal of intelligence information providing details at a
greater specificily than needed in this report. In this section, the Subcommittes has

drawn upon Intefligence reporting only to the degres necessary to complement open
source reporting.

™ Mike O'Connor, The Onposition n Boania Faces Teqor Tachics
Aug. 18, 1996, at 1 (hereinafter "0 , The Oppasition . . 7).

" Pomfret, Bosnia’s Muslim . . . supra note 4 at 22,
** O'Connor, The Opposiion . . . upa note 19 at 1.
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ilajdzic believed the way to prevent pantition is to build secular parties and institutions
Muam to all mou_..ﬁ:m.om..w E&_..o_dm«. SDA youth activists with the help of the local _B_,..,...o
and SDA attacked Silajdzic in June 1996, hitting him on the head with a metal pipe.
Because of this outrage, the OSCE struck seven SDA candidates from the _on.m_ slate. The
result, howaver, was an increase in SDA harassment and more illegal police arrests of
opposition party members.™

As observed by Michael Steiner, the second in command of the Fﬁ:ﬂw_u:m_ civilian
effort to oversee the pcace agre t, Bosnian Muslim leaders “just don't want H..m
American and European concept of the free flow of ideas; ._...3._ want to ..uo_.__a_ ideas.

The degree to which President Izetbegovic's party has aligned itself with Iran and
abandoned wom< pretense at secularism was caplured in a report from New York Q.q_mu
comespondent Chris Hedges in September.® He reported ona nmaum_e=._.n__< _.m_.n_ ina
remote mountainous region of Bosnia. Such raflies, Hedges reports, were “not nnm_n__mm_.
to afleviate the fears of those who believe he [Izetbegovic] wanls o set up a Muslim state,
The rally began with religious music, folowed by Koranic prayers. Speeches were
drowned out by cries of "God is grest in Amabic, White-clad ,.._5_5 agn_masm%ﬁ green
head-bands inscribed with Koranic verses gignafing their willingness to die for 1slam, were
in attend: And, President lzetbegovic himsell issued "a call to arma filled with
promisas never {o forget the sacsifice of the 'martyrs.”

Alongside |zethegovie on the dias was the Iranian amb dor and his Irani
§<ncwaﬂu. The ambassador was the only foreign diplomat, indeed the only foreigner,

ling with the President on the campaign swing. The Ambassador’s presence, Hedges
noted "lent a silent Islamic imprimatur to the event, one that many American and European

" |d ; Pomiret, Bosnia’s Mustim _ . ., saspra, note 4 at 22; Mike O'Connor, As
E; stn, Dowhts Grow on Bosnia Vode, NY Fimes, Sept. 4, 1996, st 14
%doﬁ.ﬂ.E

= O'Connor, As Intimidafion Persists . . . supra note 19 at 14.

* Mike O'Connor, Sun
Aug. 28, 1006, a1 8.

HQ:_.FT% Bosnian | a3
2,1996,at 7.
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supporters of the Bosnian Govemment are trying hard to ignore or dismiss,"?

In the weeks that followed, 1zetbegovic kept up his close contact with the Iranians,

purged his parly of supporiers "not consklered i " i
marginalize Serbs and Croatians in the no,..w:._ao_.:_.w._m e enough.” and continued to

The SDA campaign seeks 1o achieve more than j it jecti
; € just political objectives. Accordi
3 aa.m:. Istamic militants, including Iranian.backed Eaﬁ%hus_ﬁ with ____._—m

Europe. It has become increasingly Emam:_nmu_ in pushing a radical aganda of political

Islam that has devel, out of B ’s friendship wi

Administration did _.E.a_u_._a_._o a pol y o _.i:. ietic b st
r | not | icy In Bosnia to mini ization rather

throwing the Bosnians info the arms of Iran's ayatoliahs. e radical " ten

The lranian and Foreign Radical Islamic
Presance and influence Today

A number of press reporis in September indi waca,
presence of Iranians and foreign Islamic gﬁw_ﬂﬁﬁ%uhﬁﬂgmﬁ g the

» See alsn, Mark M, Nelson, Elections, Far Feom Lishering In. Pes B
Eg — m PO I 1 l.w aln ANS0 Bé .
of Islamic rallies *rife with the sounds and -ﬁ&n«.aﬁ%ﬂs@. o ter

* Chris Hedges, Thres L eaderssf New B
Times, Sept. 18, 1996, at 6. e

)
:mnwﬂmuugﬁﬂ. U.S. News and World Report, Sept. 9, 1996, at 16

3

NATO officials and Western diplomats report that the Iranian-backed Hamas,
Hizballah, and lslamic Jihad organizations stil have training camps
throughout Muslim-controlied areas, with many of their members managing
1o stay in Bosnia with false documents or else because of forced marriages
1o Bosnian women and girls.®

NATO officials estimate that throughout Bosnia as many as a “couple of
hundred” Iranian and other foreign militants remain, _un&oc_m_.w in central
Bosnia. The town of Bakotici alone has as many as 50 to 400.

President 1zetbegovic has shrugged off requests that he expel a group of
Middie Eastemn fighters who threatened to kili US troops and civilians. The
threat was so intolerable that on September 12, the US had lodged a formal

_ demand that the figghters be expelied.”

A senior NATO official stated that there were large numbers of foreign
mercenaries present in Bosnia who are trained as fighters and terrorists.
These mercenaries, who are closely allied with Iranian intelligence, are
awaiting orders to set off car bombs and carry out assassinations and are
"poised” o strike.”

As racently as the fourth week of September, US entreaties to President
Izetbegovic 1o tum out foreign Islamic militants were “ignored.” Nonetheless,
the US again approached the Bosnians with a request that they expel senior
Iranian intefligence operatives.®

Fundamentalist activities in Bosnia confinue 1o be covertly funded by iran
and are supporled by President Izetbegovic and his close colleague, Deputy

B_O—.iuI%. . feiders Brng . 1aiam -
23, 1996, at 1 (hereinafter Hedges, Cutsiders...").

= John Pomfrat, L. sts Midaas
Sept. T3, 1996, at A34 (hereinafter “Pomfret,

or 10 the Balkans, NY Times, Sept.

Fighters In Bosnia, Washington Post ,
US Profests ., "),

* Hedges, Quisiders . . ., supra note 27 at 1.
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Defense Minister Hasan Cengic.”

In these circumstances, it is no wonder that the current situation in Bosnia has been
characterized as a ime bomb waiting lo go off."?

Cengic, a Muslim dlefic, is an Important player in Bosnian political and govemmental
affairs and has obstructed US efforts 1o reduce iranian influence in Bosnia, As the senlor
Muslim in the Defenss Minisiry, he is its effectual head. His is a long-time friend of
Izetbegovic, and the two were co-defendants in a 1983 trial for fomenting Musiim
nationalism in what was then Yugoslavia, Cengic, who has lived in lran, was responsible
for the logistical and financial operations of the Iranian afvs pipefine. In addition io being
avowedly anti-secular and open in his admiration of Iran/§

E———"

The British have expressed their concem to the US that someone with this
background and affinity for Iran should be the principal Bosnian administrator of the over
$100 million US program to train and equip the Bosnians.™ Interestingly, a senior US
official has also identified Cengic as being “the biggest obstacle™ to the smooth operation
of the program.® Difficulties encountered have included Bosnian efforis to shake down the
US assistance program with "laxes" and charging exorbitant prices for simple logistic
sarvices. Even if one were not to know Cengic’s background and clandestine affiliation
with Iran, his actions clearly indicate his objective Is to preserve Iranian and militant tstamic
influences in the Bosnian military and 1o keep the US influence 1o a minimum.

A second individual who is working actively to counter US efforts at minimizing the
influence and activities of Iran in Bosnia is irfan Ljevakovic, Ljevakovic is known for his
“strong ties” to Iran and his work in getiing the Middis Eastemers into Bosnia to help wage

 Washinginn Whispers, supra fiate 25.
3 Hedges, Outsklans . ., supm nole 27 at 1,

* Pormifret, LS Protests . . ., supra note 28 at A34.

* joha Pomfret, Eirst American Aqms Shipmant Amives in Basnia, Washington
Post, Aug. 30, 1996, at A28.
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i i€ ' DA with Izetbegovic,
the war.?® Interestingly, Lievakovic, who was a co-founder of the SDA\
now also serves as a senior officer in the BAID Sn_,m»._uo_an.s At this un.:».:a..ﬁ&:%aoncnc:s_oq
as no surprise that he is the very individual _no_n._neaﬁ has made the principal
with the US in discussing lranian and mujehedin issues.
Inteligence infprmation confirms much of the above and amplifies it, sometimes in

frightening detall. ANEERMEsSSEESUEN

. is polith while their
ile the Iranians have lowered theis political _maaouuoaﬁi:mru:n
:::._Uoﬁ:nwoammono .._».._a:n: earty 1896, the US inteliigence community has concluded
that, notwithstanding President Clinton’s certification, the lrankan presence in Bosnla
has actually begun to increase again since June 1996

* pomifret, US Prolests ., suprs aote 26 al A34.
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The Iranian Gresn Light and the Future of Basnla: ’
Worrying Signs

In contemplating the ramifications of the Administration's green fight policy on the
future, we cannat speculate on each of the possible permutations of the polifical future of
Bosnia. R is sufficient here to note that it appears increasingly unlikely that Bosnia will
emerge as a stable, multi-ethnic democracy. Either peacefully or through war, there will
Hikely be a de faclo or de jure partition of Bosnia into factions ethnically dominated

autonomous regions or states, possibly followed by annexations of the Iredentist areas
into Croatia and Serbia.
A US intelligence assessmen t u_dvmia Se >¢u_._=§u a Bosnia~ Muslim state survives this process, it will be the indelible mark
eplember 1996 concluded tiat the
MOIS actively camies an in Bosnia a :o@iuﬂza inimicable ch_am_dm_ﬂ of Iran as a result of the green light. The Bosnia govemment uses Iranians and utner

forelgn mujshedin as political, ideological, and religious 3:383333 2_
a

oﬂﬂigggga&g_n e.!ﬁﬂauaazoua_ann_u_ _._._
d intefigence and temorist activities, some of which

This is the grim legacy of the Administration’s _iqﬁaaao:anzg.gauaﬁﬂ
be acknowledged if we as a nation are to work {0 neutrafize .

7 St Szcomrios v o) TS
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SECTION FOUR: CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER 15
nnnnn USIONS

Much of this report is classified and must undergo a declassification process before
it can be shared with the public. That process is, by law, in the hands of the Executive
Branch. Due to difficulties the Select Subcommittee has had with the Clinton
Administration's hiding behind classification statutes so as to avoid declassifying
embarrassing information — and there is a great dea here highly embarrassing to the
Administration — we are not hopeful that this process can be completed successfully,
particulady in the near future. )

?gg.gmnggaﬁaéggzuﬁ_@.no
best it can, the results of the investigation. For this reason we have crafted the following
conclusions in a way that they do not referenca proparly or improperly “classified”
information. They are, therefore, less precise and comprehensive ~ and less pointed —
than they would otherwise be, but they may, at least, be shared publicly.

It is our hope that the Administration wi relent in its efforts to conceal the history of
Swaaaagﬁagsg?g%iagzzwéusng&
complete version of the full report which fully documents the condlusions surmenarized
below -- and much, much more,

1. The Administration's Iranlan green light policy gave Iran an unprecedented
foothold In Europe and has recklessly endangered American lives and US
strategic Interasts.

The Clinton Administration, unable to convince the Unitad Nations to follow its lead

wheeling slyle, and an open attitude towards Iran — pressed policy-makers 0 consider a
" scheme whersby Iran would be afiowed to act as the US sumogats in providing militarlly
assistance to the Bosnians, .

The President's decision 10 give Iran a green Sght in tha Balkans allowed Iran to

expand its economic and diplomatic refations, as well as esiablish a military, security, and -
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inteftigence pressnce so expansive it became the langest concentration of official Iranians
ouiside the Middle East. The consequences have been far-reaching and pemicious. Thay
persist o this day.

In Croatia, a govemment that had before the green light been a consistent ally in

“ali-but-out-of-control” relationship with Iran In the wake of the green Tight.

The consequences of the green light policy have been much, rmuch worse in Bosnia.
After the Administration gave the green fight, Iran virtually overnight became the unrivaled
foreign benefactor of the Bosnian govemment. As a result, the Bosnian govemment
became less secular and democratic and mora opan in its embrace of a radical Islamic
political aganda acceptable to lran but inimicabls to US nafionat ccﬂ.i?.e._»o.dsum_&

These disturbing yet clearly foresesable developments leave no room for doubt that
the Administration’s green light to Iran - of all countries — may have doomed the only real
hope for Bosnla: the development of soclal and political institutions founded on respect
for human rights and democratic principles. Somehow the Administration falled 1o see the
short-term expediancy of its franian green jight was a long-term curse on the Bosnian
peopla.

Even now, the Administration is having to cope with the faliout from its policy. Iran's
pemicious influence and the Bosnian political lsadership’s private thralidom to Iran are
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&..E%E-gisazcinﬂt:s-gn_.ses
CONSOGUENCes.

The Administration's decision 10 lssue the gresn light was rsached hurriedly and

without a full knowledge of the relevant facts. Traditional consultetive mechanisms were

- iranian green policy was Inconsistent with - indead antitheticsl to —~
> Hﬂ%hﬁil&gai

The Clinton Administration has shown an admicable consistency in edvocating and
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Itis impossible to reconcile the Administration’s much-ballyhooed public um:&.&
isolating _géﬁggag.aagnaaiﬁgﬁgaagﬂﬁ.

5. .-“_._.)aa_:_-...&o_..- duplicity has seriously damaged US credibliity with its
allles. - -

=ng_n§£5w>ui=§ueo:|o:n=§=uuu_w§u§n:§ugw_mo=
multhaterafism — has in E%En&:o.zaonoceaz%ﬂ?. Iranian green light policy,
?%gzﬂﬂgguggﬁiggsgo‘?ngg
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and commitments.

On numerous occasions, senior Administration officials, including the President,
dafended their unwilingness 1o arm the Bosnlan Muslims unless the UN arms embargo
was lifted. Two reasons were emphasized. Firsl, the Administration professed en
unbreakable fidelity 10 the letter and spirit of UN Security Councl resolutions, even when
inconvenient for the US, because a strong UN represented the very best possibility of
creating a stable, more Just and responsible world order. Second, the Adminisiration
repeatedly counsaled Congress and other countries that we must keep faith with our allies
in the Contact Group. Any move by the US to break the embargo, they argued, would
endanger aflied soldiers on the ground in Bosnia as part of UNPROFOR and, therefore,
lead to the evacuation of European troops.

At the same time the Administration was making these high-minded arguments
about the need o respect both intemationally agreed upon rules and US alfies, it was
working assiduously behind the scenes o undermine them, The message this sends is

dear: 1) so long as you publicly support intemational law, you may privately do virualy -

anything you want, and 2) it woukl be a foolish ally, indeed, that trusted this Administration
1o act in concert and in accordance with its agreements.

1t is no wonder that our aliles have been less willing to follow the US Tead during the
past months in any number of international arenas.

In the Iranian green lHight matter the Administration has squandered our affies’ good
will and trust in ue, Moreover, it did 80 in pursult of a short-sighted and eventually self-

- destructive poficy.

8. The Administration repeatadly deceived the American people about its iranlan
green light policy.

Rather than fodlow the traditional practice of deflecting questions and refusing o
tomment on allegations of particularly sensitive foreign activities of the US govemment,
Clinton Administraion officials, including the President, directfy and through press
spokesinen and preas statemants, repeatadly deceived the American pecple in an effort
ﬂ%vgggig_gnﬂggsgfgaag

Batkans.

. These are just 3 fow of many examples: -
. *The Uniled States is hot, underline not, cavertly supplying arms or supporting the
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a..uv?& 8 i - ‘
oiag_..o_.w._._.a the Bosnian govemment, (Secretary of Siste Wamen

iosgswéao.oo:g:usw.na
(Department of State, in response s certzinly are not tuming a bind eye.”
ams 1o Bosnia,)? 192 question about the US rule in getting Iranian

. “No." (President Clinton In response to a "
D . question i i W
orchesirating the ransfer of anma o the Bosaian Musimary T O ved

. * The Administration delibarately concealed
the President's ranian green light dectaion 5 T COngTess regarding

3
Department of Stats Cable, State 09237, Apr. 14, 1905,

* The Lata Edition: US Denies F haling
telovision broadcast, July 28, 1908y, 0 s io Bosnian Muskns (CNN
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the US policy to isciate Iran. In taking measures that circumvented the embargo and
frusirated the bipartisan Congressional policy of isclating Iran, itis highly disturbing that the

Administration not only did not take arvy steps o consult with or even inform Congress, but
said things that, in retrospect, can only be viewsd as intentionally misleading.
L 8 Several Administration officlals gave false testimeny to Congress on the

development and implementation of the Iranian green light policy.

The Seloct Subcommitiee, in addition o reviewing reams of documents in its
investigation, ook swom depositions from 27 individuals who wers in key positions of
particutar importance for understanding the events under examination. The Subcommittee
interviewed another 50 or mors psople less central o the investigation or who were
direcind by the White Houss not to provide swom testimony on the basis of executive
vvvvv Comparing the statements of several individuals, it is apparent that there are
serious material discrepancies over several matters central 1o the Subcommitiee's
investigations.

The Select Subcomenittes is truly disturbed that it recaived testimony and

Moreover, the Select Subcommitiee is further dismayed that swom testimony
provided by Ambassadors Peter Galbraith and Charles Redman, both before the House
intemational Relations Commitiee and the Select Subcommittes, Is not supported by
evidence uncovered through this investigation.

Accordingly, the Subcomimitiee is referring this matier to the Departiment of Justice
for further criminal investigation.

9.  There Is evidencs that Ambassador Pater Galbralth may have sngaged in
activities that could be characterized as unauthorized covert action. The
svidencs is sufficlent to warant referrat to the House Permanent Ssiect
Commities on Intslligence for further investigstion and action within its
jurisdiction.

There is avidence that Ambassador Galbraith played a significant supervisory role
with respect to st least one trantan weapons transshipments through Crostia. Ou!-_s_.“

. Tothe extent he activel i .
ams pipaline, thers ly Participaled in the formation and execution of the franian

P I8 & high probabillty that
dipiomatic acthvties and engaged in he overstepped the bounds of tradition|
of a Presidential finding and iggngcaﬁiiao%ﬂeooo«mu Mun__o_._ oo_dc_ﬁu_ﬁ kenn the absence

10.  The Central Inteiyj
gence Agency axercised so
participats in activitles that might r und fudgment in its refusal to
fifegal covert action, might h rwiss led to an Inadvertent and

?a.maﬂw&.m%asroﬂaﬂu change in US policy 1o the graen §
Okl ot keep it adequately nformed, " mnistration side-stepped the Cia ane
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Despite the President's assurance to Congress that his Administration would
“cooperata flly” in s examination of the iranian green light policy, the Administration has
repeatedly placed serious, unnecessary obstacles in the Select Subcommittee’s way,

In July the Subcommittee lested the Administration’s commitment fo cocperate by
asking the Department of State 10 review three documenis for declassification that are
essential to ggg&i?n&i%ﬁé!ﬁ%ﬂ
opposed o how # has been publicy portrayaed by the Adménistration. After over one month
of deliberation and several missad deadiines, the Department finally responded by refusing
to deciassify any part of two of Eugaozﬁigg uu_.ox_-i.n_w _._n_q
&#isanon_:azpq: as despite the fact that a umﬁaEuoao:
documents pertained to 933»5».796—55 testified about publicly (with “s) JE
several Administration officials.

the Administration, gg_ﬁ’:ﬂo nuoio_.m!aoau!._.iioaur_.-
:onmzcoo:ng_ﬂnao: the policy-making community in Washington. Follow-up

iimﬁlgnuzﬁiﬂhsm%li%
knproper action. Accordingly, at the request of Chairman Hyde, the Information Sacurity
Oversight Office has launched an invesligation of the Department’s behavior in this cass.
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A. Budget, Biographies, and Acknowledgments

SELECT SUBCOMMITTEE BUDGET AND STASF

A. BUDGET

House Resolution 4 ESQH& e eslablishment of a2 Sefect Subcommitiee on

417 , 1
conduct an investigation. ?mgiggi%?g&g
in the most economical manner possible. The Congress budgetad $995,000,00 for a
period not to exceed six months.
B. MAJORITY STAFF
Chief Counsal Richard J. Pocker

Richand J. Pockers is presertly a paniner in the Nevada iaw firm of Dickerson,

: Dickersor, Consut and Pocker, engaged prmarly in %.Eo&o Prior o gﬁwa!ﬁs

3&8:@328&538::@ Slates Attorhey's Office in 1.as Vegas, Nevada as
nt United States Attomsy, the Chiaf Assistant United gg!ﬁh«ﬁn

; gcizmggnﬂa.og—n Nevada, appointed to the fatter position by

U.S. Altomey General Richard Thomburgh.
During bis career as a Federat prosecator, M. gg@!ﬂoﬁi

against ua%an._o_..-uaﬂia_!_ Montana. In the late 1980's, Mr. Pocker's
%gﬁggggiggﬁgéig
his receiving the Direciors’ Special Commendation Award from the U.S. Department
Justice and the Chief Posial Inspecior's Special Awand for Excelience of Performance in
the Administration of Justice. Ha is a 1080 graduate of the University of Virginia School
of Law, and a vetaran of the United States Army Judge Advacata Genecal’'s Comps
S Diractor John 1. Willls

John Millis previously worked for the House Fermmanent Select Committes on

B oversightof most CIA, Defense Inteligence Agency, and Bl inteligence activiies.

rior to his work on Capiiol Mi, Mr, Mili served for 12 years in the CIA's
1)
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gﬂiioﬁ%ﬁ!%ﬁ%ﬂ%i%r»ﬁé&%
posts in Asla and Africa. _a._uu._.ﬁuan_uogwngiuqun_o«n_o__:ﬁ!_ign
Baison cfficer to the National Securlty Agency (NSA) and Executive Assistant to the Deputy
Direclor of NSA. Mr. Millis graduated from Wake Forest University in Bwu.maa nuasawa
graduate schocl at the University of Chicago and Banaras Hindu University, India. He
received an M.A. and Ph.D. {with distinction) from Chicage.

Deputy Chisf Counsel Patrick B, H..__._.nc

Patrick B. Mu Sisaégiiﬁﬁwguufng
Comnittee from ...n:::muq“ 4995 through May 1996. His primary responsibilities involved
crime issues panding before the Committes. He assisied Chairman Hyde in the drafting
and ulimata enactment of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996, which
was signed into law on April 24, 1996 (P.L. 104-132).

Bafore moving to Washington in 1895, Mr. Murray was an Assistant United States
Aftorney for the Northem District of Wlinots, in Chicago, Iflincis. He served the United
States Justica Department in that capacity since 1990, He was involved in prosecuting
major narcotics offenses, and white collar crimes, including mall and wire fraud and public
commuption cases. Prios o joining the Justice Department, Mr. Murray was engaged in the
private practice of law as an Associate with the firm of Clausen, Milter, Gorman, Caffrey,
& Witous P.C., also in Chicago.

M. Murray is a graduate of 16 DePaul University College of Law (J.D.} and
received his undergmduate degree from Creighton University (B.A.)-

) Assoclate Counsel Michase! K. Young

Michael K. Young, is a Fuyo Professor of Japanese Law and Legal Instituions:
Qg.gsqih?rcﬁagaggqagsrimgga
Columbla University. Mr. Young was a law clerk to Justice Benjamin Kaplan of the
9&!3%08;%%.*3?;.353«““8?:.%
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transters from Islamic countries, principally Iran, to the
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In reply, I told
to advise on this issus. I urged

sought for the second ..‘w\.mkd
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that what I zaid the Jay bafors
- =till stood, that I had no instructions from Washington on hov

to focus not

s only on what I had said ysstarday, but on vhat I had pot said.
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Asbassader Redsan told wIt is your
decision to makXe. We don’t vant to be in the position of

saying ne.*

reasp to 1 for ¢
Varshbouw
that 1 was to tall

 5T)

- 16d)

. in
ia 1 wvas told by Sandy

1 d4id not

hava instructions st this time. On April 29, at 9:30 P.M., in
a . fon with walkez, Jennone conveyed & masssge
from Tony Laka that wy instructions werd to say I had no

. instructions* but that Tony had said this "uith raised eysbrovs
and a smile.” On April 30, Sandy-Vershbow again vold me o

relay a no-Instructions sessige to

clearly draving his

attention to the idea va were not szaying no. Finally, in & Hay

2 wat

to me an

|
instruction from Tony Lake that 1 hot report tha .oaq:._nﬂuun—o..
with In a May 5 conversation, Vershbow sald, atter 1

sation with

d and my
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Chuck have taken 1€-essCtly whire we vant to bet
Iz ...\a.v

In a May § convarsation vith De ‘
Talbott sald the i ions were :M..mv. u-nn-m“:nm Talbott,

1 1)
explained that anything
short of & statement that the Croats should not n-nu..:nn«h ﬂ-.-..a
flow of Iranian arms to the Basnfans would be underitood as 3
U.3. green light

. nmv

Talbott said we

rgo. did 1ot vant to be sen as undermining the /3 (¥,

‘...,ﬂn.,\

1 told hinm of the order ., .
n!nﬂ-ﬂm report the April 29 conversatioh and asked if he ' (9.
wan it reported. Re said the answer is almost certainly
H.J.. but Steve cxman or Sandy Varshbov would be in .

il

Lpeter w. calbraitn
Ambassador
May &, 1994

Tc the best of my knouledge, the facts im this
” statement
numo-o..upq-nn. The conversations described hetain vare a1
.5-.u¢wm»“ by Esn: ssador Galbraith, #nd in the case of the "' -
tetak
hey toon »v.-nn..u* ® notetaker shortly after
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
On May &, 1996. the United States House of Representatives vored 10 establish and Fund

the Select Subcommitiee on the United States Role in Iranian Arms Transfers to Croatia and

Bosnia (the “Select Subcommittec™). The Select Sub ittee was authorized 1o investigate

and report on all aspects of United States go policy regarding ship of arms and
other assistance from Tran 1o the countrics of the ?Bﬂ.d:uﬁ.neﬂ from September 21, 1991
until fune 1996, the period in which an internationa] arms embargo was in effect for the region.
The scope of the F«ﬂmuﬂwo,s included the impact, if any, of such policy upon the safety and
presence of United States troops stationed in and around Bosnia, the refations between the United

States and its allies, and upon United States effons to isolaie fran.

.EH_&zoPEomn_un_nr ittee was authotized 10 investigate and report on

ications and rep i S.__nun%_nui__.nngmaaon__ﬁcas._mﬁﬁa

ﬂgﬁmg#zww.ﬁnmsﬁiiinau%!i United States participation in the:
\terationa) amms tzxbargo, Finally, the Select Subcommities wa autborized to determine what
actions were taken 8%-36..58«%3. comversely, %o cover up such matters. In
onder to report is findings, the Seloct Subcommitiee was empowered o Teview all retevant

deliberations, discussions, E&E%ﬂ?ﬁiﬁi?%wﬂﬁﬂoﬁ-ﬂg as well

" a5 2l communications betwem the United States Go and other go

organizations, or individuals. .
?a§:§a<§aié§%§§m§nﬂi§&€3.

berough review ofthousands af pages of classiied nd unclastified maerials made svailsble by

the Depanments of State and Defense {inctuding the National Security Agency). the Central

33

Intelligence Agency and the National Security Council as well as press repons, materials

prepared by Congressional Research Service. and other ial in the public domain. In

addition, the stalf of the Select Subcomumittee interviewed and deposed approximately seventy

current or former employees of these agencies as w1l 35 two foreign nationals. The Mincrity

wishes to thank the individuals who weve deposed and interviewed as well as the twany
employees of the United States Government agencies who spent countless hours identifying and

making available rclevant documents. In addition. the Minofity wishes to thank the investigators

detaited ro the Select Subcommittee by the Federal Burean of Investigation for their invaluab
assistance.
Select Subcomumiee Organization and Str

Legisiative History.

Cn May 2, 1996, the Commiittee an International Relatians (the “Commitiee™ reported
House Resolution 416 cresting the Select Subcommities of the Commites on intemational
Relations to Investigate the United States Role in lranisn Arms Transfers to Bosnia and Croatia,
The Committer zlso reported House Resolution 416 which, 2 amended, established a budget of
$995,000 to be used cither until the Sclect Subcommittes ecased 1o exist or immediately before
noon on January 3, 1997, whichever first occurs.'

Lrgislasive Mandnte.

House Resotution 416 charged the Select Subcommitize with investigating the fotlowing:

‘H. Res. 417, May 2, 1996.
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{1y  The policy of the United States Government with respect 10 the iransfer of arms

. and other assistance from Iran or any ether country o countries or az.mnu within the .n—...m.na. of
the former Federal Republic of Yugostavia (the “FRY™) during any period that an intemational
arms embargo of the former Yugoslavia was in effect.

(2)  The nature and extent of the: transfer of arms or other assistance from Iran or any
other country to counitrics or entities within the territory of the FRY during the period that an
inernational arms embargo was in effect.

(3)  Any actions laken by the United States Government to facititate or impede

fers described in the p

(4)  Anycommmications or regresentations made o the Congress of the United States
of the American people with respect to the matters described in the preceding paragraphs with
g.o.._nmsﬁiumo:b_-au%e_._uﬁ;ﬁgiﬁ-«nv&.snnoasaag
terminate United States panticipation in that embargo.

(5)  Any implication of the matters described in the first three paragraphs for the
safety of United States Armed Forces deployed in and around Bosnia, for the prompt withdrawsl
angiwggmggg?ﬂgagﬁoc&ﬁm?ﬂi?
allics, and for United States efforts to isolate Iren.

&) Ew!:anuﬁw!s.«snt %iEﬂnﬁn!«%?Bﬁh—aﬂB&&
E#E&En%ﬂsggggggﬁ g

(7} Al deliberations, discussions, or communications within the United States
n. relating to described in the preceding paragraphs, and all communications
between the United States Goverment {or any of its officers or employees) and other

.G and the go

35

organizations. or individuals relati Ing 10 such matters.*
?FES&ES.EE-E-.E# n providing for the conclusion of the
Sel
S.wcenoaa:nn:ﬂgg.gﬂ._n&anaao:a_.:&nﬂg ‘ithin six months of the
Ppassage of the regplution. or Nos ovember 8, 1996,

Treatment of Confidentiat and Classified Information,

Select Subcommittee investigation of United States policy and actions in the FRy
Includ -finding wi j
includes fact m!_sw with respect to policy deliberations, imeitigence gathering (including

8 and . - .
urces and methods), highly sensitive confidential communications between the United Siares

of other nations, and equally privileged communications
among United States Governinent officials, The Minority believes the Wimost care must be taken
o Ea disclosure of confidensial communications between United States and foreign
gavernment officials, policy deliberations within the United States Bovemment involving senjor

gigsugingu&nx!ﬁonisn_.&u of intelligence
Emﬂﬁsgﬂn.a ity has d this E

ggfnﬂﬂﬁaﬁﬁm!.gfsﬂgh k of highly

fidential o
oggasniﬁ;!ggvgiga
the public domain. gguiggagﬁig ’

*H. Res. 416, May 2, 1996, at 2.4.
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need 10 protect material which is deserving of protection, the Minority expects the United States
Govemment to exercise the cizssified application only in cases where the laws and executive
orders clearly apply and to refrain from keeping material classified which is merely

embarrassing.

SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The central issues of the Select Subcommittee investigation include whether the United

States Go

organized or otherwise ged Iran or any other country fo ship
arms to Bosnia; whether the'Usited States Govenment provided a foothold for Iranian
operations in Europe; whether the United States Government engaged in covernt action without

ing the legal requi to inform Congress: and how United Siates policy regarding the

arms embargo affecied United States relations with the NATO allies.
The consequences of United States policy are not in dispute. [n 1994, Bosnia was
embroiled in a brutal way that threaiened to spilt over to other parts of Ewrope. United Sates

leadership helped bring an end to the fighting mnong the Bosnian Muslims, Croats and Serbs, to

" the rape and toTure, W the mass exccutions, and to the sniper attacks on civilians; it bas helped

create the conditions 1 build a new Bosnian scate, and stopped the war from spreading. In early
1994, hundreds of Iranians wete present in Bosnia and Crostia. Today, the Iranian fighters bave
Based upon the Select Subcommittee investigation, the Minority Ends that:
L. From the ontset of the Clinton Adwinistration, it waz United States policy neither lo
oppose nor support third party arms transfers to Bosnis-Herzegovina. This policy was
) b L d in she “ne i fons® P fa the Croatian Governwment’s guestion on the

v
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United States view on the transshipment.of arms. It served several imporsant United States

nterests, and helped establish conditions on the ground that pointed the way te peace.
During the entire period in which the United Nations arms embarge against the former
Yugostavig was in effect (September 1991 o June 1996). United States policy was to
reftam from supplying arms 10 any party in the former Yugoslavia.

« . Pursuant to UN. Secusity Council resolutions, the United States agreed i 1992 10
v-:ma.m_u!n with its allies in Opcration Sharp Guard for the priman: purposc of

dicting band destined for Serbia,

Beginning in Januar’ $993, following the inauguration of President Clinton, United  **
States policy was neither 10 Opposc nor support the shipment of arms to the Govemment
of Bosnia-Herzepavina from other countries. including Iran.

In November 1994, foliowing enactment of the Nunn-Mitchell amendment, United States
officials informed United States allies that the United States would participate in
Operation Sharp Guard for the sofe purpose of interdicting contraband destined for
Serbia. In compliance with the Nunn-Mitchell amendment, the United States would take

10 action to interdict arms destined for Bosaia or Croatia

The "o instreetions” policy served mportant United States interests: the ougunned
Bosnian Mustims received anms that befped them survive ustil such time 85 the’
g!ﬂ«nﬁ?-ﬂ%uﬂﬁ.?c&_&wﬁngﬁ-?
with NATO; the peacekeeping force and bumanitarian aid workers remained in Bosnis;
no United States ground troops were forced into a combat sitation; and the conditions |
:ﬂasziafi&s:ls?ciawnﬂgszsﬁeﬁs“.,

vi
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If. Throughout the period of the United Nations arms embargo, Iran and other Islamic

countrles suppiled arms io the Boswians,

During the entire period of the United Nations amms embargo ayainst the former
Yugoslavia. all parties to the conflict in Bosnia received arms shipments in violation of
the embargo.

During the entire period of the United Nations anms embargo, the Bosnian Serb military
arsenal dwarfed that of the Bosnian Muslims and Croats.

Beginning in 1991, several Islamic coumtries, including lran, began supplying arms to the
Bosnjan Muslim forces.

The supply of arms to the Bosnian Muslims declined from 1993 to spring 1994

due to the war b the Bosnian Mustims and the Bosnian Croat forces.

The supply of arms to the Bosnian Muslims increased in spring 1994 due 1o the

Federation Agreement 1o end the war be the Bosnian Mushm and Besnian Croat
forces, and the delivery of the “no instructions™ response.
The number of Lranians in Bosnia peaked before the spring of 1994, remained constant
until the Dayton Peace Accords, and subsequently declined to the handful that is present
today.
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assist in the shipment or transfer of arms 10 any country in the former Yugoslavia.
The proposal 1o expand the pipeline of anns destined for Bosnia through Croatia

originated with Bosnian and Croatian Government officials in the wake of signing the

_ Federation Agreement in March 1994,

No United States Government official coordinated, cooperated, conspired with or
suggested to the Bosnian Muslims, the Govemnment of Croatia, or the Bosnian Croats that
the United States be asked to state its view of the ransshipment of arms. ‘
United States Government officials direcied Ambassador to Croatia Peter Galbraith to
respond that he had “ne instructions™ when asked for the reaction of the United States
govetnment to the transshipment of arms through Creatia to Bosnia by’ the govemment of
Croatia.

Ambassador Galbraith carried out his directions comeetly and prompily.

The "1 il ions™ hieved United States objectives and was consistent with
United States policy: the shipment of anms to Bosnia was not obstructed, the UN.
Security Council Resolution was not violated, and sericus conflict with the allies was
avoided. ’

IV, ?Ei?i&iii‘wggiii

i e oo

I11, The United States took no ection te sid arms transfers to the former Yugoslavia. legully required o inform Congress of its diplomatic exchanges with governwents in the

At o time did any United States govermment official take asiy action 1o supply arms to region. However, Congress should have been betier informed about the “ne instructions™

any county or entity covered by the U.N. anns embargo. 5

At no time did any Uniled States government officisl undertaks any covert sction to . gﬁi%?%!ﬂ@vﬁi&ﬁiﬁwﬁgag

supply arms to any country o entity covercd by the embargo, or to encourage, sid or ’ Croatia o Bosaiz was made available to Members of Congress on dozens of occasions

vi vii
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through press reports, intelligence repons. briefings, and in connection with staff and
Congressional ravel to Croatia. .

The Administration Huuo._&na accuralely to every question from Congress about the
shipment of arms to Bosnia from Iran and did not st out to mislead Members of
Congyess.

As 2 policy matter, however, the Administration chose not to inform Congress about the
delivery of the “no instructions™ response.’

The “no instructions™ response to the question posed by the Government of Croatia wasa

traditional diplomatic exchange.

The Administration does not routinely disclose to Congress seusitive diplomatic

ges between ambassadors and foreign govemments.
The failure of the Administration to inform Congress formally ebout the exchange among
Amsbassador Galbraith and Special Envoy Redman and a senior official of the

Government of Creatia is not & violafion of United States law.

As & matter of policy, the Administrazion should have idered

Members of Congress about the delivery of the “no instructions™ response.

V. The impact of the Iranian arms shipments on fhe security of United States milksery

and clvilian persoand was minimal,

’ abcommittoe was toid by one farme: Member of Congress that he was
gﬁoﬁwgaiS-E%g&g It appesrs that
the bricfer was acting indepiendently, The relevant intelligence agency has ac.aoonmnﬁ sucha
briefing d. Senior Administrats Bﬁw%!ﬂ;%oagéﬁ
gnnﬁﬂgigigﬂﬁamﬁﬁoggg:gggiis any
Member of Congress.
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Any threat to United States military and civilian persoruwel in the region arose from the
presence of Iranians and not the shipment of anns. and [ranians had been present in
Bosnia since 1991,

The United States did not commit ground forces to Bostia in any significant numbers

umil after the Dayton Peace Agreement was signed in November 1995,

The Dayton Peace Agr quired the 1 of all foreign forees from Bosnia,
including organizations and individuals associated with Iran and other _nndmn states, and
made the United States commitment to “equip and train™ the Bossians conditional upon
compliance with the “foreign force removal™ requirement.

The President has certified that Bosnia is in li with this requi t, and that

1p

Iranian and other Foreign forces are present in insignificant numbers onty.

The United States continues 1o pursue all other avenucs 1o isolate Iran from the world
community.

With respect to the safety of United States military and civilian personnel in Croatia
during the period in which the arms embargo was in effect, the United Sutesand
Embassy Zagreb maintained a high d¢grer of awarcness of terorist threats through
gﬁggngﬁgsggaﬁgg
&na&.a.aauiiau;;.!ﬁ?i&acaﬁmiaunsi
and isninse monitoring of possible terorist activity.

VI. The impact of the Iranian arms shiy ot United States-Allied Relations
United States allies were: aware that the United States had been Jooking the other way
regarding amms shipments from third countries 1o Bosnia; therefore, the “no instructions™




242

response was & continuation of policies that already were toleraled,

The allies were particularly nom.nnn.& that heavy weapons and anillery not be transferred
to Bosnia and the United States Government was confident that Croatia would not permit
heavy weapons 1o be trangshipped.

United States, NATO, and other allied forces are serving side by side in IFOR and
working together 10 implement the civilian aspects of the Dayion Accords,

VI The Executive Branch has scted progerly in reviewing actions by United States officials

and in responding 10 inguiries from Cong ing the arms sfers. )
At the request of the White House Counsel, the Intelligence Oversight Board (the “I0B™
investigated concems raised by the Central Intelligence Agency about possible covert
action and reported io the President that no United States official had participated in
covert action.
The EOR cooperated with the Select Subcommittee, consisiem with the privileged nature
ofits investigation. )
The National Security Council, the Depanments of State and Defense (including the
National Security Agency}, and the Central Intelligence Agency cooperated with the
Select Subcommitiee, consistent with the need ko probsct peivileged informatien.
No atternpt has been made by any official of the United States Government 1o conceal
any information that would be refcvant to the investigation.

VIIL, Lapses in communicarion and coordination among United Stases governmens officialy in
impressions abons United Statex

Zagred and Washingion led to confusion and

A3

Ppolicy among some United States government officiats.
The “no instructions™ response to a senior Croatian Government official was deliberated
and formulated by the seniar policy makers of the Department of State and the National
Security Council over a seventy-two hour period during which dire¢t communications
occurred among the President; the Sceretary of State, the Deputy Secretary of State and
the Undersecretury of State; the National Security Adviser and the Deputy National
Security Adviser; and the United States Speciat Envoy to the Former Yugoslavia and the
United States Amibassados bo Croatia on the ground in Zagreb.
“The “no instructions™ vespdnse as well as the report confirming its defivery was conveyed
orally in order 1o keep 10 2n absolute minimum the number of people with knowledge of
the response. .

. Egﬂg.s.wqgﬂgggﬁnmaﬁnmgﬂ?g

.inﬂnnqﬂiun:onng. were carried out cotrectly,

= . Miscommupication between an intelligence community representative {an “ICR™) in

naa-u.ml‘iﬁnﬁsg&aiﬁg?iﬁaf
caiwg?faiﬂugsﬁgg@.,

Incorrect legal advice pw 5& edquarters to an ICR in Croatia caused an ICR
o form insceurste legal conchusions about the actions of United States pobicy
%%i!&g.en!_ﬂw!g Ted to the
tepoeting of speculation and gossip in liew of intelligence.
dinsaa??aas!ﬂvsﬁe&gcaimaa?f{saﬁas?

| arms embargo and the “no instructions™ resp

néggﬁéogeaﬁgongiﬁnnﬂng

xii
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Intelligence Agency conceming the United States policy with regard 10 the arms embarge
. lapsed in ApriMay 1994 and September/October 1994,

Senior officiais in the Department of State and the National Security Council were not

aware that certain officials within the Central Intelligenice Agency had an imperfect

understanding of United States policy with regard to the anns embargo.

Discussians of options for providing anns to the Bosnian Muslims v-as an appropriate

and responsible course of action by officials of the United States Government.

The Uhited States Govemment considered and rejected the option of asking third

countries to supply asms to the Bosnian Muslims on the grounds that it would be

discovered by our NATO allies and could trigger 2 negative response including the

withdrawal of the United Nations Protections Force (the “UNPROFOR™), and the

_commitment of United States troops 1o a combat sizustion.

R SUMMARY OF THE INVESTIGA TioN
The Sitmation on the Ground in the Spring of 1994,

—_..s..mﬂ_nu&e&n- iunals from fsla
E-S-.%Eﬂgi%n&ﬂﬂ!&!ig During the
E%.@n&ﬂ.giﬁ!!ﬂ-—sggggioﬁnsn

jes have been present in Bosnia since 31

countries. - )
E?E!&Elr%ﬁ_iaﬁsngagﬁnqﬁggg

Herzegovina (hereinafier “Bosaia™ o the “Bosnian govemmeni”) and it citizens ini the spring of

- 1994 were dire, especizity in the war agsinst the Bosai Serbs. The enclave of Gorazde was
yodder siege. The capital of Sarajevo was eutirly surrounded by hoiile Bosnian Serb forces that
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regularly subjecied the residents to sniper attacks, cut such city services as electricity and other
atilities, and commandecred humanitariar reliel shipments intended for the starving population.

For the preceding rwelve months, the Bosnian M

lims had been in a state of war with
the Bosnian Croats. Since Bosnia-Herzegovina is accessibie only by air or by overland routes
through Serbian or Croatian controlled territory, __ﬁ.s.._. with the Bosnian Croats who were
supported by their Croat brothers in Zagreb made it difficult for the Besnian Muslims to obtain
cither humanitarian assistance or military shipments. .

On March 23, 1994, Bosnian Muslims and Croats signed the United States-brokered
Federation Agreement. The Federation Agreement had _um._mﬂr military and humanitarian -«

significance. The Agresment established the peace between the Bosnian Muslims and the

- Bosnisn Croats that was the necessary first step toward a more comprehensive settlement; freed

the Muslim and Croat ammed forces to direct their attention toward the Bosnian Serbs; and
substantially reduced the potential of further human rights viokations by the Bosnian Croats and
Croatians against the Bosnian Muslims. Pechaps most important, the March 1994 Federation

Ag provided the potential for changing the military =nd political situation in Bosuia by

creating a unified military front against the aggression of the Bosnian Serbs.

) ?ngol?? the Spring of 1994,

United Nations Security Council Resoluion 713 of September 1991 imposed a kega!
Smﬁsiﬁrggonﬁc?saaﬁﬁaﬁggﬁ.
countries of the FRY. By contrast, subsequent U.N. Security Council _nuo__.nuau._ﬂ:m&nﬂn_
B@ﬁaﬁaﬁaﬁgﬁﬂgssiaa.ﬁiss.ﬁ._;is
to enforoe the arms embargo against other nations, but did bot impose a legal obligation to do so.

xiv
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The Uniled States allies opposed a multilateral lilting of the arms embargo against the

Bosnian Muslims and. through political ts as well as through diplomatic and military

channels, informed the United States that a unilateral lifting of the embargo by the United States
would cause the withdrawal of European ground forces panticipating in UNPROFOR.

The arms embargo was not seamless. Throughout the war. arms reached all three
combatants. The level of arms shipped to Serbia together with those already in the Serb .
inventory dwarfed the arms shipped to Croatia and the Bosnian Muslims, both of which hed no
meaningfu} armed forces prior 1o the war. The level of arms shipments 1o the Bosnian Muslims

from 1992 through spring 1994 was iolerated by many of the participants in UNPROFOR and at

least some nations that subsequently b bers of the Contact Group.

The United States Poficy in the Spring of 1994,

The United Stazes Government ﬂo_mnv..ss‘ﬂn the conflict in the former Yugoslavia
changed in January 1993 with the inauguration of the Clinton Administration. in contrast to the
previcus gﬂmawﬂgaﬁﬁma.—g Administration suppotted the multilateral lifting of the arms
embargo against the Bosnian Muslims in combination with allied air strikes against the Bosnian
Serbs (the so-called “1ift snd strike™ policy).

- Ho! !ﬂﬂﬁngmﬂﬁnﬁnﬁg%lﬁésgigﬁ_ag
reduced 10 a gﬁn__og-_nx-!&&its_ _.%FDBN—..H_WEP A
!ggggngnﬁg!ﬁggﬁwinimﬁgsng
risk qgagﬁﬁ!& Egiarggsggimga ’
troops migit have been forced to fill, and precipitated & Ssuuﬁﬁ.owcaiwgag.o

wgpswn_a@annnsng of the NATO allies serving with UNPROFOR. To this end, the’

v
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United States Government participated in Operation Sharp Guard and sbided by the arms
embargo. In contrast to the previous Administration, the United States neither objected to nor
endorsed arms shipments 1o Bosnia,

The United States Congress began an extended debate that intensified in the spring of

1994 on ways to help the Bosnian Muslims survive. Memb  of Congress knew the likelihood
of a mu'tilateral lifting of the embargo was slim. Therefore, the central issue in the debate was
whether the United States should lif the anns embargo against the Bosnian Mustims unilat

-

The Events of March and April 194,
The Federation Agr 1cd the Bosnian M

lims to hope that given the new peace
with the Bosnian Croats, they could convinee the Croatians $o permit the trnsshipment of
rester quantities of desperatey neoded arms through Croatia to Botia. The Administration and
the United States Government were committed to providing military sssistance to the Bosnian
Muslims in the event that the arms exmbargo was Efied mwltilaterally. Many Members of
Congreas thonght the noed to savethe Bostian Muslims wa sociica hat it utweighed ay
tensions with the allies.
Eé_iggoan.r%?ainﬁﬁaoﬁ.%&a
EE??EEREE&E?E?EK%

i?gg;gsﬁggaag

tesritory S the Bowian Muslims. The question was peompted by the efforts of the Bosaian
Muskims to take advantage of the Federation Agreement which the Boszian Maslims expected
would make the Government of Croatia snd the Bosian Crosts more willing to let erms reach
the Bossisn Mustims.

v




The April 28 and 29 Meetings.

The question posed by the Govemment of Croatia to Ambassador Galbraith was what the
reaction of the Linited States Government would be if the Creatian govemment allowed arms o
be transshipped to Bosnia. The response was formulated by the senior policy makers of the State
Depattment and the National Security Councit over 2 seventy-two hour period during which
direct communications occurred among the President. Deputy Secretary of State Talbott and
National Security Advisor Lake who were en route to Califomnia aboard Ajr Foree One 1o attend

the funeral of former Presidem Nixon; Secretary of State Christopher who was in Egypt f

ings with President Mubarak; Und y of State Tamoff wheo was serving as Acting

Secretary in the absence of the S y and Deputy S y; end Deputy National Security

Adviser Berger who was in Washington. -

The options for responding included telling the Government of Croatia that the United
States .s.o_.r_ ot object to shipments ru. third countries, that the United States disapproved of the
transshipment of arms through Croatia and would enforce the United Nations arms embargo
against third countries strenuously, o telling the Government of Croatia that the United States
Ambassador to Croatia had 1o instructions.™ The first alternative would risk undaly United
mgn:urnﬂ.u!ﬁ its ailies. z>8§§r§§£9¢zw§°w
adamantly opposed & __Ea.._vn!._ﬂi.a!n__s.swcnhn& States role Egnas.

arms reached Bosnia. Ewiehgimiagﬁ_enaga.&sgﬁ )

:.Z—..HOHQNS..__E.BQ.D_
The second alternative meant that the United wﬁaiﬂﬁgggﬁssg
weapons to the beleagucred Bosnians. It also would undermine and perhaps destroy the
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Federation Agreement. In selecting the third aliemative. the policy makers were informed fully
of the likelihood that the “no instructions™ response would be treated by the Government of
Croatia as a signal that the United States did not object to the anms transshipment. and that lran
was likely to be one of the primary arms suppliers. The policy makers atso believed that the “no
instructions” response to the Government of Croatia was a traditional diplomatic exchange with

respect to which no Presidential finding was required.

The “no instructions™ resp epr d a continuation of United States policy in
effect since early 1993 to refrain from objecting to arms transshipments to Bosnia. For example,
in April 1993, the Croatian D~fense Minfster asked United States Special Envoy 1o the Form -
<§F&nﬂnﬁu&w5§§.?~mﬁcaﬁmggmgsgzvagﬁo?ﬂﬂiﬁ
identical question asked of United States Ambassador Galbmith one year later). Special Envoy
Bartholomew responded that it was a decision for Croatians to make, and the United States had
no position on the transshipment of arms.

The Actiens of the United States Ambassador to Croatiz with respect 1o Senior
Government of Creatia Officialy.

Eggﬁgggggigiggmﬂﬁ
Department and Naticzat Security Council staff with respect 1 the question posed by the senjor
aan._&?‘asa.uﬂ&nasr :ﬁs&.ﬁ&iggg
gigggmﬁngiggni .
officialk S&ngiigﬁn—iﬁﬁgig?guseg
ic«zﬁ!ﬂﬂeﬁnionnlnggoqg :

Ambassador Galbraith acted appropriately in offering his recormmendation of the correct
gfa&nﬁx-ﬂrﬂ—.ﬂgi deririne & fair and objective rendering of the .

xviii -




benefits and risks of the various opti ilable for responding to the question posed by the

senior official of the Government of Croatia. At no time, either before communicating the
question to senior State Department and National Security Council officials, or after ransmitting
the response to the senior official of the Government of Croatia did the Ambassador either
exceed his directions or act inconsistently with the obligations of the Uniled States under the

U.N. Security Council Resolutions,

The Summer of 1994.

" Beginning in May 1954 and continting thisughout the of 1994, the shipmentof -

arms from primarily Islamic countries scross Croatian-held territory to the Basnian Muslims
increased. Media reports and United States intelligence reporting revealed the extent and nature
of the amms shipments as well as the sources of the arms. The shipments consisted solely of light
arms and at no time included heavy weapons or anillety.

The allies were aware of the arms shipmens, but issued no demarches or other formal
protests to the Croatian government, the United States government, or the govemments
Bﬁe_iﬂngﬁg ?gﬁgnOn.vn-Eﬂtﬂnﬁivssﬁnggﬁn
go?ﬂaé&nﬁg-ﬁ:ﬂaﬁgsﬁéggﬁ

. CZ.vWOm.OF ?ggggonggggg )

eoncem because they posed 1 risk to British troops. United States poficy makers wese sware that
gnﬂoﬂﬂ.ﬁ.w%ﬁnaﬁ%a&igoﬁ?éggf
allowed 1o resch Bosnia, and that Croatia was untikely to allow the transshipment of heavy
weapons that could be used against Croatian forces. )
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The Fall of 1994,

In September 1994, senior officials of the Govemment of Bosnia-Herzegovina
approached senior officials of the United States government with a proposal to impose a 5ix
mionth moratorium on efforts to lift the embargs against Bosnia. The Bosttians proposed, in

resum, that the United States Government provide or ge to provide military assi

during the six month period. The Bosnians also sought a commitment from the United States to
1ift the embargo at the end of the six month period if the political and military situation in Bosnia
was not stabilized.. The United States Government flatly rejected u._ds&_._.n arms divectly and,
after considering the second s:n!.n?n. decided-the United States would not encourage others 1o

provide arms to the Bosnian Muslims. This position was not altered in subsequent months.

United States Government officials did underiake a military, political and intelligence
analysis involving the Departments of Defense and State, the Central tntelligence Agency, and
the National Security Council to eval vhether third ies should be ged on 8

secret and confidential basis  transship arms through Croatian-held territory 10 the Bosnian
Muslims. The study involved consultation at a senior level with officials of selected third
countries. )

The participants in the stady concluded that the United States should not encourage third
EﬁﬂSiEBEg mﬁa!nggﬂsﬁﬁiﬁﬂwé
%gﬂsggsgﬁn%&agg:g
would have been discovered by UNFROFOR woops snd allied intclligence. q_.nnEBtEE
ggﬁmﬁ%oﬂrﬁmgﬂsgagg
g!&?ﬂﬁﬁﬁi@??ﬁmnﬁgﬁsiﬁgi_ﬁn%
the arms embarpo. Even more important, 1 United States effort to encourage transshipment
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would be considered by the allics to pose an unacceptable theeat to the safety of allied forces an

the ground.

C ications berween Ambassador Golbrairk and an Intelligence Community
Representative Prior ta Aprif 28, 1994,
In carly December 1993, an Intelligence Community Representatic (an “ICR"™) in

Croatis informed @¥eadquarters that At

ICR speculated that the inquiry was motivated by the Ambassador's personal support for the

dor Galbraith asked about a covert action. The

Muslims, and predicted that the Annbassador would propose a covert action program to
Washington policy makers. The ICR told the Ambassador that no covert action was Eﬂaﬂ-ﬁ

In mid-April 1994, an ICR in Croatia Eaaat__ﬁ approximately five weeks
carlier (i.e., mid-March), Ambassador Galbraith raised the possibitity of the United States
informing the Goverament of Croatia that the United States would look the other way with
respect (o arms transshipments across Croatian-held temitory and the further possibility of Iran
serving as the arms supplier and Turkey as the “go-between.™ d.n_nwu_smn?:si
headquarters that Ambassador Galbraith said he would raise the possibility with senior policy
makers in €§¢

An CR in Croatia responded to Ambassador Galbrith that such stivity would violste
United States law, provide Iran with s firmer Fothold in the region, not be sustainable nor
gfgngiglngrﬂs‘grgﬂngﬂg
aspirations, and put Uniled States itttelligence assets at rigk, The ICR also cheracterized such
activity a8  covertaction. In mid-Apei 1994, 0 ICR informedfMibeadquarirs that,
according to the Deputy Chief of Mission (the "DCM™), Special Envoy Charles Redman was

xxi
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considering the idea of a cavert action alony the lines of actions undertaken in >E§E§¢
The accuracy of the reporting on the mid-March conversation by an ICR in Croatia is in

doubt due to the non-contemporaneaus nacure of the reporting. the fact that Ambassador

Galbraith denies the conversation tok place. and the fact that no senjor policy ntaker in

Washington ever was approached by the Ambassador. The accuracy of the information ailuded

1o by an ICR with respect to Special Envoy Redman is in doubt due to the fact :Ehﬁ United

States Special Envoy denies ever entertaining such thoughts {Jet alone expressing them), and the

DCM denies ever making such remarks to the ICR.

The Lines of Communication _—Mq..‘na an ICR -amm$

To asignificant extent, the strain in the working relationship between Ambassador
Galbraith and an ICR in Croatia was the result of inadequate communication between an ICR
!&ﬁﬁﬁﬁnﬁ d the di i no:.iﬁﬁn%n«:&v«?«g
mid-March and mid-November 1994, but the divections often were incomect or 5553
In April 1994, an ICR in Crostia sﬁgnﬂmgmng_ responsible for Croatia
that the proposed action regarding the transshipment of arms described by Ambessador Galbraith

in mid-March would, if implemented, constitute & covert actios for which & Presidential finding
is required. Eiglﬁ!!nﬂw!ﬂggitﬁgﬂ_lﬂg
g!i.gg._glﬁélnmsnwig,
suidance fom beadquarersshons the United Staes policy toward enforcing the s exborgo.
The despecation fek by an ICR was doe 10 concem sbout risking inelfigence sssetsinthe
collection of O gagﬂgaﬁgrﬂisﬁaﬁ
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As a result of receiving incorrect legal advice, an ICR in Croatia remained deeply
concerned from early May until mid-November that the United States Government was engaged
in illegal covert activity. The concerns of the ICR caused wholly unfounded suspicions to form
zbout the conduct of Ambassadot Gatbraith as well 25 the conduct of other senior United States
Government officials involved in policy making in the region.

In April 1994, an ICR in Croatia was infc .S.&r dq; that a request made

by Ambassador Galbraith 1o use intelligence channels to communicate policy represented a

serious and substantial misuse of intclligence channels. The ICR was never informed that the

Director of Central Intelligence, James Woolscy (the “DCI™. did not consider the requestto be -

inappropriate. The faillare to inform the ICR that the reqiscst was not inappropriste caused the
official o __u._,ao}.:_.azuaﬂ_ suspicions about the request. An individual a uarters
who read the ICR's report and characterized the idea raised by the >mavuu§o_. in mid-March as
2 covort action also caused the ICR 1o form unfounded suspicions about the conduct of
Ambassador Galbraith and ather senior policy Euwna.ﬁ
Although an ICR. was admonished for editorializing in the reporting, the conduct

continued throughout the sunumer and fali of 1994. More effective guidance should have been
_aaia&w«_i Reporting inaccuracies could have been corrected carlier and mose
&Bmi_wﬂs&_.&%!ﬁw&sg{liigg

sbout United States enforcement of the arms embargo. ?-.ﬂ.—:en%nmﬂl—ﬂ.! .

ICR in Crroatia was not informed until November 15, 1994, that the “no instructions™ policy

which the Ambassador asked be icated through intelligence channels was an sccurate
statement of United States policy. An ICR in Croatia alse should have been informed about the
limited nature of the DCI's concern sbout the request made of the inzelligence official by the

xxiii

The Role of the Depucy Chief of Mission.

A key source of reporting by an ICR in Croatia consisted of remarks made by &n DCM.
In many cases, the remarks were not based on actua) knowledge of events, but upon rumer,
gossip and speculstion. Although the ICR may have been somewhal pverzealous in reponing
=8unun.a..,rrEni_::wankonaﬁugsgﬁoﬂa?wsnomgaggsgna&
period of time was a significant contributing factor o the tension at Embassy Zagreb. The
degres and extent of the speculation that the DCM shared with the ICR also nu.uun_nﬁﬁws
form unfounded suspicions about the condurt of Ambassad Galbraith and the conduct of cther

policy makers. T

u.an, Communlcations between the Ambassador and an ICR in Croetia
Ambassador Galbraith was either of or i tive 1o the deep of an

ICR i Croatia. Although the lack of awareness or sensitivity is at lesst partly atibutable to the

unfounded nature of the closer geation b the two officials could have

lessened the concems of the inielligence official and avoided some of the confusion between
gﬁ%%%&ngﬂgiinﬂigegg.

+ Comuunicurions in May 1994 between the Sinior Officinls of the Depariment
“u?*gggiiugl-%ki@. .

Commumications between the senior officials of the Department of State and the Central

Intelligence Agency over the United States G m policy and conduct in the Balkans -
i?i?.&»iwuagags?osza»s?%s&i&a

v
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y of State Christopher and DCT Woolsey (also attended on this oecasion by Deputy
Secretary Taibot), the DCI described a request Ambassador Galbraith had made of an ICR in

Croatia. The DCT said Ambassador Galbraith had asked an ICR 10 _o_T
J..E the United States would, in effect. look the other way with regard to

the transshipment of arms through Croatian-held temitory to uosgl

DCI Woolsey's description of the Ambassador’s request set off a chain of
miscommunication and misunderstanding. Deputy Secretary Talbott knew that Ambassador
Galbraith had beern instructed to tell the Croatians that he had “no instructions.” When he heard
the words “look the other way.” hevwas therefore sutprised. In fact, Ambassador Galbraith did .

not teil the Croatians that the United States Govemment would look the S_.n_. way.

The DCI's ch izatioh of the g¢ Ambassador Galbraith had transtnitted

incorpectly left Deputy Secretary Talbott with the impression that the Ambassador had exp

. United States support for the transshipment of axms 1o the Croatian govemment. The use of the
!oRE...Sw:ﬁQ:B.#ﬂ«:-.«E«Uﬂ.EU%& y Talbott to exp:

it was not consistent with the direction given to Ambassador Galbraith. The *“no instrustions™

language was formulated to avoid putting the United States govemment in the position of cither
supporting or oppasing the transshipment of arme. The “vo instructions™ response is very

&fferent from the [anguage that the DCT attributed to the Ambassador; i¢, saying that the United
States would, i e, ook the oher ay. I fet, Ambassador Gabeith had made his request
. ..?:Qm__naésgsﬁiimgg&&ﬁwin??g.
r.oﬁia&n&arngg _ o

Both the DXT and the ICR were concemed tiat policy not be communieated through

SRR e CR in Croadia, bowever, DCT Woolsey did not question or

v
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express concern about substance of the request. In fact, the policy on the arms embargo was not
even discussed by the DCI and the Deputy Secretary. The decision of an ICR 10 refuse to use
Ig_o 10 convey the Ambassador's message was appropriate. The level of the

imelligence official's suspicions and concem about the Ambassador's motives was ?

Subsequent conversalions amang the senior Department of State officials, Ambassador
Galbraith and Special Envoy Redman cofirmed thar the Ambassador had nn_?ii the proper
response 1o the Government of Croatia. Because the DCI never expressed interest or concemn
about the Ambassador’s conversation with senior Croatian government officials, Deputy

magﬂggarﬂwa#asmagza_gngvﬁgﬁnigi =n

Special Envoy Red Ity had transmitted a “no instructions” respoase 1o the Government
of Croatia ’
...sEE:.!A.&&SE?HB.QEQ.&EEEEQ!?E
been instructed 1o tel] the Croatian government that he had “no instructions™ regarding the
%anaégggsg ?E.:ﬁiﬁsﬁanﬁ
nnwonﬁggzgni?—nwsgiﬁsgngwr% .
November 1994 that United States policy was to enforce the embargo against third country
éenaggﬁssg.ifigaﬁ

i%&ﬁgézagggs.rl%

Consultations in Fall 1994 ansong the Senior Officials of the Department of State,
the Nationsl Security Coxncil and the Central Inselligence Agency.

s Seplember and October 1994, various intelligence sources incorrectly reported that

senior officials of the United States government were engaged in active negotiations with third

xxvi
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counlries 1o provide arms to the Bosnians. 1n reality. United States Government officials were

trying to determine whether the United States should encourage third countries on a secret and

fidéntial basis to transship arms through Croatian-held territory 1o the Bosnian Muslims.
Senior officials of the Government of Bosnia-Herzegovina appcoached United States

Govemment officials with a proposal that the United States Government encourage the shipment

of third couniry arms to the Bosnian military. The United States considered, but did not agree 10,

the proposal. A great deal of discussion oecurred about whether third countries should be
encoliraged to transship arms. Various United States agencies were tasked with studying
scenarios, and cenversations were bl betweer senior United States and foreign officials.

Intelligence reponts began to camry of these di ! ing the CIA to b

concerned unnecessarily that United States was acwally planning and committing United States
resources o an effort 10 ship arms 10 Bosniv

The CIA expressed concem about the intelligence reporting to National Security Adviser

Lake who brought the 16 the sttention of White Houge Counsel Abner J, Mikva, White
House Counsel Mikva recommended 10 the President that an Imelligence Oversight Board
investigation be convencd o consider whether (1) Ambassador Galbraith or United States
E§5<SEM§4=§§E§E§?&E§=E-§E_H
armss shipment reach Bosnia; €2) the Ambassador or the Special Envoy folkowed the Deparment
enmsng:.slaﬁs? ponse provided the G of Crostia on April 29,
_Sﬁmﬁﬁuv?gsﬁﬂgg?mgég

Eo_fgwnalnﬁoﬂﬂsguﬂﬁssnnqgeww%:nﬂﬁ%g?

sutwmer or eatly fall 1994,

The Intelligence Oversight Board determined that Ambassador Galbraith and Special -

=
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Envoy Redman did not knowingly assist in the shipment of any arms to Bosnia and that they

followed faithfully the Dep of State directions jn responding to the Gov of

Croatia on April 29, 1994, The Intelligence Oversight Board also delermincd that the
Ambassador and Assistant Secretary Holbrooke did not make an offer 10 supply the Bosnians

with arms,

Congressional Action,

Throughout 1994, the Congress conducted an extended debate on United States policy
towards the Balkans in which the primary topic was whether the United States should [ift the
arms embargo against Bosnia unilaterally in the event that the alties refused 1o 1ift the embargo
multilaterally. No Member of Congress e er called upon the United States to step-upy
enforcement of the embargo against third countries generally or against Iran in particular,
presumably because the United States was under no obligation to enforce the embargo and a
majority of the Congress supported the objective of providing arms o the Bosnian Muslims. The
Congress and the Administration recognized that the Bosnians needed a larger and more secure
-s_woqéai&-gn&asgna.gﬁ!u%?woiBg
and the Sesb government to bear the overwhelming responsibility for the onset of the conflict.
The Administration supporied a multilateral liting of the embargo against Bosnia by the United
States and its allics, Bt opposed a unilateral lift by the United States. The allies opposed botha
aamii.iggomﬁggiigeuﬁgﬁi .
Serbs (and perhaps the Croats) would perceive the action to be pro-Bosnisn and launch
preempive attacks against Bosnian positions: the war would be widened s extended; the
potential for peace set back; and the safety of allied troops jeopardized by the intensified

it




hoslilities.

The Administration supported a multifateral lifting of the arms embatgo against Bosnia

of the extraordinarily unfair military impact of the embargs on Bosnia and the atrocities

committed by the Bosnian Serbs. The Administration opposed a unilateral lifling of the arms

embargo against Bosnia because it believed the allies would consider the move to be extremely
hostile and would remgve their troops from Bosnia; the United States wou'd be forced to help
with the removal which would jeopardize Ametican troops and ajretaft; the Bosnian .?_E_..Em
would be forced 10 endure a period of great risk and exposure to the Serb forces; and the war

would become “Americanized ™+

The Administration also opposed sending troops to the region €xcept to enforee a peace
agrecment to which all the parties had agreed or to live up to a2 commitment made by the Bush
Administration to help extract the troops of the NATO allies in the event of an UNPROFOR
withdrawal. The Administration recognized, however. that the vactum created by the departure
of the UNFROFOR mroops would have created an oppornunity for a larger and more sinister

than subsequently occurred. The aliies 1ol d the clandestine arms ship

to Bosnia that had been occurring since 1991, but were very concerned that Congress was
prepared to ignore their opposition and anthorize a unilateral lift of the arms embzigo against
Bosnia (as, in fact, each House of Congress did agree 10 do at different times during the summer
of 1994). ‘
;nggéSinﬁgi&;nnﬂﬁasgfni
Eiu%&l%ﬁné?-%iﬁﬁﬂ.ﬁﬂ#&ﬂn%
the shipment of krms to Bosnia. The Congress ceruainly knew that arms were eaching the
Bomians: national and intemational news media and the daily Iniclligence reports identified Iran

xxix
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as a major supplicr of anms 10 Bosnia during the spring and sumimer 1993, Yet at no time during

this period of intense debate on the United States role in the Bosnian conflict did any Member of

Congress urge the Administration to stop [ranian anms from reaching mog_.n..

Specific Shipnrents of Arms,
Throughout 1994, United States Govemnment officials assisted in freeing detained
humanitarian aid convoys bound for Bosnia even though the officials had no independent means

of checking the content of the shipments. The efforis of the United States Governiment officials

~were, in all cases, predicated on the-assumption that such convoys contained desperately neede B

humanitatian cargo. Intelligence reponing alleged that Ambassador Galbraith and/or Special
Envoy Redman assisted in freeing & detained convoy bound for Bosnia which contained anms
shipments in addition to or nstead of humanitatian cargo. The suspecied convoy wes identified

a8 traveling under the auspices of the Bosnjan Ambassador 1o Croatia. although witnesses have

testified that the Basnian Ambassador was involved in more than one convoy which makes it
difficult to distinguish which convoy is under discussion. -
Zoninﬁosinggigm-?ugs#gg. The
g%&fgggmv&ggsﬁgﬂigwu
phone call he received from a Bosnian official. There is no evidence that the Special Envoy
new or had rezson to know that the convoy carried amms. Moreover, no evidence exists that the
convoy actuaily carried srms. ,
g?&%igggﬂniiggn;i

pected arms hant. No evidence exists W confirm the presence of the Ambassador and the

nglaélél&vﬁzﬁnnﬂaaiegrsﬁa&ﬂg?
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Ambassador. the cleric and other Embassy Zagreb officials present at the meetings deny that any
such conversation took place anywhere at any time.

In February 1995, United Nations personnel reported the detection of aircraht at the
restricted airpon of Tuzla. Some United Nations personnel who allegedly keard or observed the
aircraR suggested they could have been United States planes. No evidence confimms these
reports. [n 1995, a senior official of the Governiment of Croatia asked the United States to
investigate whether the cargo of an aircraft forced 10 land in Croatian _n_dSQ contained missiles

with chemical warheads. United States personnel examined the warheads and determined that

they were not chemical. No evidence exidts 1o sugzest that the involvement of the United States -

extended beyond making the examination.
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Chapter One
Section One
SETTING THE STAGE: THE BALKAN WAR
On Decemmber 14, 1995, the warring factions in Bomis-Herzegovina and Croatia formally
ggggongiﬁﬁangenﬁnggggsﬁa

. spearheaded by United States negotiators. Until that moment, peace had seemed an unlikely

%??giﬁggigiiggmﬁaigg
wgonggggsﬂég-rﬁrgqﬁazn?a&%g&
minorities in the name of “ethnic cleansing.” The waring parties were criticized by the
ggrgg.geﬁggca—&z%gruﬁﬂig
for routinely blocking the passage of bumanitarian refief convoys. Some reports calculule the
buman cost of the Bosnian war at 250,000 kilied; 200,000 wounded; and more than 1.3 million

displaced refugees.’

1991-1992: Wer Erupts and the International Resction.
I June 1991, summering tthwnic fensions within the Socialist Pederal Republic of
Yaugoslavia came to 8 peak afir the legisiatures of Slovenia amd Croatia voted overwheimingly

%o declare their independence. As an immediste response to their s6cestions, the Yugoslev
govermnent issned » statement ctaiming sach dechrations 1o be “Tllegal” and *illogitimate™ tnd

' Larry Q. Nowels, Bosnia Reconmincsion: Internakional Initistives and the [15 Rola CRS
..ggq.g—u._ona.l_.
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ordered its military to secure their borders.” Two days later. the national Yugoslav People's
Army (“INA"), whose Commander and a majority of whose soidiers were Serbian, responded
with force and invaded Slovenia to prevent its scparation, but the INA was met with strong
resistance. In Croatia, fighting erupted between Croatian security forces and minority Serb
imregulars, who had the backing of the JNA. The Croatian forces quickly Jost an estimated one-
third of the couniry 1o the Serb insurgents.” Each of the warring fctions, the Serbs, Bosnian

Serbs and later the Bosnian Croats, declarcd regions of tetritory as “ethnically pure,

E_o.._oaﬁ_k..Eﬁnﬂmlwgﬂarinﬁn_wgsgﬁmaﬁmggEE?
In response to the civil unrest in Yugoslavia, the European Community (“EC”) convened
an emergency ing of the Conf for Security and Cooperation in Europe (*CSCE").

.:.onmg§?§§§3§n§?§§—338<§gras

monitor their compliance and troop movement* Howeves, thioughout the summer of 1991,
while cease-fires were negotiated, signed, and violated, the JNA continued to launch military
offensives in Croatia.

‘ In its third meeting on this subject, the CSCE passed a resalution calling for the
impositon of an ams exbargo against allpartics o the cooflct* On September 25, 1991, the

HEEEEEEEEEa
Report 92-689, af 1 (bereinafter “CRS Chronology 1991-19927).

? Steven Woehrel and Julie Kim, i icy, CRS Tssue

BrieC B91089, July 8, 1996, at 3 (bercinafier “Wochre™).

* CRS Cluonology 1991-1992, st 4, ._._B_Bos.nw of the CSCE occurred on July 4, 1991
in Prague. Id

! The third meeting was on Sept. 4, 1991, and occurred in Prague, Id.
2 .

®5

Bush Administration, on behalf of the United States, suppotted the passage of United Nati

Secutity Council Resolution 713 (“UNSC Res. 713"). The resolution imposed 2

embargo on all weapons and equipment deliveries to the former Yugoslavia - including Bognia,
Croatia and Serbin.* Shortly thereafier, the United Nations Security Council passed Resolution
724, to egtablith a Sanctions Commities that would monitor compliance with the embargo.”
Resolution 713, in concert with United National Security Council Resolutions 740 and 787

which addressed the implcmentation of the embargo, calied on all nations to abide by the

embargo, but did not legally .-Bm.:« countries to enfaree the embargo.

The United Nations arms embargo was intended to contain the war and prevent the entry
of additional countries into the conflict. One of the consequences of the embargo, however, was
to preserve Serbian military superiority over the other republics due to the Serbs” altiance with
the INA and the extensive supply of equipment and munitions within the JNA arsenal *

Throughout 1991, the INA continued to attack various Croatian citics. In Zagreb,

. * United Nations S y Council Resolution 713, adopted on September 25, 1991,
Ep&nangnnﬁémﬁlgma?vﬁuﬂn noaur_.-r___m_.%on-.x_!ﬁ!gﬁ
Yugoslavis, immediately implement » uﬁﬂ&igrﬂagﬁnnmnrcﬂ.ann
weapons and military equigment to Yugoslevia until the S ty Council decides otherwise™).

? United Nations Secarity Council Resolution 724, adopied on December 15, 1991, See
Article 5(b) establishing the Ssnctions Committee.

¢ See Chapter One, Section Five for a discussion of these United Nations Security

’ Council Resolntions and the arms embargo. United Nations Security Councit Resolution 740 )
‘was passed on Feb. 7, 1992, and United Nations Security Council Resolution 787 was passed on

Nov. 16, 1992.

* Laura Silber, Alian Little, Yugeulavia, Death of'a Nation 198 (1595) (hercinafter
“Silber™).
3
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20 sl buildings, including President Tudjman's offices, were shelled. In the coastal
E!aenggiFnﬁ-zrﬁsaa.iginuis-ﬁﬂﬂaﬂ.iﬁeﬂ&S_GEEEF-
for weeks at a time."* In Novembes, the Serbizn forces Gnally left Vukovar, a city of 45,000, in
ruinis after months of fighting."’ ?Ecaizﬁ%ang?ng&n%
on November 23, 1991, but quickly collapsed, as intense fighting continued elsewhere in
Croatia.”

In January, #Snenmimsaeﬂnnnnﬁsmqnﬂﬁuﬁeﬁa?z&. Five military

gi&?gaﬁukgsi rked helicopter.  From this
Eéangggiiséiiﬁﬁﬁp
Shortly theroafier, \be Uniited Naticns st a team 1o Croatia W 1ay the groundwork for the
deployment of intemational peacekeeping troops. With United States support, the passage of
United Nations Resolution 743 sutharized the estsbiishinent of the 14,000-strong United Nations
Protection Foree (“UNPROFOR™) for a0 initial service of twelve monthe.! The troops were
Eizsgwﬁggigniugmaspgmg
E&&E?Eﬁa&n&&i:ﬁ%%ﬁ%wi%

")l 4,
WAl
t.u.-:r :
P20
:Eu?.nas.caiznrimaiqoaﬁa_gqs.im&.ur

uﬁngunéggi%ﬁiﬂaaﬁsw&,z&eﬂ .

Protection Force).
F
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heavy fighting and relative calm."*

1992.1993: Bosnia Enters the War.

In early 1992, the battle lines expanded into the territory of Bosis-Herzegovina. In
April, Serb militiataen and the Yugoslav Army launched attacks against Bosnian Governatent
forces after Bosnia became the third couniry to declare its independence from Yugoslavia. The
most ethnically diverse of the former Yugoslav states, Bosnia had been a melting pot of Serbs,
Croats and Muslims. Ahhough Efowoﬁe.n Qcc.w....paoa.. predominantly Muslim army was
larger then the Bosian Serb Army (“BSA™), the alliance between the Bosnian Serbs and the
A tipped the balance of firepower heavily in favor of the BSA, which quickly seized more
thap two-thirds of the territoty and surrounded the capital city of Sarsjevo.”s In fact, afier the

Bostiian Serb Army invaded Sarajevo on May 2, 1992, the front-lines in the Sarajevo suburbs

estsblished by the BSA partitioned the eity and held on for the.rest of the war.”” The tremendous

disparity in weapons is described in a New York Timas article that poted; '
[TThe Serbian forces in Bosnis have 300 tenks and the Bosnian Muslims just 2. The
Scrbian forces have 200 armored p 1 carriers and the Muslims 1 or 2. The Sesbian
forces bave 600 to 800 astillery pieces 1o two dozen in the hands of the Muslivs.”

" futic Kim, UNPROFOR Deploymend as of mid-March 1994, CRS, Scpt. 24, 1996.
* Woehrel 2t 6.
7 Silber ot 233,

'Michael Gordon, Iom Said 1o Send Arms to Bosnisns, New York Times, Sept. 10, 1992,
at A0 (heveinafter “Gordon™) {citing United States intelligence reports).

L]
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As these numbers would suggest, Serb forces easily outgunned the Bosnian Muslims, quickly

acquired vast expanses of tertitory and inflicted high aumbers of civilian casualti
Unlike the other warring factions whose patrons in Crostia and Serbia provided them

with military and finacial support, the Bosnian Muslims were forced to look beyond their

diate borders to acquil Bﬁaoﬁnguﬂﬁsﬁnﬁﬂiﬂaiguag.

the Bosnian Government mnauln uired some small arms by various means including
purchasing artns on the in S_....u: igiﬂgégﬁw_&%gg ate
humanitarian aid E:Sﬁ.uanﬁnﬁgﬁﬁu:gu&géagﬂ%uﬂﬁw

of weap s-n_:_.au line through Crostia ** Other countries came to the aid of the

Muslims: Turkey snd Pakistan smuggled small arms 1o the Bosnian Muslims; the Sultan of
w%%»ﬂ-&ggoniﬁwiﬂg% and Saundi Arabia donated funds
6 the Bosnian Government to purchase arms from Hungary and Argentina ™ The materials

acquired by the Bosaian Muslims in the early years of the war, howevez, did little to sustain the

L B et dent Tueih

traops or mount A strong opposition aginst the Serb forces.
B:&gnﬁcaiz&aggn!gsgﬁuaggbﬁgz:ﬂﬁ

HEE!EEF%EBEEPHBP
Los Angeles Times, July 15, 1996, ot Al (which noes that Inn sent modest shipments of srms to
EEE-*—EJ&EE!E?—!EE -

E?ﬁ%?ﬂ.mﬁnﬁ_glagsg Esi!..n._
purchased hundreds of millions of dollars worth of black-market wespons s smuggled
ggwﬂiigi%gxdaﬁmﬁlg of State
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access 10 heavy weapons to defond themselves, but his efforts were unsuccessful.
The violence escalated during the spring of 1992, Although cease-fires had been

negotiated and signed, pone had held fully.” Beginning in 1992, ive diplomatic
initiatives sponsored by the United Nations and the European Union were rejected. Ni ous
cities in Bosnia-Herzegovina including Mostar, Gorazde and Sarajcvo came under heavy attack

frort the Bosnian Serb forces, killing many, trapping United Nations peacekeepers, and making
E e delivery mrgﬂgznng_wﬁuoﬁ! in May, under intemational pressure and

5«._._3-._ of Western i .._. < Amy £ its withdrawal from the conflict,

but allowexd its soldiers who were bom in Bosnia-Herzegovina to remain and fight with their

weapons and equipment, thus further solidifying the superiority and military strength of the

. Bosnian Serbs. In June, Serbian militia forces fiercely atiacked Sarajevo, deploying rockets,

mortars, and artillery.® In July, an intersational airlift to provide food, medicine and relief

supplics 1o the starving citizens in Sarajevo began,*
i.n?g&o?ﬂgézﬁiio:cﬂ&nmggﬁmq

and the United States formally recognized the countries of Bosmis-Herzegoving, Croatia and

# CRS Chronology 1991-1992. Several ctase-fire agreements hiad been negotiated in
1992, By June 1, 1992, at least cight had becn signed: January 3, 1992, April 5, 1992, April 12,
1992, April 15, 1992, April 23, uwuuq!h%a. 1992, May 15, 1992, and June 1, 1992. Id.

Py at29.
Bl a3l
™ I, at 36. Before the airlift ended, some three-and-one-half years bater in January 1996,
approxintately 13,000 flights carrying an estimated 18,000 tons of medicine aixd 160,000 tons of
food had landed, making the Sarajevo sirlift the Iargest in history,
7
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Slovenia, and lifted the economic sanctions imposed upon them. In May, these countrics gained
admission 1o the United Nations.™ On May 30,1992, the United Nations Security Council
on the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (“FRY"), now

consisting solely of Serbia and Montencgro, for its role in promoting the creation of an
autonomaus Serb state and supporting Serbien guemilla forces, federal Yugoslav army units and
the Bognian Serb Army.™  Almost one year later in April 1993, these sanctions were further
tightened by the ¢ United Nations Securicy Co sisan:ga&?qsusuna_ of goods
through Serbia and Montenegro and froze mnnun._n._uuunﬂ abroad.

In the summer of 1992, incidents of ethnic cleansing were widely reported. In the
portheast Bosnian city of Breke, Serb forces systematically executed Muslim men in the prison
camp of Luka. I were selected 10 be i n....rgn_nﬁrﬂ_nnn—gﬁaﬂ_ne%

2 two weck period.” Fgm;wﬂwﬁdggéﬁonaiﬂam&oss
%%ﬁoqgsgwﬁggiZi_iiiESF-ﬁ?Es
Newsday described the expulsi of 1,800 Muslims from the i i:u@nowﬂmﬁgwounnnmn

a8 “the latest twist of cruelty in an already brutal war . .. part of # policy by the Serbian-led

" B CRS Chronology 1991-1992 at 31.
* Wochel s 10; Eiﬁ?ﬁnzgmoﬂnﬁniﬁnmwﬂa%ﬂq

E?sﬂmﬁ<§§%
. QEEQB_QE-_H (Workd Wide Web at: }

ﬂuv—ﬁk\g——ﬂ. ﬁgqsgg\un_ﬁ?

Y Indictment by the
?E%QEE?E?%EE ..E_.s-. i, (Worid Wide

E& at: uov__n‘..quuv_i ﬁﬁhﬂqﬁéﬂ.&!ﬁu&cﬁv
8
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Yugoslav govetnment to ethnically cleanse historically Muslim areas of Bosnia. "™
Detention centers and prisoner of war camps also were encovered. Prisoners freed from
the camps described them as places where “beatings and torture are an integral part of the daily

regime” and venues of “executions, mass deportations in closed freight cars, forced marches and

a regime of starvation and aband to the ¢l e

In August, & 8_253 rew from the British Independent Television News visited the
prison caitps _.Oﬂ_ﬂu_ﬂ!&._.:uavoc E&E:uﬂvﬁ.:wcnur Despite the tight control of
ggﬂEﬁsguﬁsﬂﬂinﬁgﬁﬁ shot by film crews "was reminiscent of sceper .
from Nazi concentration camps. Gaunt men with protruding ribs stared listlessly from behind a
barbed-wire fence,™' Many observers belicve that throughout the war, “war crimes™ were an

integral compenent of the political and military strategy of the Bosnian Serb leaders. Although

Bosnian Serbs wene perceived 1o have itted the g number of war erimes, Croats and
Muslims also participated in episodes of indiscriminate killing and violence.” The International
Red Cross ciaimed that it had been barred from entering most detention centers, but that all sides

of the Yugoalav conflict were committing these atrocities.” The United tiations felt the need to

 Roy Gutman, Ef
Newsday, July 3, :.8..3

¥ Ron Howell, At 1IN, Pregurre for Atmed Reply, Newsday, Aug, 7, 1992, a1 5.
» Eﬂgﬁuiggmﬁﬁui&é@

Ea._aoa.-: ?Igﬂnnnm iﬂQﬁ.n-ﬂ..?Eld
¥ CRS Chronology 19911992 at 41.
9
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take action and established the War Crimes Commission in October 1992, 10 investigate the
reported offenses,™
In early 1993, the United Nations Security Council passed Resolution 808, establishing

the International War Crimes Tribunal.” The Tribunal was suthorized to investigate and

who were responsible for committing serious violations of international

humanitarian Jaw within the territory of the former Yugoslavia since 1991, including v

of the laws of war, genocide and crimes against humanity, and viclations of the Geneva
Convention - intended 10 protect cévilians and prisoners of war from willfl killing and tortu.e.’
President Izetbegovic charged that Bosnian Muslims were the victims of “genocide™ and
implored the world community 16 defend their freedom and iheir sbility o defend themselves as
its “duty.™" Increasingly, Islamic nations complained that the tepid response against the Serb
aggressions by the United Nations and i foned the p of Musti

The forty-seven countrics of the Organization of the Istamic Conference (“OIC™) were naturally
sympathetic toward the Bosnian Muslims. The OIC members also were bound by the United

3 CRS War Crimes Tribanal st 2; gee alao, United Nations Security Council Resolution
730, adopted Oct. 6, 1992, st point 2 {eatsblishing the Commizsion of Experts to collect evidence
of atrocities).

53 ot 4; nec alan, United Ny Security Council Resolution 808, sdopted Feb. 22,
_Suuvsu_gi%ansa.lgefﬁ_:xl&ﬁ!?ﬁ
g%ﬁ!%—unﬂgéﬂnggi
committed in the territory of the former Yugoslavia since 1991,

Md, st 6-7; st alao, United Nati ty Cowncil Resolution 808,

¥ Saul Friedman, By 0
Eguq_psﬁ.uq

18

z-_me.:m arms embargo, although their degree of adherence 1o the embargo varied. In December,
1992, the OIC passed a declaration calling for the lifting of the arms embargo.® President
Lzethegovic responded to outpourings of support frotn the Islamic commiunity with public

aceolades and declared that “we coasider Iran as our greatest friend in the world,™ The

American public was increasingly sympathetic to cfforts to arms the Bosnian Muslims and

ncither the Bush Administration nor Members of Congress condemned Izetbegovic for

expressing such views sbout Iran.

’ Tran views itself a8 the “protector of oppressed Muslims workiwide™ and was particulsly

active in its support of the Bosnian Government aoaa.sl
lr«w»:uw.ﬁi 1992, began implementing plans to send diplomatic, economic, and

bumanitarian assi to the Bosnian Muslims to make up for the inability of the United

Nations to intervene on behalf of the Bosnian Muslims.* Additionally, [ran supplied clandestine

5_‘.!@’.

In Septamber 1992, western news and Croatian government gources reported the first

military aid and p 1 to the Bosnian Go

EEEEEEEEEE
lasries of 11 Palicy and Involvement, CRS Report 96-360F, Apr. 24, 1996 st 1.

¥ FBIS, Imnizn Daily Interviews Tzethegovic, Dec. 30, 1992, at.27.

* See Chapter Three, Scetion One for a discussion of Iran's activities in the region
between 1991 and 1996,

“pa1 Batken Task Foroe, NS
May 3, 1996,a1 1. .
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substantial leak and “one of the most brazen efforts yet™ to circurnvent the arms embargo.” An
Iranian Boeing 747 had secretly landed in Zagreb, Croatis, carrying more than 4,000 guns; more
than one million rounds of ammunition; and forty Iranians in an “apparent attempt by the Islamic
state to smuggle weapons to Muslim ferces.™ The irenisn 747 flight sppeared o confirm
rumors that Iran and other Islamic countries had been involved in providing weapons and aid to
the Bognian Muslims in violation of the anms embargo.*

Ahthoagh the Muslim forces were desperate for weapons, President Bush respanded to
the report of the Iranian weapns deivery by officially protesting to Croatia and the Croatian
y of State Eagleburger recalled, “We made it vety
clear that we were sdamantly opposed 1o this going on.™* U.S. Department of State officials
condemned Iran's attempt 1o skirt the United Nations arms embargo, but acknowledged that
%EB:@:;&EEEEE?E%E:I
S
-

- “Douglas Jehl, ftanian Efftri to Send Boania Arms Reported, Los Angeles Times, Sept.
—o.—unu:lb—._?m. :

‘W
“ FBIS,

* James Risen snd Doyle McMamus,
Los Angeles Times, Apr. 5, 1996, st Al

% Michael Gordon, lran Sl 1o Seng] Arms o Bosians, The New York Times, Sept. 10,
1992, st A10. -

l . _ oY

G 1 impounded the mms. S

Sept. 10, 1992, at 23.

Bosnia: 1994-Present, Apr. 29, 1996, at 1.
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1993-1994: Clinton’s Bosnian Policy and the Muslim-Cront War,

During the 1992 Presidential campaigr, President Clinton criticized President Bush for
taking little action to support the Bosnian Muslims.™ President Clinton publicly opposed the
arms embargo and argued the United States should do more, including conducting air strikes, to
protect Bosnia ™ Once elected, however, Clinton's foreign policy to aid the Bosnian Muslims
was constrained diplomatically and militarily. President Clinton faced strong resistance to

multilaterally lifting the arms embaryo from the European allies, particulsrly Great Britain aud

France which fearcd that a retaliatory strike by the Bosnian Serbs would endanger their troops on
the ground. In the abscnce of necessary intemational support for & multilateral 1iR of the
embargo, Congress supported a unilateral lift to allow the United States to supply weapons

directly 1o the Muskims.® H , the atlies opposed unilaterat action by the United States

g ly. The Administration sharcd the allies” opposition to unilateral action out of concern
that any Serb retaliation would endanger UNPROFOR troops, that our allies would withdraw
their troops, and because unilsteral action by the United States would be £ direct violation of the

_ international arms embargo.” The Administration was concemed sbout an adverse effect

® US Had Options &t A6,
.y -
* See Chapter One, Section Three for a discussion of actions in Congress urging
multilatersl st unilateral lifting of the United Nations anns embarge.
. # U.S. Department of State Fact Sheet: US Policy Towsrd Poiential Arms Shipmens 1o

13




216

unilateral action would have on the adherence to and the success of other embargoes against Irag,

Libya, and North Korea.
In early 1993, the Clinton Administration supporied a comprehensive peace settlement

(the “Vance-Owen plan™) sp d by the two Chai of the Peace Conference on former

‘Yugoslavia, United Nations envoy Cyrus Vance and Evropean Community mediator Lord David
Owen. The Vance-Owen plan would apportion Bosnia into ten provinces, primarily defined
along ethnic lines. The plan would create ten separate provinces, of which three would be
defined by a Serb En.ﬂama...n.,.uno ﬂ..a_._E have s Muslim majority, two would have a Croat

majority, one would be a Croat-Muslim province, and the tenth would be the city of Sarajevo,

which would retsin a presence of all ethnicities.™ Throughout the first months of 1993, thetwo

. mediators negotiated with the leaders of each warting faction to garmet support for the peace
settlement. The Serbs rejected the plan because it required them to return some Muslim pockets
ef temritory they had already conquered and because the Serb pravinces would be isolated from

ic criticized the plan for imposing ethnic partitions
across Bosnis, although he felt pressure to accept the plan bo gain intemnational approval. In
%sﬁ%gﬁggﬁu§§.=§n=&5&&%a

each other. Bosnian President Lzetbegy

creating sutonomota Croat provinces that adjoined Croatix and extended into Bosnis.

The Boszian Serb Assembly voted to reject the plan snd it kst the support of the United
States for three reasons: first, the United States feared that the plan, if adopted, would be
unenforceable; second the Bosnian Gavemment contimued to strongly criticize the plan; and

= Sifber st 288.
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third, it would have required 50,000 ground troops to enforce and the United States maintained

its rel to send peacekeeping troops from the United States ammed forces into the region.”

After abandoning its suppurt for the Vance-Owen plan, President Clinton locked for other ways
to support a multi-ethnic staie in Bosnia. )

During his first six months in office, President Clinton worked to establish a more active
Bosnisn policy. In June, Secretary of State Christopher announced the (irst commitment of
United States peacekeeping ground forces to the war, offering 300 United States troops for the
—._z._vwo_..ow force in Macedwiia ™ The —....«umnua also worked successfuily within the
imernational arena to wrge the North Atlantic Council 10 employ “stronger measures including air
strikes™ against Bosnian Serb forces (action the NATO Council endorsed).” Preparations for the

use of NATO air power began immediately after the end
In late April 1993, increasing tensions between the Bosnian Muslims and the Crosts

erupted into violence. For slmost one full year, the Bosnian Muslims found themselves waging

wars on two fronts. Ethnic tensions, an influx of refugees who had been “ethnicafly cleansed”

from other cities, and the proximity of Cruatian HVO troops and Bosnian Army troaps in the
Eﬁmsgﬂoﬂ.ﬁm&ngaggfﬂﬂaﬁguﬂsﬂ: The war

o i
* Julie Kim and Steve Woehrel, B

EEEEEQ.@.’%@?“E .—E.u_m Gof&-
(bereinafter “CRS Chronology 1993-1994"). .

“Ida3
"
* Silber at 24,
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between Bosnian and Croat forces was characterized by surges through Croat villages by the
Bosnian Army, buming and looting as it went.™ For its part, Croatian HVO troops rounded up
Muslim men in conquered villages.” Incidents of ethnic cleansing, massacres and continued

fighting between the Muslims and Croats were widespread.

Al the same time, the Bosnian Serb Army continued to adv against the Musl

forces. In response to the ruthless attack on the Basnian city of Srebrenica and its sub

surrender 1o the Setb forces in April 1993, and to heavy fighting elsewhere, in June 1993, the
United Nations Security Councii passed Resolution 836 expanding the mandate for the
UNPROFOR troops to include protection of six Bosnian “safe areas.™ The arcas included

Sarzjevo, Bilic, Srebrenica, Tuzla, Gorszde and Zepa and d “all y
ineluding sir power 10 support UNPROFOR in its protection of the safe areas.” The designation
of the zafe areas required UNPROFOR w0 progress from peacekeeping to peace-enforcement in
these arcas and marked the first time in the conflict that the United Nations relinquished its strict
neutrality and commitied to the protection of one side over the other.? In reality, however, the
declared “safc arcas™ were far from safe.

. As1993 coutinued, prospects for peace in the region remained slim. United States

® i at299.
g " 8

* CRS Chronology 1993-1994 at I; see also, United Nations Security Council Resoltion
836, passed June 4,1993; United Nations Security Council Resclution 824, passed My 6, 1993.

“ CRS Chronology 1993-1994 ot 1.
@ Silber a1 274.
16
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diplomats attempied to negotiate a cease-fire and union between the Bosnian Croats and Bosnian
Muslims in August 1993, but provocations and broken promises on both sides caused the
fighting 1o continue into the fall and winter.”' In October, the United Nations Security Council
passed a resolution extending the mandate for the UNPROFOR. forces until March 31, 1994 In
November, Bosnian Croat shelling destroyed the famous Old Bridge in Mostar, an international

dmark built by the Otioman Turks in 1566 and  symbol of past umity in 4 town whees the
ethnically-diverse residents had lived in mumal wolerance,

Under pressare from the United States and other nation that advocated the lifting of the
arms embargo, the United Nations General Assembly passed a non-binding resolution on
December 20, 1993, urging the Security Council o 1ift the embargo on the Bosnian

government. ™ However, the Security Council did not have the votes to enact such a measure.

Negodating the Federation Agreement. .
In Febmary of 1994, Bosnian Serhs attacked a crowded market square in Sarajevo, killing
sixty-cight people, wounding more than 200 and sparking worldwide outrage. The Clinton

Administration resporled to the incident by calling for NATO i srikes against Serb gun

O Silberat 320,

n’mﬂudao—onx-oou.—uf!u see alao, United Nations Security Council Regolution .

871, Asticke 11, adopted Oct. 4, 1993, which extends the mandate for UNPROFOR for an
&&E—.ﬂ.ﬁnggvﬁl 31,1994,

“ CRS Chronology 1993-1994 #t 6.
“Id a8
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cmplacements and encouraging the Muslims and Croats 1o present s unified defense against the
Setbs. The Serb forces agreed to comply with the NATO demands, thereby avoiding the
threatened air strikes, The front lines did not remain quiet for long. Later in February 1994, the
first combat action in the 45-year-0id history of NATO was initiated when United States fighter
pilots downed four Bosnian Serb planes illegally flying in a no-fly zone.”

Throughout the Muslim-Croat conflict, mediators from the United States sought 1o exert
pressure on both sides to enter into peace negotiations. In February, the United Nations issued an
ultimatem to Croatia to pull its m:.Jw out of Bosnia or face sanctions and world isolation. e
threat worked. Croatia agreed to withdraw its army and commence serious negotiations for a
Federation. By the end of Fetauary, Engu.ﬁ and Croats were en route 10 Washington and,

over the next four days, jated a draft agn Despite the year long viclence between

the Muslims and Bosgiun Croals, the two partics signed an sccord estsblishing a fragile alliance.
President Clinton hailed the pact as “one of the first ¢lear signels that parties io this conflict are
égsg?igigsgenggsﬂng
noted that the sgreements stirred “hope for a comprehensive settlement” in the Balkans”

The impact of the Federation Agreement was instrumental to the survival of the Bosnian
Muslims until the signing of the Dayton Accords the following year. The most important #nd
immediste consequence of the Agreement was to enable the Bosnian Army to focus its encrgy on

“1d = 10.
“ Silber at 322,

* Paul Richer, Mustims, Croats Sign Acconds for New Federtion, Los Angeles Times,
Mac. 19, 1994, at Al. :

Z81

the war with Serb forces, and to create a Muslim-Croatian unified defense to put additional

pressure on the Serbs to negotiate a peace settlement.™ The Bosnian Army’s supply of weapons

and munitions increased as a result of access to Croatian weapons caches and the arms pipeline—

was reopened through Croatian territory.”  The alliance also enhanced the delivery of needed
humanitarian aid 1o Muslim enclaves.”

Despite the momentum provided by successful negotiations to establish the Muslim-
Croat Federation, peace with the Bosnian Serbs was not forthcoming. The Serb forces
‘continued to hold seventy percen of the ferritory in Bosnia. In April 1994, gunfire and
explosions erupted again in Sarajevo.” At the same fime, the Serbs launched attacks against
three United Nations “safe havens.” Srebrenica and Zepa fell quickly. Gorazde, a ¢ity of 65,000
strategically located between two large Serb-held towns in the Drina Valley, was subjected to 2

lidate their territory in the cvent

ing siege. The Bosnian Serbs were pting to

that a quickly-moving peace process would freeze existing boundaries.™ United Nations

. officials, however, interpreted the vigorous atiacks on the cities in northern Bosnia as retalistion

sgainst the Federation agreement”

™ Silber at 319; see also, Steven Greenhouse, i
Ef%ﬁnﬂgi.uw._wwr!%.

™ Silber at 319.
"
’ B Julie Kim, Detailed Chronology of Events in Basnia during March ), CRS
" Report, July 18, 1996, a1 4 (hercinafier “CRS Detailed Chronology™)-
" ™Silber at 325. .
™ I4; CRS Detailed Chronology st 4.

19




282

The siege of Gorazde was particularly harsh. United States Special Envoy to the Former
Yugoslavia Charles Redman characterized the attack as *very, very brutal .. . we simply had a

bunch of helpless civilians being pounded at point blank zange by Scrbian tanks.”™ At the height

of the assault, Serb gunners were hitting the city an average of once every twenty scconds for an

entire day. Bosnian President Izetb ic responded with another international eafl for weapons
to be used in self-defense.”  The events in Gorazde made absolutely clear the inability of the

UNPROFOR forces to protect the “safe areas” under the existing rules of engagement.™ The

situstion was becoming incr asingly dangerous to citizens of Gorazde, the intemnational relief o

agency personnel and the United Nations personne] in the city.”
UNPROFOR Commander General Rose demanded Serbian General Miadic put & stop to

the attacks on Gorazde or face NATO action, but the attacks continued.™ In what Presid

Clinton described as “a clcar call to the Serbs to pull back from Gorazde and resume the

negotiations,” NATO jets began to carry out air swikes against the Serb foroes with increasing
frequency and intensity 1o protect the United Nations personncl and civilians"' Bosnian Serb
leader Karadzic retaliated by detaining United Nations troops and officials, banning American

* Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Charles Redman, Aug. 27, 1996, at 29 (hercinafier
*“Redman Subcommittee Dep.").

" CRS Chronology 1993-1994 a1 14,
~—

=]

* Silber at 327.

" CRS Chronology 1993-1994 a1 13,
20
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journalists from Serd territories and declaring United Nations Commander Rose persona non
grita.® The retaliation by the Sesb forces hardened allied opposition te a unitateral lifting of the
arms embarge. Bosnian Serbs also blocked United Nations relief convoys from bringing needed

food and medicine to Gorazde." Near the end of April, Bosnian Serb troops began to comply
with NATO deadlines to withdraw theit heavy weapons and it strikes diminished.™

While the Bosnian Serbs unleashed fierce attacks on the “safe areas™ and other Bosnian
enclaves, and the number of civilis casuslties skyrocketed, the United States Congress hotly
n&ﬂ&&nmﬂ.ﬂo—.eﬁ!ﬂunsruo. gw?nirnon_ooa.woﬁmusco.&s
mandate the lifting of the embargo.” The disproportionate impact of the anns embargo had
become incremsingly clear to the Administration, Congress, and the American public. Moreover,
the new Federation Agrecment between the Croats and Muslims offered the first real opportunity
to forge a peace in the region.

' ?w?gﬁﬁigaﬁuﬁssﬁaéﬁﬁiuﬁs
Ambassador responded to the President of Croatia that he hiad “no instructions™ with respect to
whether the United States would object if Croatia sllowed arms shipments from other countries
sigiggi :

Heavy Eighting between the BSA and Bosnim G forces d near the town

R 14,
O at 18,
*1d. 2t 16.

™ See Chapter One, Section Three and related appendices o Congressional activity and
policies relating w the United Nations arms embargo.
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of Bihac and in Gorazde for several days in July. In August, President Milosevic of Serbia

d that his g was going 1o sever its remaining political and ic ties to
the Bosnian Serbs.*
The FRY government agreed to the deploy of ir ional monitors to verify

Yugoslavia's embargo of goods 1o the Bosnian Setbs. The Contact Group suspended some of
the sanctions imposed on Yugoslavia by the United Nations and in September, the United
Nations Security Council spproved Resolution 943, easing sanctions on Seshia-Montenegro.”

a£=§€ﬁdﬂiam?uﬁaw=ﬂ§§nﬂo§nimo§§zg n
November, continued and heavy fighting was reported throughout Bosnia and the situation in

Bihac, one of the UN. p d safe havens, escalated to a level which mandaied more NATO

air strikes. Also in November, President Clinton signed into law the Numn-Micchell Amendment

1o prohibit the expenditure of appropriated funds to enforce the arms ¢mbargo against the
Bosnian Muslims.

The Effects of the Strategic Milliary Imbelance Besween the Warring Factions.
As Secretary of Defense Perry would Eater testify in 1996, “an important and significant factor in

* CRS Chronology 1994-1995 m 3.

" 4. at 4; son also, Unfted Nations Security Council Resotution 943, passed Septernbex
13, 1994,

-
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the cause of this war was the dramatic imbalance of forces which existed.”™ The United
Nations, with the support of the United States, attempied 1o curtail the fighting in the Balkans by
imposing an anns embargo against all states of the former Yugoslavia. The embargo not only
failed to stop the deterioration of the situstion in the former Yugoslavia, but in many respects
contributed to further suffering in the region. Instead of reducing the flow of weapons to the
region, the embargo increased the tearible disperity in military power among the factions and
forced the Bosnian Muslims 1o seek weapons wherever they were gvailable.” Unfortunately for

'the Bosuian Muslims, the embargo did not preveat arms from reaching the Croatians and the ™

Setbs, further exacerbating the weak military position of the Bosnian Maslirs.

It a0 article dated August 2, 1954, the Washington Times carried s chart outlining the
sales sad shipments of arms bo the warring parties for the period 1992-94 during which the arms
embargo was suil very misch in effect™ Crostia received the highest dollar amount of srms
g??%l%i%iﬁs?g?gﬁﬁaa
embargo. Half of thess weapons wers of German origin.” Scibia, which had retained the bulk

E&SEOEB!;?EEEE

, Committee, Apr. 23, 1996, s 10 (citing sestimony of Secretary of Defense Perry before the

House Intemnational Relations Committee, Nov. 30, 1995). .
* Gordon &t A10. ]
™ Paul Besver, Iran Uses Russisn Planes % Supply Bosnian Muslin, Croatiss Troops,

The Washington Times, Aog. 2, 1994, at Al4 (hereinafier “Arms Chart™)-

TId According %0 the chart, $320 million in German-origin axms were 0l to Croalia.
This chart does not indicate whether these figures also intlade the percentage of wespons Crostia
demanded from shipments headed for the Bosnians which transcended its borders. These cuts
‘wiere as high as thirty p before the ion of hostilities in the region
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of the former Yugoslav military at the outset of the war, received approximately $476 million
worth of additional weapons, nearly three quarters of which came from the former Soviet Unjon.

Bosnia, the neediest country of the three in terms of arms, received just $161 million in

arms from third counties, $20 million of which came trom 1an /NN

Neither Croatia's dect«:oa t1 eooperate with the Iranians and other Iskantic countries ir .

the reestablishment of the formal arms pipeline between Croatia and Bosnia, nor the formation of
the Federation balanced the scales while the embargo was in place. Bosnia began receiving
deliveries of arms from the Islamic countries on a more regular basis, but Serbia and Croatia

continued o maintain & vast superiority in heavy and sophisticated weapony.

In 1atc 1994, the Croatian Defense Ministry commented that the cusrent air deliveries of .

light weapons into the region Were not enough® to aid the Bosnian cause. OF course, arguing for
more weapons deliverics to Bosnia was in the intesests of Croatis since it received one thind of

all shipments that went to Bosnia through its territory.™ At the sae time the Bosnian Foreign =~
Minister lamented that it was extremely difficolt 1o get financing and support from many of the

"y
~ e ——] afati—
* Memorandem to the File by Peter Galbraith, Sept. 5, 1994, (Confidentisl)

. * INR Report, Nov. 18, 1993 (describing the Croatian amangement before Muslim-Croat
bostilities 4o take thirty percent of sims shipments to Bosnia).
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Istamie nations that publicly supported %ifling the embargo 1o &id Bosnia’s survival in the face of
Setb aggression.™

Serbia also prospered under the anms emburgo. By June 1994, the United States had
noted a sharp erosion in the effectiveness of the arms embargo against all countries.” Leaks in
the arms embargo were most apparcnd in Sexbia where the entire economy was growing in spite
of the econommic sanctions against it™ ‘The United States sought o impose tighter United
Nations Security Council sanctions against Serbia, but met with strong resistance from the
allies”™ Sesvia’s sbility to prejeet ity military threat throughout the former Yugoslavia, was
demonstrated in November 1994 when Sexbia threatened to bomb Pleso sirport, Lucko airfield,
agﬂggﬁnséggﬁwgﬂ._s Thus, even with

" apsistance, the Bosnisn Muslims found themsehves at a disadvantage.

The Bosnian difficulty in receiving arms continued throughout 1995, until the signing of
the Dayton Accords. ‘Unlike Bosnian Croat snd Bosnixn Serb forces whose patrons in Croatis

and Serbia provided them with material and financisl support, the Bosnian Muslims liad to ook
outside their inmediate neighborhood for support. At no point during the conflict were the

* Memorandum to the File by Peter Galbraith, Dec. 16, 1994. (5)

** Memorandum to the Secretary of Stats, Jene 2, 1994, ()

'B . ’

* Sct Depariment of Stats Cable, USUN 1931, Aug. 12,1994, 2t 1. (S)

1% Department of State Memorandum by Peter Galbraith, Nov. 17, 1994, at 1. The Sezb
threst did not materialize ss the Croatians explainc that they were not siding the Bihac Mustims
al the time although they had prosised assistance in the previous month. kL
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Bosnians able to ter the weapons p d by the Serbs and Croats.”™ In addition, Croatia

continued 1o lake a thirty percent cut of the weapons it sllowed to transit fts territory en route to ]

Bosnia, negotiated deals with Iran for the delivery of missiles able to hit Belgrade, and amassed a

Y -/

sizeable stockpile of materiel."” The Clinton Administration saw the Federation Agreement as & critical factor in reducing

the disparity in weaponry among the comb The most important q of the

Federation Agreement was that it allowed the Muslims and Croats to concentrate on the war with
the Serbs. The fact that Croatia reopened the arms pipeline for the Bosnians was an important
secondary consequence.

e s B e b ik i A i 37 ex? ot Tt S e e e, i

1995: The Road te Dayton.
In December 1994, former United States President fimmy Carter concluded a mission to

Bosnia in which he negotiated 3 four-month cease-fite. The warring parties agreed to several

military and humanitarian demands, including a “cease fire, the ending of Serb restrictions on

humanitarian ys, the reopening of the Sarajevo airport to aid flights, the protection of

human rights, the opening of the Bosnian Sexb tervitory to United Nations human rights
investigators and the exchange of all detai . and pri of war.™™ Atthough the fighting
ﬁi&ggggﬁEﬁﬁ}gsm&sﬁﬁ_%
approached. Negotiations for its extension were fruitless.
Once sgain, the Sech forces renewed their heavy weapons sttacks against Sarajevo and
L sl

Hereegovina and Formes postavia: Chronology of Events
2% June 1, 1994-Iuly 16, 1995, CRS Report 95-823F, July 18, 1995, &t 8 (bereinafter "CRS
: . Chronology 1994-1995%).
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other United Nations “safe areas,” took United Nations peacekeepers hostage and used them as
huinan shields and potential NATO air strike targets.”® By July. the Serbs overran the safe
haven of Srebrenica after NATO air strikes fajled to stop their advance, Subsequent reports of
the siege of Srebrenica suggest that thousands of Musiim civilians were massacred and buried in
mass graves at this site,
The Westem allies, fearing that Gorazde would be the nexi safe area to fall, promised
“decisive and substantial” Ewﬂrﬂ_auanusnnq A ined air strike campaign by

NATO agaitist Serb targets a.d military cquipment Insted throughout the sommer and included

thousands of sorties. While Ennﬂrﬁgasenﬁaaiwsﬁao%gg&.gnn‘oﬁ
to discuss a cease-fire with the Serb forces. NATO's show of military superiority, together with
Croatia’s successful attacks against Serb-beld areas of Croatia, created an incentive for the Serb
forces to sit down at the negotiating table.""> When the Serbs began 1o comply with United
Nations demands and affirmed their willingness to sign 8 coase-fire, interations! negotiations
sponsored by the United States, the European Union and Rustia began in Dayton, Ohio.

Three weeks later, & peace agrecment was initialed to create a central government snd

Iwo seni-auts gions with Bosnian territory divided fifty-one percerit to the Federstion

and forty-nine pervent to the Bosnian Serbe. The agr also comained provisions on

"id at 12

égiﬂﬁz«!%ﬂrﬂ.ﬁaasﬁi&'
, Eeg?st i hrono.himl) &t 5.

" CRS Chronology 1994-1995 at 6.
b
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signed, the United Nations Security Council passed Resolution 1021, 10 1erminate the arms
embargo on all former Yugoslav parties.'*’ The negotiations for a permanent peace were
formally sigred in Paris an December 14, 1995, at a ceremony in which President Clinton
commented, “I applaud these leaders for making the decision to tum from war to peace. .
Tomorrow they will begin the hard work of making that peace real ™" To help implement the
Dayton Accords, NATO deployed 60,000 troops, including some 20,000 United States troops, to
pasticipate in an Implementation Farce (“IFOR™) to patrol the separation of the factions."® In
addition to contributing to the military force, the United States promised sconomic, humanitarian
and military aid. The long term fate of the peace process is not yei clear but elections have been
held and the cease-fire has been maintained. The civilian initiatives such as resenling refugecs,
providing a basis for economic growth and jobs, and creating a new government structure have
begun, Unlike the situation on the ground in April 1994, there is an sbsence of war. In this the
Dayton Accords are 2 uccess,

" 14 a1 11; aee also United Nations Security Comneil Resohution 1021, point 1, adopted
Nov. 22, 1995 (noting that the United Nations Security Council “decides that the embargo on
gﬁﬁ%ggﬂgﬂéi.ﬁg_&sﬁu (1991) shall be
terminated.”)

1" Shavon Machlis Garienberg, i
Bosnis Action Coaljtion, Dec. 14, 1995 gk?agég

" 15 Julie Kitn and Elizsbeth Marino, Bonia and Former Yugoslayia: Chronology of
Events, Iuly 19, 1995-May 31, 1996, CRS Report 96-556F, June 10, 1996, a1 13.
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Chapter One
Section Two
THE UNITED STATES POLICY TOWARD BOSNIA .

Upon assuming office in January 1993, the Clinton Administration was forced to deal
with a deteriorating military situation in Bosnia. One option in addressing the problem was to
lift the United Nations embargo that had been agreed to by the previous administration and to
enable the Bosnian Muskims to defend themselves. This chapter describes the policy choices that
were available to the Adminictration, how the views of the allies and the role of Iran wer - taken

into consideration, and why the policy worked.

The Bush Administrarion*s Approach,

After war broke out in Yugostavia in 1991, the United Nations imposed an arms
nsrﬂwog__.nezﬁuogma an attempt 1c stem the fighting.' The embarga remained in )
effoct on al parts of the former Yugoslavia despite the fact that the military capabilities of the

newly independent Yugoslav republics varied widely, During the summer and fall of 1992,

political pressure 10 lift the srms embargo increased in the United States and lsewhere in
response to revelations of the Serb campaign of ethnic cleansing against the Bosnian Muslims.
and Crosts. goaggﬁgiiﬁuﬁaa;.ww&gaﬁ
Yugoslav National Army's (the “/NA") equipment provided them with a significant military
periority that made possible ethnic cleansing and other human rights abuses. The Bush

' UN. Security Resahution 713, Sept. 23, 1991,
k1]
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Administration rejected these calls. *
* During Labor Day weekend, 1992, an Iranian Boeing 747 landed at Zagreb ostensibly en

Toute 1o Bosnia 10 deliver humanitatiap supplies. Croatian officials inspected the plane and

found weapons and tranian military personnel. The Croats seized the war materiel and sent the

Iranians home. > Bush Administration officials noted that the seizure of the Iranian shipment

d the first tangible evidence of previously unconfirmed reports that Islamic countries

had been providing military aid to the Bosnian Muslims.' The Bush Administration afficials also

* expressed cancems 1o the Cenats-about reports of franian flights.! Tronically, at the same time

that the Bush Administration was actively seeking to keep weapons from reaching the Bosnian

Muslims, the United States Government confirmed a Newsday report. that the Bosnian Serbs
were operaling detention camps whene Muslim and Croat civilians were being held, wortured, and
executed.

President Clinton's Push so Lift the Embarge — 1993,

President Clinton advocated lifiing the arms bargo against the Bosnian go

* UJS. Rules out Allowing Bonia 1o Arnm liself, Reuters, Oct. 14, 1992,

- Michael R. Gordoa, Irn said to Send Arms 10 Bosnians, New York Times, Sept. 10,
1992, st A10. )

g
Al
© *11S. Demands Red Croas Have Acress to Detestion Camps, Associated Press, Aug. 10.
1992 {noting that the Bush Administration was “doing everything in its power to open detention
camps in Bosnia-Hercegovina.™). '

3
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multilaterally and conducting air strikes against the Bosnian Serbs (the so-called “lift and sirike
option™}). The lift and strike proposal represented a rejection of” the Bush .»n:.z:._unﬂ;o.: effort
1o demilitarize the Balkans by maintzining an anns embargo against a1l the countties of former
Yugostavia. The Clinton Administration believed that the embargo worked to the decisive

advantage of the Serbs who were primary perp aof ethnic ¢leansing and other war crimes.

During the spring and summer of 1993, the Clinton Administration sought to convince its
NATO allies to support “tift and strike,” but was unable to achieve consensus among the

E allies, and shelved zmn praoposal: When the allies said no 1o lift and strike, the

P

Administration was not willing 1o compromise alfied unity and initiate a unilateral policy which
might have led to the commitment of thousands of U.S. troops 10 a combat situation in Bosnia.
Therefore, the Clinton Administration continued to abide by the arms embargo and participats in
NATO's Opetation Sharp Guard interdiction effon in the Adriatic. However, the Administration
no longer interfered with arms shipments by others throngh Croatisn teritory. ~

The Administration pursued multilareralism only to the extent that it served U.S,
interests. The United States adopted a creative approach in which it continued 10 abide by the
United Nations Security Council resolutions, while simultancously pursuing its own goal of

allowing the Bosnians vo arm themselves. According 1o Alexander Vershbaw, former Deputy

Assistant Secretary of State for European Affairs, the Administration distinguished between that

which it was required 1o do under United Nations Security Resolution 713~ abide by the

* Select Subcommittes Interview of Samuel Berger, Sept. 25, 1996 at 4 (hereinafter
“Berger Subcommittee Int")}explaining that the Nunn-Mitchell amendment codified what the
United States was doing sircady: not enforcing the arms embargo),

i1
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embargo -- and that which it was merely "called upon™ to do under United Nations Security

Resolutions 740 and 787-- enforce the embargo. Vershbow 1estified that “ihe Administration.

-although it had 10 abide by the arms embargo itself, was clearly on record as opposing the arms

embargo and. therefore. we felt that it was not pecessary for us to aggressively enforce the arms.
embargo.™ Vershbow is one of several senior Administration policy makers who acknowledge
the United States had evidence for many months prior to April 1994 that the embargo was being
evaded. Vershbow stressed, however, that the United States “chose a3 a policy matier not to
send a telegram to our m:.gw: Croatia) to protest and tell them to eyt it out. We chose 1o
take kind of a - meore of a hands-off neutral stance.™

Reginald Bartholomew, the former U.S. Special Envoy for former Yugoslavia, testified
that his understanding of U.S. policy in 1993 was “the United States would, for its part, respect
the basic provisions of the LN, embargo in the sense of not its¢lf transferring arms. The United
States as & NATO member would, for its part, participate in the Sharp Guard operation, which

was relsted, but thefe it stopped. ..

The Croatian Queseion —~ 1993
In April 1993, the Crostian Govermanent Girst sought to ascertain the Clinton

* Sefect Subcomminee Deposition of Alexander Vershbow, Aug. 8, 1996, 1 20
{(hereinafter “Vershbow Subcommitice Dep.™). :
‘Wall .

 Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Ambassador Reginald Bartholomew, Sept. 30,
1996, at 22 (hereinafter “Bantholomew Seboommitice Dep.”).

33
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Adminisiration’s views on arms shipments to Bosnia. The Croalian inquiry may have been
prompied by an expectation that the Clinton Administration wouid take a different approach than
the Bush Administration crackdown of September 1992. The Croatian government had
reasonable grounds to ask such a question since Charge d"affaires Ronald Neitzke (who would
later become the Deputy Chief of Mission under Ambascador Galbraith) had told the Croats two .

months carlier that the United States strongly discouraged Croatia from serving as a

nsipmescoue*

) !vn Neitzke statement also conflicted with the fact that ams

shipments were already reaching Bosnia without United States interference. In general terms, the
Neitzke advice reflected the Bush Administration action in September 1992, and not the Cliniton
Administration’s ..mns.:..ﬂmWI

Defense Minister Susak raised the .-:nﬂ.u.o: about the United States view during a visit 10
Croatia in April 1993 by former Special Envoy to the Former Yugoslavia Reginald
Bartholemew, Specifically, the issue was raised afier a breakfast meeting, in which discussion
bad focused on relstions between Croatia and Bosria, #nd efforts to encourage the Croats to
exercise some restraining influence on the Bosnian Croats to ease the growing tension with the
Mustims , ‘

c&ﬂﬂ!ﬂgwﬁwi&%&a Envoy Bartholemew how the Urtited States would

" U.S. Department of State Cable No. 93 Zagreb 00499, February 14, 1993 (SECRET).
** Bartholomew Subcommittee Dep. at 13. -
k|

* Bartholomew stated: - e

reack to Croatia allowing weapons to transit Croatia en route to Bosnid. Bartholomew responded
that the Uniled States could not be pul in a position of saving ves or no to the Croatian question.
Bartholomew conveyed to Susak “that we didn’i take a position on this, that we didn’t approve.
that we didn’t disapprove, that we weren't. . . nom_.i 10 be pant of this one way or the other, that
he had to make his ewn decisions where this was concerned.™*  The United States did not want
1o be put into a position of policing Croatia’s border with Bosnia on the one had or of approving
weapons deals on the other. Either of those positions would have been contrary 1o U.S. policy.

{W]e weren's going 1o get into the business of these third-country arms transfers. We
weren't going to be put in the business of approving some. disapproving others, We
weren't going to become party to one way or the other where that was concemed:
enforcing or saying yes 1o this, no to that. et. cetera. That was quilc clearly something we
didn"t want to do."

Bartholomew iestified that Susak was ambiguous about whether arms already were
flowing into Bosnia. He knew from other sources at the time, however, that the Croats were
indeed letting at least some zrms pass through, “even in the midst of having rough times with the
Bosnians, because they were getting a cut of it.™  Bartholomew also knew that Iran was one of
the suppliers.

The Majority notes that it accepts Mr. Neitzke's second-hand account of events {in which

Mr, Neitzke stated that Ambasssdor Bartholomew to1d him the U.S. could not be in the position

" 1d. ar 18-19.
Y Id. at 20
Yid.at17.
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of sdvising Croatia to transship arms to Bosnia) during this period over the first-hand account of

Ambassador Bartholomew. In essence, Neitzke s account is not much different than

Bartholomen"s own. It should be noted, that Ampassador Bartholomew repored his
conversation with Minisier Susak orally 1o Ron Neitzke, who in tumn, sent & cabie on the
conversation to Washington nearly two weeks later,™ Although the cable states that Ambassador
Bartholomew had cleared it. this does ot appesr to be the case. Ambassador Bartholomew
never saw any report or cable on the issue, and does not remember clearing any cable on the

" subject”” Moreover, Mr. Neitsie has testified thet Ambassador Bartholomew: reported the” ~
conversation 10 him in the car on the way to the airport for a departing flight which calls into
question when and how Bartholomew woukt have beeni sble 10 sign off on Neitke's second _Eﬁ
account of the conversation.

One year later, Croatian President Tudjman would pose a similar question o Ambassador

Peter Galbraith. The question was similar, but the context was different. The differencein
context heips explain why Ambassador Bartholomew could confidently offer his view 1o
Miuster Susak that the U.S. had no position and why Ambassader Galbraith feh compelled to
seek expeditiousty instructions on how 1o respond .

In April 1993, relations between the Bosnisn Mustims and Croats were extremely tense,

but full scale war had not yet broken out betweep the two groops. That would oceur the
following month. Amibessador Bartholomew knew that some arms were already flowing. He

*yUs. g&o-.wgnglzn—.g 1479, April 27, 1993 ().
v gﬂgmgﬁgl&.

9

also could surmise that the effects of his response would be negligible. In fact. due to "the
outbreak of the war between the Bognian Mustims and the Bosnian Croats. arms did not flow to
Baosnia in grea: quantities after Special Envoy Bartholeniew's exchange with Defense Minister
Susak.™* In contrast, in April 1994, the Bosnian Muslims and Croats had. weeks earlier, agreed
to a fragile peace. Anns flows had been kept 10 a minimum during the previous year, and
Croatia was seeking the U.S, view in the wake of the conclusion of the Federation Agreement.
The Croatian question was, therefore, more significant than it had been the previous year.
Moreover, whereas Ambassador Bartholomew was approachied over breakfast by 2
Croatian Minisier, Ambassadors Qn_!.-m_.__ and Redman were asked by the President of the
country for the official I1.S. view. As Ambassador Bartholomew testified: = . . this was a
r-mu_a.ﬁ. <onversation. . . this wasn’t being put to me in terms of a formai demarche the way 1
understand later on the President of the Republic of Croatia did, in a formal sening to one or 2t
least two Ambassadors in specifically asking for the United States Government position, et
cetera. This was a breakfast conversation in which my reaction was being sought, and I gave a
reaction which was totally in line with the general outlook of the administration at that time.™*
The U.S. answer on both occasions turned out to be identical. U.S. policy was the same
in April :.eu. as it was in Apeil 1994, Ambassador Bartholomew equates the two replies: *“No
instructions, no position.”™ He also noted that when Ambassador Redman told President

"* Select Subcommintee Deposition of Ambassador Peter Galbralth, Aug. 19, 1996, a1 33
(hereinafter *Galbraith Subcommittes Un_u...—,.

** Bartholomew Subcommittes Dep. a1 24.
*Id. at 41.
37
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Tudjman that the United Stated did not want to be in 2 position of saying no o the Croatians. a

“he u...E what 152id. . . [ mean, in the sense of rol wanting 1o take a position oft the thing. ™
From the beginning of the Clinton Administration, the United States participated in

Operation Sharp Guard (the NATO operation ix the Adriatic primarily aimed at enforcing

economic sanctions against Serbia) but did not undentake efforts 1o enforce the anms embargo

sgainst Bosmia. Senior officials at the CLA were aware that the Administration was not vig

in enforcing the arms embargo against the Bosnian Muslims. Former Deputy Director for

Intelligence, Douglas Z-nmnn_.m_._.. sastified that “U.S. poliey, in tenms of constraining arms

shipments into Bosnia from the Croatian side had never been pursued with the same vigor that

__.QEEBS?.mag! side.™
The Partholomew advice delivered one year prior to the meeting among Ambassador

Galbraith, Special Emvuy Redman and President Tudjman represented the first indication by a

senior U.S. Government ofSicial that enforcement of the embargo would not be pursued

vigorously.

A Coll 4o Action in Bosnis.
In February 1994, & mortar attack on Sargjevo’s marketplace led to renewed United States
diphomatic setivity on Bosnis. Already deeply engaged in a parallel but separate effort 10 end the

2 Redmun Subcommittee Dep. st 51,
3 Partholomew Subcommittee Dep. at 41.

T Sefeet Subcommittee Deposition of Doug MacEachin, Sept. 6, 1996. at 58 (hereinaficr
“MacEachin Ssbeomminee, Dep.™).
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vicious fighting between Bosnian Muslims and Croats. the Clinton Administration spearheaded

.the successful effort 10 jssue 2 NATO ultimatum o enforce 2 weapons exclusion zone around

Sarajevo. Al the same time, President Climon reiterated United States imerests in Bosnia, The
pelicy of the United States toward Bosnia was intended 1o help prevent the Bosnian conflict from

b ing a broader European conflict. mai

in NATO as a credible foi (e for peace in the post-

Cold War era, help stem the de-stabilizing flows of retugees in the region, and stop the

strangulation of Sarajevo and the slaughter of i

« .

Unfortunately, the U aited States hau few good choices in pursuing its objective. in safly

1994, The first option was 10 increase U.S. military involvement in the conflict. The second

or:a_.. was to lift the arms embargo moltilateraily. The third option was 10 lift the arms embargo

unilaterally. The first option had the obvious and significant downside of committing U.S.

" oopS 10 3 combat situation and was rejected on the grounds that it was unlikely to command or

sustain public support. The second option had 10 be abandoned when the Administration was

- gﬁsgﬂaﬁémwwﬁzmﬂ?#ﬂuggF ?@mﬁggaywﬁ\l‘%

\\\\
option, preferred by a growing mumber in Congress, was opp

d by the Administration for fear

that it would lead to the withdrawsl of UNPROFOR, the abandonment of the L7.N. humanitarian

mission in Bosnia, the flouting of U.N, enbargoes by other ies, and the Americanization

. of the confljet.*

* prasident Climon’s weekly radio sddress, Feb. 19, 1994, as reported by Federal News
Service transcript.
* Berger Subcommittee Int. At4.
39
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Securing the Federation Agreement.

In March 1994, 2 positive new development re-eneryized the Clinton Administration’s
effons. Bosnia‘s Muslims and Croats signed a feceration charter in Washington. and ended &
vear of bloodshed between the two groups. The Federation Agreement had political, military and

humanitarian significance. In addition to ending the fighting, the Agreement fized Bosnian and

Croat forces 16 direct their military and political attention towards the Bosnian Serbs, cv.n._R_ the
way for increased aid supplies to pass through Croatian teritory 1o Bosnia, and reduced the Yevel
" of human rights violatioz.s.
Accerding to the former Special Envoy 1o the Former Yuagoslavia, Charles Redman. who
was the principal negotiator of the Federation A the primary benefit of the Federation

was to stop the war which would save lives. strengthen the hand of the Bosnian government
through the straicgic alliance. and Leep the Croatians on the right side. The real strategic
objective, however, according to Radman “was to form the basis that we could build on for an
overall agreement in Bosnis.™ Once the Federation was formed, Redman testified that he
“immediately went back 1o work to try to contact then the Bosnian-Serb leadership 1o see if we
could then build on that into an overall Bosnian seulement "™

The war between the Muslims snd Croats had produced some of the most brutal fighting
of the Balkan war, and had cost thousands of Tives. The Federation Agreement represented the
first step t0 an overall peace between the combatants. However, it was a “fragile snimal™ ¥ that

* Redman Subcommittes Dep. 2 27.
T 1d. a1 35,
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could collapse unless nunured carefully, Keeping the Federation together had to be added 10 the
Cn:.nm States policy objectives stated by President Climon the previous month. * Special Envoy
Charles Redman testified that distrust existed between the Croas and Muslims even as they
became closer because we could not ...w.».a « .. put them together in 2 federation and suddenly they

forgot the past™

P te Lift the Embarg

In cacly 1994, the Administration was faced with additional pressurc to “do something™ - -
in response to the Serbs’ continued siege of Sarajeve and attacks on civilians in the ULN.
dectared safe haven of Gorazde, Members of Congress, the press, and the American public,
largely sympathetic 1o the plight of the Muslims. began 10 step up calls for lifting the arms

embargo.” Throughout the spring and summer of 1994, Congress voted several times on

measures that d d ful} support for the ination of the embarge. Although a
consensus formed on the need to lift the embargo, the question of whether it should be done
uniliaterally or multilaterally remained. *

*I1d .37,
1. =t 36.

™ The Majority asserts that Ambassador Galbraith made it clear that he was sympathetic
10 the plight of the Bosian Musglims and that he was inced that the Bosnian Muslims were
desperately in need of weaponry. Majority Report. st 77-78. His views were, in fact, consistent
with those of a majority of those in Congress.

' See Chapicr One, Section Three for a more detailed discussion of Congressionsl action.
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The Administration rejected calls 10 go it alone in Bosnia. At a news conference on April
20, 1994, President Clinton described the situatien in Sarjevo. Gorazde and ¢lsewhers in Bosnia
as “ingreasingly grim™ and a “setback for the momentum achieved in recent months,” but he
placed a significant premium on “working with our allies, the Russians, and others™ to “help the
warring parti=s in Bosnia to reach a negotiated setilement.™ U.S. leadership and allied
solidarity had yiclded some small, but significant sicps in Bosnia. Secretary of State Christopher
testified that the effectiveness of a NATO ultimatum to place all heavy weapons threatening
Sarajevo under United Nations conirol or to rémove the heavy weapons to a rwemty kilometer
exclusion zone around the city was due in large measure 1o the firmness and solidarity of the
NATO alliance which was led in this instance by the United States.™ The allies also u—_u._.ua the

1.5, goal of ¢reating and maintaining a federation ¢ the Bosnians Muslims and Croats as

& § it to maintain the peace b Bosnian Muslims and Croats and provide the basis

for a quicker settlement 10 510p the war.™

The Administration was committed 1o actions and policies that reduced to & minimum the
potential for a withdrawal fom Bosnia by UNPROFOR. For purposes of the Select
Su ittee: investi th debate over unilaterally lifting the ecmbargo need not be

B

rehashed. The depth of apposition to a wnilateral Hft within the Adminisiration is important io

% The Presidemt’s News Confe Public papers of the President, Apr. 20, 1994.
» S&Emgmﬁmg?_wgiﬂnwigg_gngun
Sess. (1994 ) natement of Warren Chiristopher, U.S. Secretary of State 10 the Senate Commitiee
on Foreign Relations, Feb. 23, 1994, at 6).
¥ Redman Subcommitiee Dep. st £0.
)
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note, however, because it influenced how the Administration would respond to the Croatian
question. The Administration believed a withdrawal would expose the Bosnian Muslim military
and civilian population to cerain death and destruction and create a humanitarian and military
vacuum which LS, troops might have been forced to fill. The Clinton Administration also
believed that an UNPROFOR withdrawal would increase the likelihood it U.S. ground forves
would be required to live up to the longstanding U.S. commitment entered into by the Bush

Administration 1o help the NATO allies extracs their troops if and when such an extraction

became necessany, ¥

On Aprii 20, President Clinton outlined his concerns about a unilateral lifting of the
embargo:

First, I would say that if we ignore a United Nations embargo becanse we think it has no
moral basis or even any legal vatidity but everyone else fecls contrary, then what is to
stop our United Nations allies from ignoring embargoes that we like, such as the embargo
against Saddam Hussein?, , , Sccondly, what are the practical problems with raising the
arms embargo? Do the Croats, who now have this agy with the Mush PP

it? Will it be facilitated? How long would it take to get there? Would that increase
aggression in the short run while we’re waiting for the arms to be delivered? There are a
lot of practical problems with it. Do I favor lifting it? [ do. Do [believe the allies with
-whom we are working now would vote to support it? [ don't**

In June. Secrctary Christopher outlined what the Administration, in pecati with the
NATO allies, had accomplished in Bosnia. An agr had been negotiated between the

Bosnian Mustims and the Croats to end their year-long war, the shefiing ot Semjevo had ceased,
and the ﬁn_icaglﬂimgaﬁagﬂﬂn being enforced. The continuing

violence, he szid. made “it vital that the parties come to a political settlement.™ The Secretary

* Berger Subcommittee Int. at 4.
* President’s News Conference, Apr. 20, 1994.
3
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emphasized the imporance of working with Russia and other European pantners in the Contact
Group on a proposat to form the basis for a negotiated settlement. Secretary Christopher testifisd

that

“it would be & tragic mistake 1o undermine the setilement process which is now quite
promising; 1o undermine it by unilaterally _5.:@ the arms embargo at thit moment. That
would break the cohesion of the NATO alliance.™ Secretary Christoph.r, -uuo:.uu us.
_nl?nn-—.n in ensuring that other embargoes were maintained, continued: * [t could lead 1o

| collapse of U.N. ions a8 an effective instrament in international affairs. and
= could undermine our efforts in such u.EEB_u ag Iraq and Libya.™

Of course, many in n.o_ww_.«a _v.n__ng& equally strongly that the United States had a
moral obligation 1o help the Bostuans, and that nn._RESEm LS. policy on a consensus -E..:.m
our allies made neither goad political nor good military sense. Many were calting for a lifting of
the arms embargo and. for some of these Members, the immediate chjective was using United

States air power to force a Bosnian Serb withd: from the d Bosni: lation and

[

areas and forcing the Serbs 10 pay a price for its aggression.

The Croatien Question — 1994
In the morths prior 1o April 1994, contact between the Iranians, Bosnians, and Croatizns

increased including, in particular, discussion of trade relations sod arme deals”® The discussions

intensified with the signing of the Federation Agreement. A memo produced by the State

Department Intelligence and R r.w..BEF ber 1993, foreshadowed what was 1o

occut  few shor months e, R

n (Senate Foreign Relations Committee, June 30, 1994, trnseript pp.11- 12)
- 3 See Chapter Three, Section One for discussion of Iranian p in Bosnia.
44
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*J By the spring of 1994, those conditions appearcd

to be in u—ﬁn$

The question posed by President Tudj o Amt

dor Peter Galbraith shortly after

the signing of the Federatjon Agreement echoed almost exacily the question put 1o Special

Envoy Bartholomew one year earlier, “Would the LS. object if Croatia were o allow weapons

1o transit Croatia en route 1~ Rosna?™ The p:am_._o_._ came amidst ongoing discussions within the" -
Administration on how to respond to the Bosnian crisis. and more specifically, how to address
the arms embargo issue. The Administration response was not in lieu of a decision on Lift, and

indeed, the lift debate continued throughout the in the C and in the press.

Administration policy makers outlined three options in ing President Tudj;
The first opticn was to say that the United States objected. The second option was to say that the
United States did not object. The thind was to say that the United States had o instructions.”
Deputy Secretary Talbott testified that the “no instructions™ option was a diplomatic way of

saying that we neither approved of nor objected to what the Croatians were proposing. * Deputy

S y Vershbow testified that “no instructions™ was a “way to neither endorse nor

* Select Subcommittee Deposition of Strobe Talbott Sept. 5, 1996, at 42-43 92!253
*Talbott Subcommittee. Dep.™} Berger Subcomumittee Int. at 4.

“ §5CI Deposition of Deputy Secretary Sirobe Talbott, Apr. 23, 1996, & 21.
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approve of something.™
The downside 10 the “no instructions™ response was the likelihood that lran would be 2
probable supplier. Deputy Secretary Talbott testified that:

[A)Rer careful consideration we decided that the quences of any other answer would
be worse. 1f we had said yes to the Croatians, that is. if we had explicitly, affirmatively
approved the transshipment it would have put us in the position of actively and

ilateratly supporting a violation of the arms embargo, The public disclosure of such &
posture would have caused severe strains with our aflies who had woops on the ground in
Bosnia as part of UNPROFOR and who naturally were giving priority to the safety of
their own people on the ground.”

If the allies had discovered that the United States had endorsed the shi; a withdrawal of

UNPROFOR might have been triggered. Withdrawal could have required a sut jal U.S.
troop deploymens as part of a very dangerous and costty NATO extraction effort.

On the other hand, saying no 1o the Croatian request also would have had negative
consequences. IF. 15 a result of explicit U.S. disapproval of the transshipments, the Croatian
govemnment had shut down the arms pipeline; the Federation of Muslims and Croats would have

been undermined and perhaps destroyed. In addition, the objection might very well have denied
the Muslims the ams essential to their survival,”

“Fhe "no instructions™ resp ided these serious problems and embodied existing

policy. According to Deputy S: y Talbott:

£ Vershbow Subcommsitiee Dep., at 30.
zﬂuggg.su?u_ugnamgggs*
“ldm2l.
* Talbott Select Subcomitiee Dep. a1 43,
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it is our honest judgment that the exchange thai we had with the Croatians in April 1994
did not constitute a change in policy. It was a specific confidential diplomatic exchange
that was consistent with and supponive of a policy that had been in place for some time. .
.The back and forth with the Croatians that we are di ing here was totally consistent
with and suppontive of that policy.”

The “no instructions™ response neither signaled a change in the United Staies reaction towards
arms shipments through Croatia, nor signaled a change in the United Staes’ compliahce with the
embargo. In fact. the “no instructions™ response was vinually identical to the response by
Special Envoy Bartholomew to Defense Minister Susak one year earlier.

The Administration oclicved that the Croats would maintain tight control on the type of
weapons which were being shipped 10 Bosniz, and that they would not allow weapons which it
considered a threat to Croatia to enter Bosnia.*” Ambassador Galbraith testified that the United
States had no control over the 2rms shipments to Bosnis, although the United States was
interested in collecting as much information as possible:

(W)hat went in was overwhelmingly, perhaps exclusively small arms and weapons that

were intended to enable the Bosnian Army to defend itself and the Bosnians to survive.

And the Croats had no itterest in the Bosnians acquiring any significant offensive or any
significam heavy weapon, slash high 1eck weapons capability.

?In%&.iﬁisffnsﬁ&aaai.‘?&rai

sword” for the Croats, and ~the Croats were worried shout what sorts of weapons the Muslim
forces would get and spectfically they didn™t wint heavy weapons to get to the Muslims hecavse

“ Talbott SSCI Dep. ot 36-37.

T Vershbow Subcommitiee Dep. at 114-15.

* Galbraith Subcommittee Dep. & 76-77,
47
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they feared they would ultimately be used ugainst the n-a»ﬁ.i.?
In fact, the Bosnian Croats advantage in and control of weapons had been a factor in the
outbreak of war between the Bosnian Croats and afuslims the previous year. Croatian forces in

h

Bosnia could rely on their patrons in Zagrel for weap: ppli the Bosnian Muslims

were at Zagreb’s mercy. U.S. officials were concerned that denying the Bosnians weapons might
leud 1o a break-down of the Federation and a resumption of war.”
In instracting Ambassador Galbraith 1o tell the Croatian Government that he had “no
" instruetions™ with regard i Crdatia allowing amis to trznsit Croatia en route to Bosnia, the **
Clinton Administration walked a fine line berween being sensitive 1o the allies” concems on the

one hand, and not blocking the means of Bosnian survival on the other,

The Downside — Iran.

~ Inconsidering how 1o respond to President Tudjman's question. the Administration was

sware that Iran had been supplying arms and, absent a clear signal 10 oppose further
transshipment of weapons, would continue 10 sepply arms 1o the Bosnian Muslims.
Administration oi&&u acknowledge contineation of the *Iranian coanection™ was the most

significant downside to the no i i sponse. !

* Select Subcommitiee Deposition %i?ﬁ. 9. 1996, at 14748 (hereinafter
Imﬁ&mﬁa—umsﬂ Dep.). $
% Galbraith Subcommittee Dep. at 27.

" Talbot Select Subcommittee Dep, at 34, For a discussion of the extent to which Iran
was involved in the region between 1991- 1996, see Chapter Three, Section One.
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As discussed previously, the Iranian arms flow was not triggered by the Administration’s
“no instructions™ response.

Some believe, incomrectly, that our decision opened the way to Iranian influence in
Bosnia. By April of 1994, there were hundreds of [ranian mujahideen and Revolutionary
Guards in Bosnia. So the Croatians’ question to us in April of 94 was not an invitation to
open a door that had been closed to the Iranians. That door was already open, Had we
tried {o slam it shut, we might very well have aiso shut down the r~lationship thal was
developing betweun Croatia and the Federation. And that 1esult could have, 1 believe
almost cenainly would have, kepl us from ever getting to Dayton.™

Iran was, moreovet, just one of several countries pojsed to increase the supply and

Drseid,

financing of weapons to Bosnin in the wake of the Federation A Tudjman's

ic one. ~The question from Tudjman was not can we transship Iranian™

was a

anms, it was can we tranship arms. And we were witting of course to the fact that a significant
porntion of thosc amms were lranian, but it was ot Iran only,™*

According 1o Assistant Secretary Richard Holbrooke. the Administratien was faced with
a set of “lousy choices.™ '

.Juiﬁo.ussosonrﬂrowzso;ﬂ_.R.dﬁennslﬂuxsa.:a
here was Winston Churchill’s famous comments about why Britain made common cause
with Stalin against Hitler. T don’t want to put this up into that same Jevel of history. But
it was a legitimate decision for Churchill and he knew full well the consequences. Here
at a much smaller scale, this was dooe. . . and 25 so0n as the cesse fire was in place, 25

* Talboit SSCI Dep. 2t 22.
* Emohasis sdded
 Talbott Subconmittee Dep. at 48.

# SSCT Hearing, Statement of Assistant Secretary Richard Hoforocke, May 21, 1996, at
43 (hereinzfier “Holbrooke SSC1 Dep.™).
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soon as we got 10 Dayton, we deal with it. And it has been deal with.*
The Holbrooke reference 10 dealing with it concems the Davion requirement that foreign forces
leave Bosnia as a condition precedent to United States “equip and train” efforts. In an equally .
apt analogy. Holbrooke testified: “When the patient is dying. you first give him oxygen and then

worry about the source of the oxygen Jater. And those Frenian shipments. . . kept the patient

alive.™”

The Alliey.

In the spring of 1994, there were more than 14,300 UNPROFOR troops on the ground in
Bosnia and another 14.500 in Croatia. Of these, more than 15,000 were from NATO countries.
and the bulk of those were from Britain and France. While the Clinton Administration favored

lifting the arms embargo, the allies were adamantly opposed to terminating the emb There

was & particular concern amang the allics thax the Bosnian Serbs might target NATO troops if

weapons from 2 NATO country were seen 1o be reaching the Bosnian Muslims.  According to

U.S. Ambassador to NATO Robert Hunter, the allies “fear(ed) that weapons would reach forces
and they might be :scd against their troops, or in any event, lead to an escalation and make
anyone associasted with NATO more vuinerable.™* In public testimony before the Senste Armed

Services Commitice in June 1994, rep ives of the defense ministries of NATO

*Id. at 50.
* Holbrooke Subeommittes Dep. at 50.

* Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Ambassador Robert Huntes, at 40 (hereinafter
“Hunter Subcommittee Dep.™).
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with troops on the ground { Denmark, France, Spain, and the United Kingdom) opposed the
lifting of the arms embargo. The witnesses testified that the lifting of the embargo would force
UNPROFOR to withdraw and would inevitably lead to increased U.S. involvemnent in the
conflict. *

The Administration took into account alkied concems when deciduiyg hov to respond to
President Tudjman's question. Sensitive to allied reaction. the Administration sought to keep the

1 Brweid, 4
l-.n ) .—...

and Ambassadors Redman and Galbraith quiet. According
1o Strobe Talbott, “we weie --orried as hell about leaks. . "™

Special Envoy Red ified that despite the fact that the “no instructions™ response

P

confirmed what was already ULS. policy, discretion about the exchange that he and Ambassador
Galbraith had with President Tudjman was critical:

(1)t had implications for our dealings with our allies, because they knew we were trying lo
lift the arms embargo. They knew that arms were flowing to the Bosnian govemment
before this decision as well as after this decision. But it was still important. And it was
obviously important to them, because it actually played out this way, whereas they had
said that UNPROFOR would be out of the country if the United States unilaterally lifted
the arms embargo. When all of thes: reports which started to flow publicly shortly
thereafier, and we shared that information with the allies as well, they didn't make those
threats and they didn’t pull out of UNPROFOR. Se it was to me a very important
distinction that we had not, ourseives, said we are going to do it and do ic. It [2rms flows]
did happen te be happening. So it was imp 1 think that it be handled in a discreet
L1}

way.'

* “Impact of a Unilateral United S1ates Lifling of the Arms Embargo on the Government
of Bosnis-Herzegovina," Hearing before the Committee on Armed Services, United States
Senate, One Hundred Third s d session, June 23, 1994, at 1-21.-

* Talbott Subcommittee Dep. at 46.
. * Redman Subcommittee Dep. at 58-59.
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" While the allies might not have known about the particular exchange thut occurted in
April 1994, they did become aware of increased amus flows 1o the Bosnian Muslims. Moreover,

the alkies, like the United States. did not object 1o \he weapons transfers, Ambassador Galbraith

recalled discussing the issue of arms fers with his B li -- most likely the

pean B

Russian and German ambassadors-- and perhaps the British and French ambassadors:

(There had been press stories suggesting that arms were. . . flowing through Croatiz to
the Bosnians and noting that the United States was looking the other way, winking,
nodding, whatever the terminology. And I remember this coming up al some sccasion
which I was with the other ambassadors and. . . | simply 100k note of this and I said. have
any of you goys oiy.cted? And what I remember well is that not one of them had evif
objected. Not one of theil governments had issued a demarche to the Croatian
Govemnment for its role i facilitating the transit of wezpons to the Bosnian Govemment.
And [ made note that, as I recall it, that their position was identical to ours.®

The allies were prepared to live with the consequtences of the “no instructions™ response;

had they been infc d of the exch however. the allics might have been obliged to protest.

Additional British Concerns.
The British Government, however, did share their concems about the increase in arms

hip from M:ddle E ies to Bosnia with the United States government, A

primary British concern appeared to be that heavy weapons, which could pose an increased threat
10 allied troops, not reach Bosnia. The concems never rose beyond the level of diplomatic
discussions, and the British did not raise the issue publicly, suggesting that they did not judge the
Middle Eastern arms flows o be of a level significant enough 1o threaten their troops. Nor did

the fact that the United States refrained from objecting to the shipments stand in the way of the

* Galbraith Subcommintec Dep. at 116.
52
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allied diplomatic efforts whick culminated in the Dayton accords.

Reaction to Unifateral Lift and to Nunn-Mitckell,
The allies” reaction to proposals for unilateral 1ifi and 10 the adoption of the Nunn-
Mitchell amendment stand in sharp contrast to their reaction to the clandestine flow of weapons

from Middle Eastern countries through Croalia to Bosnia. A series of articles in the European

press is highly critical of the U.5. decision to prehibit the use of Dep of Defense funds for
enforcement of the arms emr..rgo For example, " Alain Juppe. French foreign minister, said the
U.S. withdrawal from enforcing the arms embargo against Bosnia favored those who wanted war
against those who wanted peace. Mr. Francois Leotard, the French defense minister, threatened
to withdraw French troops from Bosnia in the event of “one more step’ in the wrong direction.”®!
The French Presidential spokesman ..,nu: Musitelli went further: “W'e regret that our American
allies _.!R acted unilaterally, and without giving much concemn for their allies on the ground.” ™
British Foreign Secretary Douglas Hurd described the expected United States unilateral move as
“a worrying developmen™ while Danish Foreign Minister Niels Helveg Petersen described a
lifting of the ¢mbargo as a “bad signal.™*

The implementation of the Nunn-Mitcheil dinent aiso fueled speculation among the

. * Lionel Barber and Bruce Clark, French attack 11 palicy on Bosnia: Row highlights
drifting apant of LS _and ies. Evropean allies, The Financial Times, Nov..17, 1994, at 2.

* France, Britain Slam US over Emharga Pullout, Agence France Presse, Nov. 18, 1994.

* European allies irmitated by ULS, Bosnia Decision. Deutsche Presse-Agentur, Nov. 11,
1994, .
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allies that the U.S. was aclively involved in a covert operation 10 help the Bosnians, ~America’s
decision lo stop enforcing the arms embargo agaiust the Bosnian Muslims has split NATO and
apened a Pandora’s box of accusations about the U.S. secret agenda in the Balkans'** and
[R]ecent reports in Europe that the United States is covertly aiding the Bosnian Muslims
are strongly denicd by >§n._=.n5 officials and appear 10 be inaccurate in many details.
._.__n. moe._n.ﬂv. of these stories, based on claims by unidentified European officials*” and
United Nations officers, increased last week after the Clinton Administration decided 1o
stop enforcing a regional arms embargo against Bosnia's Muslim-led government.™
U.S. Ambassador to NATO Robert Hunter said that “There was a concemn about the time
of the Nunn-Mirchell that the Unitud States was going 10 leave allies vulnerable to the movement
of arms.™" A pritnary concem of the allies appears 1o be that the prominent U.S. role in
unilateral lift and/or Nunn-Mitchell threatened the cohesion of the alliance. The gist of those
concerns was that “this would bring their troops under greater threat. Some of them, like the

French, alse argued that this showed the United States was violating the U.N. provisions and also

was not pulling its weight as an ally.™ " In fact, the United States was not involved directly in
weapons flows from the Middle East. Nor did the arms fows include heavy weapons of the kind

that would constitute a grave thieat 1o UNPROFOR troops oh the ground.

* Ed Vulliamy, Ametica’s Secret Basnia Agenda, The Obscrver, Nov. 20, 1994, &1 16,

¥ Se y Christopher sent Und: y Tamoff to Paris to reassure French officials
Eaicadﬂmgaiinﬁvnﬁnnlﬂu—ns.ﬁ: iang, and to sem ofaUS.
covert aperation. Select Subcommitiee Deposition of Peter Tarnoff, Sept. 13, 1996, a1 27-28.
(herernafter “Tamolf Subcommitiee Dep ™

** John Pornfret, U.S. Denies E
Intemational Herald Tribune, Nov. 21, 1994.

** Hunter Subcommittee Dep. at 22.
*Id. ar 43.
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It it also imponant to note that 1o the allizs the issue of concern was arms shipments to

the Bosnians and not the role of the lranians in the amms ship F of the fifieen

NATO allies have diplomalic relations with lran. According to Ambassador Hunter, not all of
our European allies share the U.S. goal of isolating lran: “Some do 1o some degrec and some
believe in what they call, I guess, constructive engagement. Constructive dialogue is the phrase

used by the Germans.”™™  This difference in allies® views of Iran may explain why there is no

evidence of Eurapean allies expressing specifs that Iran was the source of some of the

arms reaching Bosnia

Frivately, NATO allies expressed some distnay st the break in allied cohesion upon the
revelation by the U.S. press in April 1996 of the "no instructions™ response. Although
Ambassador Hunter can recall no specific complaints or comments from NATO allies upon the
publication in April 1996 of press reports about the “no instructions™ response, he testified that
he did receive some comments.

11 recall correeily by the timing, the war was over, IFOR was deployed, TFOR

was being successful, and it was a tenor of we are surprised you did this, you

shouldn’s have done it, but that is history, in the sense that it did not pose at that
ion of revelation, an ongoing threat 1o allied forces. ™

Unlike the reaction to Nunn-Mitchell. Eurcpean governments” public resction 1o the
press accotunits was muted. The British Parliament, for example, did not saise the lssue with

Biritisi Ministers during the regular questioning period. European press accounts of the

Tid a4l
2 Id. at 50.
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revelation of the Middle East pipeline in April 1996 largely recount the Los Angeles Times

stories and describe plans in the United Stales Congress to investigate the alicgatians. They offer

little commentary, and do not include resporises by European leaders. ™

Results of United States Policy.
The weapons flow during 1994 and 1995 heiped the Bosnians survive untii such time a5
the circumstances were ripe for a negotisted peace. Weapons deliversd to the Bosnians

throughout 1994 and 1993 sn_.n-_ua_-ncmv. not the decisive factor in bringing the Setbs to the*”

negoliating table; p i to the Croatians may have been a more important factor.
The Croatians were in fact, receiving a cut of at _n-.a one third of the weapons being sent to
Bosnia, They were also engaged in arms deals of their own. Croatia had & stake in allowing
WeApOns 10 transit its 1eyrivory. The Croatians” goal was to “keep {the Bosnians} in the war or 21

least operzting effectively and to tie down the Serbs. It's targely a question of geogruphy in that

the Croats” main goal was to retake the occupied parts of Croatia and the Serb forces where were ‘

linked to the Serb qua.u in Bosniz. The degree w which the Croats could pin those forces in
- place would make it sasicr to launch their attack in occupied Croafia.™™ In the surmmer of 1995,

the Croatians did retake those accupied territories, and together with Muslim forces, did put

Apr. M»H.G.om.. e i : b nuuﬂ.rnnﬁaﬂr >w§_no. -..Hnnnm; .
Apr. 25, 1996; Tom Rhodes, Cli o i m-.-._angn
Times, Apr. 6, 1996. Rupert Cormrwell and Mary Dejevsky. Clinton Hit hy Row over Tranian
Arms, The Independent, Apr. 8. 1996, 2t 10.

uEwe.sﬁana Dep.at .ai
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pressure on Serb forces in Bosnia, These factors, combined with NATO air strikes against the
Serbs, created incentives or the Secbs 10 cut 2 deal

According 1o Richard Hofbrooke:

(T)he fund stal policy was absolutely correct, and without iL. the Bosnian govemment
would never have survived the winter of 1994-95. and we never would have gotien to
Dayton. It is assimple as that. Sarajevo was in desperate shape o that point, having
Yarely survived its war with the Croats. and being under continual assault from the
Serbs™ . . Policy sometimes offers you only Jousy choices. And we took the Igast lousy
choice and ] believe that the ouicome more tan justified the decision . . . the vecord wil!
show that the decision of April 94 resulted in the survival of the Bosnians through the
winter of 94.95, and into the summer.”

In geing no further than “no instructions™ and remaining discrect, the United States
avoided an alticd break on Bosnis. Maintaining consensus among the NATO allies with respect

10 NATO air sirikes and international sanctions on Serbia was no easy matter.” Had the United

States gone further than "no instructions™ and actually endorsed the shippi of weapons 10
Bosnia. the Clinton Administration believed the sometimes uneasy alliance over Bosmia might
have collapsed.

The alliance did hold together over Besnia, however. The United States, NATO, and
other allied forzes are serving side by side in IFOR and also are working logether to implement

the civilian aspects of the Dayton Accords. The IFOR arrangemens are unpreced d and have

been highly successful.”

* Holbrooke SSC1 Dep. 21 26
™ 1d. at 48-49.
*' Hunter Subcommittee Dep. at 37.
™ Hunter Subcommittes Dep. at 47.
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Why the Policy Worked. berause of reasons far

responge.”! 1M'in the worst case seenario, the peace does not hold, it will be
wake 3 i wer 3 tians - a s ' 2 . oot ‘g™ i j X
Mw“h”:u_..un-m q.mm”-..w .ﬁcwe_u_»%.m_:pm;_mﬁ%nﬁnﬁ M:..Mu m.”u_“u: n.“__dh& ._w”_.ﬁ“ﬂu_manuw unn% = more complex then the LS. delivery of 2°no instructions” response to President Tudjman
began to counterattack. The Federation survived 10 become a comerstone of the Dayton ’
Agreement. We averted a crisis in the alliance. UNPROFOR remained in place,
providing humanitarian supplies and helping the Bosnians through another brutal winter.
We bought time for a combination of American diph 'y, NATO air power. and
Croatian and Bosnian military victories 1o reach an historic peace agreemnent under
United States leadership in Dayton. The United States is leading an intemationai ¢ffort 1o
‘arm Bosnia today, The Iranian, presence there is down to a handful and increasingly
marginalized. ...atough decision rumed out to be the right decision.™

(R T

Tt was Dayton that gave us a chance to get the iranians out of Bosnia. And the Dayton
accords, we insisted on and achieved a commitment 1o the removal of all foreign forces  *
from Bosnis. While we remain concemned by any remaining Iranian influence in Bosnia
-to this day. and coninue 1o insist that foreign forces leave the coumry, very substantial
progress has been made on this issue, largely through defermined American leadership.®
This much is ¢lear. In 1994, Bosnia was embroiled in a bitter war that threatened to spill
over to other parts of Europe. U.S. leadership helped bring an end 1o the fighting among the
Bosnian Muslims, Croats, and Serbs, to the rape and tortre, to the mass executions, and 1o the
sniper attacks on civilians; it has helped create the conditions o build a new Bosnian state, and
stopped Ihe war from spreading, In eardy 1993, hundreds of iranians were present in Bosnia and
Croatis. ﬂé.ﬂﬂgnﬂsﬂmqﬁfgg;
The peace in Bosnia may be fragile. but it is simplistic and simply wroag to suggest, a5
does the Majority, that any tennousness in the peace can be blamed on the “po instructions™

™ Talbott Subcommittes Dep. at 23.24,
™ Tafbont SSCI Dep. 2t 22.
) 58

* Majority report at 194-95.
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Chapter One
Section Three

THE ROLE OF CONGRESS

The Administration did not develop its Bosnian policy in a . The Congress was
involved actively in a public debate throughout the period of the arms embargo. However, the
debate probably was most intense dering late 1993 and into the fall of 1994, Like the Clinton

Administration, the Congress was increasingly d about the situation on the ground in

Bosnia. Like the Administration:the Congress had to choose between a series of difficult =~

pli Like the Administration, the C

gress wanted to end the arms embargo against Bosnia,

But, unlike the Administration, many in Congress believed the United States should withdraw
unilaterally from the arms embargo if the allies refused to end it multilaterally.

Congressional Action on the Arms Embarga.

As early a5 1992, the United States Congress was on record in support of U.S. amms
transfers 1o the Bosnizn Government subsequent to the lifting of the arms embargo. In the
summer of 1992, the Czagress adopted the Biden amendment to the Fiscal Year (*FY ™) 1993
?Eu.._o_.numa.u.mauﬁmaiieﬁs. t Programs Appropriations Act,’ authotizing
the President, pursuant to a ifting of the United Natk b to fer $50 million in

defense asticles 1o the Bosnian government. In 1993, a similar smendment was adopted to the

.mmi%ﬂ!—ouumaﬂmgggﬁ.muvoam..is.Jr
Appropriations Act, PL. 102-391. .

50
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FY 1994 Foreign Cperations appropriations bill. ¥ In 1993, however. calls 10 lifi the international
arms embargo against the Bosnian government -- or at feast for the LS. 1o provide arms to the
Bosnians in spile of the embargo -- beyan to accelerate. In June. the House Foreign Affairs
Cemmitiee adopted 2 Hyde amendment to the FY 1994 Statc Department authorization bill
authorizing the President to provide $200 million in military equipment to the Bosnian
government, in spite of the arms embargo. The Senate Forcign Relations Commitiee adopted a
similar amendment 1o the FY 1994 foreign aid authorization bill, afier considering an
amendment by Senator Luge-.to require unilaleral termination of the embargo. Several

Cor ional resoluti idered in 1993 called for the mulilateral lifting of the embargo as

-3

onc part of an overall policy to bring an end to the war in Bosnia.!

In 1994, calls for the lifting of the arms embargo against Bosnia intensified. In up::!.,.c
1994. despite the strong opposition of the Administration. the Senate voted eighty-seven to ninc
in favor of a nonbinding Dole amendment to the State Department authorization bill’ to terminate
the United States participation in the arms embargo. The deteriorating situation in Bosaia, most
notably the February shelling of the Sarajeve marketplece and the Sexb siege of Gorazde in Aprii
1994, led to continued p from Members of Congress from both parties 1o 1ift the arms

embargo. Impatient with the pace of United States snd European diplomatic activity, many

? Fiscal Year 1994 Foreign Operations, Export Financing and Related Programs
Appropristions Act, P.L. 103-87.

? Julie Kim and Disnne E. Rennack, Bosnia-Heregoxina Conflict and the 103d
Congress: Paliry Debates and Summary of Majar Legislation, CRS Report 94-1008F, Dec. 12,
1994, a1 27.28.
*11.S. Department of State Authorization Act. P.L. 103-236
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Members concluded that the level of human rights violations in Bosnia had o be slopped even at
the risk of damaging relations with our European allies.

Beginning in the spring of 1994. the Congress devoted an exiraordinary amount of
legislative and debare time 10 the arms embargo issue. In May 1994, Senatars Dole and
Licberman introduced S. 2042, mandating the termination of the United States arms embargo on
Bosnia and Hercegovina. The debate on S. 2042 made clear that Members were virtually
unanimous about the need to Lift the embargo, but divided about whether the United States
should break ranks with the allics and iR the embargo unilateralty.?

United Nations Security Council Resolution 713 prohibired all ber states from

shipping amms 10 the countries of the former Yugoslavia. Sub LU.N. Resolutions 740 and

q

787 called upon all members to enfotce the embargo against shipments by other countries. The
Dole-Lieberman measure purported to refieve the United States of its obligation under U.N.

Security Resolution 713 and to end U'S. participation in enforcement activities. First, the Dole-
Liebermar bill would have terminated the United States arms embargo againgt Bognis. Second,

the bill would have prokibited the President or any other member of the Executive branch from
r_ann;misnaﬁa?a?ﬂs?gﬁonwsar in effcct, the Measure would
have allowed the United States 10 ship ams and would have prevented the United States from
%E?gguﬁuu&gg%sgﬁgsg.g
Dote later modified the measure to eliminatc the possibility that the nonenforcement of the arms

! Cong. Rec, S5607-55627 (daily ed. § 12,1994).

- * The measure alsomade clear that it should not be interpreted as an anthorization for the
deployment of U.S. troops 10 Bosnia for any purpose.
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embarga would inadvertently allow the transfer of nuclear or other advanced weapons to Bosnia.
The modification provided that only conventional weapons appropriate 1o the self-detense of
Basnia would be allowed. ™ At #o time Jid the modificution or the original measury make any
attempt to exclude Iranian shipments or otherwise lintit the source of weapons.

Senate Majority Leader George Mitchell introduced an alternative amendment ro 5.2042

directing the President to seck the agreement of the NATO allies to werminate the embarge

multilaterally, and to p

or support a United Nations Security Council resolution o lift the

P

embargo. If the embarga’™were wot lified, the Mitchell d di d the Presidenitc

consult with the Congress within five days regarding the unilateral lifiing of the embargo. The

dment further i d the President. upon the terminstion of the embargo. to ensure that

appropriate military assistance was provided to Bosnia. The Mitchell amendment also approved

- and authorized the use of United States air power 10 impl t the NATO exclusion zones

d United d safe areas and to protect United Nations forces.

On May 12, afier extensive debate, the Senate passed the Dole-Liebenman measure as
well a5 the Mitchell amendment, by identical votes of 50 1o 49, and proceeded to pass the
underlying bill with the twe conflicting measures, by voice vote. While the votés 1¢ft o doubt
that the Senate favored [ifling the embargo, it sent a mixed message on whether the Unitcd States
should do o unilaterally. The House Appropriations Cemmittes ssjected a Hoyer amendment to
the FY 1995 Foreign Operations appropriativns bill which woul have barred funds for
enforcement of the embargo, However, the House subsequently adopted a McCloskey ‘Gilman

? Cong. Rec. S 5415 (daily ed. May 10, 1994) {siatement of Sen. Dole).
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amendment 1o the FY' 1995 Defense authorization bill directing the President to terminate the
arms embargo and authorizing up to $200 million in miliary assistance. An alternative

amendment sp ed by Repr ive Hamiltor, supporting NATO and U.X. efforts 1o

enhance Bosnia's shility to ibute to its defense was defeated.

The House debate on June 9, 1994, echoed the one that oceurred in the Senate a few
weeks earliet. Proponents of the McCloskey amendment argued that concerns about the situation
on the ground in Bosnia should override any concem about the views of our NATO allies.

“Congressman Hyde argued that “America is too important and too moral 2 country fo avert it~

eyes from genocide and ethnic cleansing. .. Opp of the McCloskey amendment,

including the Administration, argued that it would intensify the war, icad to the withdrawal of the

United Nations which fed two our of every three Bosnians, end intermational humanitarian

the peace p , undermine U.N. sanctions worldwide, and risk
Americanizing the war." Congressman Hamilton warned that if the United States began
supplying weapons, the Serbs might retalizte by targeting UNPROFOR, in which case:
5«93?81:?9—5_?8 rescue them. I our aflies pull out troops, the
fighting int-nsifies, and we will be calicd 10 help. We will be called upon to send

weapons in, and we will be called upon for U.S. troops 1o help keep the delivery rouses
open. But in n larger sense, we become responsible for Bosnia's fate. Bosnia becomes a

client. gEmHEEE!Ji:FESKESEE:g!&g..ﬁ?

cannot go at it halfway,”

-:u_dv_uw%aﬁ?_-u.nnr!n.sﬁmnﬂsg_inﬁ!an._...vﬂwo-u_.n:a:ﬁ

! Cong Roc. H4241 (daily ed. June 9, 1994) (statement of Rep. Hyde).
* Cong Rec, H42M4 (daily ed. Junc 9, 1994) (statemem of Rep. Hamilton).
id
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1

consideration of the Defense authorization bill. On July 1, the Senate adopted by a vote of 52 1o

48, a Nunn-Warner amendment endorsing the efforts of the contact group and expressing the

Sense of Congress that if the Bosnian Serbs do not respund constructively to the peace

the President shall propose or support a U.M. Security Council resolution to

the anms embargo. On the same day, the Scnate rejected by a vote of 50 to 50 a Dole-

Lieberman d dating a unilateral lifting of the arms embargo.

The FY 1995 Defense authorization bill became another vehicle for debate overthe
United Siates policy on the -3 embarge. The Administration and 2 bipartisan group of
Congressional Members wznted to make the mulilateral lifting of the arms embargo a condition

precedent to supplying the jan Musli A bipartisan group of opponents wanted the

United Siates to atm the Bosnian Muslims regardless of the views of the allies.
Because Members on both sides of the debate wanted arms to reach the Bosnian

the issue of stopping arms from reaching Bosnia never arose. In cffect. the September

&

1992 decision by the Bush Administration to stop amms from reaching the Bosnians in order 1o

demilitarize the region was ignored during the Congressions! debate on the arms cmbargo.

The Nunn-Mitchell Amendment.

In seeking o reconcile the conflcting provisions oo the armzs embargo, the conference
commitiee on the Defense authorization bill adoptcd language providing that the United States
would seek a United Nations resolution ending the arms embargo by the end of October and
cormmence supplying wespons to the Bosnian Muslims if the Serbs did not agree to the peace
plan by October 15, 1994. If1he United Nations did not termitate the embargo, no U.S. funds
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could be used to enforce the arms embargo afler November 15, The compromise language alse
required the President to submit plans to, and consull with, Congress on lifting the arms embargo
unilaterally and on providing training to Bosnian Govemment forces outside the territory of
Bosnia. The conference report for H.R. 4301 was approved by the House on August 17, 1994,
the Senate on September 13. and the bill was signed by the President on October 5. Thus, as

early as August 17, approximately three and oite-half months after the Galbraith and Redthan

ing with President Tudj the House of Representatives had voted to eliminate United
States financial support for enforcement of the embargo against the Bosnian Muslims and to se:
in place a process that couid culminate in the shipment of United States arms 1o Bosnia.
In the meantime, the Senate adopted an ameadment to the Defense appropriations bill

(H.R. 4650) mandating the uniiateral __.E__.u of the embargo on August 11, The measure,

d by S Dole and Lieb passed by a vote ot 58 to 42. A Nunn-Mitchell
amendment similar 10 the language adopted by the Defense authorization conference also passed
by & vote of 56 lo 44. At no time during the debate on the Defense authorization bill or the
Defense appropriations bill did any Member seck 1o impose or even discuss » mechanism to
limit the flow of armas 10 Bosnia. Nor did the debate on the Numm-Mitchell languege ever address
the issue of Iranian or other sources of weapons fowing to Bosnia. d.n_-awﬁnnonﬁazp‘..a.
Mitchell smendment prohibits the use of Defense Departmem funds for enforcing the arms
embaigo nulahwuﬂ-!amk&aons&nnﬁwgﬁggmqﬂgggzgﬁ
country. The compiete and total ab of any mention of an Iranian role in arms shipments

should not suggest that C was either d or unaware of the Iranian role. Rather,

ol

the debate demonstrates that the priority of the Congress, like that of the Clinton Adminzstration.
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was to get arms to Bosnia.

Bath the Nunp-Mitchell and the Dole-L icherman provisions were diopped in confsrence -

-in part b the Nunn-Mitchell language was already included in the Defense authorization
bill that was on its way 1o b ing law. Assi 5 v of State Richard Holbrooke
commented that the Nunn-Mitchell amendment “actually requited the Adsninistration o ac1 in a

way that . . . is completely consistent with the Galbraith-Tudjman conversation. That is, under
Nunn-Mitcheli, no funds, personnel, or United States activities of any sort could be used 0
enforce the arms embarga™ e continued: 1 would say that basically what Galbraith & was”

consistent with the law as it was about 10 be passed.

A Continuing Push to Lift the Embargo - 1995

In 1998, the debate over unilateral 1ift continued. In Januzry, Senators Dole and

- Licberman introduced 2 bill to !ifi the arms embargo against Bosnia.” An identical version of

the bill was introduced in the House by Representative Chris Smith in March.” In June, the
Ic_._u.n approved an amendment to H.R. 1561 containing provisions similar to those in the Dole
Licberman bill. Tk: Senate approved 5. 21 on July 26 by 8 vote of 69 10 29, Ofi August 1. the

House approved S. 21 by a vote of 298 to 128. President Clinton vetoed S. 21 on August 11,

™ Hearing on U.S. Actions Regarding Iranian Arms Shipments into Bosnis before the
Senate Select Commirtee on [aelligence, 10<4th Cong. 30 (1996) (statement of Assistant
Secretary Richard Holbmoke).

2 §, 21, 104th Cong. (1996).

" HR. 1172, 104th Coog. (1996).
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arguing that the bill would undermine chances for peace. lead 10 2 wider war, and likely result in
the rapid withdrawal of UNPROFOR from Bosnia, with L5, military support.” . Momentum
toward a selilement increased by the end of the summer. After NATO launched its air sirike
operation against Bosnian Serb military targets in fate August 1995, Senator Dole postponed

Senate action on overriding the President’s veto.

** Julie Kim, Bosnia- L egislation on Lifling the Arms Embargo, 104th Congress
Session, CRS Repon 96-347 F. Apr. 17, 1996, at 1-2. -
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Chapter One
Section Four
PUBLIC AND CONGRESSIONAL KNOWLEDGE OF ARMS FLOWS
Public Statements by the Administration.
From }993 through 1995, members of the Administration were asked whether the United

States abided by the U.N. Security Council Resoloti As di: d elsewhere in the Minority

Views," the United Statcs had a legal obligation to refrain from providing any weapons and
military equipment to the oo™, tries of the F) RY." The United States had ao internations’ ' =]
abligation 16 enforce the embargo against third countries, however."” In practice, the
Administration carefully walked the line between that which it was prohibited from doing and
ar_ which it was simply calied upon 10 do.

As the Administation was not required 1o enforce the embargo against third countries, it

chose oot to do so. However, the Administration did not wish to announce or confirm the policy
of not objecting 10 arms shipped to Bosnia by third countries. To do 5o risked exposing the
Bosnian Muslims to even more slaughter. Consequently, the Administration sought 1o walk the

fine line of not sendiug United States arms, but not objecting 1o anms sent by third countries.

..mnzginﬂ-gonca_&mﬁksrgggﬁ_g
Eaw, at Section 1, Chapter 5.

" Lrnited Nations Seeurity Council Resolution 713, 1991.

** U.N. Security Council Resohnions 740, 787 (1991); see alsa Minoxity Report
discussion of United States Obligations Under Intemational Law, at Section L, Chapter 5. Some
Znﬂvoa of Congress afso argued that under Article 51 of the United Nations Chastar, the

Go had the inherent right to self-defe Egzﬁaﬁgzﬁu?ﬂ

did ot apply.

@
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The Majority Repont identifies several i when the Administration did ot walk

the fine line perfectly.”” Most. if not all of the examples, occur in 1995 following enactment off

the Nunn-Mitehell drnent which. in probibited the United States Govemiment from
enforcing the erms embargo with respect to Bosnia. Thus, any references made by
Administration spokespersons about abiding by the U.N. Security Resolutions appiied only to
U.N. Security Council Resolution 713, ‘

However, the United States also had international political reasons for avoiding &

confirmation of LS. nonenf--cement of third country compliance with the embargo {at Jeast in

P

the six hs before of the Nunn-Mitchell

). To have confirmed publicly

U.S. policy with respect to nonenforcement would have led 1o 2 confrontation with the allies.

Therefore, the Administration elected to ignore arms shipments to the Bosnian Muslims. but 1o
refrain from making this decision public.

The United States did not, however, approve, permit or suppern ams uE_i..n:.u from
iran or any other country to Bosnia. The p

ition followed by the Adiinistration was very
carefully and narrowly circumscribed: starting in 1993, the United States neither approved of nor
opposed arms transshipments through Croatia to Bosaia from any source, including lraz. By
hewing to this palicy line, the United States neither viokated the UN. Security Council
Resolution nor triggered a confrontation with the alfies.

As the Majority Report points out, in the month prior to enactment of the Nunn-Mitchell

amendment, two Administration officials made statements that the United States was enforcing

™ Majority Report ut 33.
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the cmbargoe. The other incidents referred to in the Majority Report involve news accounts

d Administration officials. and three sels of Administration press guidane. that
may never have been used. The Majority concludes. based upon these examples, that the Uniled
States (alsely and consistently denied any U.S. role in in Iranian arms pipeline. The fact is that
the Unized States hed no role in the Iranian amms pipeline. Therefore any and all such denials of
such a role would be accurate. The Minority would agree that the two statements made by the

State Department that the US. expected the arms emb 10 be respected by third ¢

were not accurate reflectidns of United States policy. but the Minority does not think that twa ’
offhand statements by State Department officials amount to pattern or practice of E,En-n.sm
statements.

Moreover, the Minority caegorically rejects 2 number of the characterizations of ’
Administration comments made by the Majority. Administration officials did say that the United
States was not covertly supplying arms of supporting the supply of arms 1o the Bosnian
government.” Nationat Sceurity Council press guidance did state that the U.S. did not cooperate,
coordinate or consult with any other government regarding the provision of ams to the
Bosnians.™ Both statemenis are true. As discussed elsewhere in the Minority Views, the o0
mstructions™ ponse did not o either supplying or supporting the supply of amms, and
certainly cannot be ch ized 5 coop

dination or consultation with the

Government of Croatia or any other govemmesy, to provide arms to the Bosnians.

1" Majority Report at 34.
i
n
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" on April 20, 1994, President Clinlon addressed the Bostian situution at a news
conference. The President’s statement was devoted to making the case for sironger action
against Secrb agyression. He spoke ol the siege on Gorazde and the shelling of Sarajevo,

President Clinton idemified the United States objective: 10 make the Serbs pay a higher
price for their acts of violence in order to push them to the negotiating table. Tne President
continued, “in pursuit of that policy, we must tske further action.™' The President
acknowledged the need to work with the United States allies, but it was clear that he expected the

" United States to be leading ute €For to rein in Sezb agpression by word and action. =

Of course. President Clinton was not aware of the query which President Tudjman would

deliver to Ambassador {albraith the following week. N heless, the ks made by the

President on April 20 4 a by the United States to do what it could to help

the Bosuian Mustuns $o Jong as the United Nations Security Council Resolution was not

vialaied and the allies did not threaten to pull out of the peacekeeping force.

Public information.
Information that armss were flowing to Bosnia was readily available 10 Members of
Congress and their staffs.” Readers of The Washington Post and viewers of CNN were

informed in the spring of 1994 that Iran was one of the jes supplying weapons to the

H Clinton News Conference, AP Online, Apr. 20, 1954,
* For a list of press accounts of arms flows lo Bosnia, see Appendix F.
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Bosaian Muslims.™ Some news accounts noted that govemments, including the United States
n..o.“n_.::._na. were tuming a blind eve to the shipments.” Many of the news accounts were
highly detailed. For example. an August 2, 1994, Washingion Times piece contained a chan
chronicling arms shipments to Serbia, Croatia, and Bosnia, from Apnit ‘Gou 10 April 1994,
During that period, [ran was reported to have shipped 520 million worth of arms 10 Bosria and
another $5 million worth of arms 10 Croatia. By contrasl, the countries of the former Soviel
Union were reported to have shipped $360 million in arms to Serbia, while Slovakia reportedly

shipped $10C million in wep30s -* From August 1992 10 September 1994, well over a doz:a

_S.Rm:nﬁpnul;nae.g a-“.ZSonﬁ%Rsﬁ
stories ran on the front page. ‘

During floor debate on legistation to §ift the arms smbargo on June 24, 1993, Senator
John McCain expressed concem about reports of Iranian flows and read inte the Congressional

Record an anticle from that day’s Washington Times chronicling Iranian arms deliveries to

# John Pomfret, I
EE#ES—EBESEE _u _Sa .Z: ?.u .Euwwnw_n.ﬁ.g

*Bin Qﬂ.—u. i
EB_EEB,._ Times, Jun. 24, 1994_at At,

* Payl Beaver, Iran uses Russian Planes 1o Supply Bosnian Muslim, Crostisn Troops,
Washington Times, Aug. 2, 1994, s Al4.

* See Appendix F for a selected list of major press anticles regarding leaks in the United
Nations arms ¢mbargo.
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Bosnia."” In addition, on August 11, 1994, during the debate on the Nunn-Mitchell amendment 1o
the Defense Department authorization bitl, Senator Dole acknowledged awareness of intelligence

M N
portirig on arms ship

1o Basnia when he expressed concem that Nunn-Mitchell would
conlirue to permit United $1ates intelligence personne], other than Defense imelligence
personnel, to collecs intelligence on arms shipments.™ In June 1995, Senator Dole again referred
0 the [ranian shipments, acknowlcdged Administration knowledge of those shipments, and cven
suggested that the Bosnians were justified in receiving those shipments:

The fact is the anms nawm-..uo has guarantecd that Iran is a key supplicr of arms to Bosnia

and administration officials have actually used that fact 1o urgue thal there is no need 1o

1ift the arms embargo. What cther choices do the Bosnians have? They are gaing 10 find

weapons where they caa find weapons.™

Those who followed Bosnia issues more closely also could find reporting on the issue in
the European press and in the Foreign Broadcast Information Service (FBIS) daily reports, an
unclassified translation of foreign news anicles and broadcasts published by the CIA® Since

1991, FBIS camied at Jeast 35 pieces chronicling the growing i¢ and political ties

betrween Croatia, Bosnia, and Iran.
Intelligence information. .
Intelligence reports made available to Cotigress slso chrenicled leaks in the arms

~¥7 Bill Gertz, branian Weapons Sem Via Crostia: Ai
Washington Times, Jun. 24, 1994, a1 Al. .

 Cong. Rec. 511265 (daily ed. Aug. 11, 1994) (statement of Sen. Dole).
“® Cong. Rec. §7880 (daily ed. June 7, 1995) (statement of Sen. Dole).
* Stz Appendix F for a listing of foreign press reports.

%
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b Products containing infi ion on violations of the arms embargo included the

National Intelligence Dailies (“NIDs}. the Military Intelligence Dailies ("MIDs"), daily and
weekly situation reports prepared by ﬂ@n_rﬁ_ Task Force ("BTF™). and periodic special
reports. ' Deputy Secrelary Talbott told 8 Senate Commitiee that “you had a lot of the same
information available to you that we were operating on within the Executive branch. . . 1 am
referring to classified information about meny things, but including the flow of [xanian arms into

Basnia that was gt Hy available to the Congress more or less contemporaneously to when it

was available to us.” **

‘The National Intelligence Daily is provided on a regular c-u_m 10 the Members and
appropriately cleared stafls of eight Congressional Committees. In 1994, the Committees
included the House Foreign Affairs Committee. the House Armed Services Committee, the
House Intelligence Committee, the House Appropriations Commitiee Subcommittee on National

Secusity, the Senaie Forcign Relations Commitiee, the Senate Armed Services Cormittee, the

Senate Intelligence Committee, and the Senate Appropriations Committee Sub ittee on

Defense.” The House and Senate feadership and their appropriately cleared staffe also had

access 1o these materials. In addition to the more than 120 Members of the House leadesship and

H—aﬂanﬂaﬂiﬁiﬁsggcnﬁnmgn;!&%

¥ See Appendix E for a list of dates of anticles in the NIDS containing information on
arms shipments to Bosnia. .

3 §SCI Hearing, Statement of Strobe Talbott, Sept. 1996, at 37 (Hercinafter “Talbott
S5CI Dep.™). . :

¥ etter from David P. Holmes, Deputy Director of Congressional Affairs, to Michelie
Maynard, (Oct. 8, 1996).

15
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committees lo whom intelligence reports are made available on 2 daily basis. other Members of
Congress can review the NIDs and other intelligence material upon request. In 1994, 520 House
and Senate Commitiee s1aff members held the nec.ssary ¢learances 10 review the NIDs and other
highly classified intelligence products.

Between January 1994 and December G&I? NID carried reports of
actual or ged arms ship to Bosnia; many of them specifically referred to Iranian

shipments transiing Crouis e route to Bosuia.* TN

23 The Bosnians were making these requests in

the wake of the Federation Agr The Croati

ifs tumn. sought the United States view,

The urwwﬂzoam made by some that the request was initiated by United States government

officials cannot be given any credence in light of the March and April inéelligence Hvo&:wi
Other imelligence products also carried reports of arms embargo violations. _uo_..

example, from April 1994 through August 1995, information about actual anns shipments and/or

Iranian activities in the region appeared s[o:? Balkan Task Force’s Daily Situation

Reports. .:—ﬂ-nnnwa:ns.ﬂa provided to the House and Senate Intelligence Committees, to the

Subcommittee on National Security of the House Appropriations Committee, and to the Senate

Secrrity office for review by Members and appropriately cleared staff of the Senats Foreign

> See Appendix E.

o
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Relations Comimities and Senate _nﬁgmci

The intelligence reporting on amms shipments te Bosnia should not be considered ina
vacuum. Intelligence repons alse contained information about weapons transfers 1o Serbia from
third countries, as well as transfers to the Bosnian Serb forces in violation of the arms embargo.
The disparity in arms shipments between the Serbs and Bosnian Serbs on the one hand and the
Bosnian Muslims on the other is dramatic o...&gnn of why providing the Bosnians with arms
was so crucial in the spring of 1994. Absent these shipments, including the Iranian shipments,

Bosnia might have been comnletety overrun. |

Briefings. )

Metnbers and staff also were bricfed on the situation in Bosnia on a regular basis. In
1994, the State Department conducted a minimum of thirty-five bricfings on Bogniz, and in
1995, it conducted nearly 156.™ iﬁ? Task Force also conducted numetous
briefings on all aspects of the situation in Bosnia, including the military situation, violations of
sanctions against Serbia and Montenegro, and violations of the arms embargo against all of the

republics of the former Yugoshavie. According 1o CEA reconds, the issue of srms transfers was

& 4 on at least f ioms b February 1954 and December 1995.

. Former U.S. Senator Dennis DeConcini, Chairman of the Senste Select Committee on

% U.S. Department of State Bosnia Briefings Calendar. According to the State
Department, entries between January and September 1994 may not be complete.

37 Attachment to Letter from David P. Holmes, CIA, 10 Michelle Maynard, fct. 8, 1996,
at 1-2 (noting the sumber of bricfings given by the Balkan Task Force at which the issue of arms
flows to Bosnia was discussed).
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Intelligence in 1994 recalls being briefed as early as 1992 about clandestine arms shipments to
Bosnia from [ran and other Islamic countries. In May 1994, Senator DeConcini and other
Scnators were briefed by Director James Woolsey of the Central Intelligence Agency about arms
shipments o Bosnia from Iran and other [slamic no.,ain. Senator DeConcini also remembers

reading press reports about tranian arms shipments to Bosnia in May and June {994, but recalled

specifically being briefed on the issue prior 10 reading the press repons. He further recalls being

told by a bricfer from the Ceniral Imelligence Agency in early May or late Junc of 1994 that

Ambassador Galbraith bad 'elivers4 » “no instructions” response to President Tudjman S

Congressional Delegation Trips'Staff Delegation Trips to Croati and Bosnit.

A ding to State Dep records, nearly forty Congressional and staff deleg:
traveled to Croatia in 1993 and 1995, During these visits. Members and staff had the apportunity
to discuss with Embassy officials a tEn range of issues related to the Belkan conflict. Most
received 3 country briefing from Ambassador Galbraith. The Ambassador testified that he
discussed the general issue of the arms flows o Bosnia with Congressicral Members and staff
who visited Zagreb ia the summer and fall of 1994 Galbraith discussed with membecrs of

aa—«naaoﬂszﬁ?nsiaﬂutnugs&ng:ﬁi!ﬂoﬁgii

% Select Subcommittee Interview of the Honoratle Dennis DeConctni, Oct. 7, 1996, a1 1
(hereinafter “Select Subcommittee Int. of Hon. DeConeini™).

» Seleet Subcommittes Deposition of Peter Galbraith. Aug. 19, 1996, 191 (hereinafter
“Galbraith Subcommitice Dep.”). In particular, the ambassador discussed the issue with a
Senator as well as 3 foreign policy advisor to another Senator. both of whom visited Zagreb in
June 1994. Ambassador Galbraith also testified that it is ivable that he d d the issuc
of arms flows with a second Senator during that time.
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supplying them, and that we were not objecting.™" He did not, however, inform anyone of the

specific exchange with President Tudj

Ambassador Galbraith had discussions with Senalors in the context of the Congressionat
debate over the unilateral lifting of the arms embargo. Ambassador Galbraith made the point that
there were many negative consequences to unilaters! lift, and that, “in any event, arms were
reaching the Bosnian Muslims.™" Galbraith testified that i.:.n he cannot recai! whether he
mentioned that lran was one of the suppliers, he would fiot, in theory, have been reluctant to
menticn such a fact.® During a June 1994 trip to Zagreb, congressional staff asked Ambacsnd -
Galbraith about intelligence reports recounting weapons shipments inte Bosnia from [ran and
possibly elsewhers. Ambassador Galbraith confirmed the accuracy of those reports, and that the

United States was not ohjecting to thos shi A

dor Galbraith also testified that in
a phone conversation with a scnator on the issue of the anms embargo. he pointed to the fact that
arms s.n._.n getting through to the Bosnians as a reason that a anilateral lifting of the arms
embargo was not necessary >

The Administration made no attemnpt to restrict Congressiona) knowledge about the flow
of arms to Bosnia, As Deputy Scorctary Talbott testified, . . . the Congress was, broadiy

speaking, sware, as we were, of the Iranian ion in Bosnia b twasreponedona

*id w 83,
1d. at 91,
"
“Id. 81 138-139,
“id. x93
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regular basis in intelligence channels and appropriate staff.™ *
Despite the published reports, intelligence reporting, briefings. codels and staffdels. no

Member of Congress and no staff person ever requested the Administration 1o lake action 10 stop

the weap fers. Under ¥ of State TamofT, who was “fairly systematically involved
in briefing Congress™ on Bosnia issues, recalls no Questions being posed about what the United
States should do, if anything, to prevent Iranian arms from reaching Bosnia,

Some Members of C

gress have asked thetorically whether the Congress should be

’ getting its infc ion fron, press ants. The rthetorical question is disingenuous. e

Intelligence materials are made available precisely so that Members do not have 1o rely on press
accounts. Members who choose not to review or be briefed on the intelligence reporting are, in

cffect, choosing to rely upon press reports.

Congressional Knowledge of the Diplomatic Exchange.

While there is ample evidence that Members of Congress and their staffs were aware that
arms were flowing 1o Bosnia with the full knowledge of the U.S. Administration and the allies,
the Administration did not seek 1o disclose the particular diplomatic sxchange between
Ambassadors Galbraith 2 Redman and President Tudjman on the issue ko any Member of

* Select Subcommittee Deposition of Strobe Talbott, Sept. 5, 1996, at S0 (hereinafter
“Talbott Subcommittee Dep.”).

© % Select Subcommittee Unvs.:g of Peter TamofT, Sept. 13, 1996, at 37 (hereinafter
“Tamoff Subcommitiee Dep.™).
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Congress or their stafl:*” The failure of the Adminiswation to inform the Congress about a

diplomatic exchange between a United States Ambassador and a foreign head of state is not a

violation of law. Nevertheless, the timing of and circ ding the ing were
unique. and the Administration should have considered informing a select group of Members
about the Croatian inquiry and the United Statcs response.

The consensus testimony of United States foreign policy and military officials to the
Select Subcommittee confirms that directing Ambassador Galbraith 1o tell Tudjman he had ¥no

instructions” was the right ¢%. ice. Policy makers also had confidence that that the “no

instructions™ response was consistent with the sentiment in the Congress given the overwhelming

Congressional votes favoring asst 1o the Bosnian Muslims that had d in the
preceding months.

1think the way we approached the issue is to say that we believed it was consistent with
strong sentiment in Congress which we sharcd; namely, that the arms embargo was
unfair, disadvantageous to the Bosnian Government, and therefore, what we decided with
Tespect to the specific issue that was put to us in late April of 1994 was not inconsistent
with the view in the Congress and the country, which the administration shared, and that
was that there was imfaimess about the anms embargo and it was advaniageous 1o the
Muslim side.**

The Administration regarded the conversation among Special Envoy Redman and

“* Former Senator DeConcini informed the Seleet Subcomunitiee that he was informed of
the “no instructions™ response delivered by Ambassador Galbraith to President Tudjman at
routine intelligence briefing. Tt appears that the briefer was acting independently. The CLA has
0o record that such a briefing occurred. mn22>§vzxu§!ﬂn.§§.&oo_.
this particular briefing or that information regarding the “no i i had been
shared with any Member of Congress. Select Subcommittee Int. of Hon, DeConcin; &t 2,

* Tamoff Subeommitee Dep. at 18-19.
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Ambassadar Galbraith and President Tudjman as a diplomatic exehanye consistent with existing

policy™ with respect to which Congressional notification under sectien 662 of the National

Security Act of 1947 was not required.® Consequently, the Administration kept the specifi
exchange between LS. diplomats and Croatia's head of stae confidential. “As for keeping the
transaction, the exchange confidential, of course we wanted to keep it confidential. We would

try as best we can to keep much of our diplomatic activity ¢

ity S Talbott testified that the Administration chose to be di about the
¥ Y

exchange due to “the delicate state of our relationship with our allies who had troops on the
ground. Therc is a real chance - this is all hypothetical of course -- if we had Ea_._ a course of
action or briefed it . . . to the Congress and it had leaked, there is a good chance that our
Eurcpean allies and the Canadians might have pulled out. in which case disaster would ensue.™
The Administration’s concems about leaks and the impact of leaks upon U.S. allies are

legitimate. [n this case, however. resolving the concems by withholding the information from all

" Id. ar d6.

* For 1 more thorough discussion of notificati quired under the National Security
Act of 1974, see Chapter One, Section Five, which di the history and application of

% Hearing on U.S. Actions Regarding Iranian Arms Shipments into Bosnia before
Senat: Select Committee on Intelligence, 104th Cong. 26, {1996} ( of Strobe Talt

This decision was not Al lezst one senior Administration official, Richard
Holbrooke, suggested that a select group of leadership of both parties be informed about the
diplomatic exchange with President Tudjman. However, that recommendation was rejected.
See: Seleet Subcommittee Deposition of Ambassador Richard Holbrooke, Sept. 27, 1996, at 10-
11 (hereinafter “Holbrooke Subcommitiee Dep.™).

# Talbott Subcommitice Dep. at 47.
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Members of the Congress may have been exireme.™ The delivery of the “no instructions”

was clearly rel 10 the Congressional debate about the arms embargo. The central

figures in the debate such as the Majority and Minority leaders, =..o Chairman and Ranking
Members of the House and Senate Armed Services Committees, the House Foreign AfTairs and
Senate Foreign Relations Committees and the House and Sénale Intelligence Committees are
accustomed to managing highiy confidential information in a discrete way. The failuce to
provide the information to any member can Tead to distrust and suspicion when, as is almost |
always the case, the information is fimally revealed. The fact that the Congress was moving
toward a pesition equivalent to the “n0 instructions” responsc suggests that selected Members of
Congress could have been informed.

However, 1-..:« the failure 1o inform any Members of Congress was a mistake, the cure is

not to enact a statute that requires Congressional Itation in the case of a diplomatic

exchange. ?b&s&mﬂﬂmﬁ%ﬂﬂémﬂ&iﬂ?%%igsg
Congress of a diplomatic exchange. In: this case, the discretion may not have been exercised as it
should have been, A response to & head of state or. an issuc of enormous intenational

igggsﬁgggnﬁﬁﬁwgﬁégsswﬁng
Jimited disclosaro to selected Members of Congress. Had Members been informed in this case,

Eew&n%gﬁwaaamgﬁgaﬂ&in!%gg%

. . - Authorizats
umﬂgoﬂmﬂngﬂﬁnﬁninwmg.omﬁagg uthorization
gon_eo-a&ﬁ%%@ﬁﬂagon&vgﬂgaﬂn%g
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Chapter One
Section Five

A LEGAL DISCUSSION OF COVERT ACTION
The most serious of the issues reviewed by the Salect Subcomumittes is whether any official
of the United States Government violated the law, The success of a policy does not, in any
circumstances, justify illega! conduct  The Minority considered these allegations ‘.qE._ the utmost
seriousness. Anomeys with the Central Intelligence Agency, the National Security Council and the
. Department of State were consulted. The conclusions are clear. o violations of law occurred. and

no conduct that even approaches a violation of law ook place.

The Executive Branch Did Not Violate the Law.

The U.S. Government activilies investigated by the Select Subcommittee implicate legal

requirements of three sorts: the regulation of covert actions, the reporti i tati

5 Iy 3

to intelligence activities, and U.S. obligations under i ional law. There can be little doubt

that Executive Branch actions were consistent with all of these legal requirsments. But while the
failure of Executiv¢ Branch officials to inform Congress of the "no instructions™ response was

not 3 violation of law, it may have been an enror of judgment.

g.n\gkghﬂg
The history of the restrictions on covert action, which demonstrates the care and precision

that have gone into formulation of the statutory definition. has been set out in prior congressional

347

committee reports.’ The first congressional atiempl 10 gulate the conduct of covert actions.

which was prompied by reports of LS. involvement of the ouster of the Allende government in

Chile, occurred with the t of the Hughes-Ryan A, Jment to the Foreign Assistance
Actin 1974. This provision bamred the CIA from conducling non-intelligence-gathering

ident first informed C

*operations™ in foreign nations unless the P gress of the imp ¢
and u..uER of the activity. The term "operations™ was not defined in the statute or discussed in its
Iegislative history.”

At the time that the Hnghes-Ryan Amendment was passed, the CIA considered "covert

actions” to be "any elandestine operation or activity designed 10§ ¢ forcign governments,
organizations. persons or cvents in support of United States foreign policy.”* The scope of this
definition was Eﬁau_nn. in a detailed discussion of the covert operations conducted by United
States intelligence agencies since the drafting of the National Security Act of 1947 conducted by
the Senate Select Committee to Siudy Govemmental Operations with Respect 1o Intelligence

Activities, Forcign and Military Intelligence (the “Church Commitiee”), The Church Committee

' See H.R. Rep. No. 708, 100th Cong,., 2d Sess. §-11 (1988).

* Foreign Assistance Act of 1974, Pub. L Ne. 93-559, § 662 (1974). ._.wn.m_._w_ﬁqui— Amendment
stated, tn pertinent part, that "[n)o fnds sppropriated under the authority of this or any other Act
may be expended by or on behalf of the Central Imslligence Agency for operations in foreign
countries, other than activities intended salely for obiaining necessary intelligence, uniess and umil
the President finds that each such operation is imp 10 the nati r.uﬂ_ﬁdéo.ﬂﬁpﬂwa.&mih
and repotts, in a timely fashion, a description and scope of such opération appropriat
committees of the non«w.ﬂ- sx e =27 US.C. § 2422 (1994) (repealed by Pub. L. No. 102-88, tiL
VI, § 601, 105 Star. 441 (1991).

3 See Senate Selec

overnmental O

5. Rep. No. 755, 94th Cong., 2d Sess., vol. & at 141,
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noted that by 1953 major coven operations were underway in 48 countries. and that several
thousand such projects had been undenaken between 1961 and 1976." In its exhaustive review of
U.S. intelligence activities. goals, and policies, however, the Church Comminee did not propose
a more narrowly tailored definition of covert nna.u:.,

In 1980 Congress enacted the Intclligence Oversight Act. which mudified the Hughes-
Ryan Amendment snd added a new Title V 16 the National Security Act. The 1980 statute dealt
with intefligence oversight in general and covert actions in particular. The Act provided that

covert actions and other "intelligencs activities™ were within the scope of the C1A "operations”

that required Presidential findings and reports to Congress.® In addition. the 1980 legislation
specifically required all executive branch entities involved in inteiligence matters to keop the
congressional intelligence commitees “fully and currently informed of all intelligence activities.
including any significant anticipated intelligence activiny.”

The phrase “significant anticipated inelligence activity™ was explained in general terms
as covering "coverl operations” and “certain other intelligence activitics specificd in consultation
with the executive branch.™ The term was interded 1o encompass "the 21 range of intelligence
and intelligence-retated nnai_.w...d within the jurisdiction of the two select comminess.” The

Senate Report makes clear that the phrase "significant™ was meant broadly:

*Id. at 153,
* See Pub. L. No. 96-4506, § 501(a).

“ H.R Conf. Rep. No. 1350, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 16, reprinted in 1960 U.S.C.C.AN, 4192, 4212,
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An anticipated activity should be considered significant if it has policy implications. This
would include, for example, activities which are particularly costly financially, as well as
those which are not necescarily costly. but which have * * * [significant] potential for
affecting this country's diplomatic. political. or military relations with other countries or
groups. * ** It excludes day-to-day implementation of previously adopted policies or
programs.*
On the other hand, Congress made nio atterpt 10 define the lerms "covert aclion” or "intelligence
activity.” Instead, the committes reports indicated. rather unhelpfully, that the Executive Branch
and the congressional intelligence commitiees expecied 1o work tgether "to delineate the
matters covered by this provision,™ .
The Executive Branch, meanwhile, took it upen itself 1o fill in some of the definition gaps
in the statutes. Executive orders issued by President Carter in 1978 and President Reagan in
198} explicitly recognized that "diplomatic activities or the collection and production of

intelligence or related support functions” are not within the definition of "special aclivities™ (a

euphemism for cover actions)."”

The concepis in the executive orders and the und dings that had evolved between

Congress and the iptelligence agencies were incorporated in the cument starwtory definition of

* S Rep. No. 730, 56th Cong., 24 Sess. 8, reprinicd in 1980 U.S.C.C.AN. 4192, 4198 (queting
Report of the Commitiee on Government Operations, U.S, Senate, 1o Accompany S. Res. 400, 1976,
at 26-27). .

‘i

® Executive Order No. 12,036, § 4-212, 3 CER. 112, 134 (1979); Executive Order No. 12.333,
§3.4(h), 3 CF.R- 200, 215 (1981); see also Executive Order No. 11,905, § 2(c), 3 C.F.R. 90,91
(1977) {excluding the "coflection and production of intelligence and related support functions™).
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“rosgrt action.” which was enacted w 199], The definiton provides:

As used in this subchapler. the term “covert 2ction’ meuns an ey ar achivities of the
United States Govemment to mfluence pohtcal. cconommc. wr embitary conditions ahroud.
where it is intended that the rale of the United States Gan emment will not be apparent or
acknowledged publicly. but docs not include {11 actis s the primany purpose of which
is 10 acquire intelligence. teaditional counter-imelligence activities. waditional activities 1o
improve or mainain the operational secunty of Unned $1ates Government programs. or
administrative activities: (2) iraditional diromatic or military activities ur foutine suppori
to such activities; (3) raditional law entorcement activities conducted by United States
Government law enforcement agencies or routine suppart 1o such activities: or (4
activities to provide rouline support to the overt activitées (other that activities described
in paragraph (11, {2), or (3}) of other Uniled States Gon ernment agencies abroad.'

Congress intended that the definition would nt “exclude any aeuvity which heretofore hajd]

been understood to be a covert action, nor to include any activity not heretofore undersiood (o be

2 cover actiop, “*

The No Instrucrions Response did nor Coustitute Covers Action.
Viewed against the controlling definition. the no-instructions policy and the actions taken

by LS. officials to implement it cannot be viewed as covert actio

There is no suggestion in
the language of the covent action definition. ot ir the statutory formulations that preceded the

current definition, thui a U.S. request 1o 2 third couiary - much less z refusal by the Uiited

4" Imtefligence Authorization Act of 1991, Pub., L. No. 102-88, § 503(e). 105 Stat. 429 (codified at
S0 US.C. § 413be) (1994).

“'HR. Conf. Rep. No. 186, 102d Cony.. 151 Sess. 28, reprinted in 1991 U'S.C.C.AN, 193, 35): see
also S. Rep. No. §5, 102d Cong.. 1st Sess. 42, reprinted in 1991 U.S.C.C.A.N. 193, 235 {the
definition is intended 10 "reflect cument practice as it ha[d] developed under the Hughes-Ryan
Amendment and the Executive Order definition of ‘special activities. ™).

# See Chapler Twa. Section One for a discussion of the need for and formulation of the "o
instructions” response.

-88-
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Staics 10 respond to an inguiry from 2 third country - constitutes covert action on the part of the
Lnited States. To the conttary, the covert action definition specifically excludes "traditional
diplomatic * * * activities.” This exclusion reaches the "use of diplomatic channels or persannel

and conduct negotiations between the United States and other governments or

1o pass 8
foreign entities. T1aditional diplomatic activities, in this context. include activities long )
understood and accepled to be diplomatic in nature, including the use of private citizens as
intermediaries.””’ The exchange between Ambassador Gafbraith and President Tudjman falls
well within this traditional *;;loratic category.

This conclusion is confirmed beth by Jongstanding practice and by clear legislative
history. The C1A legal staff indicates that the Agency never has regarded U.S. requests to third
parties as constituting covert action on the part of the United States, an understanding that
predated the 1991 legislation. That background is of special significance because the 1991
definition was intended 10 "reflect the {pre-1991] practice.””

Indeed. Congress made a conscious — albeit controversial — decision to exclude requests

to third countries fom the definition of covert action enacted in 1991. As originally passed by

both Houses and presented to the President, the y definition expressly v_dsmaa that "[a]
reguest by any department, agency, or entisy of the United States to a foreign government ora

private citizen 1o conduct a covert action on behallof the United States shall be deemed to bea

'S, Rep. No. 85, supra, at 45.

. Rep. No. 85, supra, at 42.
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covert action."" Recoghizing that the Bush administration objected to this language. the
Chairmen of the House and Senate intelligence commitiees wrote to the President, stating that
Congress did not intend the provision to foreclose or inhibit cenain comacts with third parties:

[This provision is not intended] to preciude the informal contacts and consultations which
s.m.:_a be required prior to the United States officially requesting a third country or
private citizen to utidertake fcovert action] on its behalf. Only otce it had been deter-
mined that such assistance was feasible and is made the subjact of an official request by
the United States Government would the requirement for a finding and reporting te the
intelligence committees come into play. That is, indeed, consistent with the understand-
ings that have long existed benween the Administration and the two commitess."”

President Bush nevertheles. pocket vetoed the bill, pointing to the third-party language.
among other things. The President was concemed that this provision:

could have a chilling effect on the ability of our diplomats to conduct highly sensitive
discussions conceming projects that are vital 1o our national security. Furthermore. the
mere existence of this provision could deter foreign go from di ing certain
topics with the United States at all. Such a provision could result in frequent and divisive
disputes on whether an acti is covered by the definition and whether individuals in the
executive branch have complied with a statutory requirement.'*

The Senate responded to the pocket veto by ing 10 a¢ date the Presid

¥

while retaining specified third-party activities within its definition of covert action. Although

eliminating the languag d by President Bush, the Senate would have provided that ‘covert

action’ means an activity or activities conducted by, or an behalf and under the control of, an

5. 2834, 101st Cong.. 2d Sess, (1991).
""H.R.Rep. No. 37, 102d Cong., 1t Sess. 3 {1991).

* See M dum of Disapproval for the Intelligence Authorization Act, Fiscal Year 1991, Pus.

ParErs 1729-30 (1990},
-80-
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element of the United States Government * * *."" The Chateran of the Senate Select
Commiltee on Intelligence explained that he and the Adminisiraion had been unable 1o agree on
the precise degree of ULS. tontrol necessary 1o satisfy this definition:

[W1e have agreed to drop the word "requests.” which was at the heart of the President's
concem. but 1o amend the definition of covert action to clarify that any covert action
which is undertaken "on behalf of the United States and under” its conttol will require a
finding and notice to the Congress. In [Senate] report language on this provision. we g2
on to state that we regard any situation where the United States is providing funding or
other forms of significant assistance to a third pany, or LS. personnel are involved in
providing direction and assistance 10 a third party to undeniake a coven action on behalf
of the United States, we consider these situations 16 require prior Presidential aporoval .
and reporting to the {'ongress.

The administration agrees with this approach. What we were unable to agree on is
whether the circumstanees cited in the report language were the only cirqumstances
where U.S. control of a third party [sic] might constitute a covert action. The
administration would, indeed, have preferred describing these circumstances as the only
ones where LS. involvement might constitute control for purposes of the definition. My
personal view is that there could be circumstances other than those cited specificaily in
the report language where U.S. involvement might constitute control. The report
language is silent on this point, however, setting forth only the circumstances where
agreement was possible.™

The House took a different 1ack. As the Chairman of the House Permancnt Select

Committee on Intelligence explained, "[w)e proposed & compromise designed to make certain
that the same approval and congressional notification standards apply to covert actions
undertaken for the United States as apply to those undertaken by the United States. That

comprormise, which would have made clear that covert actions directed, controlled, or induced by

", 1325, § 503(c) 1024 Cong., 15t Sess. (1391).
* 137 Cove. Rec. 59211 (daily ed. June 28, 1991) (statement of Sen. Boren)-
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the United States had to be reported to Congress, was rejected.™' The House bill therefore
omitted all mention of requests to third countries.™

The Conference Committee ultimately adopted the House vam:r.u:. As Representative
Shuster explained:

The "third party request™ provision was of great concem to the President because it was

capable of such a potentially broad interpreiation that it could have seriously imerfered

with the conduct of sensitive foreign relations. Detailed and lengthy efforts were made to
appropriately focus the original _n_..m_.-un. !.: ._..n _u_.oSn_._,_ n.. defining the outer limits of

the provision without u_u:.u::w Iti 1y proved 100
complex. [n view of this gly ==_.un=c_n blem and the significant progress
made on the other issues, the conferees nn:n_nn_ to drop the “third pany request”  ~

provision.™
President Bush signed the legislation. declaring himself "pleased that the Act. as revised. omits
any suggestion that a ‘request” by the United States Govemment to third parties may constitute
“covert action’ as defined by the Act."™

This history clearly establishes that U'.$. requests 1o third countries do not constitute
covert action on the part of the United States, President Bush specifically objected 1o the third-
party language in the initial version of the covert action definition; as enacted. the statute omitted

both that language and the weaker third-party provision in the proposed Senate repl

This is persuasive evidence that a request to a third party is not covert action. As a consequence,

' 137 Cong. REC. H2621 (daily ed. May 1. 1991) (statement of Rep. McCurdy).

i’

* 137 Cong. REC. H6161 (daily ed. July 31. 1991) (statement of Rep. Shuster).

** Statement by President George Bush Upon Signing H.R. 1455, 27 WeekLy Comp. Pres. Doc.

E137 (Ang. 19, 1991), reprinted in 1991 US.C.C.AN. 257
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even il the no instructions response is regarded as a request that Croatia itself engage in covert
action, such a request should not be regarded as covert action on the part of the United States,
Beyond that, of course, the communication of "no instructions™ was not a LS. request for
action; it was the absence of 2 veto.on action proposed by Croatia. The Minority regards this
difference as significant. Giving covert action status 10 a U.S. decision not to object to a third
patty’s proposed ua:...:mou would have very broad implications. Variations or this situation
undoubtedly arise with great frequency, as allies give the United States 2 "heads-up™ about
contemplated action. Does Juilure by the United States 10 object 10 these proposals require a
presidential finding? In this light. treating Ambassador Galbraith's exchange as covert action
would create insuperable line-drawing problems, lead to bureaucratic paralysis, and discourage
communications from other nations. These are precisely the consequences that President Bush

sought 1o avoid with his 1990 veto.

Indeed, Representative Shuster made just that point in ining the iderations that

led te elimination of the third-party provision from the 1991 legislation:

It is not 100 difficult to envision this uncertainty {that would result from treating
communications with E,R_ countries as covert action] at work. Consider the case of an
animated confidential b a United States and foreign official conceming a
sensitive international threat 1o our two countries' mural interests.

Suppose the UL.5. official says. "We know you have the capability to mount a particular
. covent action, which we believe might neutralize this threat on behalf of both our vital
interests. Wky don't you undertake that specific covert action™

Now, is that a request which: is subject to the covert action approval and reporting
requirement, of is it merely seeking an explanation of eur ally's policy? Reasonable
minds might reach different conclusions.

But if the poor .5, official in a faraway foreign country, atsmpting 1o represent the
United States in such a situation, has to 1y worry about whether such statements
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might luter be determined 10 be an unlawful request for a third party covert action, he
may J.n: feel compelled to exercise siringent self-c sorship. not conducive to the
- effective conduct of his foreign affsirs responsi =

Neither the Convoy nor -aamﬂwu-...n Incident Constiruted € q_.,«l x_q:.aag

The other incidents that have been the subject of the Subcommitiee’s inquiry also did not
constitule covert action -- a conelusion shared by legal stalf at the C1A. who do not believe that

any events related 10 the Subcommitiee’s investigation amounted to covert action. Two episodes

warrant brief mention.

First, efforts by U.S. officials — if they oceurred -- to assist humanitarian convoys en
route to Bosnia cannot be considered coven action for the simple reason that these were not
actions where. in the statutory terms. it was “intended that the role of the United States
Govemment [would] not be apparent or acknowledged publicly."* Public activity cannot fall

within the definition, even if the action is i

ded 10 mislead a p ial adversary, or if the

specific objectives of an activity are publicly misr

> 107 ae led altogether™ That
would be so even if the United States had reason to befieve that some convoys might contain

arms; the legislative history indicates that LS. activities are not covert actions simply because

the U.S. objectives are misrep d or ted. Inanyevent, U.S. intervention, if it

* 137 Cong. Rec. 12623 (May 1, 1991} {statement of Rep. Shuster),

™ See Chapter Two, Section Four for discussion of the h itarian

** Sec H.R. Conf. Rep, No. 166, supra, at 25; §, Rep. No. 83, supra, at 43,
94-

357

occurred at all. did not go beyond requesting action by third panics. which should not be consid-
ered covert action for the reasons explained above.

Second. the inspection of Iranian missiles by U.5. military personnel does not constitute
covert action.™ The inspection was not "an activity * * * to influence political. economie, or
mititary condiiions.” [t was not a U.5.-initiated attempt to achieve a particular policy goal,
instead., it was a technical support function designed to assist an aly's activities. U.S. officials

thus did not ask. and were not told, what happened to the missiles after the-inspection.

Moreover, requiring a presidential finding for the sort of on-the-fy, reactive act™ ¥
represented by the missile inspection surely would be most impractical: even if the inspeciion
were thought o fall within the literal terms of the statute, the exclusion of such fast-moving
activities from the coven action definition finds clear support in the legislative history.
Describing the historical treatment of covert actions. the Senate Report indicated:

[Certain] activities that may literally fall within the definitions [of covert action] but for

which it would be impractical 10 seek Presidential approval and report to Congressona

case-by-case basis, have been assumed not to be covert action. To some extent, Congress

has known of and a¢quiesced in this practice and has worked with the executive branch to
Sevel 1y ble und dings of the reach of the reporting requirements.™®

P BT

The exclusion of such actions from the definition therefore reflects the historical practice that

Congress sought to codify.

The Executive Branck was not Under a Legal Duty 1o Report the “No Instructions™ Response.

! .
P See Chapter Two, Section Seven for a discussion of U.S. activities regarding inspection of Lranian
‘missiles.

* S, Rep. No. 85, supra, at 42, Sec HR. Rep. No. 705, 100th Cong., 2d Sess. 38 (1988),
accompanying H.R. 3822
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The Executive Branch was not under a legal obligation to report the “ho insinuctions™
response as an intelligence activity. Since 198U the heads of all agencies “involved in
intelligence activities” have been obligated to "kecp the intelligence committees fully and

currently informed of all intelligence activities."™ The statute includes no definition of the

intelligence activities that are subject to this datory reporting requir L wie legislative
history indicates only that the term "is intended to encompass the full range of intelligence and
inteltigence-related activities within the jurisdiction of the two select committees.”

It nevertheless is p. - bIF clear that, at least in the ordinary case. diplomatic exchansc}
such as the “no instructions™ rzsponse do not qualify as “intelligence activities™ within the
tneaming of the statuory temm.  The covert action definition reflécts the recognition that
diplomatic and intelligence activities constitute distinct categories: there is no reason to doubt
that the same distinction appli¢s under Section 413a(1). Similarly, the specific intelligence
activities discussed in connection with the 1991 legislation -- "covert paramilitary operations,
propaganda, political action, election support.” and, of course, intelligence collection and
counterintelligence measures® .- have no similarity to diplomatic exchanges. That conclusion
has an obvious comruon sensc basis: requiring reports on all diplomatic exchanges touching on

intelligence would be inordinately burd and would involve diplomats in the

Y50 U.S.C. § 413a(1).
' H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 1350, supra. a1 16 n.1.
12

S.Rep. No. 85, supra, at 42.
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drawing of unmanageable fines. Urider current practice. such exchanges are not regarded as

subject to the mandatory reporting requirement.

Executive Branch Officials Should Have Disclosed the *No |
Response fo Congress.

Concluding that the Exccutive Branch was undet no legal obligation report the .10

i ions™ b . is not to say that the Galbraith-Tudjman exchange -- and the

(3

policy considerations that underlay the responsc to President Tudjman -- should have been

withheld from Congress. [n fact it is the Minority view that the beiter course may have been for

Executive Branch officials 10 have notified selected Membaers of the appropri Congressional
committees or, perhaps, the Congressional leadership.

In reaching this conclusion, we do not suggest that Executive Branch officials meant 10
mislead the Congress. There is absolutely no evidence that Executive Branch officials made
misstalements in official I.an:.wmo:m or in answers to congressional inquiries. Moreover.
Executive Branch officials did not regard the “no instructions™ response as a change in policy.
As discussed at length in the previous section, imelligence data noting shipments of [ranian arms
were distributed widely in Congress.

Having that said, the Minority does not consider the “no instructions™ response to be the

kind of routine dipl i hange that need 1ot be called 10 congressional ion. A

p

of consideraticns - both singly and in combination -- suggest that the befter course may have

been for the Executive Branch to inform Congress of the “no instructions™ response.
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First. the "no instructions™ response was -- and plainly undersiood by Executive Branch

officials to be -- 3 matter of considerable importance. The policy was significant enough that,

within the space of sonie seventy-two hours, it went from Amt Jor Galbraith through several

levels at the $tate Department to the Secretary of State and the National Security Adviser and.
ultimately, to the President himsell. This close attention to the maties within the State
Department and the National Security Council was no doubt warranied: the answer to President
Tudjman's question had a significant impact on the status of the Muslim-Croat Federation, the
survival of the Bosnian government. and U.S. relations with its closest European allies.

Second. notification would have been of particular importance because the “no
instructions™ response was ciearly relevant to a contentious issue being debated in Congress at
the time. The question whether to lift or modify the embargo on amms shipments to Bosnia was a
matter of intense and continuing discussion through the spring and summer of 1994. Disclosure
of the “no instructions™ response, and of the policy considerations that underlay the United States

decision, would have been appropriate. At a minimum, notification likely would have led to

ol dd

more king by Members of C

Third, and perhaps most fandamentally, althongh the possible adverse reaction by US.
aliies gave Executive Branch officials good reason to keep the Tudjman-Galbraith exchange
closely held. the Administration could have struck a more reasonable balance berween the desire
1o minimize the risk of leaks and the wisdom of informing key Members of Congress. The

Administration would have been wise 1o consider the comments made in response 10 the

B

ar that covert actions are too sensitive to disclose to the intelligence comminees or to the
congressional leadership:

98-
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In the final analvsis. it's a question of halance. We must balance the harm that may "..3:___
from the disclosure of a secret ayainst the value of ¢ Iation and independent advice
for the President prior to the initiation of a coven action. Have rot the events of recent
vears shown us that the President needs that kind of advice in all circumstances? When
covert actions are contemplated that will have profound cffects on our security interests.
the balance, in our democracy. must be struck in favor of prior consultation.

1 the long run it will serve us best.™

The issue before the Select Subcommittee does not involve a covert action, but the same
need for balance applies. Indeed, had Congress been notified of the “no instructions™ response
in 2 timely fashion, much of the suspicion and skepiicism that prompted the current investigation

might have been _UR—.n_._.n.u..

The “Ne Instructions”™ Response did not Violate International Law.

The remaining area of legal inquiry involves the United States’ international obligations.
On this score, the decision not to affirmatively enforce the embargo against third countries -- a
decision embodicd both in the no-instructions policy and in the Nunn-Mitchell legislation -- did
not violate international law.

The United States’ legal obligati ing the arms emb were set out in a series

ef United Nations resolutions. U.N. Security Council Resolution 713, which i posed the em-
bargo, plainly was mandatory. Tt provided that the Security Council:
Decides, under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Znso_ﬁ Em. s= m.s..a shall, for

purposes of establishing peace and stabifity in Yugeoslavia. agen
eral and complete embargo on all deliveries of weapons and military BEEﬂn_u to Yugo-

» H.R. Rep. No. 705, supra, 2t 14-15, quoting Statement of Rep. Hamilton, Feb. 24, 1988,
Subcommittee on Legislation, Permanent Select Commities on Intelligence, pp. 3, 6, and 7.
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slavia until the Security Council decides otherwise _.n_uo; ing consuitation between the
Secretaty-General and the Government of Yugoslvia,’

in contrast, the other embargo-ralated resolutions, which addressed enfercement of the
embargo, were quite different in form. U.N. Security Council Resolution 787 authorized. but did
not require, U.N, member states to take stegs to na_.c-nn, the arms embaryo established in earlier
resolutions. It provided:

The Security Council, * * * [a]eting under Chapters VII and V'I1T of the Charter of the
United Nations, calls upon States. acting nationally or through regional agencies or ar-

2 to use such € with the specific circumstances as mav
be necessary under zathority of the Security Council to hall all inward and outward mri-
time shipping in order 10 inspect and verify their cargoes and destinations and to ensure
strict implementation of the provisions of Resolutions 713 (1991) and 757 (1991

Similarly, U.N. Security Council Resolution 740 ~fc]alls upon all States to cooperate fully with
the [sanctions] Committee * * *. including reporting any information brought to their attention
conceming violations of the embargo.™"

Resolutions 787 and 740 do not have the force of i iona) Jegal obligatil While

some resolutions of the Security Council are binding on member states -- under Article 25 of the
U.N. Charter (emphasis added), “[t}he Members of the United Nations agree to accept and carry

out the decisions of the Security Council in accordance with the present Charter” - it is quite

* Resolution 757 is similar to Resolution 713, setting out in detail the obligations of member states
to implement sanctions against the remaining Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.

¥ See UN. Secwrity Council Resalution 787,
* See U.N, Security Council Resolution 740,
=100
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clear that not a1l resolutions of the Security Council impase mandatory oblipations.'” Some reso-
_.._zosu. are not “decisions.” others may not be made "in accordance with the [] Charter.” and
many simply are not intended to be binding.

In determining their legal status. it is useful to contrast Resolutions 787 and 740 with
Resolution 713, which established the embargo. The text of Resolution 713 displays every ele-
ment necessary to come within the mandatory terms of Article 23: it uses the express language
of "decision” as the operative verb; it identifies the source of the Couri¢il's power 1o act {Chapter
VIIL, which contemplates deeisionts, as apposed to the non-binding recommendations authorized
under Chapter V'1): it uses language of direction ("shall”}. exhibiting an intent to bind member
states: and it is directed at "all states.*™ Violations of its mandaie 1o jmplement an arms embargo
necessarily are violations of a member staie's treatV oblications under the Charter, and thus are

inconsistent with internationa? law.

¥ Scholars, judges, and diplomals agree that the reach of Article 25 remains unsettled, both in theory
and in practice. See, e.g., Bruno Simma (ed.), The Charter of the Linited Nations: A Commentary
409 (1994} (“the scope of ant. 25 is also open, since the 1erm ‘decision’ [] as used in this provision
cannot refer to all pronouncements of inteat by the [Security C 252: made _.Enn. the terms of .._..n
formal voting procedure™}; Renata Sonnenfeld, Resolutions of the
121121 (1988} (noting “the ambiguity of the term “decision™ and citing an e.Bn_n_ U.N. publication
noting that the article had not been subject to much debate or clarification).

" See. e.g.. Bruno Simma (ed.). The. D_Hﬁnor_ﬁ United Nations: A Commentary 409 (1994} ("the
ncotion of “decision’ within the inology of the Charter is not bi }); Osear Schach
United /n:ngLEn.Quﬂnona-ﬂ. 85 ).3. ._ —:—._ L. 452. 463 n.31 (1991) (referring to ..E_..n
important distinction ber g and 2 decisions™); See also Craig Scott, etal, A
Memoarial for Bosnia, 16 E«..L Inf1L. 1, 126 (1994} ("Cleary, Anticie 25 does not operate 50 a5
1o make all Security Council decisions binding™).

* LI.N. Security Council Resotution 713.
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Resolution 787 differs in significant ways. lis operative verb ( “calls upon®) reflects ex-
honation rather than decision. and there is no language directing members to perform particular
acts.” The scope of the request is deliberately ambiguovs, referring 10 "such measures commen-
surate with the specific circumstances as may be necessary.” *' By necessity the resolution's re-
ques* applies not 1o all states, but only to those with the abifity to halt shipping and to ensure
itmplementation of the embargo. Resolution 787 thus cannot be understood to impese an affirma-
tive, binding obligation,

Resolution 740 bears ~ven iewer hallmarks of a binding “decision.” It merely “calls

upon” states 1o "cooperate” with the sanctions committee.”” The hortatory operative verbal

phrase, as well as the di ionary el (seeking g lized "cooperation™).” emphasize that

this resolution is of 2 wholly different character than Resolution 713.

The intent of the Security Council ~— d ined by refe to the | ge and effect

of a resolution — often d i hether a resolution is binding.”  The language discussed
2bove demonstrates that the Security Council {in Resolution 713, for example) knows how to

make a forceful, binding decision subject to Article 25 of the Charter. The fact that the roughly

* U.N. Security Council Resolution 787.
at E.

- ** U.N. Security Council Resolution 740.

4

* See Simma, Charter at 413; see also Legal Consequénces for States of the Continued Presence of
South Africa in Namibia (South West_Afica) Notws h i il Resclution 276
(Advisory Opinion). 1971 L.C.J. 16, 53 {1970) ("The language of a resolution of the Security Council
sheuld be carcfully analyzed before a conclusion can be made as to its binding effect™).

-102-
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contemporaneous language of Resolutions 787 and 740 differs from that of Resolution 713 in
imporiant ways demonsirales that the Security Council did not intend those resolutions 10 _.::.n,
the same binding ffect,

Comparing Resolutions 787 and 740 with other recent resolutions confirms that they

should not be . d as i

posing i ional legal obligations. The closest paralle] to the
reselutions conceming the former Yugoslavia are those addressing Irag's invasion of Kuwait,
which provide the only other recent example of the Council's systematic use of its Chapter VII
authority to adopt binding nnnmmm..a._w... Notably. the Yugosiavia resolutions paraliel the !=.
resolutions in significant part. Resolution 661 tusing the term "Decides” and mandatery lan-

guage similar 1o that in Resolnion 713) imposed obligations on ber states to effect an em-

L4

bargo on H-um_ and occupied Kuwait.™™ Resolution 6635 {in which the Council used "Calls upon”

as the operative verb and ad d ); virtually identical to that used in Resolution 787)

P 1B

authorized centain states to use additional measures to enforce the embargo.”

*! Together, these two instances represent a significant departure from the Security Council's prior
practice, which had been largely hamstnung by superpower conflict. See Simma, Chanter at 416
{1994) ("The first case in which the [Security Council] 100k a whole series of binding decisions under
Chapter VII rclates to the Iragi invasion of Kuwait"); id. at 418 (noting resolutions conceming
Yugoslavia and Somalia); sce also Oscar Schachter and Christopher C. Joyner (eds.), Linited Nations
Legal Ocder 62 (1995) ("Because of the substantial paralysis of the Sexurity Council throughout the
Cold War years, that is, during most of the Council's existence, the full extent of the Council's powers
has not yet been explored™). )

* U.N. Security Council Resolution 661

# Resolution 665 provides: “[tJhe Security Council * * * Calls upon those member states co-
operating with the Government of Kuwait which are deploying maritime forces to the area to use such

measures commensurate to the specific ci as may be -y under the authority of
the Security Council to halt all mward and outward maritime shipping in order to inspect and verify
(continued...)
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The Security Couneil resolutions concenting the Persian Gulf crisis have been closely
scrutinized in recent years. The authorities agree that Resolution 663 {and. by exiension, Resolu-
tion 787) was merely an authorizing resolution. not a mandatory one. It "plainy cannot be con-
strued as imposing any binding obligation on the United States,™** One scholar explained the

point in detail:

A first blush, this resolution [665] may appear to be a decision of the Secarity Council
obliging the United States 10 use armed force. But close analysis reveals that it is not.

* & * Neither this resolution nor any previous Security Couneil resolution requires any
merhber siate lo deploy maitime forces to the area. * * * Even if a state becomes EE«Q
to the resolution by ta.ng that action, it retains full discretion to determine which mea-
sures. if any, are "commensitrate 16 the specific circumstances.” and whether they are in
fact "necessary.”"

*{...continued)
their cargoes and destinations and to ensure strict implementation of the provisions related to such
shipping laid down in resclution 661 (1990)."

** Michael J. Glennon, The Constitution and Chapter V1l of the United Nations Charter, 85 Am. 1.
Int'l L. 74, 82 (1991).

" Glennon, 85 Am. J. In1 L. at 82. See also Alyssa Pyrich, Recent Developments, Ui i
Autharizations of Use of Foree, 32 :u.a Int] L.J. 265, N.m.__ :3: {Resolution 665 B.Euaam
states with forces in the region™ to use forcible me. pher John Sabec, Note, The
wﬂnﬁnﬁpgngnggﬁg
Invasion of Kawait, 21 Ga. J. Intd & Cornp. L. 63, 72 (1991) (Resolution 665 "authorized military
action to halt maritime trade with Iraq™)

This understanding of the effect of Resolution 665 (and, by extension, Resolution 787) is
consistent with the Security Council's permissive (non-binding) authority over military efforts, "A
request to use military force in the absence of any special agreement {under Article 43 is not legally
binding." Matthew D. Berger, Notc, Impiementing a 1nited Nations Security Council Resolugion:
The President’s Power to Use Force Without the_Authorization of Congress, 15 Hastings Intl &
Comp. L. Rev. B3, 93 (1991). Sec also Schachier & Joyner, United Nations Iegal Order at 281. In
the rwo instances in which the Council expressly authorized military action (Korea and Kuwait), it
did 101 oblige member states to participate, but merely permitted the action. See Eugene V. Rostow,
Until What? Enforcement Action_or_Collcctive Self-Defense?, 85 Am. J. Int'l L. 506, 508-509

(confinued...)
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The clear conclusion. then. is that the resolutions calling upon member states to aid in
enforcing the embargo were hortatory. As a consequence, the “no instructions” respanse -+ in
which the United States decided ot to 1ake affimuative steps 10 prevent a violation of the em-

bargo -- was consistent with the United States obligations under international law.

continued
:ASS. Srnsvﬁo where the Council authorized forcible measures 10 enforce a sanctions regime (in
Resolutions 665 and 787), it did not impose any binding abligation on states to take enforcement
action, nor would it have authority under the Charter to purport to do so. Thus, even if the Security
Council elearly stated its intention to act under Aticle 25 in a resolution such as 665 or 787, the
obligation by its terms would not apply because the “decision” of the Council would not be “in
accordance with the [] Charter.”

-105-




368 , 369

Chapter Two makers were spread throughout the world.' a suecessful effort was made 1o cogrdinate the
Section One .
respense within and between the necessary agencies.”
THE NO INSTRUCTIONS RESPONSE OF APRIL 1994 The Administration reached its decision 10 proceed with this response knowing that the
At the heart of the Select Sub ittee investigation are the conv ions among Croatians were likely 10 see it as a signal 1o reestablish a formal amss pipeline and that the
Ambassador Peter Galbraith, Special Envoy Charles Redman and Croatian President Franio Iranians would be the primar;-, although not sole. source for the weapons. The Administration
Tedjman. President Tudjman asked what the United States reaction would be to the carefully considered the extent 10 which the response would allow the franians more access in the
transshiprment of anms through Croatia to Bosnia, and the Ambassader and the Special Envoy region than they possessed already. The following is a detailed description of the events
replied that they had been given .y instructions™ on how to respond. The Minority believes tnat sarrounding the formulation of the “no i ions™ resp and its delivery to the Croatian
the detailed account that follows is the most accurate exposition of the meeting between govermment.
President Tudjman and these two diplomats and of the events leading up 1o, and following, the Weeks Preceding President Tudiman's Presentarion

of the Question 1o Ambassador Galbraith.

14,

ing. This not only the care with which the instructions were

Although the date when the Croatians first began giving serious thought to reestablishing

implemented, but also puts into perspective the minor inconsistencies that oceur in any retelling -
i - the arms pipeline to the Bosnians cannot be fixed uz-n._wr
of evenis by witnesses more than two years after they occurred. .

As discussed in the previous Chapter, the Clinton Administration weighed scveral options

i
l
!

- before determining that the “no instructions™ response 1o the Croatisn inquiry bout anms :
: ) 't By February - March 1994, hostilities

shipments to Bosnia would be the most tenable, The policy makers in Washingion and the

implementors of that policy i -d@.us PR idered &t . . .

e ¢ pokcy inthe " i cnmo.n.ﬂ 2 on ' On April 27, 1994, § y of State Christopher was traveling in the Middle East.

the United States responsc to Croatia. The sestimony of the participarts and the writtea record of Nn:u_nm_nu. Clinton, Anthony Lake, and Strobe Talbdtt were traveling to California for the Nixon

events make it absolutely clear that neither the response nor the events prior or subsequent to the ? Select Subcommittee Deposition of Strobe Talbott, Sept. 5, 1996, at 45 (hereinafier
*Talbott Subcommittce Dep.”).

delivery of the response were a rogue operation instituted by an isolzied ambassador. Although

3 I —
the time in which the decision had to be formulsted and presenied was short, and top policy p
e —
107 . .
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had ceased, and the Croatian and Bosnian governments had agreed 1o a new Federation
_.nmm:n-nn_ by the United States and adopred in March 1994 (“the Federation Agreement™).¥ The
success of the Federation Agreement not only meant a cessation of the neediess humnanitarian
suffering, but also represented the begitining of a new military alliance more capable of resisting
Serb ?32,.&

With the diminishing tension between the two countries, the Bosnian govemment
approached the Croatians regarding the reestablishment of the formal arms pipeline. Iran. which

already was committed to the Bosnian cause, recognized thar the Federation represented an

oppertunity to enhance its status s Bosnia's most important friend within the [slamic s.e..E..__m

* For an extensive discussion of the Federation agr sec Chapter One, Section

Two.

* In: his testitnony before the House Permanent Select Comunitiee on Intelligence,
Ambagsador Galbraith explained that during the Muslim-Croat war it was extremely difficult to
get weapons into Bosnia. House Permanent Subcormmittee on Intelligence Deposition of Peter
W. Galbraith, May 30, 1996, at 24 (hereinafier “Galbraith HPSCI Dep.”). United States
diplomacy in the region was thercfore aimed at ending the war and solidifying & military alliance
that could bolster the Bosnian Muslims’ resictance to the Serbs. Id. See also, Select
Subcommittee Deposition of Ronald Neitzke, Aug. 7, 1996, at 40 (explaining that after the banle
in Mostar on May 7, 1993, it would bave been inconceivable for any Croat national to advocate
supplying arms from any source to the Muslims) (hereinafter “Neitzke Subcommittee Dep.™).

” Iran desired to be a key player in Bosnia since the onset of the Balkan conflict. The
plight of the Bosnian Muslims was a popular cause in Iran and was exploited by the Iranian
leaders intemnally and within the Islamic world community. The role of Iran in the region is
discussed more fully at Chapter Three, Sections One and Two,
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The Croatians were receptive to the Iranian proposal to resume the arms Eua_m:.n 1o
HBosnia well before the April 28 meeting between Tudjntan and Ambassador Galbraith. The
intelligence also establishes that Iran. Croatia, and Bosnia independently discussed arms
transshipments well before Craatian oficials approached United States officials and the question

was posed formally to Ambassador Galbraith. -

The O Is Posed to Enib Zagreb P L

In fact, the first inquiries from Croatian officials sbout the United States position on such

sipmer
l.}nne-&-.m to cables from Embassy Zagreb, on April 18. 1994, Charles Redman, the

United States Special Envoy on former Yugoslavia, met with Croatian Foreign Minister Mate




App Iv. Foreicn Mini

Special Envoy wnaBn?_;

Granic was oo subtle in his ntesentation of the issue 1o

™ Teenc o s A
_[.z_a 30, 1994. Although th d the Deputy

Chicf of Mission (“DCM™) bothTeported this ing through theiT th 1 ial Envoy
Redman was unable to recali this meeting specifically. See Select Subcommitiee Deposition of
Charles Redman. Aug.. 27, 1996, at 30. 31(*] returned o Washingion on the 19th . .

.1 just don't
know if | saw [Granic] on the way out,”)(hereinafter *Redman Sube H E.J.ﬁ

e ——C—

** Galbraith Subcommitiee Dep. at 20. Despite the fact that he had drafted both rting
cables, En.UOK does not recall having Inown of this meeting in Aptil 1994, Nejrzke P
w..!mo:::_no.n Dep. a1 152-53. According to him, his first awareness that the Croatians were
m«nr:—w a United States policy statement was in 2 meeting with Foreign Minister Granic on April

7,1994. Id. a1153.

g
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!zu_ the Foreign Minister was expected to. but did not. ask Special

Envoy Redman whether the “United States is prepared to pressure Bosnia Herzegovina to stop
asking Croatia 10 transship [weapons). ™" Granic therefore failed 10 ¢licit a formal reply from the
United Siates or indicate in any way that the Croatians were seeking an explicit respense

concerming the United States position ot the résumption of the arms. Evo_iﬁ

This seemingly inconsistent position reflects the division within the Croatian government

about the issue of the arms pipeline. I
I < cr some withi e

govemment, Male Granic and Miro Tudjman among them. who disagreed with this policy.

However, even among the dissenters. the objections 1 the wansshipments varied. For example,

Foreign Minister Granic was d about the pipeline’s effect on the peace process,”

whereas Miro Tudjman wanted 1o minimize franian involvement.” Mire Tudjman attempted 1o

1 Department of State Cable. Zagreh 1567, Apr. 19. 1994,
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advance this position when he exploited Ei

The reality of the situation was, however. that President Franjo Tudjman retained
ultimate authority over the decision, and he apparently had agreed 1o the ransfer of arms via
Croatian territory.™ The only remaining issue for the Croatians was what effect, ifany, this
decision would have on relations with the United States: that was the real reason fot posing the

question to United States officials.

The Depuzy Chief of Mission ("DCM"} reported both the meeting between the foreign

inisier and the Special Entoy and th/ NN ——
lﬂa explained that the question of arms to the Bosnians was in

2 of State Cable, Zagreb 1597, Apr. 21, 1994, at | (hereinatier
JApr. 21, 1994, ubcommittee Dep. ar 21-22%

g bcommittee Dep. at 136. :.I%Ei_ that Tudjman was &

very strong leader who s%n decision regarding the Tesumption of the format arms

pipeline on his own, 1.

2 See Galbraith Sub ittee Dep. at 6-8 (
Croatians were secking from the United States).

ing on what tvpe of response the

**'The first of these cables was daied April 19, 1994, and the second April 21, 1994,
>_=..o=mr both these cables report on the meeting Speeial Envoy Redman had with Foreign
Minister Granic, DCM Neitzke noted in the cable that Specizl Envoy Redman had not reviewed

112
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the fore. Cn April 21, 1994, the DCM reported that the Crogtians would certainty be looking for
an official response from the United States and would cooperate providing it was in Croatia’s

interest 1a do s0.” The DCM req d guidance from the Dep on this matier.”™ These

cables circulated throughout the Departrment of State but in the absence of a formal request by

the Croatians, the formulation of a was not initiated.”” There were, howeéver, informal

P

discussions about the Croatian inquiries in Zagreh,” and the Depanment had been placed on

notice that the question could anse uw—.:@l
O |5 /MM o conceroed

appropriately about the Croatizn intentions, the reporting is incomplete and _.:Enn&:m.T

! The failure 1o talk 10 the Special Envoy is significant in this case
since the Special Envoy does not remember the asam_.ﬁudp

** Zagreb 1567 at 1.
* Department of State Cable Zagreb 1597, Apr. 21, 1994, 1.

*" The cable circulated within the Department of State on April 22, 1994. An electronic
mail ge conveys that the Dep did not respond to the Croatian attempt to abtain &
United States position on the matter because the request was informal. Department of State E-
Mail. Apr. 22, 1994, at 1. The e-mail's author recognized the question’s potential importance.
however, and noted that it should not be dismissed out of hand. just tabled until more formally
p d. Id. In his ions with Dep of State officials during the week of April
27, 1994, Ambassador Galbraith reminded thee that the Depariment had known about this issue
for several days. Galbraith Subcommittee. Dep. at 20.

* Vershbow Subcommittee Dep. at 111.
** Redman Subcommittee Dep. at 30.
13
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" Second. in his cable. :.Iz_u.ﬁi a previously un-meristizlized

conversation from early-March 1994 in which Ambassador Galbraith discussed with .:a‘

!n possible covert action to amm the Bosnian Muslims. The assi likely would be

from Islamic countries such s Iran or Turkey, not the United States. and would traverse Croatia

(the only land route to the Bosnians) without obsjection by the United mﬂiﬁ!ﬁ

Hrn[ﬁvoanm that he told the Ambassador during the March conversation

that he was not in the position to make policy and referred the Ambassador to policy makers at

the National Security Council o che Depanment of State to address the requisite finding ana

legal issues. ;TTS reported that he opined to the Ambassador that such an

action would be a mistake, and the Ambassador remarked that he would bring the idea 1o
National Security Advisor Anthony Lake." .:.AI;E not memorialize this

conversation at the time (in March) because he did not think it was an issue worth reporting. The

Iaznﬂ_ to the Select Subcommitiee that he orally informed the Central =
iﬁ. 20, 1994, In this cable,
that the suggested urkey serve as the cutow! point for possible afm= shipments

10 the Bosnian Muslims from Iran. The Majority concludes that this statement is indicative of
the fact that Ambassador Galbraith lly orch d the Croatian inquiry regarding the
resumption of the arms pipeline. This line of argument is not credible. It was well known
within the foreign poticy and intelligence communities that the Islamic countries, particularty
Turkey and lran, were interested in helping the Bosnians. Throughout 1993, the President of
‘Turkey made repeated contact with United States and United Nations officials to encourage
either the lifting of the arms embargo against Bosnia altogether, or supplying arms o the
Bosnians dircctly despitc the embargo. See, e.g., Department of State Cable, Nov. 8, 1993, The
fact that Am Galbraith incotporated this well known knowledge into a discussion with

who also should have been aware of Turkey's interest in aiding the
Bosnians - is ny way indicative of his having orchestrated this deat among Iran, Croatis, and
?5?% .

] Yy
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European desk officer of the conversation: but the desk officer does not remember the
conversation and did not report the comversation to anvone within the European c:.:ﬁ:g

In his April 20 cable, .._..nI:nn the March idea raised by the Ambassador

to the comments made by Forcign Minister Granic and requested guidance ..BSE

headquarters, ﬂ:iﬂ&:«n that Granic's conversation was evidence that

Ambassador Galbraith had proceeded with the idea he had discussed in March, In addition. the

I«E:& on information provided by the DCM that the Special Envoy was intent

on initiating an ~Afghan style” dperation to arm the Bosnian Muslims and circurvent the arms

embargo.” In subsequent testimony 1o the Select Subcommitiee. E«Iﬁ::&

that the Croatian inquirics caused him 1o wonder whether the March inquiry by the Ambassador
had gone forward and a covert action proposal was under consideration.” d.nI
presents po factual basis for concluding that an inquiry !mn__dm.«nn 1o him by the Ambassador in
the sanctity of the United States embassy. if it occurred at afl. is related 10 an inquiry addressed to
the Special Envoy by the Croatian foreign minister five weeks _uﬂ$

By stringing these conversations together in one cable, ..:Imuﬁ the
impression that the question being raised by the Croatians was based on the carlier Galbraith
inquiry. This ceport is a compelling example of why .._KIE admonished on

several occasions about the quality of his reporting. iﬁa&g overa

thecretical di ion the ambassador allegedly had with him about finding ways to arm the

32 gpecial Envoy Redman has no recollection of ever expressing such an i during
his time as Special Envoy. Redman Sub jttee Dep, a1 86.

~I§§m§ Dep. at uu.g
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Bosnian Muslims was ¢xtreme. If an Ambassador must be concemed about conducting a
theoretical discussion with one of the most knowledyeable people in the embassy, then the
United States government will be denied a thorough airing of vigws and ideas. In addition, the
report contains rank hearsay that amounts to tittle more than gossip and rumor mongering with
respect 1o the tales told by the DCM about the Special Envoy. This reporting of such gossip and
rumor about U.S. officials is not intelligence pathering and, when it ¢ ins an accusation of
illegal activity, is absolutely wrong. Moreover. ___nI_.n:R_ to consult with or

cormoborate any of these stories involving such U.S. officials. Finally. both the Ambassador and

the Special Envoy deny the accuracy of the reporss, and the DCM denies making the comment

about the Speciat m:«?

On April 21, 1994, ?Inﬂo___a to headquarters on his conversations
i i e possisie shipment of s
1o the Bosnians. According to .—Izu_.numﬂ_ ambivalence

toward the resumption of shipments from Iran and elsewhere and asked the United States to

identify any such shipments so that Croatia could interdict. §I§Eaa that
the United States enforced the arms embargo and expecied others to do the same. The irony of

the reporting by EIu that he appears 1o suspect the motives and intentions of

the United States government colleagues far more than he suspects the Croats. For example, the

uncritical repart of the remarks SI&_ 10 note that he is an ulira-nationalist who

had strong reasons to oppose any arms for the Bosnians in onder to maximize Croatian territorial

ri
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gains in Bosnia. Zoﬁcqﬂ.I regardless of his \iews on shipping arms 10 the

Bosnian Muslims, had strong reasons 10 want United States intelligence on arms shipments in

order 10 make certain that Croatia received its cut of all arms traversing its temritory, The fact that

.TI»:M to provide this type of intelligence assessment is u:ﬁzmmnm.g
.;I reporting on Apnil 20 and 21. 1994, alarmed his headquarters in

1he United $tates by giving the impression that an unauthorized coverl action might be

underway. On April 21. 1994, headquarters responded informing __._Ira the

idea shared by the ambassador in March clearly fell within the definition of a covert action

The reporting also led 10 a series of responses emn&ncﬁna that contained wholly

inaccurate legal advice by desk officers without any legal consultation or supervision. This

advice was wrong, but it was relied upon by ___l_ﬁ.cwron. his dealings o this
matter with the Ambassador. In testimony to the Select Sub ittee, zﬁI

acknowledged that he believed United States acquicscence to the ransshipment of Iranian arms

through Croatia into Bosnia would be a covent action* This incorrect lega] advice ultimately led

io conclude that the “no instructions™ response suggested a covert action was

:mm_.s_. an operatjon would require a presidential finding and netification of
Congress.{emphasis added)

elements of covert action and what ity actually i aP izl finding, scc
Chapter One Section Five. supra. The Deputy Chief of Mission indicated to the Subcomsitice

that an issue as important as this would have prompted consuliation with s isors and covert
activities spegjalists. Select Subcommittee Deposition o Aug. 16, 1996, at 36
(hereinaft Subcommittee Dep.™). In this instance, however, Chief had no

specific recollection of having gone to her supcriors befgre inforyging
the Ambassador’s proposa! would require a finding. E.ﬁ

EEB:E_.__R Dep. at u@'

i7
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underway. This miscommunication it mid- April contributed 1o the breakdown of
communication vn_:.nnirgancnuoz and the restof the Exceutive Branch, The confusion
caused by this miscommuniation was compaunded at Embassy Zagreb by multiple conversations
benween _=I=m the DCM in which the latter offered up rumors and specufation
about confusion at the Derartment of State. negative anitudes towerd the Ambassador and the
Special Envoy, and activities of various United $tates officials. alt of which was dutifully
reperted by EI The miscommunication about the “ne instructions™ response
and surrounding events in the Balkans that occurred between the ClA and other Executive
Branch agencies is discussed in more detail in Chapter Two, Section Two of the Minority Si
Contacts with the United States Defense Anache.

On or about April 18, 1994. Lieutenant Colonel Richard Hermick. the United States

Defense Attache to Croatiz, ** met with Croatian Defense Minister Gojko Susak at the Croatian

Ministry of Defense.”” The Defense Minister wanted the assistance of the United States in

leaning up the r of an exploded .,"c:nssvo:_manannﬂnF:T

** In addition to serving s the military adviser to the ambassador, the Defense Anache
serves as a diplomatically recognized military observer in an accredited country. Select
Subcommittee Deposition of LiCol. Richand C. Herrick, Aug. 20, 1996, & 13 (hereinafter
“Herrick Subcommitiee Dep.”).

*

* 1d. a _u uc The Croatian request required an expecienced United States military team
1o provid; i 1o the Croatians on retrieval of unexploded ordnance that was
_w.Ew in a Zagreb suburb. Id. st 13. Once Ambassador Galbraith leamed of the matter, he
contacted the Departments of State and Defense and informed them of the request. Although the
Uﬂumqﬁ._nn. of Defense initially was concerned that such sid would constitute military assistance
in ,._a_-:o.. of the U.N. embargo, the Department of State and others determined that such
was not in violation of the embargo and could proceed. 1d. at 30. The Department of
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= (Throughaut its Final Report. the Majority alleges
that Ambassador Galbraith was instrumental in the coordination and implementation of the arms
pipeline. Given that Defense Minister Susak had been approachied by so many different people

over the course of one week, it is obvious that this was not an endeavor coordinated by

Croztians and Iranians were

Ambassador Galbraith. but rather a Bosnian initiative in which the

active wﬂanmvgﬂm./mwl .

ed with Ambassador Galbraith's conclusi that this d o itwrian
ann:n_oMnnE_-n .M_Eﬁ_eﬁ?E.nuﬁnuga—nnsuqﬂﬁnnﬂ%nﬂﬁusﬁan
gmﬁ%rw?ﬁ-ﬂﬁ?-i?ﬂ&rﬁ.ﬁn.ﬁuﬂ?Eﬂrn&-ﬂﬂq{a.moﬁ_o:
Seven.

“1d. at 14,

a

%
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The inquiry di i .
Susak inquiry did not surprise the Defense Altache, He knew that despite the arms

embargo in place n—ﬂn:m_s:_ the region, Weapons flowed 1o the Warring parties The Defense

>agﬂ > . Iy . .
informed the DCM of hi§ meeling with Minister Sugak upon his retum to the emoassy.”

The DCM recommended that the

Defense Antache forward a report of the conversation through

gy
Herrick Subcommittes D .
in the - cp. at 16. Hemick noted a3 ample wezpo had
“ﬂuﬂ.m._ugam-% amy that could not have been part ofits F,.da_no_”u.n«::_nmm eapans _un secn
¢ through the embargo. §d. weapons were

,_qmﬂia_nw:vnog_.znn . .
the Ambassador was on toave], Dep. ar 18. The DCM wasin charge of the cmbassy at the time
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his usual channels.® Such routine reporting would include notifving the ambassador of the
exchange upon his relwm.

In the days following. various members of the country eam in Embassy Zayreb
anticipated further Croatian govemment queries 1o United Siaies officials aboul the United States
reaction 1o opening an arms pipefine 10 Bosnia. At no time was any member of the country team
approached about United States arrns being supplied, or about the United States undentaking any

olher action on behalf of the Boshians. Each inquiry and approach sought only the United Stnes

reaction to arms transshipped through Croatia to Bosnia.  Although EI dia not

remark on the consistency of the inquiries, they constitute firm evidence that no braader United
States role was expected. ._.rnInB.:& *.BI,.»M
planning to ask Ambassador Gafbraith what the United $tates reaction would be if Croatia
allowed weapons to flow 1o Bosnia. The number and variety of sousces within the Croatian
govermment who raised the same question of arms shipments with L.S. govenmem officials
during the week of April 18, 1994, is additional evidence that the March discussions between the
Amibassador ard _rIﬁﬂn ::an_u_ni
Ambassador Galbraith was traveling when the Croatian inquiries occurred, but he

returned fo the embassy on Apeii 24, 1994.” The Ambassador jeamned for the first tire of the
* The

1 "

Croastian request for the United States jon 1o arms P 10the B

*1d. at 18-19.

** Ambassador Galbraith had attended a Chief of Mistion conference in Brussels and
traveled in ltaly prior to returning to the embassy. Galbraith Subcommittes Dep. at 5.

*1d.
121




384

385
Uﬁ”?_ described the Croatian altempt to raise the issue with Speciat Envoy Redsman during a
meeting with Foreign Minister Granic. Based an this information from the DCM. the weapohs 1o the Bosnians would provide weapons for Croatia. ._.anu_.mq_oE_w.
H . . ; 3 i i ini z kepiical of th N
Ambassador decided 10 meet with the Croatians 10 understand better what was needed from the was aware that 5@32& and the foreign minister were skeptical of the v_g.¢
Department of State in terms of guidance.’ Among the four embassy officials. :ﬁl was most vocal in his opinions
. . * . L fan invndv =l :
Ambuassador Galb:aith alse met with the Defense Attache, th m w.._a he against Iran.** The DCM also was uncomfortable with the Iranian involvement.™ According lo
the Defense Attache, no or= really objected to the arms getling to the Muslims because ¢ach

DCM to be briefed on events that occurred while he was gone.” Among other things. the four

di ian inquifi ; . accepted that ¢ i ves.” . each of the four was on notice
iscussed the Croatian inquiries regarding the United States reaction 1o the resumption of a e e Muslims could nat defend themselses ™ Thus e °
formal arms pipeline between Croatia and Bosnia.™! The discussion focused particularly upon that the Bosotan uslims vere sceving s, inclucing framin amms Hereover, noone
’ expressed the view that the United States should stop the anns flaw by telling the Croatian

the potential Iranizn inv i +aline .
i2n involvement in an arms pipeline According to the Defense Attache, none
ici government to resist the =§ﬂ:€93¢

of the panticipants “felt comfortable dealing with Iran."** The Defense Attache sensed a division

within the Croatizn Govemment about dealing with fran* Derense Minister Susak for cxnmmple According 1o the _‘ bassador Gajbraith questioned the accuracy of the
did not favor the relationship with Iran, but he recognized that an agreement to transship Iranian Defense Attache’sresponse 1o Susek and asked him 1o ange 3 mesing it the defenee
minister so that Susak could pose the question directly to the Ambassador.” Ambassador

* Galbraith Subcommittee Dep. mt s, Galbraith wamed the question posed in the foreign policy channel rather than the defense or

“” .
"I, Neitzie had i . .
his di ions with Red nxﬂ“_”_-n_.ﬂn_m}_sgmﬂng Galbraith that Granic had not been clear in *1d. 3t 16. As discussed elsewhere in this report, the Croatians had transshipped
States. Id, were seeking a policy staice from the United weapons previously to the Bosnians prior to the outbreak of hostilities berween Bosnian Muslims
and Croats. It was standard practice for the Croatians to take a minimum of twenty-five percent
does not Mn&nﬂw_” .m.__xog.snn Dep. at G#g@nﬁ_ﬂaia Dep. at 21, Neitske of the weapons for themselves.
and def it been in 2 meeting in whicf the ambassador was made sware of the Jaison *1d. 2t 23
linquiries. Neitzke Subx ittee Dep. at mu% i '
M. * Id.; Neitzke Subcommity . L 157. -
the Unm@swm.“»mnn nﬁ?ﬁ.&nog.:«u Dep. at 24 (describing a meeti bich he and d.; Neitzke Sul ee Dep.
tache re] ir individual discussions with the n_d».iﬂv-ﬁ *d
35 .
Hi
errick Subcommitiee Dep. a1 23 : u{m_ioaaaa Dep, 2t 24. Although Licol. Herick recalled the ambassador’s
*1d. . query about hi§Tesponse to Susak, he does not remember ever being asked by Ambassador
Galbraith a ing with the Defense Minister so that.the question could be posed to

him. :«u..nr Subcommitice Uau at 21. Galbraith also had met with Foreign Minister Granic

.-
Id. at15.
upon his reurn. Id. Susak and Granic both indicated that in his meeting on April 28, 1994,

President Tudjman would raise this question formally with the Ambassador. 1d. at 6, 8
123
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nlelitgence chan 5 al an ritative forst c NS¢ ¢ L] a1ed an
Nellipe chainels so | 1 an authoritative fo 20 policy respon euld be § mulated and

commu € R S, 1P v on be M an
mnunicated. The Ambas: ador also antic ted iy (uestion being posed by the Croat

resident and wanted the Unv ment of te 10 begi sideration of the 7, venl
p nt an & art 1 of State te begin considerat [ ih Hest in the
o] even|

the Croatians posed the question again noﬁ.u:e...?

Events of Aprit 27 and Aprif 28, 994,

Duri i y i
unng the period between April 27 and Aprit 29, 1994 the United States respanse (o the

c . .
roatian question was formulated and debated. Sey nior officials at the Natiopa) Security cil.
¥ Loun

e Lep ] .dnd I y Za, <ol L a
the Dy f State, and grely M Constant Lion, via

tefephone calls, meetings, and cables, The Ambassadar transmitted 5 cable in which he

advocated a response favorable to the t ) of arms; h

P

er, he also addressed the

risks and benefits of doing so, including the likely involvement of the tranians *

Sometime during the three days prior (0 April 28, 1994, Ambassador Galbraith spoke b
e by

_ .
telephone to Alexander Vershbow, the Principal Depury Assisiant Secretary for European and

Canad. . WA E
anadian AfTairs (the "DAS™). The Ambassador recounted what he and other embassy officials

—_—

L oy
!:Eosaaa Dep. a 31; Neitzke Subcommitiee Dep. 1 Ez

-
Department of State Cable by Ambassador Galbraith, Apr. 27, 1994,

WOmau_“.m“.o._w”M”rrﬂ_wﬁu.-&th:wEn&? and ..._..“_ou b e emaions g the
b 5 S e R
Aol 2, Aok raith on “Tuesday.” so it is likely that
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had heatd from the Croatians, namely that the Croatians w ere teeling pressure fror the Iranians
and Bosnians 10 bein suppiving arms 1o the Bosnians. Ambassador Galbraith indicated that he
had 2 meeting scheduled with President Tudjman and he believed Presiden Tudjman might use
the occasion to ask the United States reaction 10 transshipment of anms, including shipmenss
from Iran, through Croatiz to Bosnia.™ Ambassador Galbraith and the DAS discussed the

blishing the pipeline including the likelihood that the arms

implications of the Ci

shipments would be detected by NATO and UNPROFOR forces*”

Amb dor Galbraith hasized the impornance of the matter o Croalia and the Cnited

P

States and the need for guidance quickly. He also indicated that the guidance should come from

bacsador Galbraith informed

a higher authority than the Deputy Assistant Secretary.™ A
Vershbow that the Croatians would take a percentage of the weapons for themselves as
payment.”™ The Ambassador requested insiructions in the form of a cabie and again advocated a

that would p the Federation.

Following the telephone call, Ambassador Galbraith sent a cable to Washington

specifically addreesing each of the points discussed with Vershbow and requesting immediate

* Select Subcommittee Deposition of Alexander Vershbow, Aug. 8, 1996, at 14
(bereinafter *“Vershbow Subcommitiee Dep.™); Galbraith Subcommittee Dep. at 16.

* Vershbow Subcommittee Dep. at 1415,

“Id.at 15.

4. at 16, A
L Y

e
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guidance.” Ambassador Galbraith again addressed the Iranian concem and noted thay Croatia

should be cautioned against beconsi i ¢
g ming too close with lran.” Ambassador Galbraith e plaincd

that opening the pipeline would Pave the way for increased arms flows from other countries

besides Iran, but that Iran - which was so eager to be seen by the world as Bosnia™s savior - was

in the best position to provide arms i diatel, u...u He also reiterated his belief thay blocking this
arrangement between Bosnia and Croatia would be disastrous to the Federation whichwas

absolutely critical to peace in the region,

Deputy Assistant Sccietar # Vershbow eharacterized this conversation as the comect way

for “[ Ambassador Galbraith] 1o bring an issue like this™ to his attention.” Vershbow
acknowledged that the ambassador was advocating a certain position, namely that the amms
should be allowed 10 proceed. as any smbassador would on zn issue of importance.” It was an
ambassador™s responsibility to recommend positions 1o facilitate the formulation of policy in

Washington. Vershbow believed that the Ambassador was providing Department officials with

™ Department of State Cable. Apr 27,1994,

" 1d. The Croatian-Tranian-Bosnian relationship w: j

Mvm_oww_”:._on States, As mentioned throughout the hﬁ%ﬁﬁaﬂnﬂ”ﬁuﬁ“ﬁﬂa —”uMmHHME or
s __m_a.ﬁn themselves __._."wn region .cw April 1994 (some estimates trace Iran’s Eﬂﬂﬁnv_.ir to

.‘. enever the subject of Iranian involvement arose, United States officials nded that
caution should be used and reminded the Croatians and Bosnians that if they Emnhﬂ_vo_maun?.
with :..n west, strong refations with Iran would not be tolerated. United States officials *
wﬂ“ﬂ.ﬁn«m ”M_“Mw“- ".__Mu H“u_ mEennE.n_ : no___aﬂa_a-ii__ diplomatic tigs with iran and that

2 pean country with a largely Muslim population, was unlik i

Iran, 5o they ¥ ged the Bosnians 1o H“vﬂ their nnn_r_wm.n_v. oseveralltisto

1 14

? Vershbow Subcommitiee Dep_at (7.
M. a1 54,
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gs much information in advance 5o that they could make a degision promptly before his meeting

with President Tudjman.™*
Deputy Assistant Secretary Vershbow Discusses the Matter with the Undersecretary.

Following his jon with Amt dor Galbraith. Vershbow met with

Undersecretary for Political Affairs Peter Tamoff {“the Undersecretary™.™ the principal person
overseeing the Bosnian wu.._n‘ma_. the Department. This meeting concerned a varjety of issues
relating to wo,u_._i... Undersecretary TamofT informed the DAS that Thomas Donilon., the Chief
of Staff for the Secretary of Stafe, had sent a message fom Secretary Christopher encouraging a
“quick response™ la Ambassador Galbraith's query.” The Secretary did not believe that the
meeting with President Tudjman should be an “artificial™ deadline for the United States to

formutlate a response; * however. if a response would be required he did not want the

*1d. at17-18.

*¢ Ambassador Galbraith atternpted to contact Tamoff directly by telephone prior to the
Vershbow meeting but was. ful. Tarnoff Sub ittee Dep. at 30.

* Vershbow Subcomminee Dep. at 18.

™Id. at 27; Tamoff Subcommittee Dep. at 6. According to Vershbow, Secretary of State
Christopher was traveling during this time and Donilon would have been sccompanying him.
The fact that Donilon had sent a message about this issue snggested (o Vershbow that
Ambassador Galbraith's cable of April 27 had been received by at least some in the Department
prior to his meeting with Tamoff. 1d. at 27. Donilon could not recall the exact conversation
memorislized in Vershbow’s notes although he did not dispute the accuracy of the quote
attributed to him. Select Subcommittce Deposition of Thomas Denilon, Sept. 12, 1996, at 15-16
(hereinafier “Donilon Sub: ittee Bep.").

™ According to a cable transmitted 10 Ambassador Galbraith by Vershbow on April 27,
1994, the Secretary had expressed his view that the United States rot respond to such an
imp inquiry ding to else’s - in this casc President Tudjman’s - timetab)
Vershbow explained that as of April 27, the Department had no guidance for Ambassador
Galbraith on the Croatian inquiry. This cable, which in subsequent testimony neither Vershbow
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Ambassador to be left withowt a response and he wanted that response carefully formulated and
communicated.™

Adrministration officials were aware that arms had been and were continuing to reach
the Bosnian Muslims despite the arms embargo. The import of the question being posed to
Ambassador Galbraith, therefore, was not whether Croatia should send arms in a formal way. but
rather how the United States would react to such shipments.” Tamoff and Donilon had
discussed already the issue of how 1o respond 1o President Tudjman's second request for the

United States position on the anmis transshipmentts,™ and were aware that Iran was a likeiy arms

»

supplier.” Donilon and Tamoff relayed this information 1o the Secretary personally.™

nor Ambassador Galbraith recalled. contributed to Ambassador Galbraith’s belief in the early

moming hours of April 28 that “ne insiructions™ realiy meant that the Department had not yer
formulated a response.

* Deputy Assistant Secretary Vershbow's Contemparaneous Notes. Vershbow’s notes
indicate that Doniton reported that there was 10 be “no funny business™ in the region which
reflected the Secretary's ¢ i to having a dinated to the Croatien inquiry.

P

" Tamoff Subcommittee Dep. at 11.
¥ Donilon Subcommittee Dep. at 11.

*1d. at 16. Donilon o d with others involved in f lating this policy that the
issue of Iran was cause for sefious consideration and debate and likely was the reason it took so
long to respond to Ambassador Galbraith's request for guidance. 1d. Donilon explained that the
Secretary also was deeply concemned “on an ongoing basis about the Iranian presence in the
Balkans." Id.

¥ Id. at 12-13; Famolf Dep. at 10. When Tarnoff leamed of this issue, he maintained
close with Deputy National Security Advisor Sandy Berger, and the Secretary because he
believed that it was 2 timely and sensitive issue. Tamoff Dep. at 10,
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Vershhow recalled that there was no other discussion about rhe Gatbraith cable as evervone
present generally seemed to be aware of its contents.”

Vershbow and Tamoff concluded the meeting after discussing other matters related to
Bosnia. Although the Croatian inquiry was a highly sensitive matier, the need 10 address so

many other significant issues concerning the region limited the amsount of time devoted to the

response at this meeting. Throughout the day, however. Administration officials continued 10

. L.
discuss the options availabe 1o them and 1o shape 3 1e5p to the imp o

Deputy Assistant Sevreary Vershbow's conlemporaneous notes conlain reference Lo i

4 phone <all, probably initiated by Ambassador Galbeaith. on April 27, 1994 In this

conversation, Amt dor Galbraith informed Vershbow that his meeting with President
Tudjman had been scheduled for 11 .30 a.m. the following day.* Ambassador Galbraith also
continued to discuss with Vershbow the United States reaction 10 arms shipmems through
Croatia.

Ambassador Galbraith cxpected a formal request by President Tudjman on the United

States reaction 10 ~-Ths being sent through Croatia to the Muslims.”* Reference also was made in

5 r tied thet he received the cable
¥ Vershbow Dep. a1 28-30. Underseeretary TamofT reca i
from Ambassador Galbraith almost immediately after it ammived and he was aware that Vershbow
and others had seen it also. TamofY Subcommitiee Dep. at 10.

i i i discussions
# See. &gz, Tarnoff Subcommittee Dep, at 30-31 (noting that simultaneous disc
were o...n:m:n..n_.nn ,m,wz: the NSC, the Department, and aboard Air Force One about this issue).

¥ Contemporaneous Notes of Alexander Vershbow, Department of State.
n ﬂ@.
* yershbow Subcommittee Dep. at 32.
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Vershbow's noes to a lunch between Galbraith and Minister Susak w hich probably provided the

basts for the additional information he shared with Vershbow during this second conversation.”

During this conversation. Ambassador Galbraith inft

d Vershbaw that the Croatian Prime
Minister was scheduled to visit Tehran on April 29, 1994, for the express purpose of discussing
arms shipments.” Accordng to Galbraith, the Iranians felt there was “nothing to discuss i’
Croatiz wauld not act as a channel.'™ The scheduled visic suggests strongly. therefore, that the
Croatian Prime Minister fully inténded to agree to amms transshipments.™ Otherwise. he would
have had no reason to travel to Tentan.

Ambassador Galbraith also told the DAS that the arms would arrive via Boeing 747

aircrafi and reiterated the Croatian intention to take a cut of probably fifty percent.™ The

™ {d. Although Vershbow did not recollect whether or not the lunch had occurred by the
time of this second conversation. it is likely that it had. Galbraith had met with Susak in order 10
ascertatn what it was the Croatians were secking from the United States. Galbraith
Subcommittee Dep. at 8.

* Vershbow Subcommitiee Dep. at 32; Galbraith Subcommitee Dep. a1 9.
(4] E.. )

** This is also indicative of why ption of the pipeiine was so important to the
success of the Federation. Croatia already had agreed to allow' arms to transit its territory and for
reasons of its own was secking 1o ensure the United Siates woutd not object. If the United States
pressured the Croatians not to resume the arms flows, Bosnia would have been betrayed by her
alleged new ally and the Federation would have faliered. This is why a carefully crafted
response that ensured absolutely no action on the part of the United States was so important and
why the “no instructions™ response was ultimately conveyed and was successful in maintaining
United States and Croatian/Bosnian interests in the region.

™ Deputy Assistant Secretary Vershbow's Contemporaneous Notes, Department of State.
Ambassador Galbraith does not recall the specifics of this conversation but explained that his
primary focus was on the political decision that had to be made by the Department. Galbraith
Subeommittee Dep. 2t 16,
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Majority states that this is clear evidence That Ambassador Galbraith was an active participunt in.
if not the originator of. the entire arms pipetine deal.™ Achaally. this statement confirms what
officials at Embassy Zagreb already understood; the Croatians had agreed to the resumption of
the arms pipeline which they believed was highly beneficial to them.™ and were mn.nEam added

support for that decision from the United States. Furthermore. this is 2xactly the same method

ling arms to the B >

employed by the [ranians and Croatians priof to May 1993 for 1
Given the wide disiribution of this information and its availability 1o anyone having any
responsibility for monitoring the Balkan issue. it is difficuit to understand how the Majority

could possibly that this is indicative of Ambassador Galbraith's active participation in
¥ Pl

the agreement to recstablish the formal ams pipeline.”

* Majority Report at $2-93.

% imelligence and military analysts suggesi that not only did _._..n pipeline provide o
additional s.nu__vw.._m for Croatian stockpiles, but by ¢nabling the Bosnians to mn_.n.x_.ﬂa maintain
temvitory against the Serbs, the Croatians could concenirate their efforts on recapturing Croatian
temitory still held by the Serbs.

* There is a vast amount of intelligence that discusses .i

shipments that was well known to the foreign policy and inteiligence communitics prior
to April 1994, Given the terrain in the region and the suong enforcement o?snnawﬂumo by
ion Guard participants, cargo flights were the only way to get arms to osnians.
Wﬂﬂﬂ-ﬂﬂ&ﬂﬂowﬁn:ﬁ :w“ﬂ__d commonly used cargo planes. The only significance of the use of
7475 is that they are incapable of ferrying heavy weapons so this is indicativg of the fact that the
Bosnians only were being supplicd with small arms by the Iranians.

* The Majority also makes note of the fact that no ane within the Administration
questioned what type ar quantity of arms would be shipped 10 the Bosnians. The fact is
Ambassador Galbraith in effect told the DAS exactly what type of arms would be amiving; smali
arms. If the arms supply was to resume via air shipments from Iran, E.n only arms that could be
delivered would have been light weapons, ammunition, and raw .au.nm..n_m. allof .._,._zn_. had been
shipped previously beginning in 1992. The Administration and intelligence officials had no need
to request the specific information from the Croatians because they already had it
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As in their previous discussion. Galbraith addressed the down sides of the decision,
including the Iranian factor, for the Bosnians, Croatians. and the United States.™ Ambassador
Galbraith and the DAS discussed the different options and agreed that the same type of non-
responsive response would be the tmost appropriate.”” The Ambassador expressed concern about

how a*no instructions™ respanse would be interpreted by the Croatians, In both the April 27

cable and his di ions with Vershbow, Ambassador Galbraith suggested that the Craatians

would take a “no instructions™ response literally and postpone any decision until they heard from

the United States differemily.'” i
i_u _ Ambassador Galbraith suggested conveying a more clear

P to President Tudj than *neo i

further response was _.E.zsn_siw‘_s;

™ See Vershbow Subcommittee Dep. at 32.37. In his April 27. 1994 cable, Ambassador
Galbraith alsc wamed that Crogtia should be cautioned against building too strong a relationship
with fran.

" which would give the impression that a

"™ Id. at 36-38. Vershbow explained that this option clearly was the best because it
provided a way to “shore up™ and maintain the Federation, which was the focus of United States
diplamacy in the region a1 the time. Id. at 39-40. As a result of that focus, it was implicitly
understood that a neutral stance “would likely lead 10 the opening of the arms flow.” Id. at 40,

*' Galbraith April 27, 1994 Cable a1 1; Vershbow Subcommines Dep. a1 40.

1 Vershbow Subcommittee Dep. a1 0. [&ﬁ the Iranians were in

the best position to provide anms on a continuous basis immediately. Once the pipeline had been
blished by the Croati 5 ship from other counries such as Turkey and
Malaysia could proceed in oﬁuﬂf

Y14 a1 40-41. Although “noi ions™ is an und d term within diplematic
parlaence, Ambassador Galbraith recognized that President Tudjman may not p the
diplomatic knowledge to undersiand the nuance of the response. President Tudjman was an
academic by background and, while a capable president, had not been on the intemnational scene
for many years. Ambassador Galbraith had hoped 1o convey a response with the same
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During this conversatien Ambassador Galbraith intimated that the resumption of an arms
pipeline would appeal to the members of Congress in favor of lifting the arms embargo."™ The
Ambassador and Vershbow also discussed the implications of a United States role in the
Croatian decision to supply arms. Ambassador Galbsaith and \ershbow concurred that. while
United Nations Security Resohuion 713 called on states to comply with the arms embargo, it did
not require enforcement of the embargo against E_...n- countries.™* Ambassador Galbraith
reiterated the importance of making nan.nmmma_.__.c on this matter 50 that he would ammive at the

meeting with President Tudiman with guidance.”™” Vershbow ended the conversation by

connotation as no instructions. but one that would be more easily understood by the Croatian
president.,

'™ Id. at 42. Throughout 1994 and 1995. Congress atiempted (o enact legislation that
would lift the embargo on the Bosnian Muslims. There was consensus both in the Administration
and Congress that the arms embargo was punishing the Bosnian Muslims unfairly. Fora
detailed examination of congressional involvement in the Balkan conflict, sme Chapter One,
Sections Three and Four (d¢tailing congressional initiatives and knowledge throughout the
Balkan conflicy). According to Vershbow's contzmporaneous notes. Ambassador Galbraith
believed that Congre<s would see the resumption of arms as a positive step toward helping the
Bosnians. Vershbow Subcommitiee Dep. at 42-43. :

' See UN. Security Council Res. 713, Sept. 25. 1991 Vershbow Subcommittee Dep. at
4546,

" Vershbow Subcommittes Dep. at 48.

"7 1d. Ambassador Galbraith was aware that there were differing opinions oa resumption
of the pipeline within the Croatian government. As Foreign Minister Granic had intimated in
discussions with Special Emvoy Redman, and as the intelligence liaison had indicated, some
were opposed to the shipmem of amms, particularty those from Iran. Others such as Minister
Susak approv